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PREFACE TO THE THIRD EDITION

Inis a great pleasure to provide this new edition for Malaysia. Small
amendments have been made throughout, there is a new, replice-
ment, Chapter on the Japanese War, reflecting the author's furthey
publications, and a new, additional Chapter.on the recent history of
Malaysia. Further additions have 50 been made to the Bibliography.
In view of the very great econamic changes which have taken place in
the last twenty years, any contemporary references made in Chapters
11 and 12 must be read against what appears in Chapters 17 and 18,

J. KENNEDY
Newecastle-urnider-Lyme,
Staffordshire
April 1993
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PREFACE TO THE SECOND EDITION

A New edition has provided an opportunity for undertaking the revi-
sion and updating of the text and the maps and the inclusion of two
additional chapters on Malaysia.

J. KENNEDY

Madeley College of Education,
Staffordshire
April 1969

PREFACE TO THE FIRST EDITION

Ttk aim of this book is to present a concise and reasoned account of the
main trends of Malayan history during the last five and a half
centuries. Before A.D. 1400 the southern part of the Malay Peninsula
isseenlargely in relation to archaeology, and tothe records and claims
of other political centres, including the maritime empires of Funan,
Srivijaya, Suk'ot'ai, and Majapahit. The rise of the port-kingdom of
Malacca has been taken as a starting point because at this stage
Malaya began to have its awn written history. Malacca also gave to
other Malay states in the Peninsula some measure of political unity,
and this theme is repeated again near the end of the book in the
independence of Malaya and the achievement of internal self-
government by Singapore.

I'am very much indebted to the works of Sir Frank Swettenham, Sir
Richard Winstedt, R..J. Wilkinsan, W. Linehan, W. G, Maxwell, L.A.
Mills, C.C. Brown, V., Purcell, C.E. Wurtzburg, D. Hall, C.D.
Cowan, J.M. Gullick, C.A. Gibson-Hill, G.C. Allen and A.G.
Donnithorne, together with those of other scholars mentioried in the
footnates and Select Bibliography.

My thanks are also due to Malayan student-teachers, past and
present, at Kirkby, who have contributed in many ways to my work.

I hope that the book will help ta increase interest in the study of
Malayan history.

J. KENNEDY
Malayan Teachers' Training College,

Kirkby, Nr. Liverpuol
August 1960
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INTRODUCTION

Tye Malay Peninsula in prehistoric times has been described as a
bridge which was used by successive generations of migrant peoples
in passage southwards from the Asian mainland to the island archi-
pelago of South-East Asia. The analogy is a sound one provided that
itis remembered that contact and settlement were almost excl usively
coastwise and coastal. Even today the greater part of central Malaya
consists of dense and mountainous tropical jungle.

Malaya is a comparatively small country, a little larger than
England, and only about a quarter of its total area offers normal
habitation, The climate is tropical and varied mainly by the coming
and going of the two monsoon seasons. The north-east monsoon
sweeps acrossthe China Seain December and January and thesouth-
west monsoon prevails from the Indian Ocean and Sumatra between
May and October. In the days of sailing ships the coastline of Malaya
offered convenient landfall between monsoans. Indeed, the sheltered
ports of the Malacca Straits between Malaya and Sumatra were seen
at an early date to be a ting-place of the two

The sea, surrounding Malaya on three sides, has had the most
dynamicinfluence on Malaya's history for the constant theme running
through the centuries has been one of contact with new peaples,
cultures, trade and politics. Malaya stands, geographically, at the
crossroads of South-East Asia and about midway between the two
great continental areas of Indiaand China, Malaya's northern frontier
hasbeen less well defined historically and communication by road and
rail now passes quite naturally northwards into Siam. Relationships
with the Siamese form an important section of Malaya's own history.

The name ‘Malaya’ came to be used as a convenient term for the
landofthe Malays, the predominantindi race of the Py |
Early Malay-type peaple had entered the Peninsula from about 1500
B.C.but by the dawn of the Christian erathey had beenreplaced in the
coastal settlements by the ancestors of the modern Malay. Small
numbers of the early Malays and of even earlier settlerslived onin the
Jungles where they are still represented today. Multi-racialism has
always been a feature of the Peninsula and Indians and Arabs were
among the early traders and settlers in the first millennium.

Separate political communitiesdevelopedneartheriverestuaries
and new culturalinfluences, especially from India, reached the princely
courts, Both Hinduism and Buddhism were in evidence in the early
kingdoms of the Peninsula, but animism and ancestor-worship were
important too, especially among the ordinary people. The assimilation
of several successive cultural elements hasbeen aremarkable feature
of the Malay world. The small river-states did not find it easy to

i



N Introduction

maintain political independence and were often sending tukens of
allegiance to some powerful neighbour. The centres of political power
in the region alternated between Cambodia, Java, Sumatra and Siam.
Each of these areas developed sea-borne empires, Inosely-held but
often maintained for long periads. Of these, Funan, with its capital in
the Mekong valley of Cambodia, was important from the first to the
fifth centuries and Srivijaya, based on the river port of Palembangg in
Sumatra, was a notable and long-lived successor, By the thirteenth
century, the Thai peoples had created the kingdom of Suk'ot'ai in the
Menam valleyin the north of the Peninsula and they began to exercise
apolitical and economicinfluence as farsouth asSingapore. Meanwhile,
in eastern Java, an ambitious kingdom, Majapahit, claimed rights of
suzerainty over wide areas of Java, Sumatra and their adjacent
islands and over the Malay Peninsula. The creation of a Malay Empire
of Malacca in the fifteenth century followed, therefore, in a well.
established tradition of port-capitals and foreign policies based upon
the profits of trade.

Much is being done to uncover the histary of Malaya before 1400
AD, not least in the archaeological field, but the historical scene
begins to emerge more clearly from the time of the Malacca Kingdom.
Until modern times, however, the history of Malaya is more that of its
small separate states than of the Peninsula as a whole and this poses
problems of sequence both for the writer and the reader of Malayan
history.

The development of the Malacea Sultanate as the major political
and trade centre in the Malay Peninsula provides a strong case for
taking a date around A.D. 1400 as the starting point for a continuous
history of Malaya. From this time onwards the recorded evidence,
though often difficult to interpret, has greater coherence, It was
during the period of this Sultanate with its recognised wealth and
international status, that a remarkable Malay lite ary traditior
developed, much of it centred on life in and avound the royal court
is a tradition for which the Malay people have shown great affec: i
andrespect. When Tunku Abdul Rahman, destined tobecome the | st
Prime Minister of an independent Malaya, was ready to announce
publicly the coming of independence in 1957, it was Malacca that he
chose as the venue for his important statement.



Chapter 1

THE MALAY KINGDOM OF MALACCA
A.D. 1400-1511

Malacca remains a shadowy figure. It is easier to trace
his movements than his motives and to see the
consequences of his actions rather than the man behind them.
We know him by a title meaning ‘prince-consort’. He was
apparently a prince of Palembang who had married a princess
of Majapahit in eastern Java. He may have been a descendant
of those Sailendra kings who had once ruled Srivijaya and,
before that, central Java and, possibly, Funan.

‘When he realised how nobly he was married, and how
great was his power in the neighbouring islands,’
Parameswara announced his independence of Majapahit, This
proved to be a rash step, for a Javanese expedition attacked
and laid waste the island of Bangka and the region of
Palembang, and Parameswara escaped by sea, a political
refugee, By chance or design, he and his followers landed on
the island of Tumasik, or Singapore. The year may have
been about 1390.

The next episode in Parameswara’s career reflects perhaps
both his ambition and his m\pulswe nature. The reigning
chief on the island of Si e d Par a and
his followers; poessibly, he was not strong enough to act
otherwise. Within eight days, according to Pires's account,
Parameswara had him murdered, and claimed the island
and the neighbouring seapassages as his own. Political
ambition, aided possibly by feelings of personal rivalry, would
seem to have been the motive for murder.

Pﬂrameswsra, the founder of the Malay Kingdom of

‘Tome Pires, Suma Oriental



2 A History of Malaya

Parameswara’s success was comparatively short-lived. As
time went on, he feared an invasion directed by the Siamese
state of Suk’ot'ai, which claimed overlordship of all the
settlements in the Malay Peninsula as far south as Singapore.
The murdered chief had been related by marriage both to
the Siamese king and to the ruler of Patani, which was a
vassal state of Siam. When he received news of the approach
of a war fleet from Patani, Parameswara decided that it
would be wise to be on his travels again, and he embarked
with his followers. Pires puts the length of Parameswara's
stay in Singapore as five years.

Muar provided Parameswara with his next home. Here,
with about a thousand followers, he established a river
settlement which engaged in a mixture of fishing, farming,
and piracy. After six years at Muar, Parameswara took the
advice of a group of his fishermen and sailed northwards to
a more promising settlement with which they had made
contact at Malacca,

The combination at Malacca of river, hill, and wide
hinterland, offered a better prospect than Muar for trade,
agriculture and defence. Parameswara's arrival here, about
the year A.D. 1400 marked the beginnings of a change from
a small settlement of fishermen-pirates to a busy and wealthy
entrepdt port and the capital of a Malay empire.!

All this, of course, did not happen in a year or two. It
seems true to say, however, that the foundations were laid
during Parameswara’s lifetime. He made Malacca his
permanent home and was accepted by its people as the'~
ruler. Earlier glimpses of his life showed him as a rebel
adventurer; age and experience now seemed to bring from
him the qualities of a shrewd business-man and statesman.

Perhaps his first wise measure was to grasp the hand of
friendship offered to him by Ming China. Parameswara’s
arrival at Malacca coincided with a period of rare but
spectacular Chinese naval activity in the seas of South-East
Asia and westwards via the Indian Ocean to the Red Sea
and the coasts of East Africa. The presence of Ming fleets in

! The possibility of a much earlier port of Malacca has received some attention
recently.



The Malay Kingdom of Malacca 3

South-East Asia acted both as a deterrent to the expansion
of larger states like Suk’ot'ai and Majapahit and as a
protection to small princedoms like Malacca. By encouraging
the aspirations of small states and engaging them in direct
diplomacy with China, the early Ming rulers hoped to prevent
the appearance of any all-powerful state in the vast area of
peninsulas and islands which lay to the Chinese south, or
‘Nanyang'.

Parameswara’s ready acceptance of Chinese help and
protection brought him valuable presents and recognition of
his title by the Chinese Emperor. These diplomatic exchanges
had, for Malacca, other consequences of equal importance to
the growth of the infant kingdom. Chinese trading-junks,
laden with valuable cargoes, began to arrive at Malacca each
year, borne on the north-east monsoon. This Chinese trade
acted as a magnet for other merchants and shipping from
near and far, and thus Malacca became an international
market.

Although Parameswara could hardly have lived in great
state during his early years in Malacca, there were, at times,
touches of pageantry and ceremonial. Among the colourful
events in early Malacca must be counted the visit of Chinese
Admiral Cheng Ho in 1409, and the departure of
Parameswara and his retinue, on board Chinese vessels, for
a state visit to Peking in 1411.

Protected against the Siamese by his good relations with
China,! Parameswara now sought to make both trade and
political agreements in Jaya and Sumatra. Majapahit, torn
by internal wars, was less promising than northern Sumatra.
By a shrewd judgment, Parameswara allied himself in politics
and trade with the Muslim state of Pasai in northern
Sumatra, and this alliance was symbolised by the marriage,
in 1414, of Parameswara to a Muslim Princess of Pasai.
Already Pasai had a lively trade in produce from many parts
of India and from Java, as well as specialising in locally
grown pepper. Malacca’s links with Pasai brought more Indian
and Javanese traders to Malacca, where they found also the

! Parameswara and his successors scem to have reinsured sometimes by

sending Lribute to the Siamese until the reign of Muzaflar Shah




4 A Histary of Malaya

added attraction of bargaining for the luxuries of Chinese
silk, gold thread, porcelain, and pottery.

When he allied Malacca with Pasai, and took a Muslim
wife, Parameswara accepted also the religion of Islam. Most
scholars think it likely that, at this stage in his life,
Parameswara adopted the name Iskandar Shah, Muslim
merchants from India — especially from Gujerat — and from
northern Sumatra now came in increasing numbers to
Malacca. The port-kingdom could offer not only a varied and
expanding trade, but also the opportunity of practising and
spreading the tenets of Islam under the favourable influence
of a Muslim court.

The port was still growing — and much further
development lay ahead — when Iskandar Shah died, in 1424.
The main features of Malacea’s trade with India, China, and
the kingdoms of South-East Asia were, however, already
apparent. Freedom from foreign attack still rested mainly on
the reputation of a strong China, but, with increasing wealth
and population, the port was gradually moving into a position
where it was capable of taking charge of its own defence.

Malacca attracted a tremendous variety of trade and
traders. The fullest descriptions which we have of this trade
are to be found in Portuguese accounts written after the
Portuguese conquest of Malacca in 1511.! From these
accounts we get a vivid picture of a flourishing business, but
we are unable to trace its growth through the century of
Malay rule. Malay stories contained in the Sejarah Melayu
give us glimpses of the town of Malacca at this time, and
desceribe incidents concerned with the keeping of law and
order and the protection of merchants’ property.

Large ships anchored just south of the Malacca river
estuary, and small craft swarmed in the river itself. On the
north bank of the river stood godowns, which were protected
by a high fence, and policed at night. Close to these stood the
market-place. Much of Malacca’s cosmopolitan population
lived on this side of the river, the merchants having large
houses set among gardens and orchards. The ruler's palace
and the main mosque and burial ground lay on the south

! Especially in Tomé Pires, Suma Oriental, written in 1512-15
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6 A History of Malaya

side of the river in the vicinity of St. Paul's Hill. On this
side, too, lived, in all probability, some of the Malay nobles.
A wooden bridge across the river, a likely resort of street-
sellers, linked the two parts of the town together.

A complex system of trade routes led to Malacca from
both west and east. From the Red Sea and the Persian Gulf,
ships sailed to the Indian port of Cambay, in the kingdom of
Gujerat. Here Persians, Arabs, Armenians, and Turks sold
part of their stocks of Venetian glass and metal ware, Arabian
opium, perfumes, pearls, and dyes, and bought, among other
things, cloth, tapestries, and incense. With mixed cargoes of
Mediterranean, Arabian, Persian, and Indian origins, these
same traders booked deck-space or cabin-space on Gujerati
ships which were sailing for Malacca on the next-south-west
monsoon, In Malacca they sold what they had brought, and
carried back on the return voyage scented timber, spices,
porcelain, damasks, and silks, gold and tin, and other items,
including even birds from the Banda Islands, whose feathers
found a market among Arab and Turkish peoples.

From the west coast of India, south of Gujerat, merchants
sailed first to Calicut or Bengal, where they joined ships for
Malacca. Another Indian port with a direct service to Malacea
was Pulicat, which lay in the north of the modern State of
Madras. This served as an alternative collecting and export
centre for Gujerati products as well as for more locally-made
cloths.

These regular sailings from Gujerat, Bengal, and Madras
had their counterparts from the east in regular arrivals by
the northeast monsoon from China, Formosa, the Philippines,
and the Moluccas. These were the big shipping routes, but,
in addition, smaller craft of many kinds came from the coasts
of Sumatra, Java, Borneo, and their adjacent islands, as well
as from the Malay Peninsula itself. The shorter sailings
brought to Malacca tin and jungle produce, pepper and gold,
and important supplies of foodstuffs for a port which had
soon ceased to be self-sufficing in this respect. Finally, from
Pegu in southern Burma, came teak, silver, and rice, whilst
rice was obtained also indirectly from Siam through ports in
northern Sumatra.
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Malacca was thus linked in trade with the Mediterranean
and Europe, the Middle East and East Africa (via Gujerat
and Red Sea ports), India, most parts of South-East Asia,
and with China. ‘Men cannot estimate the worth of Malacca,’
wrote Pires very soon after the Portuguese conquest, ‘on
account of its greatness and profit. Malacca is a city that
was made for merchandise, fitter than any other in the world;
the end of and the beginning of others. Mal is
surrounded and lies in the middle, and the trade and
commerce between the different nations for a thousand
leagues on every hand must come to Malacea.'

This Malacca trade was handled by a great number of
merchants. The large vessels from India and China were
divided into storage sections, which were hired out at fixed
prices to merchants and groups of merchants, Travelling
merchants and agents of many races accompanied their
cargoes to and from Malacca, and others settled in the port
itself. The result was a colourful, cosmopolitan, population of
many languages and cultures, to match the almost endless
variety of merchandise loaded and unloaded, sold and resold,
on ships and sampans and in the godowns and the market.
The most prominent and influential single group of traders
were the Gujeratis, though this name in itself may have
covered a number of racial groups, all Muslims, who came to
Malacca from the port of Cambay.

The congregation in Malacca of experienced traders from
many lands must have helped the development of what
became an orderly and efficient business organisation. Groups
of Mal merchants bined to bid for the incoming
eargoes, which they then divided up among their number in
Proportion. The incoming trader could be paid quickly, and
the Malacca merchants could resell or store what they had
bwght, as it suited them, By this practice a standard system
of wholesale and retail trade was achieved, for, wrote Pires,
'ﬂie law and prices of merchandise in Malacca are well-
known’

Port charges were also standardised. Shipping from a
Westerly direction paid tolls equivalent to six per cent of the
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value of the cargo. Shipping from Sumatra (apart from
northern Sumatra which was regarded as ‘western’), Java,
the east coast of Malaya, and further east to the Moluccas,
the Philippines, and China, paid presents instead of a
percentage on the cargo, but these presents were of a
‘reasonable amount” and represented a similar payment to
that made by shipping from the west. The Chinese junk
trade was an exception to this, for the Chinese, as in political
diplomacy, gave larger presents than anyone else. Locally
settled traders paid charges of three per cent.

Gold, silver, and tin were all used for currency in Malacca.
Gold and silver were valued according to quality, and the
usual small coinage was in the form of tin ‘cashes’, which
bore the name of the reigning king. There was also a standard
system of weights and measures based upon ‘bahars’, ‘cates’
and ‘taels'. There were different weight systems for different
categories of merchandise. Malacca did not lack the
arithmetical complexities of a centre of international trade.

Precautions were taken against favouritism and the
corruption of officials. In particular, the six per cent dues
were based on valuations made by independent committees
set up for the purpose under the chairmanship of a Customs
Judge. Moreover, four port officials, known as Shahbandars,
were appointed to supervise the trade and to look after visiting
merchants. For this purpose the Gujeratis formed one group,
the Bengalis and the merchants of Pegu and Pasai (northern
Sumatra) another; a third region included southern Sumatra,
Java, and the Moluccas, and the fourth group included
shipping from Indo-China and China. The Shahbandars
themselves were nationals of one of the countries with whose
trade they were concerned. They found transport and lodgings
for visiting merchants, and acted as welfare and liaison
officers in cases of personal problems and complaints. They
must have played an important part in the smooth running
of international relationships.

Although much of the profit from this trade went to the
merchant class, the ruler of Malacca and his leading noblemen
also derived large incomes from it. The nobles held high

' Tomé Pires, op. cit



The Malay Kingdom of Malacca 9

offices of state, and these may have carried some rewards
from the royal treasury, In addition some of them at least
received the customary presents from the incoming cargoes

It was the ruler, however, who was in the best position
to raise money. First, he had the revenue from port charges
and presents. All the weighing of merchandise entering and
leaving Malacca was subject to a royal tax of one per cent,
and secretaries and receivers were specially appointed to
supervise and collect it. Through his officials the king of
Malacca ventured some of his resources as a private trader.
Chinese junk-owners, for example, gave the king specially
favourable terms for handling his cargoes, and the king
exempted his own agents from paying dues in Malacca

To these sources of income should be added a number of
smaller charges, such as licences for the sale of property or
land, rents from street vendors, and the proceeds of fines
and confiscations in the administration of justice. From the
middle of the fifteenth century onwards another very
important source of income developed — the receipt of tribute
in one form or another from an increasing number of vassal
states.

The king was, of course, faced with exp of
administration, but these could be reduced in various ways.
Many officials and nobles received presents and perquisites
in the course of their work.! In other cases, the king could
give special honours or exemptions in lieu of (or part-payment
of) a salary. The king also had the right to conseript labour
and to demand military service, and this provided him with
another source from which he could grant favours and
Tewards,

The commercial rise of Malacea and the increasing wealth
. ‘ﬁnl kings was reflected in its political development. The
| Ing came to live in great state. He was shielded by an array
i of dignified officials, and he could be approached only with
‘ due ceremony and ritual. It is to these Malacca rulers that

We now turn our attention.
~ Iskandar Shah's successor bore a Hindu title, Sri

.
The income from street-sellors seems to have heen direetly apportioned
0me of the nobles
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Mabharajah, though the Sejarah Melayu later calls him
Muhammad Shah. Though he reigned for twenty years, we
know even less about him than about Parameswara, except
for his alleged organisation of the offices of state. Tt would
seem likely that his reign was constructive, because very
shortly after his death Malacca was strong enough to refuse
tribute to Siam at a time when China had withdrawn from
her former active foreign policy and was not likely to give
effective help.

Sri Maharajah's death was followed by one of those
struggles for succession which became such a feature of the
subsequent history of the Malay States. In this instance, the
main parties concerned were not the claimants themselves,
but their supporters, The case concerned two sons of Sri
Maharajah, one, Raja Ibrahim, by marriage with a princess
of Rokan in Sumatra, the other, Raja Kasim, by marriage
with the sister of a Tamil Muslim merchant named Tun Ali
who had settled in Malacca from northern Sumatra. Raja
Ibrahim, who was only a child, was installed with the title
Sri Parameswara Deva Shah,! under the guardianship of his
uncle, the Raja of Rokan. This regency was overthrown about
a year later by a coup d'état in favour of the older half-
brother, Raja Kasim. The young king and his uncle were
both killed in an attack on the palace led by Tun Ali and
Raja Kasim, with the implicit approval of the Chief Minister
(Bendahara), who had been pressed or persuaded to
accompany the rebels. The attack may have been based partly
on personal animosity to the Raja of Rokan, but it also
furthered the interests of Tun Ali's family and secured a
Muslim dynasty on the Malacca throne.

The new ruler took the name Muzaffar Shah, and became
the first of the Malacca kings to use the title of Sultan.? He
refused to send tribute to Siam. A Siamese army was
despatched to Malacca in 1445, via the difficult overland
route from Pahang. The Siamese force, possibly weakened
already by the long approach to Malacca, was defeated, and

+An ingenious combination of Hindu and Muslim titles
* Possibly in 1456
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it withdrew. Malacca was showing itself capable of resisting
foreign invasion.

In this fighting a high reputation was won by Tun Perak,
who was destined to play a leading part in Malacca’s politics
for the next forty years. Tun Perak was a son of the
Bendahara Sriwa Raja who had been implicated in the plot
against Raja Ibrahim and the Raja of Rokan. The high office
of Bendahara, ranking normally next to the Sultan, seems to
have been created very early in the era of the Malacca kings,
and it was established in one family.

Tun Perak’s father had less influence with the new ruler,
Muzaffar Shah, than Tun Ali, who had led the revolution
which secured the throne for his nephew. Whether from
disappointment, frustration, or remorse, the old Bendahara
poisoned himself. Tun Ali was now appointed Bendahara
and the overlooked Tun Perak withdrew to Klang. With these
moves, a 1 change of Bendahara family had taken
place — in fact, a second coup d’état had occurred with the
exiled Tun Perak as its main victim.

Tun Perak soon became headman of the small community
at Klang, and it was in this capacity that he led the Klang
contingent in the defence of Malacca against the Siamese in
1445. Now the Sultan decided to keep Tun Perak in Malacca,
and to confer on him honours and titles. Sharp friction arose
between Tun Perak and the elderly Tun Ali, which was
Tesolved only by an act of the greatest diplomacy on the

Jtan’s part. The Sultan had married Tun Perak’s sister
Tun Kudu. This may have been an attempt to placate Malay
opinion when the office of Bendahara was transferred to a
Tamil family. Tun Kudu may also, of course, have used her
_i'iﬂuence to gain the-Sultan’s favour for Tun Perak. Muzaffar
Shah now persiiaded Tun Ali to resign his Bendaharaship in
Teturn for a new wife whom the Sultan would find him. Tun
Ali insisted on the choice of Tun Kudu, wife of the Sultan
and-sister of Tun Perak, and this was agreed to.! Tun Ali
Married the Sultan’s ex-wife, and thus became Tun Perak’s

ther-in-law. In this way the Sultan avoided the civil war

#fPun R du's views about her change of husband have not beer recorded.
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which threatened when his court was divided into two
factions. Tun Perak came into his family inheritance as the
new Bendahara of Malacca about 1456. From this time until
his death in 1498 he remained Bendahara, serving in turn
four Sultans, all of whom were his relatives. He remained a
power behind the throne, and ‘the brain of Malacca’s
imperialist policy in Malaya and Sumatra for more than three
reigns’.!

The emergence of Tun Perak as Bendahara coincided
with the second Siamese attack on Malacca in 1456, This was
an attempt at a sea-borne invasion via the southern tip of
Malaya and the Malacca Straits. The Malacca fleet met the
invaders off Batu Pahat, and a show of force was sufficient
to make the Siamese lose heart and retreat,

The defeat of this second Siamese invasion marked a
turning point in Malacea’s history. So far the port-kingdom
had been building up resources, and now the defences had
been tested and had remained intact. From 1456 onwards
Malacea pursued an active, and often aggressive, foreign
policy and built up a loosely held empire of her own in Malaya
and eastern Sumatra.

Much of this empire-building took place in the reign of
Sultan Mansur Shah. The Sultan himself, however, does not
appear to have been a very strong character, and the direction
of policy came from the Bendahara Tun Perak, who was his
cousin. Soon after his appomtment as Bendﬂharﬂ Tun Perak

ded a fleet in a asion of Pahang, a
vassal state of Siam. The Siamese governor was taken
prisoner, and a Malay chief was appointed Viceroy of Pahang,
owing homage to the Malacca Sultan.

About this time Tun Perak despatched two embassies.
One went to Siam on a mission of peace but not subservience;
the other went to China to restore the old Malacca custom
of seeking Chinese recognition for the ruler. Both missions
achieved their purpose.

Malacca now embarked on a policy reminiscent of that of
the early South-East Asian empires of Funan and Srivijaya.
Expeditions sent across the Straits to Sumatra conquered

1R.0. Winstedt, History of Malaya, p. 46.
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Siak and Kampar, but failed in an attempt to subdue Pasai.
At, or before, this time,! Indragiri and Rokan in Sumatra
were forcibly added to the list of Malacca vassals, and the
small states of the Malay Peninsula from Kedah on the west
coast down to Johore and the Rhio Archipelago, and
northwards via Pahang to Trengganu and Kelantan, all made
their allegiance to the growing power of Malacca. The Malacca
empire had almost reached its full extent by the time of
Mansur Shah’s death.

The next Sultan, Ala’ud'din, was a younger son of Mansur
Shah, and a nephew by marriage of Tun Perak, and his title

! Itis impossible o date some of these events exactly; the Sejarah Melayu and
Tomé Pires place some events in different reigns.
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to the throne was, to say the least, doubtful. In all probability,
Tun Perak’s influence decided the matter. Alg'ud’din, however,
showed more individuality and strength of character than
any of the later Malacca Sultans.! He dealt with attempts by
his elder half-brother in Pahang to thwart his authority, and
he took a personal interest in the maintenance of law and
order in his capital. On one occasion, patrolling the market
area in disguise late at night, he challenged and killed three
of a company of five thieves and recovered their booty.
Ala’ud’din also reasserted Malacca’s authority over Siak.

This able and energetic Sultan died, a comparatively
young man, in rather mysterious circumstances. Suggestions
of poisoning have been made, with the self-styled Sultan
Mahmud Shah of Pahang (the elder half-brother) as one of
the conspirators. The evidence, however, would not appear
to be sufficiently conclusive for a verdict of murder to be
returned.

Again a second son (and a young boy) succeeded to the
throne under the title of Mahmud Shah, and again he was
a relative — this time a grand-nephew — of the ageing Tun
Perak. Mahmud Shah was destined for a career of losses and
bitter disappointments. He was also unfortunate in the
chroniclers of his twenty-three years' reign in Malacca. The
compiler of the Sejarah Melayu was biased against him
because he ordered the execution of a Bendahara, Tun
Mutahir. The Portuguese had no sympathy for a Sultan whose
conduct they regarded as treacherous. The least that can be
said of him is that he was not a very effective ruler, and that
his court was a centre of intrigue and favouritism. It was
unfortunate for the Malay Kingdom of Malacca that it was
Mahmud and not Ala'ud’din who had to face the dilemma
presented by the arrival of the Portuguese.

The early years of Mahmud's reign saw Malacca at its
zenith, with its suzerainty over the peninsula extending as
far north as Patani. An attempt by the Raja of Ligor, vassal
of the King of Siam, to conquer Pahang was repulsed with
the help of forces from Malacca. But there was weakness as

 The Sejarah Melayu describes him as 'a man of such strength that he had no
rival in those days'
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‘well as strength. Foreign merchants began to complain of
pressive practices and, at the court, there were plots and
unter-plots. Some account of this will be given in the next
“chapter as background to the atmosphere in Malacca when
?Qe Sequeira’s ships arrived in 1509.
Three further aspects of this century of Malay rule in
lacca call for some attention.
" First there was the structure of the government, with its
‘hierarchy of officials, which is said to have developed during
'ﬂze reign of Sri Maharajah (Muhammad Shah). In theory
‘the ruler's word was law, and he certainly exercised great
~ personal authority at times. Despite the influence of Islam,
_the rulers of Malacca were shrouded in an atmosphere of
i-divinity which owed much to Hindu traditions — as did
the court ceremonial. There was great emphasis on etiquette
h} the Sultan's public appearances on an elephant or in a
, and in his reception of envoys or his appointment of

’dmcia]s in the audience-chamber. Only the ruler could wear
gold or yellow, unless he himself partially relaxed the rule in
order to symbolise the granting of a particularly high honour
iﬂ,individual cases. Hang Tuah, the almost mythical Malay
‘y,arrior-hero whose patron was Tun Perak, was allowed the
extraordinary privilege of wearing what he liked.

~In practice much depended on the ruler's personal
character and ability. He had the alternative temptations of
enjoying the luxuries which his position offered or of retiring
into spiritual contemplation, without, in either case, carrying
out his political duties.

. The office of Bendahara stood next to royalty and it
represented that of Chief Minister, and sometimes Viceroy,
and Commander-in-Chief. The holder of this office was also
Chief Justice and Premier Noble of the State. He was both
a dignified and a powerful figure, and to displease him was
little better than to displease the Sultan. From Muzaffar
Shah's time onwards, the Bendahara was an older relative of
the Sultan. As these Sultans were only boys at the time of
their installations, the dominant position of the Bendahara
Was emphasised. One Bendahara, Tun Perak, actually held
office, as we have seen, during the reigns of four Sultans. Only
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a very strong ruler could take any independent line with
such & power standing behind the throne. Moreover, both
Tun Ali and Tun Perak were kingmakers to whom the Sultans
were indebted from the first.

However powerful the Bendahara appeared, he had to be
careful to avoid the trappings of royalty, and in matters of
purely personal concern he was wise to listen to the Sultan.
Bendahara Tun Mutahir was put to death on the orders of
Sultan Mahmud partly, at least, because he had lived in a
style too much resembling that of the Sultan and — what
was worse — had refused to allow the Sultan an opportunity
of asking for his daughter's hand in marriage.

After the Bendahara came the Temenggong, Laksamana,
and Penghulu Bendahari. The Temenggong was Chief of
Police and Master of Royal Ceremonies; the Laksamana was,
technically at least, Admiral of the Fleet,' and the Penghulu
Bendahari (or Sri Naradiraja) was the Royal Treasurer.
Around the court there were many other minor officials and
attendants — chamberlains, heralds and pages — and there
were titles of nobility acquired both by family descent and by
royal favour. Malacca nobility formed a pyramid of four great,
eight lesser, sixteen small, and thirty-two inferior, chiefs. On
the commercial side, the four Shahbandars have already been
mentioned, and there were also customs officers, weighing
inspectors, mint officials, secretaries, and auditors. There
was probably as much consciousness of rank and seniority in
this civil service as there was among the nobility,

Secondly, trade and politics by no means comprised the
whole of life in Malacca. Perhaps the Malacca kingdom's
greatest claim to fame in the fifteenth century could be based
on the part which it played in the conversion of Malay peoples
to Islam.

Like Hinduism and Buddhism, which had preceded it in
South-East Asia by many centuries, Islam made its first
impact in the royal courts; only later, and very gradually,
did it spread to the mass of the people. The path of Islam to
South-East Asia lay via India, and Indian Muslims played a
very prominent part in its spread. The first Muslim states

| Hang Tuah was the most renawned Laksamana
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were established in northern Sumatra towards the end of
the thirteenth century, and it was through marriage to a
princess of one of these states, Pasai, that the first king of
Malacca adopted Islam at his court. How far Islam was the
court religion of the second king is debatable, but the accession
of Muzaffar Shah, following the palace revolution of 1445,
ensured a Muslim succession. Muzaffar's mother and his
uncle, Tun Ali, were members of a Tamil Muslim trading
family who had been settled in Pasai before coming to
Malacca.

Hindu traditions lingered on in court ceremonial,! and
Sanskrit words were used for some of the titles of rank,
together with Sanskrit announcements at the investitures.
Islam had, however, become the religion of the royal family,
and the nobility, no doubt, followed their example. By its
political contacts with other states, Malacca helped the spread
#«‘Islam in at least two ways. One was by marriage between
members of the royal house of Malacca and members of other
ruling families; in this way a Muslim court was established
at Kedah, and marriages with the ruling houses of Kelantan
and Indragiri also helped to spread Islam at court level. The
other way was by conquest and the replacement of the local
ruler by a Muslim prince of the Malacca family, This
‘i!))pened, for example, in Pahang and Kampar. The prestige
which Malacca enjoyed in the vassal states, and the authority
ithad over them, must, in some courts at least, have created
influences favourable to the religion of Malacca.

The town of Malacca had had from its early years a very
Considerable and influential foreign Muslim population, This
El'ﬂlnded Turks, Arabs, Persians, and Muslim Indians from
both Tamil India and Gujerat. The open practice of Islam by
gieae wealthy traders, and the high prestige which
Surrounded them, helped to interest other peoples in their
Teligion. Javanese traders and mercenary soldiers are said
0 have been converted to Islam in Malacca, and to have
their new religion back to Java. Muslim merchants
“‘?ﬁo married into the non-Muslim population, thus ereating
Mew Muslim families.

'

"They still do Loday in the Malay States.

=
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It is interesting also to note that there were Muslim
mystics and theologians in fifteenth-century Malacea, and
that theological questions passed with great formality between
Malacca and Pasai, with much reference to texts from the
Koran.! For the Malay Peninsula and eastern Sumatra,
Malacca was a very important diffusion-centre of Islam. It
also contributed to some extent, through Javanese settlement
in the port, and the comings and going of trading boats, to
the spread of Islam in Java.

Finally, a brief mention may be made of the literary
work, Sejarah Melayu, which provides us with colourful
details of this period. Much of it is thought to have been
written about A.D. 1535 but it was compiled, with later
additions, by a descendant of the Malacca Bendaharas about
A.D. 1612. It looks back from Johore to a ‘golden age’ in the
Malacca kingdom, and, in particular praises its Bendaharas.
The Sejarah Melayu is lacking both in dates and in time
sense. It can often be shown to be absurdly inaccurate about
events for which there are more reliable sources. Yet, with
all its shortcomings, it presents a pattern of life and a series
of vivid character sketches without which our impressions of
Malay Malacca would be very much the poorer. Like the
Iliad and the Odyssey of Ancient Greece, the Sejarah Melayu
is full of brave deeds and wonders, but may still represent
a faithful portrayal of the way life was lived in the royal
courts with which it deals.

Among many other topics, the reader can sense the great
emphasis on titles and etiquette, the admiration for physical
bravery and skill with weapons, and, with few exceptions,
the sense of loyalty to the ruler. We can be grateful for the
descriptions of dress used on formal occasions, for the homely
metaphors, and for the detailed accounts of many incidents,
one including the costly palace of Sultan Mansur Shah and
the fire which destroyed it. Last, but not least, the Sejarah
Melayu has many delightful touches of humour to remind us
that, then as now, Malay formality was often relieved by a
keen eye for an amusing situation or a keen ear for a witty
word.

' The questions, written and sealed in a special way, were transported by
clephant and boat with great ceremony
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KINGDOM OF MALACCA
Table of Rulers and main Bendaharas

Ruler
Parameswara
{skandar Shah
8ri Maharajah }

| Muhammad Shah'
§ri Parameswara
| Deva Shah
| Sultan Muzaffar Shah'
|

Sultan Mansur Shah!
Sultan Ala'uddin

Sultan Mahmud Shah

Dates

Bendahara AD,

Sriwa Raja 71445
Tun Al 1445-. 1456
Tun Perak ¢ 1456-1498
;"‘“" Pu':;')l 1498-1500
Tun Mutahir 1600-1510
Paduka Tuan 1510-1511

!The dates of Muzaffar Shah's death and Mansur Shah's acecssion are not
9.

established beyond doubt. They both fall within the period A.D. 1451




Chapter 2

THE PORTUGUESE AND THE
DUTCH IN THE MALACCA STRAITS
A.D. 1509-1641

mixture of circumstances and motives led the

Portuguese to pioneer the long sea route from Europe

to the East. They were a people bred on the shores!
of the Atlantic, with sea-fishing as one of their traditional
occupations. Lisbon, the Portuguese capital, was a fine river-
port, linked in trade with many parts of Europe. At Sagres,
on Cape St. Vincent, in the south-west corner of the kingdom,
Prince Henry the Navigator (1394-1460) had established a
scientific research centre for the study of winds, tides and
currents, the preparation of maps and routes, and the building
of ships. Mariners from many countries were welcomed at
Sagres, where their skill and knowledge was pooled with
that of the Portuguese.

Prince Henry despatched expeditions to chart routes
southwards along the west coast of Africa, and, after his;
death, this practice was continued. Bartholomew Diaz
rounded Africa in 1488; ten years later Vasco da Gama:
reached Malindi in East Africa, where he secured the services
of an Indian pilot to guide him across the Indian Ocean to
Calicut. For the next few years the Portuguese were engaged
in attempts to establish a firm trading base on the Malabar
coast, of India.

Skill in shipbuilding, advanced knowledge of navigation,
and royal patronage, all contributed to placing Portugal in
the lead in the exploration of uncharted seas during the
fifteenth century. From Portugal a natural route, not without;
dangers, of course, followed the western outline of the African
continent. Tt was long a belief in Portugal that if you continued
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sailing south you would eventually reach a land’s end’ where
vou could change to an easterly or north-easterly course. Diaz
wgd that this was possible, and da Gama eventually
completed the link to India.

~ The desire for knowledge and the reward of new
ﬁﬁw‘erﬂes only partly explains the Portuguese enterprises
ﬂibmng motive was the wish to make contact with a
jan kingdom or kingdoms which lay in East Africa,
or even on the route to China. In particular, the
guese had a myth about a legendary Christian priest-
in the East, known as John the Priest, or Prester John.
myth was by no means confined to Portugal, With great
ty of detail, it occurred at different times and places in
tern Europe throughout the Middle Ages.! The
guese had also a very strong missionary spirit. Their
had been the first Christian kingdom te emerge
dent of Muslim rule in the Iberian Peninsula. It was
urprising, therefore, that they felt an urge to be the
to establish relationships with whatever Christian
oms existed in the East,

ked with this enthusiasm for Christianity was an anti-
m attitude which had become almost second nature to
ortuguese in their long history of revolt against Muslim
b, Portugal was not unwilling to extend her traditional
ign against a Muslim state to attacks upon other
im areas beyond her own frontiers. In 1415, for instance,
e Henry the Navigator had himself taken part in the
from the Moors of the port of Ceuta in Morocco, on
uthern side of the Straits of Gibraltar. The Portuguese
onscious of a land barrier of Muslim states in North
, and at the eastern end of the Mediterranean, which
the way to contact with non-Muslim regions in the

iese Portuguese feelings based on religion, politics, and
, were reinforced by economic reasons. Produce from
d the East Indies reached European ports, including
by very devious routes. In this east-west trade,

T summary of the legend of Prester John is given in Sonia E. Howe's In
of Spices, pp. 46:52.
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Muslim rulers controlled the overland routes which led from
the ports of the Red Sea and the Persian Gulf to the easterni
Mediterranean, and Muslim traders bought, sold, and
transported, all along the routes. These traders included, for
example, Indian Gujeratis who linked Malacca with Cambay,
and Arabs, Turks, Persians, and Egyptians, who linked
Cambay with Cairo, Alexandria, or Aleppo.

It was not only Muslim princes and merchants who
profited from this trade in spices, silks, cloths, and other
commodities. At the European end, the Venetians had a
monopoly of the purchase of eastern products in the eastern
Mediterranean ports. They paid high prices, but with the
monopoly of distribution they held in Europe they could sell
dearly and thrive on middleman profits.

Thus, for Portugal, a direct sea route to the East
symbolised many things. Access to eastern trade-markets
would damage Muslim trade and break the monopoly o
Venice. A break-through might be achieved to Christian, or
at least non-Muslim, kingdoms beyond the Muslim barrier,
National prestige would be enhanced, and Lisbon might
become a second Venice.

Vasco da Gama traded at Calicut on his first arrival in
India, but the Portuguese were soon driven to find anothe
base, further south, at Cochin, In the first decade of th
sixteenth century Muslim and Portuguese fleets struggled
for supremacy in the Indian Ocean. The Muslim powers
quickly recognised the dangers to their interests in the coming
of the Portuguese, while, for their part, the Portuguese aimed
at cutting the Muslim-trade routes to the Red Sea and Persiall
Gulf. This would enable the Portuguese to divert trade 0
Europe in their own ships, via the Cape. The issue was il
the balance until 1509, when the Portuguese defeated
combined Egyptian and Indian fleet off Diu on the coast o
Gujerat. This victory gave to Portugal naval supremacy i
the Indian Ocean.

Earlier, King Manoel of Portugal had decided to maintaif
a large, permanent, force in the East, and had appointed
Francisco de Almeida as its commander. Almeida left Lisbo
in 1505 and blished his head ters at Cochin, i
the title of Viceroy. He had great faith in sea power alon®
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ind it was he who won the battle of Diu. About two months
. pefore Almeida handed over office to his successor, a
| Portuguese fleet of four or five ships under Diogo Lopes de
- ‘Wira anchored off Malacca. Sequeira brought credentials
and presents from King Manoel, who had despatched him
Lisbon in the previous year; he sought permission from
‘the Sultan to land and engage in trade.
~ The Portuguese were well aware of the importance of
Malacea; As early as 1506 King Manoel had ordered Almeida
to go and build a fort there, as there were rumours that a
.Bﬁm'sh fleet was proceeding to Malacca from the opposite
ﬁm.‘ Ao less urgent reason was to establish a ‘factory’

“in this entrepot, especially to take part in its spice trade. The
“arrival of the Portuguese at Malacca caused some excitement
2 in that multi-racial port, but it also presented a
ma for the Sultan and his advisers,
. Bendahara Tun Perak had died in 1498, and had been
led by his brother Tun Puteh, already an elderly man,
died about two years later, From 1500 to 1510, the
ara was Tun Mutahir, son of the Tamil Tun Ali and
of Sultan Mahmud. The sons of Tun Perak were
ked. This was a curious repetition of the situation in
n Muzaffar Shah's reign. Mutahir’s appointment was
nly not acceptable to Tun Perak's family and their
porters, and his conduct gained him further enemies, He
| & great love of dress and show, he was haughty in his
er; he received gifts which looked suspiciously like
s; he engaged in trade and became very wealthy. He
came a target for jealous and envious feelings from
Malacca courtiers, and from the traders who were
essed by his demands. He was, however, still secure in
tfice when the Portuguese arrived in 1509.
% first Sequeira received a friendly reception, and he
Me to land men and stocks, and to begin to trade. No
‘8reement about a ‘factory’ was reached, however, and
&l::ion to the Portuguese soon showed itself. Muslim
- in Malacea saw the arrival of the Portuguese as an
m(;n into their economic sphere and as a first move in
. nsion of Portuguese sea power from the Indian Ocean

Malacca Straits. The Gujeratis formed the vanguard

b
1 VE. Prestage, Alfonso de Alhuquerque, p. 46 (footnole)
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of this opposition, and they gained the support of thy
Bendahara, who already had trading commitments with then
for a plan to destroy the Portuguese expedition.

This plan was only partly successful, which, in a sensg
was worse than complete failure. The Portuguese may, iy
* 7y case, have been sufficiently wary not to allow a majority
of their men on shore at the same time. An attempt to seiz
the Portuguese ships was foiled by quick action on Sequeira)
part. He withdrew, leaving two ships, which would have beef
undermanned, on fire. Some of the shore party were killg
and nineteen were taken prisoner. Sequeira sailed back
India with a bitter story to tell. By destroying the Portugues
expedition, the Gujeratis had hoped to make it the first anj
last attempt at such an enterprise in Malacca. But even
the attack on the Portuguese had been a complete success
it seems likely that, sooner or later, there would have be
retaliation. Sequeira’s report on Malacca and on his treatme
there ensured that this retaliation would not be long delayed

Nearly two years passed before the next Portuguese ship
sailed down the Straits to Malacca. During this time Almeid
had been succeeded in India by Afonso de Albuquerqué
Albuguerque's policy was to safeguard Portuguese trade
building strong fortresses at key coastal sites. He capturé
and fortified Goa in 1510. Among the ships which he us
for the attack on Goa was a small squadron which had beé
sent by King Manoel to conquer Malacca. Albuquerque, @
his own authority, delayed these ships until he could merg
them into a much bigger fleet under his own command.
told Diogo Mendes, their commander, that with such a smal
fleet he would return from Malacca, like Sequeira, with
‘broken head'.

Albuquerque sailed from Goa in April, 1511, with eightee
ships and upwards of a thousand men, including som
Malabar auxiliaries; he anchored off Malacca at the beginnind
of July.

In the interval between Sequeira’s withdrawal an
Albuguerque's arrival, life in Malacca court circles had be@
by no means uneventful. The main sensation was the fall
Bendahara Tun Mutahir. The Bendahara’s love of mon!
and his neglect of the Sultan’s personal interests combind
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_about his condemnation and death. By his high-
‘manner, he offended a wealthy Tamil merchant who
quently due to appear before him in a law case.
nil, hearing that Mutahir had received a large sum
in order to judge the case against him, feared for his
property, and proceeded to the Laksamana with a
ft in money and jewels on his own behalf The
a was already hostile to Mutahir, and, according
‘account, he had opposed the plan for attacking the
ese in 1509." He was now persuaded to tell the
‘that Mutahir was conspiring against him.
tan Mahmud was in the right frame of mind to listen
h an accusation. His personal grievance against Uncle
concerned Tun Fatimah, Mutahir's daughter, While
nud was looking for another consort, Mutahir had
Tun Fatimah to another cousin, leaving no
ity for Mahmud to see the girl until the day of the
. On seeing Fatimah, Mahmud felt that his Chief
had treated him very badly,
one of the most memorable phrases of the Sejarah
the Laksamana's accusation against Mutahir was
me to Mahmud as ‘the offer of a pillow to a man
eep’. The Sejarah Melayu describes the formal
as traitors of Mutahir and his family, but it seems
ely that they were attacked and massacred.? A son
‘Perak, the aged Dato’ Paduka Tuan was appointed

buquerque had come to Malacca to make demands
than requests, and to back these, if necessary, by the
force. He demanded the surrender of the Portuguese
s, and the payment of compensation for loss of
ese life and property two years earlier. In his reply
ud put the blame for the events of 1509 on Bendahara
, who was now dead. He retained the prisoners at
ecause they were useful hostages whose presence in
might deter or delay Albuquerque from making an
- Mahmud's advisers pressed him to defend the town,

Pires, Suma Oriental, Vol. 11, p. 25

7.
ilkinson, ‘The Malacca Sultanate, JRASMB, Vol. 13, pt. 2, p. 67
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and he tried to temporise with the Portuguese. Albuquer,
now became more aggressive. He set fire to some Caml]
vessels in the harbour, whereupon the captives were relea
Demands were now made not only for trading rights but al,
for the mte ofa fort whlch could protect the ‘factory’. In thj

here both sides prepared fg
war, In Malacca the stockades were manned; on board ¢
ships, preparations were made for a landing under cover
ships' artillery.

Albuquerque’s first attack gained a footing on the riv
bridge which linked the two sections of the town, but
withdrawal was ordered at nightfall. Three weeks later,
second landing was effected with the aid of a modified Chines
junk which, loaded with men, was rammed against the bri
to serve as a huge landing-craft. The bridge and the to
centre were taken on August 15th, after some hard fightinj
but pockets of resistance held out for several days. Final
the town was systematically sacked. The defenders tor
refuge in the hinterland, or fled with Mahmud and his
Ahmad, who eventually reached Pahang.

For the Portuguese it had not been an easy victory. I
manpower, they were greatly outnumbered, and the landinj
operation was a difficult one. The defenders of Malacca used
a variety of weapons from firearms to bows and arrows and
poisoned darts. Yet certain advantages lay on the Portuguest
side. Their strategy was helped by a description of the Malaces
site sent to Albuquerque earlier by one of the Portuguesé
prisoners through a friendly merchant. They were well armed
and they employed ships' cannon. Their morale was high
Many of the merchants in Malacca stood aside from thg
fighting, and were prepared v accept a change of politic:
masters provided that they and their properties were n
molested. Some merchants, including the Chinese, had al
that time positive grievances against the Mala
administration. It may be, also, that Malacca had becom
too secure in the long years of freedom from foreign attacky
and relied too much on Javanese mercenaries whose pay was
in arrears when Albuquerque arrived. A particularly decisiv
factor was that of leadership. Neither the Sultan nor Ahmad,
his eldest son, was a military leader; the Bendahara was an
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a cripple. On the other side, Albuguerque, was
 Jeader of proved ability and had the confidence of
‘even, in the end, of the ships’ captains, who had a
on for rejecting higher authority.

the town had been secured and booty collected,
e organised the building of a stone and mortar
ear the seashore, south-east of the river estuary.
high tower, it could be reinforced from the sea in
nger, and it had its own water-supply from two
marked the beginning of the elaborate fortifications
built in the years that followed. These were in
of a rough quadrilateral, and consisted of walls of
d mortar on the sides facing the river and the Straits,
parl‘,u of earth on the sides facing inland. Strong
jons with gun 1 ts were built at key
ong the walls, each named after the Virgin Mary or
saints. The original fort played the part of an
onghold within this rectangle of defences which
d the hill. Four gateways pierced the walls, the
st commonly used being the Customs Gate, which
s to the bridge and the north side of the river, and
by St. Anthony's Church, which led to the hinterland.
local lime and stone as was available was used for
ding operations, including, in the first instance,
buildings and tombs in what had been the royal
r of Malacca. A harder type of stone was transported
island to the north-west of the Malacca river estuary
e Portuguese accounts named ‘Ilha des Pedras’, or
Stones.
in the walls and ramparts was built, with local
ications, a late medieval European town of stone
These included churches and religious houses, and
uildings such as a Governor's House, Town Hall, and
ospitals. There were no less than five public churches,
which was raised to the rank of a Cathedral in 1557,
 another conspicuously crowned Our Lady's Hill, which
0 be known later as St. Paul's Hill. The Jesuit College
t Paul was founded on the hill in 1548. The rest of the
| consisted mainly of dwelling houses and gardens for
rtuguese community of soldiers, administrators, and
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merchants.! Other churches and religious houses were buj|
outside the walls.

On the north bank of the river the same kind of townsh;
as had existed under the Malay rulers continued, tho
with differences of detail. Here, there were communities
Malays, Tamils, Javanese, and Chinese, and a central marki
place where the Javanese took a leading part in supplyi
Malacca with food. The houses in this part of the town we
built of wood, but roofed with tiles as a precaution again;
fire. On the northern boundary, a long earth rampart w;
constructed in an east-west direction between the Malac
River and the sea. This rampart or ‘tranqueira’ had a gatew:
at either end, the one on the coast being defended by a stor
bastion and a gun-site.

Since the military and administrative centre
Portuguese Malacca lay within the walls and adjacent to
hill, Portuguese writers sometimes used the term ‘suburb’
describe that which comprised the old township of Mala
on the north bank of the river, and which was now bound
by the rampart. It was known as Upe, or Tranqueira.
time of danger from external attack its inhabitants co
cross the river and take refuge within the walls. The oth
two ‘suburbs’ were Sabac (Bunga Raya), which lay inland,
little further up-river, and Yler (Banda Hilir). Sabac, wil
its wooden houses built right over the Malacca River, was
village whose people were engaged in fishing in the rivi
and adjacent swamps, and in the collection of timber ai
charcoal from the hinterland. The people of Yler in thei
wooden houses with thatched roofs were probably occupit
in fishing and agriculture. A solitary guard-house seems
have been the only military protection on this side.

Albuquerque sailed back to India after a few months.
had waited to see the building of the fort and the beginnin,
of a system of administration. He also minted a new coinaj
in tin, silver, and gold. Malacca came to be governed by
Portuguese Captain of the Fortress, who, from 1571, had t|
title of Gavernor of the South. This official was appointed

! According to Eredia, in 1613 there lived within the walls three hund
married Portuguese men with their families and a garrison of soldiers,
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o of Portugal for a tour of three or four years, and he
lly a nobleman whom the king was rewarding. He
ect to the Viceroy at Goa, but except on matters of
m policy he inevitably acted on his own initiative.
nilitary garrison was under the orders of a Captain-
who was again usually a nobleman, and who was
d by the Viceroy for three years. A Chief Justice, or
jor, was also appointed by Goa. His powers were limited
e town of Malacca, and important civil cases in which
sums of money were involved were subject to appeal to
College of Justice at Goa. In criminal cases the
r was required to seek advice and confirmation from
ernor. Below the Ouvidor were seven magistrates,
d from the leading citizens, who presided over civil and
jal cases, subject to rights of appeal to the Ouvidor. In
ry, at least, this system laid some check on those
stering the law.

ese seven magistrates also formed part of a municipal
whose rights and privileges were based on those of
a provincial town in Portugal. The Bishop of Malacca
e three leading officers of the confraternity which
sed works of mercy in the town were also members of
government, which dealt with matters of finance,
vorks, local trading regulations, and the cleansing of

e of the Malay titles from the former regime were
The Viceroy appointed a Temenggong to have
ty over the Malays settled inland; this office was held,
t in the latter part of the period, by a Portuguese.
the various Asian communities in the hip of
, a Bendahara presided. He was appointed for life by
of Portugal. To assist him there was a Shahbandar,
8 work was to supervise non-Portuguese shipping and
ceive foreign envoys and take them to the Governor.
rst Bendahara was a Hindu merchant named
tu, who had rendered assistance to the former
uese prisoners, He was succeeded by Abdullah, the
of Kampar, who served for a short time under the
ese with a title equivalent to Viceroy or Governer.




30 A History of Malaya

Abdullah was ex-Sultan Mahmud’s son-in-law, and hj;
acceptance of office under the Portuguese eaused a feu
between the two men. Through Mahmud’s intrigues th
Portuguese were led to accuse Abdullah of treachery and n{
order his execution.

The main Asian groups had their own headmen, o
‘Capitans’, who acted as their representatives with th;
Portuguese authorities, and who were responsible for lay
and order within their own communities.

The trade of Malacca was now handled on term
favourable to the Portuguese. All ships passing through §
Straits were required to call at Malacca and pay th
appropriate duties. Portuguese patrols at times took drasti
measures to enforce this rule. Large presents were expec
from foreign traders in addition to import duties ranging, i
normal conditions, between six and ten per cent on the val
of the goods.

Portuguese trade was carried on in the name of the Kin,
of Portugal, but Portuguese officials at Malacca succumbs
increasingly to the temptation to supplement their salari
by using their official positions in order to engage in privaf
trade. This conflict of loyalty and self-interest often led
the making of individual fortunes at very considerable lo:
to the Portuguese government. It also caused an increasin,
element of bribery and corruption to spread through the ranl
of the Portuguese administration from top to bottom. As earl
as 15630 it was reported that the King of Portugal would n
have any profit from Malacea while the trade was in th
hands of officials who bought and sold their own goods
not the King’s.

The policy of high toils and presents, the use of forc
and the unfair competition created by the special privileg
of Portuguese trade, both official and private, tended to maki
Asian traders seek other ports, This was especially true
Muslim traders, who had once been the main strength of th
Malacca trade. The Muslim trade between India and t|
Malacca Straits tended, as at a much earlier date,
concentrate in northern Sumatran ports, especially Achel
Pasai, and Pedir.
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From Malacca eastwards, the Portuguese carried trade

; and the Moluccas, Siam, China, and Japan. This
imes involved a complicated range of cargoes from
ope, India, and South-East Asia, in the same ship, which
also engage in some carrying from China to Japan.
icy was one of selling where there was most demand,
xchanging bullion or currencies where the most
-able rates could be obtained. In island South-East Asia
rtuguese were opposed by the spread of Islam. Some
new Muslim rulers were hostile to the Portuguese,
n other states the Portuguese found themselyves
ting unsuccessfully against Muslim trade. They
ed only a limited and temporary share in the Javanese
though Javanese boats brought much of Malacca'’s food
lies. In the Moluccas they were forced to defend one
base after another on Amboina, Ternate, and Tidore. By 1523
tempts to gain a lasting foothold in northern Sumatra were
by the Achinese conquest of Pasai and Pedir, and a
enmity developed between Acheh and Portuguese
. In the Malay Peninsula the main trade commodities
interested Portuguese Malacca were tin from Perak
n per from Kedah. At some periods the tin trade was
ularly flourishing, but even these west coast trade links

ke at times through hostile Malay alliances, or the
s of the Achinese from the other side of the Straits.
some cases, too, the Portuguese were their own worst
. Especially in the Moluccas, they gained a bad
tion for greed and oppression. Only one Portuguese
nor, Antonio Galvao (1536-40), seems to have been
d and admired by the local people. St. Francis Xavier,
ell-known Spanish-born missionary of the East, was
the harshest critics of the conduct of Portuguese
8, both in the Moluccas and in Malacca itself. He has
picted as an angry man shaking the dust from his
he was about to leave the wicked city. He advised his
-!esuits to ask the Portuguese officials how they gained

g:
‘Ask if they pay taxes, if they make monopolies, if
ey help themselves with the King’s money, and so
. They will answer you that they owe nothing to
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anybody.... Really they are under obligation to resto
much to many.’!

Tomé Pires writing during the first two or three years
Portuguese administration at Malacca, was very critical
his fell rymen. C ing on the arrogance ang
lack of discipline shown by young Portuguese officials, h
put in a plea for older men, ‘expert traders and lovers
peace’, ‘Courteous youth and business life do not go together,
he added, ‘and since this cannot be had in any other way,
least let us have years, for the rest cannot be found.’

It must be remembered that the Portuguese were ve
fond of indulging in self-criticism; it was a national traif
What, then, was the relationship between the Portugue:
ruling class in Malacea and the Asian communities who liv
outside the walls?

In the first place, minority rule was not new. The Malay
had represented a ruling class in a merchant town whose
predominant religion may have been Islam, but whose raci
composition was marked by several large non-Malay group:
To some extent the Portuguese lived apart, and the othe
peoples lived life much in their own way under their owl
leaders. After the first few years there is little or no eviden
of serious friction between the ruling and subject classes
Portuguese Malacea, Several factors may help to explain thi

Early opposition which came from the Javanese quartel
was ruthlessly dealt with, a lesson that rebellion could no
be lightly undertaken. It was among the Muslim sections
the population that the strongest anti-Portuguese fee
could be expected, and potential leaders of Muslim resistan
tended to move away from Malacca. Some had fled with
Sultan Mahmud; others, especially the traders, sought ne
centres in northern Sumatra, carrying, no doubt, bitte
feelings with them. The execution of Abdullah, ruler
Kampar and Bendahara-Viceroy of Malacca, on the groun
of treachery and treason, may well have spread an lrnpresslo
abroad that Mal was ‘a city dang M
inhabit’.?

IR.0. Winstedt, A History of Malaya, pp. 92-3.
*R.0. Winstedt, A History of Malaya, p. 71.
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e Portuguese by no means held themselves completely
from the other races. The people living in the old
ship on the north bank could take refuge within the
ces in time of danger. According to Evedia, ‘the suburb
... when war time organisation prevails . . . is
irely depopulated and abandoned, the whole population
g refuge within the walls of the fortress.t
he greatest link between the Portuguese and other races
intermarriage. Throughout their history the Portuguese
ad absorbed many racial elements into their own race; they
‘accustomed as a people to the idea of racial admixture
o the practice of normal relationships with other races’.?
arriage, of course, normally meant marriage between
guese man and an Asian woman. That this did not
ly need any encouragement is shown by the case of
omantic marriage between Juan de Eredia and a Bugis
s from Celebes, one of whose three sons was Emanuel
ho de Eredia, mathematician, explorer, and chronicler.
erate encouragement to such marriages was often given
th Church and State.
‘Governors of Malacca urged young Portuguese to marry
order to induce them to stay for longer terms of service,
| perhaps permanently, and so increase the Portuguese
ent in the resident population. St. Francis Xavier, whilst
lalacca, also spoke strongly in favour of inter-racial
age. He saw it as a means of creating a more settled
and raising the moral standards of the Portuguese
n and administration. At the same time it was a means
easing the number of Christians in Malacca. By 1613
ia estimated the Christian population in a total of eight
Parishes in Malacca at 7,400. No doubt intermarriage,
fnning through three or four generations, was the biggest
le factor in this expansion. Marriage and subsequent
relationships, Christian and non-Christian, must also
played a part in harmonising social ties between the
guese town and its ‘suburbs’.
he charges of greed, arrogance, and harshness, made

1J.V. Mills (ed.), ‘Eredia’s Description of Malacea, 1613', p. 19.
1B. Harrison, A Short History of South-East Asia, p. 70.
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against Portuguese officials were, unfortunately, not without
foundation. National pride at a time of Portuguese greatness,
and the attitude of young of officials with unaccustomeq
powers, living thousands of miles from the home country,
offer a part-explanation of these traxts Added to this was
the bribery and corruption iated with the contradi 8
of public and private trade. Perhaps, most of all, the
insecurity of life in Portuguese Malacca for a small
community, threatened by many enemies, led to a mixture of
attitudes, including that of the braggart and of the ‘get-rich-
quick’.

On the other hand, Por clergy administered
parishes in the suburbs, and lived among the people there,
In the walled town there was a hospital for the poor and a
confraternity dedicated to works of mercy. In the time-
honoured tradition of the East, the Asian population of’
Malacca had respect for a holy man, and they would have
identified Francis Xavier as Portuguese. In 1553 they turned
out in large numbers to walk in the funeral procession behind
his body to the church on St. Paul's Hill.

The need for defence dominated all aspects of life. The
fortifications were a daily reminder of the dangers which
occurred with alarming freq 'y, even while Alb que
was still in Malacca. A wealthy and powerful Javanese
merchant named Utimutiraja led a movement against the
Portuguese. He intrigued with ex-Sultan Mahmud, prevented
the circulation of the new Portuguese currency in Upg, and
tried to control all food-supplies in order to starve out the
garrison. Albuquerque learned of these plans and had
Utimutiraja arrested and executed. Further Javanese revolts
were led by another ‘Capitan Java', Patih Kadir, who was
eventually driven out and forced to return to Java. Soon
after these events, in 1513, a Javanese fleet of 100 ships,
with a fighting force of many thousands attacked Malacca.
The Portuguese inflicted a heavy defeat on this armada in
the Straits.

The main power behind this attempted Javanese invasion
of 1513 was Japara, a trading state in north-central Java.

! Portuguese accounts give numbers varying between 12,000 and 100,000
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q before the coming of the Portuguese, there existed a
Javanese threat to the control of Malacca; Japara was
g to claims which Majapahit had never been able to
ce. Again, in 1574, Portuguese Malacca faced and
ted a dangerous fleet from the same Javanese state.
the more regular sources of danger to the Portuguese
tion lay at the northern and southern ends of the Malacca
ts, in the Sultanates of Acheh and Johore.
From Johore the ex-Sultan of Malacca and his
ants attacked Portuguese shipping and sent fleets
inst Malacca itself in efforts to restore the old Sultanate.
‘The island and river-capitals of Johore were also, in times
osperity, rival trading centres to Malacca, where vessels
d call without paying dues to the Portuguese. Portuguese
ping bound to and from China had to negotiate sea
sages to the south of the Malay Peninsula, where Johore
ling craft might lie in waiting.
In the years between 1515-24, and again in 1551 and
there were serious Johore attacks upon Malacca. Of
the campaign of 1551 seems to have come nearest to
The Johore Malays burned shipping in the harbour,
d the suburbs, and stormed the fortress itself, before
g down to a three months’ siege in the hope of starving
‘the defenders.
At times the Portuguese counter-attacked vigorously, as
6, when they destroyed the Johore capital on the island
tang, and in 1587, when they destroyed a capital at
Lama on the Johore river. The threat of a more
dable Malay power, Acheh, which was liable to attack
ore as well as Malacca, enabled the Portuguese and the
ore Malays to enjoy periods of truce, and even of active
ance and co-operation. In 1582, for instance, Portuguese
assisted in the defence of Johore against an Achinese
k, and the Johore Sultan went to Malacca to tender his
nks in person.
The spasmodic wars with Johore certainly caused losses
ipping and manpower to the Portuguese, as well as
ing a constant drain on money and resources. Johore
buted in no small way to the uneasiness of life in the
ess-city. Yet the Achinese attacks were more bitter, more

o



" PORTUGUESE MALACCA |
| AND RIVAL NEIGHBOURS

forceful, and more feared. Acheh, like Johore, was a rival
trade-centre, especially for Indian goods and Straits produce.
The Achinese forestalled a Portuguese attempt to obtain
footing in northern Sumatra when they conquered Pasai and
Pedir in 1523. For Acheh the wars against Portuguese
Malacca were part of a policy of expansion in the Mala)
Peninsula. They were aimed also at capturing a rival trade:
base. They were accompanied by a bitterness which sprang
mainly from the fact that Islam had deep roots in northern.
Sumatra and Had there something of the spirit of a fightin:
movement.

The Achinese made many attacks on Malacca, and thet
were times of great concern and distress within the fortress.
In 1547 an Achi fleet sailed lested in the Malact
Straits to effect a brief landing at Malacca, and then proceeded:
to Perlis to erect a fort as a base for attacking Portuguese
ships from India or Burma. The Portuguese averted thil
danger by sending out a fleet in pursuit to win a battle
sea, whilst a Johore Malay flotilla lay in the Straits to the.
south of Malacca awaiting events. In 1568 Malacca was
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ounded by an Achinese army 15,000 strong, but th
ders repulsed a general assault with heavy losses. Again
1615, and in 1616, there were sea battles between Acheh
Malacca off Muar, and another large-scale invasion
pt took place in 1628.
~ Malacca was saved sometimes by the arrival of a relief
from Goa; sometimes by a loss of heart on the part of
attackers at a critical moment, and always by the strength
e fortifications and the resolute courage of the small
rison. The failure of the Malay powers to form any effective
lasting alliance also gave the Portuguese the chance of
phting only one of them at a time and, sometimes, of playing

t the Dutch to South-East Asia. Their homeland was
northern part of the Low Countries or Netherlands; they
ere a people closely linked with the sea, and fishing and
£ bome trade were irnport.ant to their economy. Dutch

. They carried, for example, cargoes of cloth or fish
orthem European ports to Portugal, Spain, and the
literranean, and they brought back, among other
nodities, oriental produce — including spices — from
. Portuguese shipping was spread out along sea routes
extended westwards to Brazil and eastwards to China
an, and it became impossible, in practice, for the
ese to act as middlemen in Europe itself. The Dutch
ng-trade to and from Lisbon had mutual advantages
nselves and for the Portuguese. Dutch merchants
Bt up much of the available supplies of produce from
the East Indies, China and Japan, and made their
reselling at other ports, After 1580 political
ons began to put an end to this happy marriage,
stimulate the Dutch to adventure on the sea route to
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1t was in 1580 that Philip II of Spain successfully claimed
the Portuguese throne on the death of King Henry, and united
the Iberian Peninsula under his own rule. This forced union
of the two kingdoms lasted for sixty years. Despite promises
of recognition of constitutional rights, and the granting of
favours to the Portuguese nobility, Spanish rule remained
unpopular in Portugal, and it was only upheld by the
employment of Spanish military forces.

The Netherlands, of which Holland was a northern
province, were also under the government of the Spanish
Habsburg kings through an appointed Governor and a Council
repr ive of the p states or provinces.
Misguided policies from Spain met with opposition, and from
1566 onwards this opposition merged into open warfare, The
war between the Netherlands and Spain continued with
fluctuations of fortune and periods of truce until the northern
provinces were recognised as independent by the Peace Treaty
of Westphalia in 1648, It is significant for our purpose to
note that the Dutch played a major part in this long fight
against Spain.

When Portugal became, politically speaking, Spain in
1580, the Netherlands Revolt had long been an open war. It
is therefore remarkable that Dutch merchants could still trade
with Lisbon, and Dutch agents could still live in Portugal.
The Portuguese wished this trade to continue; it was in their
interests, though not in those of Spain. Again, from the
Spanish paint of view, the war in the Netherlands was a civil
war against rebels rather than a war against a foreign state.
Finally, it would be a mistake to judge sixteenth-century
warfare by twentieth-century standards and imagine that,
in a war between two regions, everyone was involved, to
some degree, all the time.

Nevertheless, it became increasingly difficult for the
Dutch traders to operate in Portugal. They became ‘subject
to arrests and all manner of unbearable tyrannies by the
King of Spain',' and finally, in 1594, Lisbon was closed to
Dutch trade altogether. It was no mere coincidence that the
very next year the first small fleet of Dutch ships sailed via

1J.S. Furnivall, Netherlands India, p. 20.
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the Cape, under van Houtman, to reach north-west Java.
Deprived of their middleman trade from Lisbon, the Dutch
came to trade in Eastern markets themselves.
The story of the development of Dutch trade and shipping
routes does not concern us here, apart from one or two
essential facts. Dutch merchants soon realised the necessity
form some kind of association. This would enable larger
fleets to sail at regular mterva]s, and provide resources for
arming ships and, if Y, g and ing land
s. It would also make possible a common policy of trade,
ﬂmt Dutchmen would not be bargaining one against the
r to the advantage of any ruler or trader in the East
dies with whom they were dealing. In 1602 this association
the form of a monopoly company with the name of the
ited East India Company’.! It had strong support from
governments of six important merchant towns.
The Dutch concentrated in their early voyages on north
Javanese ports, both as centres of trade in themselves, and
s calling-points en route for the Moluccas. By 1619 they
d a permanent head ters at Jakarta ( d Batavia),
‘and they began to make this a centre for the trade of Java,
‘southern Sumatra and the Malay Archipelago.
The Dutch East India Company was prepared for war as
ell as for trade. A blow against Portugal was a blow against
in, and from the profits of the East Indies trade
eontributions could be made to the fighting for independence
home. The Dutch made agreements for exclusive trade
ghts as Europeans with South-East Asian rulers, and formed
ances with the enemies of Portuguese Malacca, including
cheh and Johore. At the same time, whenever circumstances
owed, attacks were made on Portuguese shipping. As early
1606 the Dutch delivered a main attack on Malacca itself,
ough not, as it had been hoped, with the support of Johore.
etween 1607 and 1640 the Dutch campaign for the control
Malacea was based more on a policy of destroying
guese trade and cutting off Malacca from the great sea
ates than on frontal attack. Throughout the 1620s and
330s the trade of Malacca grew less and less, and Dutch
ips sailed openly in the Straits. Little help came from Goa;
fact, Goa itself was sometimes blockaded by Dutch fleets.

In Dutch, 'Vereenigde Qostindische Compagnie’ (V.0.C).
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Food in Malacca became scarce as Dutch patrols watched for
rice boats from Java and Sumatra.

In 1637 the Dutch made a further treaty with Johore for
combined operations against Malacca, and, three years later,
the time was considered opportune for an all-out attack.
Malacca had been virtually sealed off from Goa, the
Portuguese garrison was thought to be sufficiently weakened
to surrender easily, and no subsequent trouble would be
expected with Acheh, which was now quiet.

A large Dutch-Johore fleet, with a landing-force of about
4,000, arrived off Malacca in 1640 and began landing
operations at the beginning of August. The siege lasted for
a further six months. Inside the walls there was starvation;
outside, death came quickly from dysentery, cholera, and
malaria. Earlier there had existed a Portuguese plan for
strengthening and extending tile fortifications on the land
side, but this had never been carried out. It was on this side
that a breach was made in January 1641, and the remnants
of the garrison finally surrendered. The Dutch attributed the
long siege to the lack of help from Acheh, their own failure
to seal off the town completely, the toll of their own forces
taken by epidemics, and the valour of the last Portuguese
Governor, Manoel da Sousa Coutinho.

The loss of Malacca was a symbol of the decline in
Portugal’s sea power which had been evident for many years.
Too many enterprises had meant a great drain on ships and
man-power for a small, and essentially poor, country.
inefficiency and corruption had deprived the home
government of much of the profits of overseas trade. Portugal,
too, had fallen a victim to the ambitions of Spain. Portuguese
ships and harbours were used for naval expeditions planned
from Madrid. The coming of the Dutch to the East Indies
had itself been a direct result of Spanish policy.

In Malacea the Dutch restored the fortifications, replaced
Portuguese crests with Dutch ones, and rebuilt the church
on the hill in the style of the Dutch Reformed Church. A
Dutch town hall (Stadthuys) was erected soon after the
conquest, and other new buildings followed in the course of
the next hundred and fifty years. Prominent among these
was a new church (Christchurch) in the town to mark the



THE PORTUGUESE-DUTCH SEA-FIGHT OFF MALACCA IN A.D, 1606

From “Reowesd des Voyages quy ont servi o 1" éstahiihmunt vt o progres do la Compagnie des Indes Orientales. formie

dans lés Provinees huies dex Pt iriislutedd B 8.4 Canstanin de Rernesil

rodam 17027






The Portuguese and the Dutch in the Malacea Straits 41

nary of Dutch rule in Malacca. During much of their
period of tenure there the Dutch forbade the Portuguese
their descendants to practice their religion openly. This
a reflection of the bitterness of religious controversy in
genth- and seventeenth-century Europe.
~ Dutch Malacca was mainly a fortress from which Dutch
ling interests could be watched in the Straits. Only in a
secondary sense was it a centre of trade. For the Dutch
outh-East Asia, Batavia remained the main entrepit and
dquarters, and Malacca was an outpost. Its importance
in its strategic position on the Straits, and the part which
uld play in Dutch policies to secure as much of the trade
outh-East Asia as possible, not only as between Europe
the region, but also in the carrying-trade between Asian
This policy was attempted by means of treaties with
rulers which gave the Dutch exclusive trading privileges
purchase of valuable commodities such as spices, gold,
er, and tin. By becoming sole purchasers, the Dutch
also hope to become sole distributors, notably of Indian
from their own trade-bases.
is policy of a monopoly trade was in keeping with
pean commercial practices in the sixteenth and
teenth centuries, but the Dutch encountered many
ties in their efforts to sustain it in South-East Asia.
aties, sometimes made under pressure, were easily broken
@ local rulers, and there was keen competition from
n traders. To take only two examples of this, the Bugis
Celebes competed for the spice trade, while at the
end of the region Indian Muslim traders brought
th and took away tin and other Straits produce from ports
e Malacca Straits.
0 enforce the carrying out of their agreements, and to
what they considered to be illegal trade, the Dutch
e committed to a policy of patrol-ships and forts or
‘factories’. From Malacca they made treaties, first
purchase of half the tin supply of Perak and Kedah,
considerably later, for tin from Selangor and Sungei
They also secured a monopoly of gold and pepper
Indragiri, and later of tin from Siak, in Sumatia. In
ice they were never able to gain the full benefit of these
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agreements, despite patrols in the Straits and the building
of forts and ‘factories’ near river mouths in Kedah and Perak.
At different times, Kedah, Perak, and even Acheh, were
blockaded by Dutch fleets.

From Malacca attempts were made to force shipping to
call at the port and pay dues, on receipt of which permits
would be issued for the vessels to continue their voyages.
Although many vessels called at Malacca, the cargoes
unloaded there were small, apart from essential stores and
food supplies requisitioned for the Dutch garrison. Dutch
efforts to use Malacca as a centre for the distribution of
Indian cloth in the region of the Straits also met with
disappointment. Indian Muslim merchants traded successfully
in Acheh, Kedah, and even Perak, and, from the end of the
seventeenth century, the Bugis from Selangor entered the
keen but limited markets for Straits produce,

The Malacca trade in Dutch times, therefore, never
reached impressive proportions, and the population remained
small. Despite the new Dutch buildings, Malacca had only a
slight resemblance to a Dutch city transported to the East.
In this respect Batavia, planned with a neatness and
symmetry characteristic of Dutch enterprise, and
distinguished by its wide, tree-lined streets and quays, and
its canals, was the supreme le. Yet some
of old-world glory clung to Malacca, and what its Governors
lacked in circumstance, they sometimes made up in pomp;
gilt coaches and velvet coats seem to have been in fashion for
formal occasions.

DATES OF EVENTS
(As viewed from Malacca)

1509 Sequeira’s arrival al Malacca.
1511 Albuguerque’s capture of Malacea.
1512y | Jovenese rebelions

Attack from Java (Japara)

1515-19 ;
S0es | Attacks from Johore.
1526 Destruction of Johore capital (Bintang)

1547 Defeat of Achinese at Perlis.



The Portuguese and the Dutch in the Malacca Straits

Attack from Johore.

Malacca named a bishopric.

Attack from Acheh.

Malacea Captain named ‘Governor of the South'.
Attack from Java (Japara).

Portugal politically joined to Spain, under Philip 11
Attack from Johore.

Destruction of Johore capital (Johore Lama).

Dutch Trade banned from Lisbon.

First Dutch voyage Lo East Indies.

Dutch United East India Company.

Dutch treaty with Johore

Attacks from the Dutch.

Attacks from Acheh and dohore.

Attack from Acheh.

Defeat of Achinese in the Straits.

Dutch treaty with Johore.

Siege and capture of Malacca by the Dutch and Johore
Malays.
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Chapter 3

THE MALAY KINGDOM OF JOHORE
AD. 1512-1812

ahmud, last Sultan of Malacca, cherished for a time

the idea of a Malay counter-attack on the

Portuguese, either from the Malacca hinterland or
from Muar. When this came to nothing, he and his followers
made the slow and painful overland journey hy track and
river valley to Pallang, where Mahmud's relatives Abdul
Jamil and his son, Mansur, were joint-Sultans.'

Here, in Pahang, Mahmud was glad to accept the
hospitality of a prince who had hitherto paid him tribute in
gold. Relations between the Sultan and his former vassal
seem to have been cordial, and further links were forged by
a marriage between Mansur and one of Mahmud's daughters.

But Mahmud, once he had recovered from his recent
ordeals, was restless. Compared with Malacca, Pahang was
a backwater. Moreover, he was a guest there rather than a
free agent. Optimistically, he despatched an embassy to
China, recalling in his message the great friendship which
had existed between Ming China and Malacca, and asking
for Chinese aid to restore him to his former throne. The
reply was disappointing. The Ming Emperor sent his
sympathy, but was unable to send practical help on account
of his own pr ion with the defe of the northern
frontier of China against marauding Tartars. It might have
been added that the Chinese court at this time had no quarrel
with the Portuguese. Chinese traders had not been unwilling:
to witness a political change-over in Malacca, and had
continued to trade there peacefully under Portuguese rule. A

' The exact relationship varies in different sources. Both were descended fromy
Sultan Mansur Shah of Malacca
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ater Portuguese traders made a favourable impression
first contact with Chinese ports.

a stay of rather less than a year in Pahang, Mahmud
s followers sailed south to seek a new home in Johore.
site lay possibly on a tributary of the Johore river,
is was abandoned after a short stay in favour of the
d of Bintang to the south-east of Singapore. Here
ud began to develop a new centre of trade, and from
land-capital to create a new Malay state eventually
n the Johore river basin and its neighbouring islands.
mud has the misfortune to go down in history as the
an of Malacca, he may perhaps have the credit for
; the first Sultan of Johore.!

e question arises — why did Mahmud choose Bintang?
not be possible to give an exact answer, but Bintang
de Mahmud with certain advantages for the policy
intended to pursue. From Bintang it was possible
e attacks on Portuguese shipping passing slowly
the island groups immediately south of the Malay
sula, either outward-bound for the Moluccas or China,
sward-bound for Malacca. The capture of a Portuguese
eant booty and prestige, and represented a first step
e long drawn-out counter-attack on Malacea itself.
ondly, Bintang provided a convenient centre from
ahmud could despatch messengers by boat to his
ssal states, especially to Pahang, and to the river-
of eastern Sumatra which faced the west coast of

bute and allegiance were due in a very personal sense
ay ruler, and Mahmud's misfortune in Malacca did
t him from requiring that the customary tribute
kokens of allegiance be submitted to him at Bintang.
ver, he could pose as a leader of a Malay and Muslim
racy united in opposition to the Portnguese.
R ly, Bintang could serve as an assembly-point for
mate attack on Malacca. With the growth of trade,
€, and prestige, at Bintang, Mahmud awaited the day
& Malay fleet would sail from his island-capital to

8hmud's son, Ala'ud'din, is sometimes called the founder of Johore.
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recapture Malacca. By 1517 an advance force from Johore
held a stronghold on the Muar river, and Johore fleets had
begun to raid Malacca itself.

Between 1515-19, and again in 1523 and 1524, Johore
attacks were repulsed by the Portuguese in Malacca. The
nuisance of these raids, together with the increasing dangers
to Portuguese shipping in the southern part of the Malacca
Straits, led to reprisals from Malacca. First, the fort at Muar
was attacked ‘and captured; then, in 1526, a sea-borne
invasion of Bintang took place, and Mahmud's capital was
destroyed. The unfortunate Mahmud sailed away from his
second capital, landed in Sumatra, and made his way
painfully to the court of the prince of Kampar, where he died
about two years later. A Malay Shakespeare may yet portray
Mahmud's career as a tragedy in five acts. He witnessed the
Malacea scene at the height of its prosperity; then followed
the Portuguese affair of 1509 and the invasion of 1511; exile
in Pahang; a new kingdom at Bintang, and finally death in
exile in Kampar. How far Mahmud's misfortunes were of his
own making, and how far he was a victim of circumstances
beyond his control, would make a good theme for
characterisation.

For more than a hundred years after this Johore’s history
was punctuated by the alternate appearance of new capitals
and disappearance of Sultans to death in exile. At times no
capital or Sultan can be perceived, yet the dynasty and the
tradition of a Johore Kingdom somehow survived.

Mahmud's yourger son, Alaud'din, founded a new capital,
possibly at Johore Lama® on the Johore river, soon after his
father's death, and continued the former policy of trying to
attract trade and tribute, and assailing the Portuguese. A
Portuguese raid on the Johore river in 1536 forced Ala’ud’din
to submit to peace terms, and by this time Johore was
beginning to realise the coming threat from the rising
commercial and political power of Acheh in northern Sumatra.

' Views on Mahmud’s character are given in R. 0. Winstedt's ‘A History of
Johore', JRASMB, Vol. 10, part 4, pp. 13-14

* There is some doubt and confuusion about the exact site and name. The capital
may have been established at Johore Lama only from about 1540,
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Acheh and Johore were Malay and Muslim States;
vere opposed to the Portuguese tenure of Malacca and
ese trade in South-East Asia. But fundamental
and jealousies divided the two states. They were
ade-centres. For Johore, the capture of Malacca would
presented a return of the Sultan to the kingdom of
ers. An Achinese conquest of Malacca would have
a strategic outpost of Acheh on the other side of the
s Straits. Moreover Acheh, with increasing sea power,
an to menace small states in eastern Sumatra which
o regarded as her vassals, In a curious combination of
ces, Johore called on the help of Malay states in the
sula and in Sumatra, and even joined at times with
Portuguese in order to avert destruction by Acheh. This
d of situation lasted to a greater or lesser degree for
a hundred years (c. 1539-1636).

o attempt will be made here to examine these alliances
ars in detail. The alliances were based on convenience
expediency, and the wars consisted of sharp and bitter
acks from the sea, particularly on Malacca and the river:
s of Johore. Acheh was almost always the attacker. At
a trial of strength took place on the open seas, as in
in the Malacca Straits, when a combined Malay fleet
Perak, Siak, and Johore, defeated an Achinese fleet of
D vessels. The rivairies of the Malay states, and the
ons of Achinese rulers to dominate both politically and
nomically the Malay world in the vicinity of the Malacca
aits form the true basis of events between 1540 and 1640,
ive a clearer picture than would a mere account of the
fleets as seen from the Portuguese fortress at Malacca.
In 1564 the Achinese sacked Johore Lama, and Sultan
'ud'din was taken prisoner to die in Acheh, according to
t accounts.! Yet once again the dynasty survived, through
and the capital was rebuilt, These capitals were built
ly of wood and protected by a mixture of stone walls,
en palisades, earth ramparts, and ditches. Unless they
completely destroyed, they could be quickly rebuilt.
8nty-three years later, after various changes of sides,

! The Sejarah Melayu, however, holds that he died in Johore Lama



MAIN CAPITALS OF JOHORE
AD 1512-1812
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Johore Lama was destroyed once again, this time by the
Portuguese in retaliation for Johore attacks on Portuguese
merchant ships and on Malacca itself.

Successive Johore capitals began to move further up-
river, presumably for greater security against enemies who
mage their appearance at the Johore estuary. Johore Lama
was replaced by a new centre at Batu Sawar, near the modern
Kota Tinggi. The Batu Sawar period (c. 1587-1615) was
marked by the first negotiations between the Dutch and
Johore, and later by the most devastating of the attacks
from Acheh.

The Dutch policy was to make as many anti-Portuguese
alliances as possible; in return they sought trading privileges
from the South-East Asian rulers. Dutch prestige rose high
in Johore when, in 1603, Dutch ships captured a Portuguese
carrack heavily laden with a rich cargo from China while she
lay at anchor in the Johore River. In 1606 a Dutch-Johore
treaty was signed for combined operations against Portuguese
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a. By this treaty the Dutch Admiral (Matelief)
ed to help the Sultan of Johore ‘conquer the town of
oa and take it out of the hands of the Portuguese, their
n enemy . ...} In return the Dutch were to have free

rights in the Johore river. The captured Malacca
i be divided into two, the walled town going to the
and the remaining territory to the Johore Sultan. There
be a division of booty, and the Dutch were to have a
ly of the European trade.

w this arrangement would have worked in practice is
 a matter for speculation, because the treaty never became
effective. A Dutch historian has described it as ‘selling
in of the bear before it had been caught’. The Dutch
attacks on Malacca in 1606, but received no support
ohore. This may have been partly due to a distracting
feud between the rulers of Johore and Patani, but the
e Malays may also have had second thoughts about the
ages which this treaty would bring them. Discouraged
failure of Johore to implement the treaty, and by the
lack of interest shown by Johore Malays in Dutch
ions for forts on the Johore river estuary, the Dutch
ly withdrew from involvements in the Johore river?
any years.

e weakness of the Johore defences was soon proved by
war fleets of Sultan Iskandar Shah (1607-36) of Acheh.
sndar (also known to history by the title Mahkota ‘Alam?)
a8 the most feared and the most successful of the Achinese

many attacks on the Malay Peninsula, he destroyed
Sawar in 1613, and proceeded to extend his control
Pahang in the east, and Kedah and Perak in the west.
oughout his reign he cast a menacing shadow over
Ortuguese Malacca.

" The familiar story of destruction and exile was thus
eated in Johore. Some Malays were deported as prisoners
lorthern Sumatra, others, in large numbers, sought new

was a second Lreaty of o face-saving nature in 1606, which left out the
h for Malacca,
own of the World
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yomes in Jambi (eastern Sumatra), Macassar (Celebes), and
‘he Moluccas. For many years the Johore scene remained
sonfused, and it is a remarkable tribute to Malay conservatism
that a dynasty survived at all. Johore forces took part, on
the Portuguese side, in a successful sea battle against the
Achinese in 1629, and by 1641, if not earlier, a new river.:
capital existed at Makam Tauhid, also in the Kota Tinggi
area.

The power of Acheh declined after the naval defeat in
1629, and the death of Iskandar Shah in 1636 symbolised:
the end of an era of Achinese aggression. Meanwhile the)
Duteh had been playing a very careful game for long-term
results. They had for some thirty years avoided commitments’
in the Acheh-Malacca-dohore wars, while building for
themselves a strong position in north-west Java. At the sam
time, they had largely succeeded in driving out the Portuguese
(and the English) from trade in the Moluccas, and they were;
gradually severing the Portuguese trade routes and destroyin,
Portuguese shipping.

By 1637 the political scene along the Malacea Straits
was beginning to change. Acheh was quiet. The Dutch were
negotiating an alliance with Johore for the seizure of Malacca,
and Dutch patrols in the Straits were beginning to seal o
Malacca from sea communication with the outside world.

The Dutch-Johore treaty of 1637 did not repeat the ide
of a two-part Malacca. At first sight, it would seem that th
Johore Malays did not get a particularly good bargain. Johor
forces took an active part in assisting the Dutch to captur
Malacca (1640-1). In return they had the friendship of the
Dutch, and were left alone to build up their own trade entrep
in the Johore River valley. Perhaps, in the long view, thi
treaty gave Johore what it most needed — a period of peace
and recuperation. In any case, Malacca was no longer a grea
port and, when one thinks of later Singapore, the possibilitie
of a Johore entrepat were not inconsiderable.

The year 1641, in fact, marks a well-defined watershe
in the landscape of Johore history. ‘Never', says Winstedt
‘had any period in Johore history opened with brighte
prospects.’ The Portuguese power was broken; the Dutch at
Malacea were friendly, and were to remain for a long time ot
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fal terms; Acheh had ceased to be a threat. By trade
diplomacy, Sultan Abdul Jalil began to revive the spirit
old Johore Empire. Pahang, together with Siak and
iri in Sumatra, came under his control, and friendly
inces were made with Patani in the northern part of the
nsula, and Jambi across the Straits in Sumatra. With
my in sight, Johore seemed destined to lead a revived
ay Empire which might recall the days of Malacca. For
twenty-five years Johore prospered. By 1660 the Johore
apital — once again at Batu Sawar—had a flourishing
grepot trade. Then began a series of events, both external
ternal, which brought the whole structure of empire
with a crash.
‘The first of these was a long and wasting war with Jambi,
yich broke out in 1666 and lasted for some twenty years.
‘appeared in European history books, it would probably
called “The War of the Breach of Promise’. Its outbreak,
was due to a broken marriage contract. The Johore
s nephew’ was betrothed to a daughter of the ruler of
ibi. The marriage was intended to symbolise the political
fendship of the two states, and probably to put an end to
de frictions also. Jambi, which produced pepper, was
ally well-placed as a coilecting and distribution centre of
jouth-East Asian produce. But the marriage between the
hore prince and the Jambi princess never took place. With
iew to his own advancement, the Johore Laksamana
inged instead a marriage between his own daughter and
e betrothed prince.
A serious personal insult to the Jambi ruler and his
ter would thus seem to have been the reason for an
break of hostilities which were more easily begun than
pleted. Economic rivalries may have provided an
lying motive. The Johore capital at Batu Sawar was
oyed by a Jambi expedition in 1673, and the old Sultan
three years later in exile in Pahang.
dJohore's history is full of ironies, and, by a strange turn
te, Abdul Jalil's successor, Ibrahim (a nephew), chose

is relationship is given by C. A Gibson-Hill, “Johore Lama and Other
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the island of Bintang for the site of a new capital. Perhapg
it was a conscious attempt to abandon the ill-fated sites iy
the Johore valley and to return to the first fighting-base g
the Malacca Sultan, Mahmud. For about seven years Ibrahip
strove to hold together a tottering empire, while still engageq
in war with Jambi. At his death in 1683 he was succeedeg
by a young son, Mahmud, and a regency government in which/
the Laksamana took a prominent part.

Mahmud, the young prince, was, by all accounts, mentally
unbalanced and callously cruel. He tried out the efficiency g
a pair of handsome English pistols which an adventure;
Alexander Hamilton, had presented to him, by shooting af
the first Malay he met outside the palace. For his cruelty
and capriciousness, he was hated and feared by the Malay}
chiefs, and when he met a violent death at the hands of an!
outraged father or husband! no one seems to have mourned
for him. He died without an heir, and as he was the last in
direct line of descent from the Malacca Sultans, a new dynastyj
arose.

This situation occurred in 1699, and it marks the second
stage in the decline of Johore after 1666. The new Sulta
was the former Bendahara, Abdul Jalil.2 His claim to fill th
vacancy for a-Sultan probably represented a solution which
would divide the Johore Malays least, but'it could never be
a perfect one. For eight years or so he played his part wisely
and well. Then he handed over effective rule to his younger!
brother, the Raja Muda, whose greed and ambition soon!
aroused the jealousy and hostility of the other Malay chiefs;
Johore was in a state of unrest from about 1712. Apart fro }
dissatisfaction with the Raja Muda, the influence of Bugis
settlers at Rhio was already creating Malay and Bugis
factions.

The weak position of the new Johore monarchy was
clearly shown in 1717, when a Siak prince, Raja Kechil, led
a Minangkabau force successfully into Johore (the capita
was now at Johore Lama again), and deposed Sultan Abdul
Jalil. Kechil became the new Sultan, and the deposed Sultan

I There are two accounts, which vary in detail
The repetition of this name is confusing,
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d to serve him as Bendahara. Th¢ Raja Muda had
hile killed his family and himself. Kechil had circulated
that he was a son of the last Sultan Mahmud, born
s father’s death and smuggled away to Sumatra. The
ce of history — such as it is in this case — is not'in
il's favour, but at a time of unpopular and, to some
ant, upstart rule, the story was just sufficiently credible
sduce the Johore Malays to a token defence. Kechil alsa
jared to champion the Malay cause against Bugis
ts in the state.
aving gained power by a show of force, Kechil (now
Abdul Jalil Rahmat Shah) soon had to defend his
force. The dangers came both from internal conspiracy
ernal attack. The internal conspirators included the
hara and his elder daughter. Kechil had offended Malay
ntion by marrying the younger of the Bendahara's
ters rather than her older sister, and legend has
ed the elder daughter with a plot to induce the Bugis
, Daing Parani, to invade Johore from Selangor.
echil had, in any case, made the fatal blunder of first
ting Bugis aid from Selangor for his invasion and promising
h offices of state in reward, and then carrying out the
ack without Bugis help or knowledge. An air of intrigue
have surrounded Kechil's court at Rhio, on the island
tang. There was sufficient evidence for Kechil to order
ath of the Bendahara, who was struck down while a
e at Kuala Pahang, This action increased rather than
ted the prospects of a counter-revolution.
1721 the blow fell. Daing Parani and his Bugis forces
Kechil from Rhio and back to his homeland in Siak.
aiman, son of the late Bendahara, now became Sultan,
e new office of Yam-tuan-Muda was created whereby
is chief, Daing Merewah, exercised effective control
T a Malay puppet-Sultan. Bugis chiefs also married into
8 families of the leading Johore Malays. Kechil's
®rvention in Johore had unwittingly paved the way for a
: period of Bugis domination.
Sulaiman remained Sultan until his death in 1760
singly he tried to throw off the Bugis yoke, but where
gis once gained a foothold, they proved very tenacious.
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JOHORE TIME CHART AD. 1512,
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END OF THE MALACCA LINE

Rewgn Copral Euents Dote

172260 | Rhio Pugin un
C¥an-tian-Musa )
Duing Meresal
Duing Chelak
Daing Kemboja

Treaties with Duteh

Bugin withdrawal

1o Linkga 1740
Duteh:Bugix troaty 1758
g Shah | 17601 ithio Bugin i contral aguin 760
176121770 Rhia Bugis regency
21720.1812| Rhio Bugie under Kings
Yam tuan-Mud)
Rujo Hujh 177781
Ruja A 17051807
Huigin attack on
Malicea 178
Duteh wtsack o Rhio
Duteh yrrisan with 1295

driewtt from Khio
Husgie influenc
rentarod

5 Sulaiman made a treaty with Duteh Malacca in

he offered the Dutch control of Siak, free trade in
re, and a restoration of the Dutch tin monopoly in states
rolled by Johore, in return for Dutch help against the
‘At this time the Bugis Yam-tuan-Muda cautiously
ew from Rhio and established himself on the island of
. This treaty had little real effect, not surprisingly,
@ much of Johore's offer was theoretical rather than
ical. It presumed powers of control which Johore at
time did not possess.

d by open warfare between Dutch and Bugis. A Bugis
on Malacca was followed by a counter-attack on Lingga.
8 the Bugis agreed to peace terms by which the Bugis
s acknowledged the lawful sovereignty of the Johare
tans, and confirmed the Dutch claims of a monapoly in
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the tin trade. The Bugis had received a serious setback, b,
it was only a temporary one. Two years later Sulaiman dij
His two younger brothers died soon after him — murder,
according to the Malay version. There followed a long regen,
during the boyhood of Mahmud Shah, Sulaiman's inf
grandson. During this time the Bugis established effecti
control again, through the office of Yam-tuan-Muda.

From 1760 to 1784 the Bugis retained their domina
influence in Rhio. They were, however, driven out by
Dutch in the latter year, following Raja Haji’s unsuccessf
attack on Malacca.' The position of the Malay Sultan was
better, because Dutch control now replaced Bugis control
The Sultan turned for help against the Dutch to the Tlanuj
of Borneo, who drove out not only the Dutch, but also ]
Sultan and his Malay chiefs as well! The Dutch soon restor
their position, but Sultan Mahmud, still conspiring again
them, remained a fugitive until 1795. In that year a Britisl
garrison took over the defence of Malacca by agreement wi
the exiled Dutch Government in England, and the Dut
garrison was withdrawn from Rhio, Mahmud Shah w.
restored to his throne, but he was still not destined to be
free agent. A Bugis leader, Raja Ali, successfully claimed tl
title of Yam-tuan-Muda in the face of Malay opposition, an
Johore was back to the situation of 1722.

The consequences of this long period of Bugis influen
in Johore were considerable. The power of the Malay Sultan:
of Johore had been weakened beyond repair. Firs
Minangkabaus, and then Bugis and Dutch, had destroy
whatever prospects there were of holding together a Joho
empire, although the Bugis had made an attempt to revivé
this by force in the decade 1760-70. Former vassal states i
Sumatra and Malaya no longer looked to Johore fo
leadership, especially after a spirited attempt by Mahmud
form a Malay coalition against both Dutch and English i
1787 had achieved no military succe

The Bugis policy of supporting younger candidates fo
the throne was to have an indirect result of some significance:

!See Chapler 4, p. 65
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ing the succession for the younger son of Mahmud
1812, the Bugis deliberately overlooked an older
. who was the true heir to the throne. This situation
ed by Raffles in order to obtain a treaty for Singapore
.1 1t is hardly an exaggeration to say that among the
sences of Bugis control in Johore must be counted the
of British Singapore,

1See Chapter 6.



Chapter 4

BUGIS INFLUENCE IN THE MALAY
STATES IN THE EIGHTEENTH CENTUR

made to a Bugis invasion and to the establishment

Bugis control over Malay Sultans. During the eightee;
century the Bugis played a dominating part in several Mal,
states, and at some periods they exercised control, directly
indirectly, along the whole west coast of modern Malay
with the exception of a Dutch bulwark at Malacca. To
derstand the origins and extent of this Bugis influence, it
necessary to consider briefly the situation, in the latter p
of the seventeenth century, of what is today the island waor
of eastern Indonesia.

The Bugis homeland lay in the south-west corner of
octopus-shaped island of Celebes. Here the Bugis lived
der hereditary chiefs, a vigorous, intelligent, and aggres
Malay people, skilled boatmen and shrewd traders. They h
a particular flair for the art of fighting, and when Europe
and local rivalries for the spice trade of South-East
were at their height, the Bugis were much in demand
hired troops for operations on land and sea. They had adop!
from the Portuguese a form of European-type armour,
they were accomplished musketeers. Provided that they w
well paid, they served their employers well, and at vario
times they were to be found fighting on behalf of the Dul
to punish a Malay ruler who had quarrelled with them,
braving Dutch hostility in order to convey spices to Portugue!
merchants who feared to sail too close to the Moluccas.

Macassar, the main port of southern Celebes, was
years a great source of trouble to the Dutch, because

In dealing with the history of Johore, reference has b

-
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ted an open gateway in a wall which they had tried
for themselves round the spice trade. Through and
acassar, rice, gold, and produce from India, China
urope, were smuggled by Bugis traders to the island of
ain return for cargoes of precious cloves. Both European
n traders resorted to Macassar as a market for spices.
en the Dutch East India Company was sufficiently
other commitments, it concentrated its forces to
acassar into line with its policy of monopoly. In 1660
culer of Macassar was forced to sign a treaty promising
trading with the Spice Islands. This treaty was not
and seven years later a Dutch expedition captured
r, placed it under Dutch overlordship, and installed
garrison. Four months after this, in 1668, the Dutch
it necessary to depose the ruler altogether and to place
area of south Celebes under a Dutch governor, with his
arters at Macassar.
these measures the Dutch not only aroused the
ility of the majority of the Bugis! but also, in effect, took
 the livelihood of a considerable number of Bugis traders
d presumably made a living from the spice trade.
than settle peacefully under Dutch rule, groups of
resourceful and well armed, sailed under the command
traditional chiefs to start new enterprises and homes
her shores. Some of them founded settlements in
ern Borneo and northern Java; others continued
vards as far as the Malacca Straits and the west coast
laya. About the year 1680 Bugis groups were settling
from the coast, in the valleys of the River Klang and
ir Selangor.
did Bugis emigrants choose the swampy coastline
is now the state of Selangor as one of their new
ement areas? A number of reasons suggest themselves.
coastline faced a main trade route which could offer
unities for either legitimate trade or piracy. The
gor river valleys, and the adjacent mangrove swamps,
ed hideouts where an enemy might find it difficult to

e of theirown family fends, had actually helped the Dutch
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small quantities there was another trading commodity
tin, The Bugis themselves were enterprising enough to plai
gambier, which they had grown in Celebes. Moreover,
Bugis were able to make their settlements without fear
serious opposition.

The small and scattered Malay settlements which m
have existed in this area had little or no political unity. In
theory, overlordship would have been claimed by the Sul
of Johore, and any tin trade at Klang was, again in theory,
a matter of agreement between the Sultan and the Dutch
Malacca. While the Bugis were settling in Selangor, Joho
was wasting its energies and resources in a long, fruitle:
war with Jambi. As for Dutch Malacca,.the attention of i
officials at this time seems to have been diverted by af
tempts to secure from Johore a monopoly of recently foun
tin at Siak, in Sumatra. The Bugis were to prove such
threat to Dutch Malacca in the eighteenth century that on
is tempted to wonder whether the nearness of Selangor
the Dutch port was in itself an incentive to the settleme
there of Bugis with old scores to pay?

Although they were of Malay stock, and were Muslim!
the Bugis were regarded by Peninsular Malays as newcome
and intruders. Their ability as soldiers, however, caused th
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alays both to fear them and to seek their services during
of Malay quarrels, as when Raja Kechil of Siak sought
help of a Bugis fleet from Selangor in his invasion of
shore in 1717. The Bugis were willing to fight in such
stances, but they drove a hard bargain and demanded
prices. They were conscious of Malay opinion, and among
heir aims were social recognition and political authority for
ir chiefs. In return for Bugis help, Kechil promised that,
n he became Sultan of Johore, one of the Bugis chiefs
ald act as his deputy, or under-King (Yam-tuan-Muda).
This was a dangerous arrangement, because it was easier
ite the Bugis than to dismiss them, and they were to
y great persistence in holding political authority once
had seized it. Kechil seems to have had second thoughts.
bly he decided that he could muster sufficient forces
his Minangkabau followers to take the throne of Johore.
nding no information of the invasion-date, he broke his
t of the bargain with the Bugis and thus aroused their
er hostility.
‘The rest of this story has been told.! Revenge against
shil ambition for high office in Johore, and encourage-
from Malay elements intriguing against the new Sultan,
bined as motives for the Bugis invasion of 1721-2.
was driven back to Siak; the new Sultan was the son
late Bendahara, and Daing Parani, the Bugis victor,
d one of his five brother chiefs, Daing Merewah, in the
ce of Yam-tuan-Muda. Bugis leaders married Johore Malay
ses, Parani himself setting the example by marrying
u Tengah, sister of the new Sultan, a lady whom Raja
il had slighted when he married her younger sister,
u Kamariah.
The diplomacy of the Bugis showed a very shrewd grasp
situation. There was no move to create a Bugis Sultan.
is would have outraged conservative Malay opinion
doubtedly caused unrest and civil war. In Bugis eyes,
er, the new office of Yam-tuan-Muda was to be the one
mattered, and the Malay Sultan was to take his or-
from the Bugis under-King. Behind a Malay facade,
e was to be a Bugis-controlled state. Moreover the
iSee Chapter 3.
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marriages of Bugis chiefs to the daughters and sisters
Malay princes was aimed both at symbolising the links by
tween Bugis Selangor and Johore, and at giving the Bug
some social standing in their relationships with other Malgy
states. Bugis control in Johore lasted, with only relatively
short breaks, throughout the remainder of the eighteenty
and into the nineteenth, century.

The Bugis had been in Johore less than two years whey
they were presented with an opportunity to intervene i
Kedah. Succession disputes were particularly common in thel
history of the Malay States, and often they led to a civil war
between two brothers, or half-brothers, and their respectivel
supporters. In Kedah, Daing Parani secured the successiop|
for the eldest son of the late Sultan, but this was soon|
challenged by a younger brother, who sought the help of
Raja Kechil and his Minangkabau Malays. The result wasg
two-year war (1724-6) in Kedah between Minangkabaus ang}
Bugis, each supporting a claimant to the Kedah throne.

As in Johore, but after far more fighting, the Bugis werg
successful, and Raja Kechil was once more driven back to his}
homeland in Sumatra. If it was any consolation to him, hi
great opponent, Daing Parani, was killed in the fighting:
The older brother was now unchallenged as Sultan, but hej
had become indebted to the Bugis, who demanded money
payments for their services in a long and costly war. The|
main victim of this war was, of course, Kedah itself. It had
endured at the same time the bitterness of civil war and thi
miseries of military campaigns conducted by foreign fleets)
and armies. Its trade, to take only one aspect, was ruined)

The Kedah Sultan was, in fact, unable to meet the Bugi§|
demands for ready payment, and he had to offer to pay his}
war debts on an instalment basis. Thus he not only owed
his position as Sultan to Bugis support, but was also fof|
many years their debtor. Forty-four years later, in 1770}
the Bugis were still demanding payments from Kedah of)
the grounds that the amount agreed upon in 1726 had never}
been fully paid. Rightly or wrongly, the Sultan’s refusal %}
meet these demands led to an invasion of Kedah by Rajé}
Haji, and a temporary military occupation of the capital, It
is significant that during this period, while an exile in what
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 today Perlis, the Sultan of Kedah talked to Francis Light
bout his problems, and was prepared to concede a trade
se to a power willing to support him against Kedah’s
memies, and strong enough to do so. Although the Siamese
ere seen as potential enemies, they were at war with
urma in 1770; it was the Bugis who were the immediate
ppressors. Sixteen years were to pass before an English
rading base was established at Penang, but, from the Kedah
jandpoint, that base was ceded in return for military
upport against enemies, actual and potential. The Bugis
hus played no small part in the situation which led to the
yunding of British Penang.

In Perak there was a confused scene of struggles round
he throne and of quarrels arising from the tin trade. The
gis were present in both these spheres of activity, At least
wo Bugis invasions of Perak took place in the eighteenth
tury. These were caused, to some extent, by the infiltra-
tion into Perak of anti-Bugis elements, following the Kedah
war. Minangkabau leaders and Kedah chiefs who had been
eated in Kedah tried to rally further support from the
lays of Perak. The Bugis invasion of 1728 seems to have
peen aimed at breaking up this Minangkabau movement,

d at the same time securing the throne for a Sultan
Muzaffar Shah) who had enlisted Bugis support. A second
Bugis invasion, in 1742, seems to have taken place in simi-
lar circumstances. Underlying both these successful attempts
at preventing enemy invasion from north of the River Bernam
may have been the economic necessity for maintaining a
trong footing in the Perak tin trade. Despite treaties with
the Perak Sultans and forts at Dindings and Pangkor, the
Dutch were never secure in their monopoly of Perak tin.
gis invasions of Perak, and the average Malay's fear of the
ugis, must surely have meant the shipping of tin to Selangor,
d from there, perhaps, to Johore.

The Perak scene is blurred for us by incomplete accounts,
but it is evident that Bugis interference was considerable.
Perhaps this was shown most of all by the attendance of the
alay Sultan of Perak at the installation of a Bugis prince as
ultan of Selangor.! Raja Lumu, son of Daing Chelak, who was
1 The datestill scems uncertain, 1740 or 1742 would seem Lo hie the most likely,
though a somewhat later date has also been suggester
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Yam-tuan-Muda of Johore, was elevated to the title of Sul,
Salahu'd-din Shah. The presence at this ceremony ofthe Ma]
Sultan of Perak was a typical Bugis move to legalise t
proceedings in Malay eyes. This new Sultanate of Selangor g
only confirmed the existing independence of the state; it g]
illustrated the nature of the relationships existing betweg
Selangor and Perak.

Finally, there was Dutch Malacca. The Dutch attitude g
the Bugis was shown in the instructions for rebuilding
Dutch fort at Pulau Dinding in 1745, The garrison was
consist of 30 Europeans and 30 Asians, but no Bugis! Dutel
and Bugis had competed for the spice trade in the seventeenty
century; in the eighteenth century, they competed for
and other Straits produce.

The Dutch were worried about the extent of Bugis ins
fluence along the west coast of Malaya. To the north a
south of Dutch Malacea, Bugis fleets sailed much as they
wished. Perhaps it was only a healthy respect for each other’s
fighting strength which kept peace between the Bugis and
the Dutch for long periods. Peace would often be a relati
term, for it was punctuated by episodes of a long drawn-out
trade-war.

The attempts by Johore Malays to weaken or drive out
Bugis influence were watched with interest by Malacca. Litt]
came of a Malacca-Johore treaty in 1745, but another alliance,
ten years later, led to open warfare with the Bugis. The|
Bugis got the worst of this, and by a treaty of 1758 they
conceded both the authority of the Johore Malay Sultan uni
the Dutch rights to a monopoly of the purchase of tin
what had once been part of the Johore dominions. This t
merely served to give the Bugis a breathing-space; by 1760
the Bugis had regained their power behind the Johore throne,

For many years, however, the Bugis avoided a further |/
open clash with the Dutch. Under Raja Haji they attempted
a revival of Johore authority in eastern Sumatra; they put
further pressure on Perak, and they carried out a successful’
invasion of Kedah. With this fresh outburst of Bugis activity,
tensions between Dutch and Bugis were bound to increase.
1t is remarkable that open hostilities did not break out until
1782, when Raja Haji quarrelled with the Dutch over the
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gribution oﬁ.he cargo of a ship captured from the English,

756. Raja Haji was killed in the fighting, and the Dutch
sed their counter-attack successfully against Selangor
d Rhio. The Bugis Sultan was temporarily driven out of
1gor but he restored his position, though still on the
ensive, in 1785." The Bugis were driven out of Rhio by
e Dutch, but they returned in 1795, when the English East
dia Company took over the Dutch position there during
Napoleonic Wars.

One further state must be briefly mentioned. Inland from
acca, Minangkabau Malays had made settlements in the
fteenth and sixteenth centuries. Because this took place
radually and peacefully, their history is obscure. The
akening of the Bugis position in Selangor and Rhio gave
hese little states an opportunity to make their first loose
alition, and, in 1773, to establish a dynasty. Late in the
ineteenth century, this coalition reached its present union
5 Negri Sembilan.

DIAGRAM TO SHOW BUGIS INFLUENCE
IN THE EIGHTEENTH CENTURY

[KEDAH] Bugis intervention, 1724-6
Bugis invasion, 1770-1

[PERAK Bugis invasions, 1728 and 1742
Bugis involved in tin trade
Sultan of Perak attended Raja Lumu’s in-
stallation in Sclangor, ¢ 1740,

ISELANGOR Early settlements from 1650,

Bugis Sultanate, ¢ 1740,

[DUTCH MALACCA| Faced competition of Bugis traders

Bugis attacks, 1756 and 1784

[JOHORE Bugis invasion, 1721-2.
Creation of Bugis Yam-tuan-Muda with real
political power
Bugis driven out, 1784; returncd, 1795

*1n 1786 Sultan Tbrahim was compelled to acknowledge Dutch suzerainty and
to grant Malacca a monopoly of tin
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By the end of the eighteenth century the heyday of ]
Bugis was over. Their influence represented a passing pha;
but one which lasted a considerable time, and had fa,
reaching results, The Bugis weakened the Malay Sultanag
of Johore beyond repair. They helped to weaken Malay a
thority in Kedah and Perak. They created a new state an
dynasty in Selangor, a dynasty from which its present rul
is descended. They weakened Dutch power and influence j
Malacea, and possibly prevented its extension in other Malay
states. In Kedah and in Johore, they unconsciously creéat,
situations which led to the founding of British Penang an
British Singapore.

In the long-term view, by intermarriage and a mo)
settled way of life the Bugis element merged into the Mal.
population, Well into the nineteenth century, however,
Bugis aristocracy was discernible in Selangor.



Chapter 5

ENGLISH EAST INDIA COMPANY'S
SETTLEMENT AT PENANG
A.D. 1770-1805

Y he story of the founding of the English East India
" Company’s Settlement at Penang can be viewed from
three different angles, first from that of the Sultan
dah, who was the hereditary ruler of the island of Penang
1786; secondly, from that of the English East India
ny, with its eastern headquarters first in Madras, later
a, and its home office in London; and thirdly, some
ot should be made to assess the aims and ideas of
s Light, who saw the possibilities of Penang, and
to bring the other two interested parties together.
was an old Malay state; its history, in fact, from
st times, illustrates the typical settlement and culture
erns of well-situated and fertile regions.of South-East
Since 1474 Kedah had been a Muslim state, and its
house was linked in marriage with that of Malacca.
ah had been a trading region since the early centuries
Christian era, and probably even earlier. Its river
had been used for centuries as ports-of-call and
ting centres by shipping from India, and they also at-
d traders from northern Sumatra and the west coast of
alay Peninsula. Kedah's early trade-centre lay in the
of the Merbok, but by the fifteenth century the Kedah
tself had become the focus of political and economic

e main export commodity from Kedah was tin, but
re was also a steady trade in elephants, ivory, timber,

rattans. In the seventeenth century Kedah also had
Ct 1 pepper plantations, which added another valuable
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item to the export market. In return, Muslim merchap
brought to Kedah the produce of India and the Middle Eq
— Indian cloths from the Coromandel and Bengal coas
metalware, glassware, drugs, and spices. Overland routeg
from Patani and Ligor brought elephants and ivory to Kedahj
and carried back to the east coast of the Peninsula a cop
siderable proportion of Kedah's imports.

The economic advantages of Kedah attracted, over
years, many external influences. In the fifteenth centy
Kedah owed allegiance to Malacca and from there, subse
quently, the Portuguese, and after them the Dutch, p
pressure on the rulers of Kedah to cede them a monopoly of
the tin trade. The Achinese invaded Kedah in 1619 duri
their attacks on the Malay Peninsula, partly to contrqf
Kedah’s trade, and partly to destroy the pepper plantatior
which constituted a threat to the rival production centre ij
northern Sumatra.

The tolls and taxes on trade, and the profits of priva
trade conducted by his agents, were the main sources of
income of the Sultan of Kedah. Yet, for one reason or anothen
Kedah seldom achieved political security to match the wealthy
real or potential, of her rulers. The earliest claims for so
sphere of influence in Kedah were made by the kings d
Siam, Kedah's northern neighbour. They dated back to abou
AD. 1300 when the first Siamese kingdom in the Menan
valley successfully demanded tokens of tribute from the small
settlements in the Malay Peninsula.

It is very difficult to be precise about what these Siames
claims actually d to by the eighteenth century.
normal times, the Sultan of Kedah despatched, once in thre
years, envoys to the royal court of Siam at Ayuthia, and
later at Bangkok, bearing with them a costly present of gold
and silver, which Malay craftsmen had fashioned into
ornamental plants of branches and leaves. These ‘Goldeft
Flowers' (Bunga Mas) were presented to the king during
ritual ceremony and he regarded them as a payment
homage and a token of submission by a vassal to an overlord
The Malay Sultan, on the other hand, did not necessaril
think of the gift in this way. From his point of view, it w8
merely a token of alliance and friendship with a powerfi
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hern neighbour. He would normally have considered
elf as having sovereign rights within his own state of
. The significance of the gift — and even its dispatch
nded very much upon circumstances. During times of
ese weakness, or when the king was distracted by foreign
the Sultan of Kedah could forget about sending his
when Siam was strong, the ‘Bunga Mas’ offering
; sent, and sometimes further demands for men, money,
supplies, had to be met. The real test was whether Siam
in a position to enforce her demands.!

‘When Sultan Muhammad of Kedah first discussed with
cis Light a scheme for sharing his own trade with a
€ power which could protect him from hostile threats
id attacks, he had in mind this question of the relationships
jween Kedah and Siam. No ruler of Kedah at that time (c.
1770) could be sure that his reign would be free from
e pressure, or even from Siamese invasion. Yet it was
the Siamese problem which was then the most urgent.
1771 the Bugis from Selangor invaded Kedah after
gking demands for money which Muhammad refused to
get. The Bugis claim was that Kedah had never completed
yments for Bugis services rendered in a civil war forty-five
previously.2 Thus Sultan Muhammad was driven from
capital, and took refuge further north in what is today
lis. He had not only lost his capital for the time being; he
a8 also cut off from his source of income, for Bugis leaders
collecting the debts due to their fathers by seizing the
trade. In these troubled circumstances, the Sultan
18 prepared to make trade concessions in return for a
! ‘I.!'y alliance which would at least give him some pros-
of security.

WG have now to consider the point of view of the English
India Company. As the name suggests, the Company
been formed, in 1600, for trade with the East Indies,
its early expeditions, like those of the Portuguese and
utch, had been concerned with the spice trade. In the
Urma had also, at limes, demanded tribute from Kedah; sometimes Kedah
8ent 'Bunga Mas’ to Burma, semetimes to Siam; even, on oceasion, to both
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early seventeenth century the English Company had gaingg
a number of bases for this trade, including a ‘factory’
Bantam in north-west Java, and another at Patani in
Malay Peninsula. The pressure of Dutch competition, a
the greater resources of the Dutch East India Compan,
gradually caused English trade, apart from isolated privat
ventures, to withdraw from South-East Asia and to con
centrate itself upon India. The failure of the English Eag
India Company in South-East Asia was, in fact, a prelude {
its long history in the trade and politics of India.

One ‘factory’, however, remained in the English Com
pany's hands from 1685 onwards, and this was at Bencoole;
on the west coast of Sumatra. It has been described as ‘o
of the most costly and unprofitable stations which
Company ever possessed’.! Bencoolen’s main purpose was
serve as an outlet-port for pepper plantations. Its site wa
unhealthy; it was often inefficiently run, and the morale
its officials was low. It was situated on the wrong side
Sumatra, away from the Malacca Straits, and it never de
veloped as a wider trade-centre. In addition, even its pepper
trade was greatly hampered by rival ports controlled by
Dutch.

The history of the English East India Company in South
East Asia in the seventeenth century had thus so far bee
made up of a series of disappointments and frustrations, ai
this partly explains the great caution which its Directo
showed about any later ventures into the same vast regiof
beyond India.

The idea of an East India Company port to the east 0
the Bay of Bengal came up for discussion, investigation, and
even implementation, many times in the course of thi
eighteenth century.? Two main reasons underlay these ef*
forts to find and secure a new base. The first one, chrono
logically, was the need for an English naval base where men
o’-war could be supplied and repaired. This need arose froft
the strategy of the Anglo-French wars in India and the

' L.A. Mills in ‘British Malaya, 1824-1867', JRASMB, Vol. 3, pt. 2, p. 13-
2 A summary of this search for a base is given in D. G. E. Hall's A History 4
South-East Asia, Chapter 26, pp. 421-42.
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adjacent seas. The main scene of naval warfare was the Ba
of Bengal, Naval supremacy achieved by one side or the othe; r
in the Bay of Bengal could be a decisive factor in the military
campaigns in Bengal, and along the Coromandel coast.
During the greater part of October and November— thg
north-east monsoon season—naval operations in the Bay of
Bengal were impossible on account of hurricanes. The rivall
fleets then retired to their own bases for repairs and refi
ting in preparation for the next encounter, For English shipg
this meant a long voyage to Bombay on the west coast, fo
the Coromandel coast was exposed to the north-east monsoor
and offered no safe anchorage during this period. By thi
time the refitted ships from Bombay were back again in the
Bay, it was April.
It was often a matter of some importance to have a fleet
back in action in the Bay by January, before the enemy had
appeared. This gave an opportunity of blockading enemy ports
and patrolling the trade routes without interference. For thi
reason, both the English and the French sought to secure
convenient naval stations as bases for movements in the Bay
of Bengal. The English Company attempted at first to find
a suitable harbour on the Indian side of the Bay, but without
success. The areas of special interest now became the west
coasts of Burma and Siam, and the north coast of Sumatral
This problem of naval strategy was evident from as far ba
as the last two decades of the seventeenth century, and it led t@
Anglo-French competition for dockyards at Mergui in Siam
and Syriam in Burma. Neither Burma nor Siam gave eas!
concessions to European traders, and both countries wel
subject at times to violent political upheavals and civil warss
Mergui, while under Siam, was used only for a very short perio
by either the English or the French. Syriam was used as
repair depot for English ships from 1689 to 1743 but, f0
various reasons, it was never a great success.
Three wars in the eighteenth century, before the founding
of Penang, saw English and French as opponents both in
West and in the East.! The naval clashes in the Indian Oceaf

| The War of the Austrian Succession (1740-8); The Seven Years” War (1768
63); The War of American Independence (1775-83)
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ated many times the importance of sheltered bases
d repair stations. The French obtained permission to open
dockyard at Rangoon in 1768. On the other hand, two
glish embassies to Acheh, in 1762 and 1764, met with no
ceess. In the last of these three wars, the French Admiral
Suffren used Acheh successfully for refitting his ships in
and was back in the Bay of Bengal months before the
olish Admiral Hughes, whose fleet had withdrawn for
rs to Bombay. Again, in 1783, French cruisers were
e to make effective use of Mergui (which was now a
nese port) and Trincomalee in Ceylon. The disadvantages
f the English with regard to a naval base could not have
more clearly shown.
In the case of Penang, however, the naval aspect should
be overstressed, as, in the second half of the eighteenth
entury, another important argument for a new East India
mpany port east of India was advanced, based on com-
ial reasons only, The English East India Company had
ver completely given up the idea of trade in the East Indies.
for this purpose, of course, Bencoolen was retained, though
as not a success. Banjarmassin, in southern Borneo, had
y Company ‘factory’ and fort about A.D. 1700. This lasted
ily seven years, but it was revived again between 1738 and
. In the latter year the Dutch obtained a pepper monopoly
the local Sultan, and the English interest came to an
Finally, Balambangan, an island off the north of Bor-
), was granted to the Company by the Sultan of Sulu in
2, but it was not until 1773 that a settlement was actually
there. This was destroyed by pirates in less than two

The Company's desire to have some part in the trade of
East Indies was one reason for the continued, if inter-
Mittent, interest in a South-Bast Asian port. In the second

f of the eighteenth century the increased trade carried in
Indiamen between India and China raised another issue
the need for an English-controlled port-of-call between
mbay, Madras (or Caleuttal, and Canton. Before 1786
ish shipping sailing between India and Canton, when in
of supplies or repair, had to use either Dutch ports or
ports of local South-East Asian rulers. The Dutch au-
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thorities charged high tolls, and in time of war between the
English and the Dutch, English ships would have to give
these ports a wide berth. The main danger about using the
Asian ports was that political conditions might change be.
tween one voyage and the next, and this led to uncertainties;
about the reception one might receive. The plan for a set.
tlement at Balambangan was very closely linked with an
alternative route to China, discovered by Commodore Wilson
in 1757-8, by which shipping could sail eastwards of the
Philippines, and arrive at Canton by sailing from the New
Guinea coast northwards between Luzon and Formosa.

Three factors, therefore, entered into the consideration
of a new English East India Company port in South-E;
Asia, namely, the need for a naval base, the desire to en
the South-East Asian market, and the need for a port-of-cal
for English shipping between India and China. An ideal choig
would be one port which could fulfil all three requiremen

Francis Light was an ex-naval officer, discharged at th
age of twenty-three at the end of the Seven Years' War, wh
took service as a ship's captain for the European firm
Jourdain, Sullivan, and de Souza, in Madras. Light's voyag
took him to the west coast of the Malay Peninsula and
northern Sumatra, and he learned to speak Malay an
Siamese well enough for the purpose of conducting trade
negotiations.

Light was in Kedah in 1771, and it was to him that th
Sultan made his proposal about a trade settlement in rett
for military help and protection, Light advised the Sultan
write to the East India Company, and at the same timf
wrote letters to his own firm in Madras, suggesting thi
Penang might suit the East India Company better than
suited his employers. Two months later, in January 1772,
wrote directly to Warren Hastings; urging that the Ked:
Sultan’s offer should be accepted.

Before proceeding further, there are one or two poin!
here which call for comment. The East India Company W
in close touch at this time with private firms which might
able to give them useful information, and Light must ha
known of the Company’s interest in securing a new set
ment. Also, as it happened, the Company was then focusil
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g attention on the Malacca Straits. By 1770 efforts to find
itable harbour in the vicinity of the Straits of Sunda had
abandoned and in 1771 the Company, despite previous
sappointments, decided to send another mission to Acheh.
interesting to note too that the Sultan’s offer was merely
ncerned with a trade-base on the Kedah River; it was Light
mentioned Penang, because he had noticed its possi-
lities. These included, according to Light, an excellent
srhour, with facilities for refitting ships bound for China,
ther with the likelihood of a useful local collecting trade
tin, pepper, rattans, and other jungle produce.

The Company sent its owa agent, Edward Monckton, to
ate with the Sultan of Kedah in 1772, at the same time
ding its third mission in ten years to Acheh. Both sets of
ations ended in failure. In Kedah there were certain
culties at the outset. Monckton, young and inexperienced,
speaking no Malay, did not make a favourable impression
e Sultan. Light himself had no powers to act on behalf
Company, though he took part in some agreement-
ng. The fundamental reason for the breakdown of the
§ was, however, the unwillingness of the Company to
s any promises which might involve military commitments
the view of the Madras Council of the Company, a new
ent which might involve a strong and costly garrison
articipation in wars in the Malay Peninsula might well
e to be more of a liability than an asset. After some
iths the talks were broken off, and the Kedah Sultan
ly informed Monckton that, in any case, the Siamese would
& opposed such a move as they had been discussing

|t was true, of course, that the Sultan was taking v
not only risked offending Siam, whose King had not been
d; he also risked offending the Muslim traders who
ed the Indian trade, and who regarded a proposal for
glish (or any Buropean! trade-base in Kedah as a
Brous intrusion into their own economic activities.
welve years passed without any further progress being
the Penang project. In fact, it must have seemed, in
% that this had now very little chance of fruition. Light
uch of this long interval in trading with the island
Ng Salang (Junk Ceyloni, which lies off the west coast
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of Siam. Meanwhile the Company attempted to establish
settlement at Balambangan, which was destroyed within
years. Between 1775 and 1783 came the War of Americg
Independence, when the governing body of the East In
Company was fully occupied with matters other than expy
mental settlements. Light wanted the Company to occ
Ujong Salang, and discussed this with Warren Hastings
Calcutta in 1780; Hastings was impressed, but the time wa
not opportune for such a move.

By 1784 another war was over, and once again the i
of the new eastern port was under consideration by
Company. Two missions were sent by Warren Hastings, o
to Acheh, the other to Rhio. It was not for want of tryi
that the Company failed to gain a base at Acheh, but, ong
again, the Achinese would not come to terms. At Rhio, th
Dutch had just driven out the Bugis and taken their place
the power behind the throne; there was no hope of an Engli
base there now.

By a curious repetition of circumstances, Light was
Kedah again in 1784, and friendly with the young Suli
Abdullah, whose father had received Monckton in 177
Knowing of the failure of the missions to Acheh and Rhig
Light put forward to the Company once again the case fg
Penang. He did this in very favourable circumstances.

From the Company's point of view, the need for a nav
station to the east of the Bay of Bengal had been emphasi:
once again by the tactics of the French navy in 1782 ai
1783. The trade with China was increasing, and the loss
the American tolonies was stimulating English commerce
seek new and expanding markets in the East.!

If Penang should prove not only a useful port of call ft
ships' supplies, but also a centre of trade in its own right,
might help to solve the problem of what could be sold in Chit
in exchange for tea and silk. When Penang was founded,
Directors of the Company defined the reasons as being ‘ft
extending our commerce among the Eastern islands, and i
directly by their means to China’. Another favourable point w
that the Dutch had suffered a number of defeats at sea in tl

! In Britain, duties on Chinese tea were greatly reduced from 1784,
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e of the recent war, and the Dutch government conceded
in in the peace il an acknowled, of the
British trade in the East Indies, even in the Moluccas.
hpolicy in 1784-5, however, seemedaimed at strengthening
rthan relaxing Duteh interestsin South-East Asia. Penang
ed to offer a chance to check the restoration of Dutch
before this had gone too far.
new Sultan of Kedah was also well disposed to the
Penang scheme. Although the Bugis had long since
wn from Kedah, the young Sultan's position was not.
ecure. Support for him among the Kedah princes was
, and several were unfriendly. To the north; Siam
ess distracted by wars and becoming a powerful state.!
shance of outside help was attractive to Kedah.
this favourable atmosphere Light obtained draft pro-
s from the Sultan of Kedah, and these he took to Caleutta
in 1786. The Acting Governor-General, Macpherson,
d to Light's scheme, and persuaded the Company to
a ‘factory’ at Penang with Light as its Superintendent.
lompany accepted Penang for commercial reasons; the
jon of its suitability for a naval base was still left
decided. Light returned from Caleutta to Kedah with three
a small garrison of troops, and stocks and stores for
e camp which would mark the beginning of the new
ment. He had an audience with the Sultan, and some
later proceeded, with the Sultan’s consent, to Penang.
hort ceremony was held on the island about a month
(August 11th, 1786) by which Light formally took pos-
38ion of it. He named it Prince of Wales' Island, after the
t son of the reigning British sovereign, George 111, and
d the new port Georgetown after the King himself.
Underlying these successful negotiations, however, was
8 same fundamental difference of approach as had marked
talks of 1772. The Kedah Sultan still wanted military
port ‘whenever any enemy from the interior shall attack
. The Company, willing to agree on most other poin

This dlearly shown in Lhe early nincteenth century.
tion for loss of trade to Kedah was not definitely fixed
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limited its immediate commitments to an armed veg
guarding the island of Penang and the adjacent coast
Kedah. The question of attacks on Kedah from the interig
was to be referred back to London for a final decision.

Thus, Light's occupation of Penang took place while
vital issue, as the Sultan saw it, remained in the balang
The Company, in fact, never committed itself beyond
protection of the island and the opposite coastline. Light, dig
his best to impress on Calcutta the importance of sending
least a token force to Kedah which would probably be sy
ficient to deter enemies from attacking. In January 1788 th
Governor-General in Council informed Light of a decisiof
against any measures which might involve the Company
military operations ‘against any of the Eastern prince
though in any other way Light could use the influence of
Company for the security of the King of Kedah.

This, of course, placed Light in an extremely uncom
fortable position; no one was more aware than he of
Sultan's views. He was now paying the price for having take
the initiative, and for having hoped that at least sufficien
promises of military suppoert would be given to satisfy
Sultan and discourage his enemies. An attitude of growing
mistrust developed between the Sultan and Light, and
Sultan refused to reply to offers of annual payments in
turn for loss of trade.

This whole question of the terms on which Penang wa
ceded has been the subject of much controversy, especiallf
as Kedah needed help very badly against Siamese pressul
early in the nineteenth century. The East India Compan
was not legally wrong, because it broke no agreement OF
promise, but it was morally wrong for holding on to Penang
on terms which never, as they stood, satisfied the Sulta
Light's intentions were honest, but he did ‘jump the gum
with the vital question still outstanding. The Sultan acted ifl
goad faith, and regarded the ‘reference-back’ of the militar!
support clause as a formality. The East India Company’
decision against military help was in keeping with its nor
mal policy, and based on bitter experience. At the same times
it showed a cool lack of concern for the Kedah-Penang
situation. From Light's point of view, as a man of action, th
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tter could have been settled successfully and ami-
the sending of a few troops and guns to Kedah to
Company's good intentions. This would, in Light's
have satisfied the Sultan and kept away his enemies,
five years the Sultan gave up hope of any further
es by the Company, and prepared to take Penang
A war fleet was assembled at Prai, but Light, who
sell enough what was happening, attacked first and
the invasion force. The Sultan now agreed to sign
ceding the island of Penang to the East India
iy in return for an annual payment to him and his
gsors of 6,000 Spanish dollars a year. This treaty of

ecame the legal basis for the Company's tenure of
it included nothing about military protection, al-
gh, in the view of a later British administrator in Ma-
! the Sultan of Kedah still regarded this as part of the

1800 Sir George Leith, then Lieutenant-Governor of
, negotiated a further treaty with the Sultan for the
n of a strip of mainland Kedah, which was renamed
e Wellesley after the Governor-General in India. The
y's purpose was to give greater protection to Penang
ving command of both sides of the strait which divided
i and from the mainland, and also to develop a food-
cing area, especially for rice, which could supply Penang
ke it largely self-sufficing. The addition of Province
esley to Penang had a later counterpart in the addition
doon to Hong Kong. By the treaty of 1800, the Sultan's
from the East India Company was increased to 10,000
S a year.
ght remained Superintendent of Penang until his death
4. His was largely a one-man government; he was
ants, and he himself had had no training
Ministration. He did what seemed best in a situation
problems and difficulties, but there were many ad-
Strative mistakes, To make things worse, the Company
ight only half-hearted support. No decision was taken
M8 stage about a naval base at Penang; in fact, the

'F Swettenham, British Malaya, p. 46,
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permanence of the settlement itself was by no means
sured. Light's own salary was small, and he was to)
practice the strictest economy; no trade taxes were tg
Jevied, and Penang was to be a free port.

There was no regular procedure for the granting of |
and titles to land. Settlers were allowed to occupy such |
as they could clear, with the promise of a future title, |
land was reserved for public use, and both Europeans
Asians were granted land without reference to how they wof
employ it. Light himself and his business partner, J
Scott, acquired large tracts of land. There was no govern
fund which could be used either for loans, or for the
purchase of lands which came on the market, and it was}
adventurer or speculator who profited most from this
of affairs.

Land was one source of trouble; revenue was anof
Light and his immediate successors had the very diffi
task of trying to balance the budget in a pioneer settle
where free trade was practised and where there were
external subsidies. The inevitable ‘farming-out’ of tax
individuals often meant that the tax-farmers made a |
profit at the expense of the government. Some small im
duties were introduced on Straits produce in 1801, but t]
were abandoned after one yvear, and in their place an ex|
duty was placed on pepper and other locally grown prod
All these duties were farmed’ to the highest bidder, as
sefore 1805. Expenses g
cears after the founding of

were no regular customs officel
exceeded income even twenty
settlement,

Light attempted to grow cloves, nutmeg, and cinna
but these failed; pepper — also introduced by Light's ef
— proved to be a much more successful plantation-crop,
one of real economic value to the island. Further attemp!
grow spices after Light's death met with only made

SUCCess.

In the early years little was done about roads or p!
buildings, and the township round the port grew up
haphazard way on swampy land which bred sickness
disease. The early community included a large advent!
element and law and order were maintained by a syste!
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s or headmen for the Asian groups. Serious cases of
 complaint or erime were tried by the Superintendent or
istants, and some decisions had to be confirmed by
engal Government. Buropeans charged with serious
were sent for trial to the Bengal courts. No law-court
ear system of law was established before 1807.
By 1788 the population of Penang was about 1,000, and it
ged to 12,000 in 1804, by which time Province Wellesley
n included. The main racial group was Malay, but there
large Chinese and Indian communities, and a mixture of
 other Asian races, together with a European minority,
British, in trade and administration.
Penang’s trade kept pace with this increase in population.
n Britain and India cloth, metalware, and opium, were
h on the list of imports, whilst from Burma, Siam, the
lay Peninsula, and Sumatra, came rice, tin, spices, rattans,
dust, ivory, ebony, and pepper. Some of this ‘Straits
¢, as it was called, was useful to the Company in
iding a balance of payments, other than in silver, for the
trade.
s head of the administration, Light was succeeded by
or Macdonald (1795-9), Sir George Leith (1799-1804), and
R. T. Farquhar (1804-5). Until 1805 the Government
still largely a one-man affair, though his title had been
d from Superintendent to Lieutenant-Governor. In the
year, the Company showed a complete change of heart
endowed Penang with a lavish administration of more
in fifty officials, a Governor, and the name of ‘Presidency’.
placed Penang on an equal footing with the three great
gsidencies in India — Calcutta, Madras, and Bombay. Mr.
ilip Dundas was the head of this new government, which
occupied itself with schemes of road-making and

e Company, which had previously been parsimonious
4 pessimistic concerning Penang, now indulged in over-
ism. The growth of Penang's population and trade had
110 the belief that it would become both a great trade-
€ and a naval harbour. By 1800 the idea of a naval base
eh, Trincomalee, the Andamans, or the Nicobars, had



A2 A History of Malaya

been given up, and the future in this respect seem to Tie with:
Penang.

The trade and the population of Penang increased
steadily, but it did not show the same spectacular growth ag
Singapore, which began in 1819 and soon overtook the olde
settlement. The naval dockyard never became a reality. Ther
was a lack of suitable hard timber from any source nearej
than Burma. The British naval victory over the French af
Trafalgar in 1805, the very year of the Penang Presidency,
greatly reduced the dangers of French sea power for thy
future, Although Penang had a good harbour, it was foun
to be unsuitable for the construction of dockyards. There w.
a lack of skilled engineers and craftsmen, and in any ca
there was the question of expense. This new administratior
in itself was a top-heavy burden on Penang’s economy.

Among the new officials who arrived at Penang in 18
was a young Assistant Secretary, Thomas Raffles by nam
At the age of twenty-four he wa just beginning his career
the East after serving in the Company’s London office fro
the age of fourteen. His appointment at Penang was a pa
of the scheme for its expansion. Tronically, he was to discov
the possibilities of another island which would limit Penan
development.

DATES OF EVENTS

1771 Talks between Francis Light aiid the Sultan of Kedah
1772 Monekton's mission to Kedah

1KAS Francis Light agoin in Kedah; further talks

1786 Penang ocenpied by East Tudia Co

Francis Light firsl Superintondent

1791 { Sultan of Kedah prepared to invade Penang
Tnvasion-feet dispersed by Light
Treaty: Kedah Sultan accpts annual payment of 6000 Spat
dollars

1794 Death of Francis Light

1795 Major Macdonald bocomes Superintendent

1799 Sir George Leith becomes Licutenant-Governor

1800 Province Wellesley added to Penang by treaty

Sultan's annuity increased to 10,000 dollars
1804 RT Farquhar becomes Lieutenant-Governor
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Penang named a Presidency; P. Dundas becomes first Gover-

Raffles an Assistant Seerelary
Plan of naval hase at Penang finally abandoned



Chapter 6

MALACCA (A.D. 1795-1824) AND
SINGAPORE (A.D. 1819-1824)

mong the circumstances which led to the East Indj

Company's great hopes for Penang in 1805 must

counted the use of the port for two naval expedition;
In 1797 Penang was the rendezvous for a large expediti
sent from Indian ports with the purpose of attacking Spani
shipping at Manila, in the Philippines. Arthur Wellesley (th
Colonel Wellesley and later Duke of Wellington), who w;
with the expedition, sent to India a very favourable repon
on Penang.

Two years earlier, in 1795, a much smaller naval ex|
dition had sailed from Penang to Malacca in order to t:
over the port from the Dutch, The background for this mo
lay in Europe. Revolutionary France was at war with Britail
and Holland in 1793, and French armies invaded Holland i
the winter of 1794/5. Holland was conquered, and a pup]
republic was established under French influence. The Dut
Stadtholder,! William V, fled to England, where he presid
over a ‘Free Dutch” government in exile. The problem of wl
would control Dutch overseas interests now arose, in tl
same way that similar situations occurred with regard
both France and Holland in the Second World War. Duf
opinion was itself divided, containing both pro-French ai
pro-British elements.

William V issued from England instructions known
the ‘Kew Letters, whereby the governors of Dutch overst
territories were to admit British troops and offer no resi
tance to British warships, which should be regarded as

| His son was the first to take the title of king
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gls of a friendly power. The aim of the ‘Kew Letters’ was

went Dutch territories from coming under the control
¢ pro-French republican government. At the same time
ench were posing as the ‘friends of Holland’, who had
a the country from the ‘yoke of Orange’ and were
ing with the Dutch the benefits of the French Revolution.
yriter has neatly summed up the situation: ‘For twenty
from 1795 the unfortunate Dutch had the privilege of
regarded as friends and allies both by France and
ind; the French overran and ruled their country, and
lish took their colonies and their trade.

h garrison was installed, and a joint Anglo-Dutch ad-
istration was established under a British Resident. The
hiinfluence was a subordinate one from the first, and it
ne less and less important as the years passed, This
h occupation of Malacca was intended as a wartime
eonly, but it lasted for twenty-three years. Apart from
lived peace treaty in 1802 (The Peace of Amiens), the
spean wars continued until 1815, and Malacea was restored
 Dutch in 1818.
etrade of Malacea had dwindled during the eighteenth-
ary wars between Dutch and Bugis, but it now enjoyed a
porary revival under British control. This led to s
usy and friction with Penang, and Penang merchants useq
/ ca’s impor-
LIt was argued that to build up trade at Malacea was
to make a present to the Dutch, to whom it would
ally be restored. The heavy costs of the Malacea garrison
inistration were also pointed out. When the Company
to raise the status of Penang to a Presidency in 1805,
made the decision to divert Malacea’s trade to Penang
tually, to abandon Malacca altogether. As a pre-
fymeasure, the old Portuguese-Dutch fortifications were
lled down and the site completely eleared. The merchants
local population would then be moved to Penang, o the
e of all concerned.

LLS. Furmivall in Netharlands India, p 55
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William Farquhar, Resident at Malacca, protested againgg
this policy, and used delaying tactics. Even the Penang gove
ment remonstrated against these drastic measures, but t}
orders from India were not changed. In 1807 the work qf
demolition began on the walls and towers. Farquhar, on hjg
own responsibility, ordered the preservation of the Dutch
church and Government House (Stadthuys), as well as othep
public buildings.

At this stage of events, Raffles came to Malacca on sicks
leave from Penang.! He stayed with Farquhar while recu
perating from an illness to which overwork and general
conditions in Penang — despite the reputation it already
had as a ‘health-resort’— had contributed. During this ti
he took it upon himself to investigate the Malacca situation,
and to write a long and detailed report which he submitte
to the Governor and Council at Penang. He also despatche
a copy of it to the Governor-General at Calcutta, Lord Minto,

This report embodied a mass of evidence and reasoning
in favour of the retention of Malacca. Raffles stated that
there was a large resident population, many of whom had
been settled for generations in Malacca. This was in contrast
to the new and shifting population of Penang. The land around:
Malacca was well cultivated, the people were orderly, and
they paid their taxes. They had been promised, and weré
deserving of, British protection. The site of Malacca on the
Straits was too good to be left abandoned for ever; if tl
Company withdrew, some other ‘European enemy’ would
settle there, and this could make Malacca a threat and
danger to Penang. Not the least interesting or valuable pal
of Raffles’s report was a detailed analysis of the trade of
Malacca, especially with the many groups of peoples in island
South-East Asia.

Raffles's report had two important effects, It caused t
Directors of the East India Company to change their polic)
and to retain Malacca, and it brought Raffles to the notice d
the Governor-General, Lord Minto, who had been impressed
by the ability and the detailed knowledge shown in the

! Acearding to € E Wurtzburg he came for two periods, Novenber 18018

Jonnary 1808, and July-October 1808
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Raffles was now earmarked for promotion. Two years
r, in 1810, he was appointed by Lord Minto ‘Agent to the
ernor-General for the Malay States’ for the express
irpose of furnishing information and advice for a naval
edition against Dutch Java. Raffles had previously taken
ave from Penang in order to meet Lord Minto personally at
deutta, and to present to him a memorandum proposing

‘annexation of Java.

The idea of an attack on Java was already in the
nor-General's mind. By 1810 the French were at-
ing to consolidate their hold on Holland and their
s on Dutch possessions overseas. In 1808 Marshal
endels arrived in Java as the new Governor-General.
2 had formerly been a rebel against the Dutch House of
inge, and he had entered Holland again with the French
nies in 1795. The English Company regarded Daendels
‘a dangerous enemy.

Napoleon's control of Holland was increased by outright
anexation in 1810; for all political purposes, Holland had
come France. Meanwhile, from Réunion and Mauritius in
@ Indian Ocean, French naval vessels had been causing
damage to British shipping. Minto had received in-
ions from London to attack these bases in the Indian
, and to subdue the Dutch government, with its military
tallations, in Java.

One of the main drawbacks to an invasion of Java was
ck of detailed knowledge both of political conditions in
a and of sailing routes and suitable landing points. The
ipointment of Raffles as the Governor-General's Agent was
15 & very important one; his information and advice would
e the broad strategy of the expedition, Raffles had to
Mbine the roles of intelligence officer and diplomat; part of
‘work was to make contacts with Java and issue procla-
tions aimed at reducing any resistance from the Javanese

jon.
Raffles chose Malacca as hisheadquarters, and it was from
ere that the English invasion fleet sailed for Java in June,
11, Both Minto and Raffles sailed with it. What followed
be very briefly stated here. Dutch resistance was over-
and Raffles was appointed Lieutenant-Governorof Java,
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an office which he held for five years. During this period,
made bold and liberal reforms, and involved the Company
heavy expenditure. He became even more violently anti-Dugg
than before, and he hoped and worked for the retention of Jayg
in British hands. He also wanted to see the permanent extensig
of British influence to the islands lying eastwards of Java,
Raffles’s patron and supporter, Lord Minto, died in 18
and the new Governor-General, Lord Moira (afterwards
Marquis of Hastings), was less favourably disposed towargy
him. General Gillespie, who had commanded the troops
Java, made accusations against Raffles’s administration, a
the Governor-General, whilst leaving these open for furthy
enquiry, decided that Raffles's policies were both expensiy
and imprudent. Raffles was dismissed shortly before Javg
was restored to the Dutch, and he returned to England fg
health reasons before taking up the alternative appointmen
which was offered to him at Bencoolen.
Raffles was féted by London society, and knighted
1817 for his History of Java; meanwhile the East Indi
Company were investigating the charges brought against hin
in Java. He was acquitted of any charges which suggesta
moral injustice, and his character was cleared, but judgme:
was reserved on the wisdom of some of his measures. Hil
appointment, at Bencoolen was confirmed, and he was #
retain the title of Lieutenant-Governor. Raffles arrived if
Bencoolen in March 1818,
Much had happened during Raffles’s two-years' absend
from South-East Asia. Following the terms of the Congres!
of Vienna (1815), Dutch possessions in the East Indies hat
been restored to Holland. Java was restored to Dutch rule i
August 1816, and the Dutch again became strongly e
trenched in the Malay Archipelago. During the last quartet
of the eighteenth century there had been in Holland muchi
criticism of, and investigation into, the affairs of the Duteh
East India Company. Finally, on the last day of the year 17
the Company, which was heavily in debt, had been dissolvedy
and the administration of its property was taken over by
State.
When the Dutch came back to the East Indies in th
years following 1815, they came as direct representativess
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he home government. A large fleet and army was sent
cupy all the settlements of the old Company. The
ties with local rulers, including those which granted
monopolies, were again enforced, and new treaties
e made with other rulers. New posts were established
many islands where the Dutch had not been settled
usly.
itish ships were forbidden to trade in the Archipelago,
at Batavia, and South-East Asian traders were directed
Dutch settlements for their markets. Patrols of Dutch
g ensured that this policy was carried out.
1818, therefore, despite the long entanglement with
e and the temporary British hold on their overseas
ories, the Dutch were back in South-East Asia, and
ger there than ever before. Curiously enough, it was
policy which made this possible. The European peace
ties had as one of their main aims the prevention of
danger and aggression from France. British statesmen,
ally Castlereagh, wanted Holland to be so strong that
petition of the French invasion of 1793 would not be
ible. At the same time Britain wanted to keep Dutch
ship, and to ensure that there would be no dangerous
ce between Holland and France. It was to further the
of Britain’s interests in Europe that the Dutch were
d to restore their authority in the East Indies. The
h retained Ceylon and Cape Colony, which were known
valuable for British trade, but gave the Dutch a free
in the East Indies, which most British statesmen
ight to be of little importance. From the point of view of
Ing or Bencoolen, or even Caleutta, however, this re-
fénce of Dutch power was very alarming.
The English Company, in the light of events in recent
8, now realised that Penang lay too far to the north
est to attract a vast amount of trade from Java and
to the east of Java. Raffles had asserted as early
8 that Malacca, lying 240 miles nearer to the Ar-
lago, was better situated than Penang for the trade
slands, and that island-traders would only proceed
ang for some special advantage in a particular
ity. The Company's trade in Java and the ‘eastern
s' during the period 1811-16 had again demonstrated
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the fact that Penang could never be the centre of the Eagg
Indies trade; it lay outside the gate.

There were, therefore, two main reasons for the Engligh
East India Company's search for another port somewhere g
the south and east of Penang. These were a reluctance to seg
the old Dutch policy of control and exclusion fully in foreg
again with whatever further restrictions and pressures mighg
follow, and a desire to be more in touch with the trade of the
Archipelago than was possible at Penang. The persona]
initiative in conducting this search came from Raffles,

Raffles was very conscious of his relative isolation af
Bencoolen, but even there he was not idle. He devoted hig
energies in particular to trying to advance British influence
in Sumatra at the expense of the Dutch. This brought Dutch
complaints, and Raffles was censured by the Company for
his conduct.

In October 1818 Raffles sought and gained permission to
visit the Governor-General, Hastings, in Bengal. This meeting
was arranged in order to discuss future plans for Bencoolen;
it ended by Raffles obtaining a cautious approval from
Hastings of his plan for a base at Acheh and a new settles
ment at the southern end of the Malacca Straits. This pl
aimed to ensure the free passage of British ships in th
Malacca Straits, and also to establish a new port-of-call and
trade-centre for the Company in a situation convenient f
the Archipelago. In Hastings's written instructions to Raffle
the port of Rhio was mentioned as possessing ‘the greates
advantages’, but Johore was suggested as a possible alte
native if the Dutch had already occupied Rhio.

A small fleet was put at Raffles’s disposal, with Penang
as the assembly-point and base for the expedition. Acheh’
was to be visited first, and subsequently Raffles was
proceed southwards in the Malacca Straits towards Rhios
Raffles sailed from Calcutta to Penang in December, 1818
There he found the Governor, Colonel Bannerman, opposeé
to his sch and ing to put obstacles in his way:
Bannerman seems to have been motivated by a mixture
personal jealousy and genuine concern for the future
Penang itself. He insisted that Raffles should postpone hi¥
visit to Acheh until a reply was received to some points he
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ed to raise with the Governor-General. This had the
fect of hastening Raffles’s other—and more important—
ission towards Rhio, for he agreed to visit Acheh later, but
st sail without delay to seek the new port, whereas
annerman had hoped to keep him waiting in Penang. |

'~ Raffles was joined at Penang by William Farquhar, who
 Resident of Malacca, had recently completed the details of
inding over to a Dutch Governor and his staff. He was due
return to England on leave, but he had now been nomi-
ated by Hastings to serve as the Resident of the new set-
sment at Rhio or elsewhere, and he was to take orders
Raffles, who would remain Lieutenant-Governor of
coolen.

During his last months at Malacca Farquhar had not
idle in promoting the interests of his Company. He had
e treaties allowing Company trade with Malay rulers at
in Sumatra, and Rhio and Lingga in the Archipelago;
so had ideas about the possibilities of a British settlement
| the Carimon Islands. It had been Raffles’s original inten-
n to send Farquhar in charge of the expedition to the
ern end of the Malacca Straits, while he himself pro-
eded to Acheh. Bannerman’s tactics resulted in Raffles
aking Farquhar and sailing in the same company.
‘While he was at Penang Raffles learned that the Dutch
id already installed a Resident and garrison at Rhio; this
de him all the more impatient to explore the other pos-
ies in the Straits, and in Johore, before it was too late.
uhar's treaty with Rhio had been nullified by the arrival
iere of the Dutch. Meanwhile Hastings decided he had given
iffles too much freedom of action, and sent instructions
inst his forming any new settlement. These arrived at
nang too late.

The little fleet sailed along the coast of Siak, explored
& Carimon Islands, which were found unsuitable, and fi-
made for Singapore Island. Raffles’s knowledge of the
on of an early kingdom at Singapore may have had
e influence on his decision to consider this island, but
har had also thought of Singapore in the previous
t, when he had visited Rhio and Lingga. It seems safe
that Rhio on Bintang Island would have been their
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first choice but, as this was under Dutch control, anothep
island in the same region might offer a good alternative.

Raffles and Farquhar landed on the south coast of
Singapore Island on January 29th, 1819. The island wag
inhabited by a Malay community under the rule of the
Temenggong of Johore, a riverside group of ‘Orang Laut,
and a few Chinese settlers inland. The Temenggong re-
ceived his visitors in the Malay kampong, and here the
first negotiations began. The possibilities of Singapore with
its good harbour and wide river had been quickly noted;
there remained the important matter of a legal treaty.

Raffles and the T signed a ‘Preliminary.
Agreement’ on January 30th. This allowed the English East
India Company to establish a ‘factory’ on the island. While
this factory remained, the Temenggong would not enter into
relations with any other power, or allow it to settle within
his territory. In return, the Company would protect him and
pay him 3,000 dollars a year.

For Raffles, this treaty was a promising beginning,
but he knew well enough that the Temenggong was not a
sovereign in his own right but was subject, at least in
theory, to the Sultan of Johore. There could be no firm
legal basis for this new settlement at Singapore unless he
could obtain permission for it from the Sultan.

At this time authority in Johore was divided, and titles
did not mean what they should have meant. When Sultan
Mahmud died in 1812, his eldest son and destined successor,
known as Tunku Long, was away in Pahang. Bugis influence
secured a doubtful title of succession for Tunku Long’s
younger half-brother, Abdu'l Rahman. When Tunku Long
returned from Pahang to Rhio, he found that Abdu’l Rahman
was the nominal Sultan, living on the island of Lingga, and
that the Bugis Raja Ja'far, formerly Yam-tuan-Muda, was
the real ruler. Ja'far had given himself the title of Raja Muda,
which normally meant Crown Prince, or heir to the throne.
Unable to gain his rights against the forceful Ja'far, Tunku
Long retired to live on the island of Bulang. Here he found
himself in the company of another disgruntled prince,
Muhammad, who felt that he had a just claim to the title of
Raja Muda, and had therefore refused the offer of the office
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f Temenggong. The Temenggong who made the Preliminary
greement with Raffles (whose name was also Abdu'l
man) was a nephew of this Muhammad.
In other words, the Johore Sultan Abdu’'l Rahman was
g at Lingga with virtually no executive powers, while
Bugis so-called Raja Muda, Raja Ja'far, was living at
hio and exercising the functions of government. Tt was Raja
‘far who in August, 1818, had concluded an agreement
Farquhar to allow English East India Company trade
ithin his territories. Three months later he had concluded
| agreement with Farquhar to allow English East India
lompany trade within his territories. Three months later he
concluded a treaty with the Dutch which allowed a Dutch
ident and garrison at Rhio, and declared only Rhio and
gga to be free ports. Elsewhere in Johore trade was to be
Pen only to Dutch and local vessels. Meanwhile, in the
ckground, there was Tunku Long at Bulang,! whose real
iims to be Sultan were known to both Raffles and Farquhar,

Most writers have placed Tunku Long at Rhioin 1819, but,on other evidenee,
| have been at Bulang
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From Singapore, two vessels departed. One was ap
English ship with Farquhar on board, sailing to Rhio; the
other a Malay boat with two messengers from th
Temenggong, sailing to Bulang. At Rhio, Farquhar wag
unable to obtain permission for the Singapore settlemeng
from Raja Ja'far on account of his fear of the Dutch; ip
private, Ja'far is said to have asked for British help tqy
drive out the Dutch, and to have promised to confirm thy
Singapore situation when this was done.!

Raffles had not expected success from Farquhar’s journey,
He pinned his hopes on the Malay mission to Bulang, who
purpose was to invite Tunku Long to come to Singapore and
be recognised by Raffles as the true Sultan of Johore. Sub-
sequently, the new Sultan would be asked to discuss term
for the trading base. The Temenggong was a supporter
Tunku Long, and the Malays on Singapore could be relied on!
to follow the Temenggong's lead.

Tunku Long arrived without delay, and agreed to Raffles's’
scheme. With all the ceremony that could be mustered, he:
was named and greeted as Sultan Hussein of Johore. All thi
was highly irregular, of course, but the reigning Sultan, Abdu'l
Rahman, had also been installed in an irregular way, no
regalia having been handed over to him. Raffles acted on his!
own initiative in ‘proclaiming’ this new Sultan of Johore.

On February 6th the second treaty was signed, this time,
between the Sultan, the Temenggong and Raffles. The Com-
pany was given the right to build a factory’; the Sultan an
the Temenggong agreed to make no treaty with any other:
European or American power. The Sultan and the
Temenggong were to be protected whilst they remained at
Singapore, but the Company did not commit itself to inter-
ference in the internal affairs of Johore, or to maintaining
the Sultan’s authority by force of arms. The Sultan was t0
receive an annual pension of 5,000 dollars, and the
Temenggong one of 3,000 dollars. In addition, the Temenggong
was to receive half the dues paid by Asian vessels for the useé
of the port.

' C. E. Wurtzburg, Raffies of the Eastern Isles, p. 490
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the day following, Raffles left Singapore for Acheh,
he obtained a treaty of alliance which brought no
! ive results, and finally he arrived back at Bencoolen.
ar was left to develop and, if necessary, procecl

e future of Raffles's settlement was by no means
cared at this stage. Its success or failure under normal
ons would have depended on many factors. The geo-
jeal importance of Singapore had still to be proved.
would depend also on the granting of favourable
jons for traders and settlers, and the effective
nance of law and order. Conditions at Singapore were,
ever, not normal, because there was a great deal of
yosition to Raffles’s coup, and there were serious dangers

e survival of the port which he later called his ‘political

om Sultan Abdu'l Rahman there was little to fear. He
d virtually no authority and apparently no desire for it.
had been forced seven years before by the Bugis Yam-
Muda to take a title to which he did not aspire and for
ich he was not prepared. His father had destined him for
eligious life.

‘Raja Ja'far was a much more forceful character, but he
ed to change sides, so far as the English and the Dutch
ére concerned, according to expediency. Hussein's protection
e British was, in any case, limited to Singapore, and
fore offered no immediate threat to his position at Rhio
did, however, register his protest, and take steps to
e Abdu'l Rahman’s title more secure

‘The main danger came from the Dutch. The name of
affles was already only too bitterly familiar to them, and
i8 latest escapade of his amounted, in the Dutch view, to
“Itrusion into an area where they had exclusive treaty
hts. From Batavia, and from Malacea, they demanded the
mplete withdrawal of the Singapore settlement, and, failing
, threatened to use force.

The whole matter depended upon how much support
ffles would receive from his own Company, and here
ion was divided. Bannerman, Governor of Penang, took
e Dutch view, and wished to see Singapare abandoned by
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the Company. The Governor-General in Calcutta and hig
Council were extremely annoyed with Raffles for havi
placed them in a very delicate position. Hastings, in Par.
ticular, had stressed the importance of avoiding conflict wi
the Dutch. He had also countermanded all his earlier j
structions to Raffles, but this message had not reached Raffg
in time.
There now developed what has been described as a ‘papej
war', and, in an age of slow communications, this took a greaf
deal of time. Messages passed by sailing-ship between Batavi
Malacca, Penang, Bencoolen, Calcutta, London, and The Hague,
Two attitudes were decisive. The Dutch Governor-Gene,
at Batavia, Baron van der Capellen, hesitated to use force. Hag
hesentamilitary expedition in the early monthsof 1819, it m
surely have been successful, and it is very doubtful whether
English East India Company or the British government would
then have risked the possibility of an Anglo-Dutch war in order
to secure Singapore.
Van der Capellen relied on a withdrawal by the English
Company in the face of Dutch protests. Hastings had re
buked Raffles earlier in Sumatra for anti-Dutch measu
taken on his own initiative; it seemed likely that this would
happen again. Hastings, however, decided not to give
oo much to the Dutch protests this time. He admitted that
Raffles had exceeded instructions, but argued that to with-
draw unconditionally from Singapore on account of the Dutch’
would imply that the Dutch had rights there. This, in!
Hastings's view, was not established. He was prepared
accept a decision reached in discussions by the home au-
thorities in Britain and Holland. To this the Dutch agreed
As a precautionary measure, Hastings ordered the reluctant!
Bannerman to send troops for the defence of Singapore.
The legal battle between the British and the Dutch fo
Singapore thus dragged on, and as time passed there was
less and less likelihood that Si would be abandoned
The new settlement was quickly proving its value, and the
Singapore of 1822 or 1823 was very different from that of
1819,
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rquhar, as Singapore's first Resident, had to face
;s similar to those which had confronted Light at
ne. There were many difficulties for which his experi-
at Malacca provided no precedent, but his military career
d him to work with some sense of routine, and to make
e-spot decisions. Raffles guided general policy from
oolen, but this was inevitably a slow and spasmodic
ure against a background of uncertain sailings and
aily pressure of events in a growing pioneer community.
reover Raffles and Farquhar held different views on many
ics related to the planning and government of Singapore.
Within the first two or three years there was a great
Jux of peoples and trade into Singapore. Various population
es have been given for this period, but they are all rough
ates and tend to exaggerate. A count taken in January
gave a population between ten and eleven thousand, of
rather less than half were Malays and about a third
Chinese. Many smaller groups, both Asian and Euro-
, were also settled there. Free trade, land, British
tion, and an increasing variety of employment connected
the port, brought immigrants to Singapore.

ast India Company records show the arrivals and de-
es of shipping and smaller craft in these early years.!
Indiamen sailing between Bombay and Canton shared
e harbour with Chinese junks, boats from Siam and
gganu, and even an occasional Dutch ship from Batavia.
ler boats from the Malay Peninsula and the islands
ought their colourful produce to the riverside —tin, spices,
r, resin, rattans, hand-woven sarongs, rice, shellfish,
a-slugs, birds™nests, coconuts.

" “The history of Singapore’, says Winstedt, 'is written
ly in statistics.” By 1820 the revenues of the port were
eting the cost of administration. By 1822 the trade of
gapore exceeded that of Penang, and it continued to do so
increasing proportions. Penang continued to trade with
: Sumatran coast, especially northern Sumatra, and with

mples are given in C. 1. Cowan, 'Early Penang and the Risc of Singapore
51832, JRASMB, Vol. 23, pt. 2, 1950
aya and its History, p 60
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Burma and west Siam, as well as maintaining some dirgg
links with China. Singapore had considerable trade with Sigy
and the east coast of Malaya, and also with Java and is
South-East Asia east of Sumatra. Singapore also had
increasing importance in trade with China, especially throug
the larger vessels which came to use Singapore in prefereng
to Penang.
During a long visit to Singapore (October 1822-Jup;
1823), Raffles worked out plans for the future of the growing
settlement. A provisional code of law was drawn up, based g
English law, but with allowances for other customs. Twel;
merchants were appointed to act as magistrates for the timg
being, and a police force was established. A land-registry w,
planned, with land to be mainly leased out for a fixed period
of years. Regulations were made for the management of the
port, and a multi-racial committee was employed by Raffl
to mark out housing sites for the main communities which
came to settle in the town. Raffles's plans reflected his o
personality — a mixture of idealism and realism. He dec
penalties against any kind of slave-traffic, and also — and thi
was more controversial — against gambling-houses and
cockpits. He laid out Singapore’s first Botanical Gardens, an
established a college to be known as the Singapore Institutio
where, among other subjects, the languages of China, Si
and the Malay Archipelago, were to be taught. The Gardes
and the Institution both lacked adequate interest and suppo
after Raffles’s final departure from Singapore in July 182
but something of the spirit behind them was to be revived at
a later date.
Finally, there were still some further treaties. In June

1823 Raffles negotiated with Sultan Hussein and the
Temenggong for the Company to control all the trade of}
Singapore in return for further pensions in lieu of loss of
income. In August 1824 Crawfurd, who succeeded Farquh
as Resident, obtained from the Sultan and the Temenggo
jurisdiction over the island of Singapore for the English Ea:
India Company in return for money-sums and increa
pensions.! This treaty avoided any military or political tie
between Britain and Johore.

! 33,200 dollars and 1,300 dollars per month for the Sultan, 26,800 dollars and

700 dollars per month for the Temenggoni
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the meantime (March 1824) a treaty had been signed
don between the British and Dutch governments. This
Dutch Treaty, which had great significance in the light
r events, represented a postscript to the work of the
ess of Vienna (1814-15) in so far as British-Dut¢h
tionships were concerned. By 1824 the British Cabinet
ot so much worried about possible dangers from France
t the sharp differences of opinion which had arisen
the former wartime allies, Britain, Prussia, Austria,
i sia. From the British point of view, it seemed par-
Jarly desirable to keep and strengthen existing friend-
yet there was a danger that the Anglo-Dutch friction
in the East, for instance, by Raffles’s policies, first in
-a and then by the founding of Singapore, might cause
between Britain and Holland in Europe. The main
of the Anglo-Dutch Treaty was to settle existing
ences between representatives of the two countries, and
for the future in such a way that there would be little
of further trouble.

e clauses of the treaty fall into two categories, (I) ter-
and (2) commercial.

(I) Holland ceded to Britain all the Dutch ‘factories’
India and also ‘the town and fort of Malacca and all
dependencies’. At the same time, Holland withdrew
- existing objections to British Singapore. Britain, on
other hand, surrendered Bencoolen to the Dutch. In
ition to these exchanges of territories held by the
trading companies, undertakings were given about
commitments, The Dutch undertook to make no
her settlements or treaties with rulers in the Malay
linsula, while the British gave a similar pledge both
regard to Sumatra and to the islands south of the
its of Singapore, including the Carimon Islands and
Rhio-Lingga Archipelago. None of the trading bases
up under the terms of this treaty (Bencoolen,
cea, and, presumably, Singapore — as well as those
dia) were to be transferred to any other power,
d any were abandoned, rights of occupation passed
the other treaty-country (i.e. Britain or Holland).
ither country was to make any new settlement in
‘Eastern Seas’ without previous authority from the
e government in BEurope.
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(2) On the commercial side, vessels of each country we,
to be admitted to ports of the other at agreed and fixg
charges. Neither country was to make treaties with oth,
states which might injure the other's trade, Within the Mal
Archipelago the Dutch were not to attempt to monopolig
trade, or to discriminate unfairly against British trade.
way of exception, the Dutch would retain a monopoly of
spice trade of the Moluccas, though this no longer held
same importance for the European market as it had done
the seventeenth century. Neither side was to interfere wif
the other's trade with native ports, and both countnev. wen
to combine for the suppression of piracy.

The spirit behind the territorial clauses was one of
keeping out of each other’s way. By mutual excha
separate spheres of interest were created, and this certainly
did much to prevent territorial disputes, and remove friction,

Neither Bencoolen nor Malacca were prosperous ports
this time. Bencoolen had never been a success, whilst Malace
was overshadowed by Penang and Singapore at the northe
and southern ends of the Malacca Straits. Malacca was als
suffering from the silting-up of its river mouth. The significant
aspect of the exchange of these two ports was the fact
three British trading settlements were now spaced along the
Malayan side of the Malacca Straits, whilst the Dutch we
obliged to keep out of the Malay Peninsula. Although it wa
not consciously planned in this treaty, contact between thesel
three settlements and the Malay States was eventually
bring British political influence to bear in Malaya. On the
other hand, the exclusion of Britain from Sumatra, th
Moluccas, and islands to the south of Singapore, left a vas
island-area open to Dutch trade and influence which was
later to become the Netherlands East Indies and, eventually,
Indonesia. British relationships with the Sultan of Brunei in
the mid-nineteenth century, especially the cession to Britain|
of Labuan, gave rise to disputed interpretations of the 1824
Treaty. Britain argued that this part of Bornea lay north of
the Singapore Straits, while the Dutch claimed that Borneo,
lying partly south of Singapore, was covered by the terms of
the treaty, and that Britain was also acting in a manner
contrary to the spirit of 1824 by provoking clashes in Borneo-
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e dependencies of Malacca which were transferred to
were not clearly defined. During their tenure at Ma-
the Dutch had, from time to time, attempted to exer-
some measure of overlordship over Malay states which
 once formed part of the Malacca/Johore Empire. These
ed Johore, Selangor, and some of the Minangkabau
s. The Dutch were not concerned about conquests of
dtory; their main interest had been to secure the tin trade,
o check the power of the Bugis. Their rights of overlordship
e vague and, except in the case of disputed payments
m the little state of Naning behind Malacca, the English
st India Company made no serious attempt to define or
loit these rights.
Johore itself was divided by the terms of the treaty: i
perhaps be more accurate to say that the existing
on was confirmed and made permanent. Singapore
ed British. Mainland or Peninsular Johore lay within
British sphere. There was a Sultan under Dutch influ-
te in the Rhio-Lingga Archipelago, and both a Sultan and
enggong on Singapore Island. The Bendahara followed
own destiny as ruler of Pahang, although some attempts
e still to be made to combine Johore and Pahang under
ruler. Mainland Johore (that is, the modern state of
e) was to be the subject of a long dispute between the
of Sultan Hussein and that of the Temenggong Abdu’l
hman.

In Notes attached to the Treaty both Britain and Holland
pressed the hope that there would be cordial friendship
M co-operation between the two powers in the East. This
i8 perhaps too much to expect, for old feelings and attitudes
hard; the British in particular complained that the Dutch
Bmpered their trade in the Archipelago wherever possible,
hile the Dutch protested equally vigorously that these
irges were untrue. The treaty was however undoubtedly
onsible for reducing the number of clashes between the
powers, and for limiting the possibilities of another
iNgapore ‘situation’.
The real significance of the treaty lay not in its intentions
in its long-term results. Although it was not consciously
seen in 1824, the Anglo-Dutch Treaty anticipated the
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pattern of British and Dutch colonies and protectorates j
the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. It also cop
firmed the existing political barriers between eastern Sumatgy
and the west coast of Malaya, and between the Joho;
mainland and Singapore on the one hand, and the islands ¢
the Rhio-Lingga group on the other.

1795
1805-8

1808
1811
1818
(1811-16
1818

1819 {

1823

1824 (March)
1824 (August)

A History of Malaya

DATES OF EVENTS

English ‘capture’ of Malacea from the Dutch
Policy of abandoning Malacca, in the interests
of Penang.

Raffles’ report on Malacea

Malacea used as base for invasion ol Java.
Malacea restared to the Dutch.

Raffles remains Lieutenant-Governor of Java.)
Raffles bewomes Licutenant-Governor of
Bencoolen.

Founding of Singapore by Raffles.

Preliminary Agreement and treaty with Sultan
Hussein.

Ralfles’s second treaty with Sultan Hussein and
the Temenggong,

Anglo:Dutch Treaty, or Treaty of London
Crawfurd's treaty with Sultan Hussein and
the Temenggong.




Chapter 7

SIAM, THE MALAY STATES, AND
THE STRAITS SETTLEMENTS
A.D. 1817-1863

ingapore from its beginnings as a trade settlement
had a Resident responsible to the Governor and Council
of the East India Company in India. At first the
re Resident took orders from Raffles at Bencoolen,
er Raffles departure for England, in 1824, he was in
¢t contact with India. Malacca, from the date of its
fer by the Dutch in 1824, was also a Residency linked
th India.

e East India Company decided to unite the ad-
inistration of the three settlements, so in 1826
cca and Singap became dependenci of the
dency of Penang. The Governor of Penang now
the responsibility for the three settlements, al-
gh each, including Penang, had its own Resident
cillor. This arrangement lasted only for four years.
e Presidency of Penang was a heavy financial burden
e Company. The important entrepot and naval station
had been hoped for in 1805, when this Eastern Presi-
had been established, had never materialised, and the
of Singapore brought rumours of econon to Penang,
26, when Malacea and Singapore were made dependen-
B8 of Penang, only Singapore, of the three, was paying its
ay. The Governor-General, Lord Bentinck, visited Penang
1829 and was disturbed by the number of top-ranking
als, with their high salaries. In 1830 Penang was reduced
e status of a Residency. Its administration was reduced
together with Malacca and Singapore, it now becane
tly dependent upon India. The three settlements had
e three separate Residencies.
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For convenience, however, it was decided that one of )
three settlements should have a central Chief Resident,
Governor, The claims of Penang were put forward as bein,
the oldest settlement, and those of Malacca because of jj
central position between the other two. Finally, howevep
Singapore was chosen because of its sound economic congj,
tion and its continued rapid ion. When this ch 5
was made, in 1832, Singapore’s chief official was given
old Presidency title of Governor, while Penang and Malaces
had Resident Councillors. The three settlements still
mained only Residencies, taking policy instructions fro
India, but the Governor of Singapore had a central respoy
sibility for all three. It was from about 1832 that the te
‘Straits Settlements’ was commonly used and the chief offici:
at Singapore was known as the Governor of the Strai
Settlements.

While these administrative changes were taking place,
the Malay states of Kedah, Perak, and, to a lesser degre
Selangor, were feeling the pressure of Siam,

The question of Siamese claims to suzerainty over Kedal
has been referred to in an earlier chapter.! By the early ye
of the nineteenth century Stam, under the rule of the Chaks
dynasty, had become a powerful state with its capital af
Bangkok. Although there were wars with Burma from 1785,
these had been mostly reduced to raids and skirmishes, with
the Burmese held in check. To the east, Siam made successfi
military and diplomat‘c moves to gain control of large areas’
of Cambodia.

This resurgence of Siamese power began to make itself
felt southwards into Kedah. It was not just a matter of th
regular payment of the ‘Bunga Mas'; Siam also demande
armed boats and supplies of rice faor military operations
against the Burmese along the west coasts of Burma an
Siam. The Siamese regarded the Malay states which lay
close to their own frontiers als, whose foreign relations
were to be handled by Bangkok, and whose rulers had to be
confirmed in office by the Siamese Government. The Sianmese
had possibly not forgiven Kedah for ceding, first Penang ands

{See Chapler 6
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r, Province Wellesley, without reference to the Siamese
They also suspeeted the reigning Sultan of Kedah,
d Taju'd-din (1798-1843), of intriguing with Burma
8inst them.

In order to strengthen the Siamese position in Kedah
1, at the same time, to extend Siamese influence further
Uth in the Peninsula, Bangkok ordered the Sultan of Kedah
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in November, 1816, to invade the state of Perak and arrang
there for the collection of the ‘Bunga Mas' tribute. Thy
represented an act of pure aggression, because Perak wayy
independent of Siam and there was no quarrel between th
two states. Ahmad Taju'd-din reluctantly obeyed the ordey;
but left a record of his own feelings. ‘It greatly afflicts me tgf
execute this.order, he wrote, ‘It is not with my good will thaf
1 attack Perak, nor at all my wish to become the enemy g
that Raja, but only to avert mischief from my country'!

During 1817 Kedah forces were busy in Perak. The Sultag
of Perak was deposed, and the Raja Muda was appointed t
act as a viceroy under the general superintendence of the
Sultan of Kedah, The ‘Bunga Mas' tribute was sent to Si
from Perak in 1819, In complying with Siamese orders
however, the unfortunate Taju'd-din had brought no relief tg
his own state, While the operations in Perak were continuing
he was being asked for warboats and rice by Siam, and
was ordered to ensure that no rice from Kedah went
Penang.

This cold war between Siam and Kedah reached a crisi
in 1821, In that year the Sultan of Kedah was summoned in
person to Bangkok. The Siamese were not satisfied with the
conduct of affairs in Perak; further demands on Ahmad
Taju'd-din for war-supplies had not been met, and repo
had reached Bangkok that the Sultan had been in contad
with Siam’s enemy, Burma. The summons to Bangkok meant
that the Sultan would be required to answer charges andj
fearing for his liberty, and possibly his life, Taju'd-din refused
to go.

Siamese reaction was swift and violent. A Siamese
under the command of the Raja of Ligor (known as the
Phya, an official of the Siamese government) invaded Ked
In a short campaign the country was laid waste with grea
loss of life and many atrocities. Kedah Malays sought re
in Province Wellesley and the island of Penang, and the
Sultan himself crossed the strait from Prai and asked for
protection of the Penang government. Kedah's military

1R, 0. Winstedt and R-J. Wilkinson, ‘A History of Perak', JRASMB, Vol
pt. 1 p 64
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edness and lack of a defensive alliance with some
er power had led to the tragedy of this invasion,
11y, the East India Company, which had refused such
ary pact, now found itself in the role of protector to
Taju'd-din.
hese events caused alarm in Penang. The Siamese had
d control of Kedah, and across the strait from Penang
ie Siamese fleet. The Chau Phya sent a haughty message
Governor of Penang, demanding that the Kedah Sultan
ld be surrendered to him, and threatening to break off
and friendly relations if this were not done. Governor
lips refused this demand but, at the same time, was not
ed to meet the Sultan’s request for military forces to
him in Kedah.
[he Penang government was faced by a dilemma. It
 soldiers to Province Wellesley to check Siamese troops
n penetrating there in pursuit of fugitives. The tension
een Penang and Kedah, however, still remained. Trade
§ disrupted; the Siamese could prevent essential food-
from reaching the island, and there was a possibility
er Siamese aggression from Kedah against Province
sley, or against Penang itself. Siam now seemed to
an opportunity of nullifying the cession of Penang
y-five years previously. To add to the worries of the
ing government, Taju'd-din, unable to get help from
“Company, was corresponding with Burma and Selangor
. combined invasion of Kedah, The Penang government
even less anxious to have Burmese influence in Kedah
n Siamese. Quite apart from the Kedah situation, the
g government had also been concerned for some time
h to increase trade with Siam, and to establish more
ourable customs regulations there.
n the question of trade, Penang made representations
ngkok in 1818 and 1819, and sent an unofficial agent
321. Acting on reports and advice from Penang, the
or-General in India also sent an ambassador to the
of Siam in 1822. The man chosen was John Crawfurd,
holar, knowledgeable on Malayan affairs and later to
Ome Resident at Singapore. The aim of this Crawfurd
8ion was principally to establish good relations between
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the Company and Siam, to obtain Siamese acknowled;
of the Company's right to Penang, and to seek ways
means of fostering a peaceful and expanding trade bet
the two. A secondary motive was to seek the restoratig,
the Sultan of Kedah. Further, the mission was to be
fact-finding nature, for the Company’s knowledge of Sia
affairs was very vague.

Crawfurd achieved little success, finding the Siamese
bargainers, while he himself was not a great diplomat.!
came away with the impression that the Siamese had
knowledged the fact of a British Penang, but with no
agreement either on this issue or on trade. The Siamese,
from agreeing to restore Ahmad Taju’d-din, whose intrj
from Penang had angered them further, pressed for
transfer as their prisoner, and for the payment of
Company's 10,000 dollar pension to a nominee of their oy
The most valuable result of Crawfurd's mission, from
Company’s point of view, was the general information w!
he collected. This was published in book form six years la
It had the immediate effect of stressing the difficulties’
trading with Siam, and also of belittling the importance
Siam's military power.

While Crawfurd was in Bangkok, the Siamese hold
Kedah and on Perak, where Kedah officials had been repla
by Siamese or by pro-Siamese Malays, was being challen,
In Kedah the Siamese garrisons were faced by gueril
warfare, while the Bugis Sultan of Selangor was invited:
help drive out the Siamese elements from Perak. In 1
Perak was liberated from Siam, but paid instead a tribute
tin to Sultan Ibrahim of Selangor in return for his servi

During 1823 and 1824 little general change took placel
the Kedah-Perak-Penang situation, but a number of signif
cant incidents occurred. Two missions were sent by the Col
pany to the Raja of Ligor to ask for military co-operati
with the British in the Anglo-Burmese war which had j

' The Siamest fell no necd for trade with the West at this time, and
reluctant o sign treaties in which they saw political dangers. They
couraged European merchants by restrictive trade practices

* Journal of an Embassy from the Gavernor-General of India to the Cour
Siam and Cochin-China, London, 1828
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‘Neither mission was a success; it was discovered that,
case, the Raja of Ligor could take no important
s without the approval of Bangkok. At the same
Raja of Ligor was preparing to send reinforcements
h, and to invade Perak and restore Siamese supremacy
August 1824 a new Governor, Robert Fullerton,
at Penang, and he began to take a much bolder and
ependent line than his predecessors. In particular,
in favour of taking up a stronger policy with the
in order to prevent the spread of their influence in
y States, with its possible dangers for Penang. He
the Guvemur-Geneml to make further representa-
ission of Captain Henry

ey's instructions were to dlscover the Siamese atti-
the continuing Anglo-Burmese war, and also to
jion the Raja of Ligor about Kedah, and about the
bilities of a commercial treaty with Siam. He was also
jeuss a possible mission to Bangkok. While these talks
till in progress,’ Fullerton warned the Raja of Ligor
is threatened invasion of Perak and, by this time, of
r also. On his own initiative and authority, Fullerton
ed gun-boats to the Trang river-estuary in May 1825
eck the sailing of a fleet of 300 war-vessels down the
oast of the Peninsula, This was a piece of sheer bluff,
worked; the sea invasion was called off.

he Raja of Ligor now made plans to control Perak and
r by sending armies overland. The Sultan of Perak
arlier been persuaded by Siamese envoys to write to
sking for assistance against Selangor. It was in this
phere of threatened attacks on Perak and Selangor
urney talked to the Raja of Ligor in July 1825, A
inary Treaty was drawn up. Burney was to take this
hdia, and, if it were accepted by the Governor-General,
would return to Ligor and accompany the Raja to
gkok, where the Preliminary Treaty would be used as a
negotiations to settle the questions at issue between
Lompany and Siam. By the terms of this treaty, the Raja

Tney made two visits o Ligor; in January and in July-August 1825
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of Ligor promised to send no Siamese forces by land or g
to Perak and Selangor; the Company promised to inte;
in Perak and Selangor by diplomacy in order to settle g
quarrel between the two states. As for Kedah, the Compay
made pledges on behalf of the Sultan in return for his
toration. He was to send the ‘Bunga Mas’ every three
to Bangkok, together with 4,000 dollars a year. The
pany intended to increase the Sultan’s annual pensio;
help him pay this sum, The Raja of Ligor declared that
Bangkok agreed to this, he would withdraw his oppositig
and not attack Kedah from land or sea. The rest of the treg
dealt with a common policy for suppressing piracy,! and
possibilities of a commercial agreement at Bangkok.

Burney took this treaty to India, where its terms
agreed to, and he returned to Ligor as the Company’s eny
to the Siamese Court. The Raja of Ligor accompanied him
Bangkok and took part in the subsequent talks, While thy
events were happening, Fullerton at Penang received ne
of the Preliminary Treaty, which he described as ‘extres
satisfactory’, and he sent John Anderson, Secretary to
Penang Government, on a peacemaking mission to the Sultas
of Perak and Selangor. Anderson was well received in bol
states. Sultan Ibrahim of Selangor agreed to withdraw
Bugis contingent, which was stationed in Perak under Ra
Hassan. He also agreed to regard the River Bernam as i
frontier between Selangor and Perak, and to make no fu
claims to suzerainty or tribute in relation to Perak. St
Abdullah of Perak accepted the same river-boundary, 8
undertook not to interfere in the affairs of Selangor. He's
retained some fears of the Siamese, and was willing to
the ‘Bunga Mas' in order to avoid the fate of Kedah, if
Penang government advised him to do so.

Perak’s fears of Siamese activities were not without caus
Within a few weeks of signing the Preliminary Treaty ¥
Raja of Ligor sent a small force to Perak to assist the Sult
in his government. The object was to establish a domi
pro-Siamese faction around the Sultan, and to gain Sia
control by diplomatic pressure. Evasive answers were giv

ol

! This appearedcommonly in such treatics andwas Tittle more than a for
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+ when Fullerton protested from Penang at this
violation of the Preliminary Treaty.

ey’s mission to Bangkok lasted from the end of 1825
e 1826. He had instructions both from India and from
The Governor-General stressed the main aims of
ion as the restoration of friendly relationships be-
i the Company and Siam and, in particular, an assurance
Siamese government that recent British victories in
inglo-Burmese war did not indicate any plans for the
n of British power in Siam or the Malay Peninsula.
jssues such as a commercial treaty, the restoration of
ltan of Kedah, or the independence of Perak and
or, were all subsidiary, and were left to Burney's dis-

Fullerton, who was invited by the Governor-General to
ss his views, made a very different approach. He in-
Burney to put the question of the Malay States first
remost, and to take a strong line against Siamese
ns and pretensions. In the cases of Kedah and Perak,
e concessions might have to be made, but the negotia-
should be aimed at improving their status as much as
le. If complete independence could not be gained for
Siamese claims should be limited to the sending of
unga Mas'. No Siamese claims to interfere in any other
ay states should be allowed.
urney was faced not only with this problem of conflicting
ies, but he was given no authority to threaten the use
ree, and he had little to offer by way of conciliation. His
ion would have been much stronger had the Company
ered him to offer Siam something from the recent
sh conquests on the Tenasserim coast of Burma. The
nese were extremely suspicious of every proposal, and
treaty which was finally arrived at was a masterpiece of
ess and ambiguity.
is Anglo-Siamese Treaty, or Treaty of Bangkok, was
in June 1826, Its main terms were as follows:
e Siamese were to remain in control of Kedah. Sultan
d Taju'd-din was not to be allowed to live in Penang,
ince Wellesley, Perak, Selangor, or Burma. The English
rtook ‘not to permit’ the ‘former governor' (i.e. ex-Sultan)
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of Kedah or any of his followers to attack Kedah or any othey
Siamese territory.

The Siamese engaged not to ‘go and molest, attack gy
disturb' Perak and Selangor, and the English also undertogl
not to trouble Perak, and to ensure that Selangor did ng
attack Perak. In the case of Perak, however, certain openingg
were left to Siam. The Company promised not to interfere
Perak and Siam wished to send each other diplomatic mi;
sions of up to forty or fifty men, and also undertook not
prevent the Sultan of Perak from sending the ‘Bunga Mas’
Perak, ‘as heretofore’, if he wished to do so. i

Two other Malay states were mentioned — Kelantan ang
Trengganu. The Siamese intention was to show these t
states as tributaries with which Siam would allow som
English trade. Burney's idea was to imit Siam’s relationshipy
with Kelantan and Trengganu to the customary tribute g
the ‘Bunga Mas'. In the event of further Siamese interferen
as had recently happened in Kedah and Perak, the Company
could conclude that commerce had been obstructed or in:
terrupted, and take what action it chose, on the grounds of
a broken treaty. This clause about Kelantan and Trenggan
was so delicately worded that it could be interpreted in
completely opposite ways, with scope for some other shades!
of opinion between them.

In addition, there was a commercial agreement concernin,
trade between English and Siamese territories. Its provision
went some way towards reducing taxes, and standardisinj
British trade with Siam, but they tended to be circumvented
afterwards.

The treaty was ratified in India, but it was subjected
much criticism in Penang, especially by Governor Fullerton;
In the Penang government there was a strong anti-Siamese;
group, and considerable sympathy for the Malay point of
view. Fullerton held that far too much had been conceded to:
Siam. He, of course, was left with the distasteful task of
informing Sultan Ahmad Taju'd-din that the Company could:
offer him no further support in his attempts to regain Kedahy
and that he must remove himself from Penang. Burneys
against whom this criticism was directed, defended himse!
by stressing, first of all, the difficulties which he had encoun-
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ed in making any treaty at all with the Siamese. The fate
and its Sultan had been an essential condition for
concessions elsewhere. Taju'd-din had plotted with
’s enemies — Burma and Selangor— and the Siamese
insistent tHat he should live somewhere where he could
em little harm. Selangor’s independence had been
imed, and Perak’s independence, apart from minor
ions, was also clear. As to Kelantan and Trengganu,
had worded this clause himself so as to appear to
Siamese pretensions and yet give the Company a legal
for taking action, if necessary, against any further
ese interference in these two states.

or Burney, it may be said that it was a considerable
ment that he had secured a treaty at all. As far back
88 Siam had ceased to have diplomatic relationships
‘Western countries, and only a small beginning to resume
contacts had been made during the reign of Rama II
9-24). Burney's treaty of 1826 was the first one which
had granted to a Western envoy since the seventeenth
. His success was due to the moderateness of his
sts, to his patient diplomacy, and to his study and use
e Slamese language. Before he left Bangkok Burney was
en the unusual honour of a farewell audience by King
1 11

other reason for the treaty lay in the Siamese fear of
tish intentions at the conclusion of the First Anglo-
fmese War in 1826. In this sense, the treaty was an early
ition of a policy of calculated concessions which Siamese
were to make to Western countries later in the cen-
o 'I‘o the Siamese the Burney Treaty was a political
Cess y They conceded only what they thought to be es-
in order to preserve peace and independence.!

edah was thus left to its own fate — a curious
ipt to the early negotiations for Penang. Selangor’s
dom from Siamese claims was safeguarded. Perak had
ial guarantee, but the Siamese expected its Sultan
98 willing to send the ‘Bunga Mas', The reference to
“Omatic missions to and from Siam seemed to be closely

'W. Vella, Siam under Rema I (1824-1851), pp. 120-1
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connected with this idea, as well as creating opportunitig
for a further expansion of Siamese influence in Per

What happened in Kelantan and Trengganu would g
pend upon their own powers of resistance to Siam, and
what strength the rival interpretations of the 1826 Tre
were supported. )

So far as Perak was concerned, Fullerton decided to s
assurances of support in case of Siamese aggression. In p
ticular, Fullerton suspected the activities of the Raja of Lij .
whose tactics since the Preliminary Treaty of 1825 K
amounted, in the Governor's view, to intimidation of the Pg
Sultan. Captain James Low, with forty sepoys and a
warship, was sent as special envoy to Perak. Low’
structions were to give the Sultan verbal promises of Brifj
support, to discover what Siamese agents were in Perak
warn them to leave, and to advise the Sultan to put in it
his wish to be independent of Siam.

Captain Low was a strong supporter of the anti-Siam
group in Penang, and finding that Siamese embassies 8
even troops were normal visitors to Perak, he proceeded
enthusiasm to exceed his instructions. He persuaded
Sultan to remove from office Malay chiefs who had accep
Siamese bribes. He then concluded a treaty with Su
Abdullah on October 8th, 1826, which caused protest
Siam and India, but which was defended by Fullel
Penang.

By this treaty the Sultan promised to have no poit
dealings with Siam, Ligor, Selangor, or any other e
state. He would not send the ‘Bunga Mas' or any @
form of tribute to any of these states, and no party @
any of these states should enter Perak. He would red
British assistance, as and when necessary, to car!
these promises. The Anderson Treaty of 1825 was?
firmed, and it was made clear that traders were not D
from entering Perak; the prohibitions were aimed
political interference. The Sultan offered to Britain &

of the Dindings coastline, and a number of adjacent i
including Pangkor.

This treaty ran exactly counter to the normal po
the East India Company of avoiding political commit™s
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he Malay States. The Burney Treaty of 1826 and the
on Treaties of 1825 had, of course, given the Com-
¢ ‘some respcnslblhty for the protection against Siam of

lantan and Tr but none of these
ch a ﬁn’n alliance with a Malay ruler as this treaty
ted by Low. Moreover Low had himself interfered in
irs of Perak by persuading the Sultan to change his
tration. It was a classic example of a bold policy
out by a man on the spot, which would not be fa-
ly viewed by a distant Governor-General in Council in

v committed a further act of interference under the
s of Fullerton, and with the consent of the Sultan of
k, when he attacked a pirate-centre on the Kurau River
captured Udin, its chief. Udin was in league with the
Ligor to stir up trouble in Perak, and Low sent him
e Raja for trial as a pirate. The Raja of Ligor claimed
Rurau was in Kedah, and that Udin was a Siamese
1, and therefore Low had violated Siamese territorial
8; moreover he denounced the Low Treaty with Perak

s from BumeP/ who now seemed to have adopted a
imese policy.! A sharp rebuke was administered by
Governor-General to the Penang government, and Low
ived heavy criticism. Pending further investigation, he
suspended from all political activity.
Fullerton defended Low's actions as well as his own. He
fed satisfactorily that Udin was a pirate who had been
by the Raja of Ligor, and that Kurau was in Perak:
biver Krian marked the joint border of Perak and Pro-
€ Wellesley. Accordingly, the Governor-General reinstated
d withdrew some of the previous censures, The 1826
with Perak was, apparently, never confirmed in In-
et on later occasions it was invoked by Sultans of Perak
juested aid, and it was taken as binding by the Com-
d the British Government,
Low Treaty successfully reinsured Perak against
e attacks or infiltrations. Kedah received no such

B8y probably saw his own treaty endangered by Low's actions in Perak
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support. Following the Burney Treaty, the Sultan of Ke
was asked to move to Malacca, but he refused to go

Taju'd-din had used Penang as a headquarters for rallyj
Malay support to his cause, and a strong rising against
Siamese in Kedah in 1831 met with success at first,
Siamese were able to reconquer Kedah largely because
Penang government patrolled the coastline to prevent gy
plies from Penang reaching the Malay rebels. Govery
Ibbetson of Penang even ordered attacks on rebel boats,
was reminded from India that the Burney Treaty did
require armed co-operation with Siam.

In 1836 Taju'd-din left Malacca on the pretext of a
to Deli in Sumatra. Instead he sailed northwards to Bry
in Perak, and began to gather a Malay force for an invasi
of Kedah. When he refused advice from Penang to ret
Malacca, two ships were sent to scatter his boats and
him back there.

Another rebellion against the Siamese in Kedah in 18
was crushed, with Penang once again co-operating i
blockade of the coast, though not this time attacking reb
craft. General opinion in Penang was very much on the sil
of the Malay rebels, but the government held itself strid
bound by the terms of the Burney Treaty to aid the Siam
against any threatened restoration of the Kedah Sul

Finally, in 1841, the Sultan sent his eldest son to Ban,
to ask for pardon and restoration. The prince took with h
a letter from the Penang government urging that this re
be accepted, and adding that Penang would not assist in #
suppression of any further rebellions in Kedah. The Raja!
Ligor was now dead and the Siamese were weary of hold
down a state which brought them no profit and a great dé
of trouble. The Sultan's submission was accepted in 18
Siamese officials were withdrawn from Kedah, and Ahmi
Taju'd-din was restored to a smaller kingdom.! One of #
areas partitioned from the old Kedah became the new Mal&

! A Siamese method of punishing & rebellious state was Lo divide it vl
separate rulers. Patani was divided for the same reasan
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f Perlis, independent of Kedah though also under
sse protection. Taju'd-din tried to compensate himself
s of territory by seizing, in 1843, the Krian district of
to the south, There followed a long dispute in which
became involved on behalf of Perak. Finally, in 1848,
the pressure of threats from Penang, the Kedah troops
withdrawn from Krian, and the matter ended there.
ly the mid-nineteenth century, Siamese influence on the
of Malaya had been restricted to Perlis and Kedah,
gent customary tokens of allegiance, but had their
Malay rulers. Perak and Selangor were independent.
wo subjects related to the Company's settlement at Ma-
bsequent to the Anglo-Dutch Treat.y of 1824, call for
e The British administration at Mal had
al with a very complicated problem of land-tenure. The
ca Territory outside the town itself was in the possession
mall group of individuals, mainly Dutch, who claimed
 of ownership. By Malay custom, however, private in-
als were only entitled to a revenue from the land,
a tenth of its productive value. The ownership of the
ay with the government, which claimed to succeed to
its of the former Malay Sultans. Since these land-
etors’ did not usually live on — or even visit — the
8 which they claimed, but ‘farmed-out’ the collection of
ths to the highest bidder, agriculture suffered. Much
ich could have been worked remained uncultivated,
e peasant tenants were often seriously oppressed by
middlemen tax-farmers. The problems which faced the
administration included the removal of the ‘pro-
by payment of compensation, the granting of legal
land, and the surveying of land. In particular, there
impossible situation whereby English law was used
By side with a system of customary Malay land-tenure.
Malay tenants were naturally conservative and suspicious
: changes which were attempted, even if these were
at the improvement of their own position. There was
& land problem in the state of Malacea at the end of the
th century.
e second subject arose from the investigation of land-
in Malacca. It centred on the relationship of the
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small Minangkabau state of Naning, about ten miles gy
Malacca town, and the government of Malacca. Naning h
been founded by immigration from Sumatra in the six
and seventeenth centuries. In the eighteenth century its chj
had acknowledged a nominal kind of overlordship to the D
at Malacea. In theory Naning was due to pay a tenth of
crops to the Dutch, but in fact this was commuted to a fi
amount of tribute which represented about a thousandth
the padi-harvest. There was little or no interference by
Dutch in the internal affairs of the little Malay state,

Lewis, a zealous Superintendent of Lands at Mal; o
and Fullerton, Governor of Penang — at a period
Malacca took instructions from Penang — combined in|
enquiry into the Naning-Malacca relationship. They cg
to the conclusion that the Naning peasant tenants w
due to pay to the Malacca administration a tenth of thi
produce, and they proposed to appoint the Naning chi
as tax-collectors, or to pay them pensions by wa;
compensation, The raayat class would not have been
off by this arrangement, because they already paid mg
than a tenth to the chiefs as well as being liable |
conscript labour and military service. These proposd
however, received no support in Naning, and Abdul S
the chief, or Penghulu, of Naning, who had a
reputation among his men, opposed the mtroduchon
such radical changes. When Abdul Said refused to pay
tenths, it was feared that the Malacca residents mig
follow his example. A small force of troops was sent to 8
capital at Taboh in 1831 to make him submit. This mar
the beginning of an eleven-months’ war, usually refert
to as the Naning War. Forces sent from Malacca suffe
from a lack of knowledge of the country, and the comp!
absence of anything resembling a road. Abdul Said
assisted for a time by Malays from the neighbouring §
of Rembau. In the end, the East India Company spé
£100,000 and engaged some 1,400 troops to win this '
Naning was incorporated into Malacca, with a Supef
tendent and village headmen responsible for the collect
of the tenths. Abdul Said was given a house in M
and a pension. The amount of revenue gained from Nanit
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cover the cost of its administration.

in , some account must be given of Siamese pressure
a Malay states which lay on the east coast. The Burney
L Treaties had checked the expansion of Siamese
on the western side of the Peninsula, but the po-
of both Kelantan and Trengganu were by no means
~ Kelantan, bordering on Siam, suffered most from
demands. In addition to the ‘Bunga Mas’, the ruler
tan was troubled by irregular demands for money or
By the 1830s Kelantan, although nominally under

ruler, was for all practical purposes almost a
state. Trengganu put up a stronger resistance and
ally independent, apart from sending the ‘Bunga
ry three years.!

Kelantan and Trengganu were mentioned in the
Treaty of 1826, but the clause was open to conflicting
etations. These east-coast states were of little interest
nselves to Penang. The trade links between the east
of the Peninsula and Singapore, together with Singa-
political supremacy, from 1832, over the other Straits
lements, caused the Singapore government, however, to
a watchful eye on Siamese activities.

e main incidents centred around a civil war in Pahang
). The Pahang ruler had the title of Bendahara, and
nominally a viceroy of the Sultan of Johore, Since the
weakening and division of Johore, however, he had
 @n independent ruler. When Bendahara Sewa Raja Ali
in Pahang in 1857, he was succeeded by his elder son,
| Mutahir. Another son, Wan Ahmad, claimed that the
dahara had intended to make the two brothers joint
He also protested that Mutahir had not appeared at
er's death-bed to receive his last wishes. Both Mutahir
i &hmad found armed supporters, and a long war of raids
‘skirmishes broke out. The Governor of the Straits Set-
ients, Colonel Cavenagh, concerned by the disruption of
with Pahang, offered to mediate between the two
s. Mutahir would agree only to his brother being
ed off, a condition which Ahmad rejected.

Hing the reign of Sultan Omar (1839.76), Trengganu ceased for a time (o
[the ‘Bunga Mas', but the practice was revived later,
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In 1861 Ahmad was driven out of Pahang and magg}
way to Bangkok to seek help. At the Siamese court g
was another political refugee, Mahmud Muzaffar Sha]
Sultan of Lingga. Mahmud was a descendant of Sultan A}
Rahman, and had been deposed by the Dutch in 1857,
constantly intriguing against them, Reviving the old
claims over Pahang, he sought to become Sultan of Pa
but, gaining no support, he attached himself to Wan Ahmg
side to further his own ends.

The p in Bangkok of a cl to the thron
Johore and another to the Bendaharaship of Pahang
the Siamese government an opportunity for interfering
Pahang. In 1862 a Siamese warship, accompanied by a fi
of small boats, landed these two princes in Trengganu
taking-off place for operations in Pahang.

Three other Siamese warships arrived at about the g
time. The ruler of Trengganu, who had previously given st
port to Ahmad, had managed to keep himself independ
Siam apart. from the customary payment of the ‘Bunga )
and the idea that the Siamese Ministers intended to pl
the ex-Sultan of Lingga on the throne of Trengganu has|
been established. At this juncture, all that can safely be 8
is that Siam was helping both Ahmad and Mahmud, i
waiting on events in Pahang.!

Governor Cavenagh had enquiries made in Bangkok a
the Siamese moves, but he received disarming replies.
was suspicious of Siamese intentions, and regarded the 18
Treaty as a statement of the independence of Kelantan
Trengganu. Pahang, which was not mentioned in that treg
was clearly independent of Siam. Quite apart from his @
feelings, Cavenagh was pressed to take action against Ahn
and Mahmud by interested parties in Singapore. Merc!
complained of loss of trade, and Temenggong Ibrahim, ¥
himself aspired to rule over Johore and Pahang, had no ¥
to see the ex-Sultan of Lingga making any similar cll
Cavenagh obtained authority from the Governor-Geners!

' Cf. L. A. Mills, ‘British Malaya, 1824-1867' p. 165, and N. Tarling, ‘Bri
Policy in the Malay Peninsula and Archipelago’, JRASMB, Vol. 30,
1957, pp. 70-1.
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v at, measures seemed to him necessary to protect
interests and maintain peace in the Peninsula.
first tried to persuade the Siamese to remove the two
from Trengganu, but when these efforts failed and
rth-east monsoon was almost due, in November, 1862;
ot a warship to the Trengganu coast. When his demand
ex-Sultan of Lingga should be returned immediately
ok was refused, the fort at Trengganu was shelled.
brought no immediate results, and Cavenagh's ac-
later condemned in the British House of Cnmmons
1863, h , the S did remove Mah
m, and he mtrigued no more in the Peninsula. Two
s later, with the death of Mutahir, the Pahang civil
ered out. Ahmad succeeded to the title of Bendahara.
18 clever enough to keep on good terms with both Siam
gapore, without losing any of his independence.
years later he changed his title from Bendahara to

1863 any Siamese forward movement in relation to
alay states of the east coast came to an end. Kelantan
mained closely linked with Siam, but Trengganu
aged by Si d to steer an ind
¢, apart from the Lustomar) offerings. In a later chapter

relations with these Malay states about the end of
eteenth century, and the transfer of their protection
in 1909, are discussed.'
possibility of some form of Siamese control over the
s of the Malay Peninsula was not a remote one in the
th century. The check to Siamese expansion came
from the Straits Settlements, when independent ac-
taken by officials who risked censure from India
London. Another factor was the will to independence
by the Malay rulers themselves. Persistent though
[ were, the Siamese tended to withdraw in the face of
ed opposition.

DATES OF EVENTS

Perak invaded by Kedah on Siamese orders,
‘Bunga Mas’ sent by Perak

" See Chapter 13
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1821
1822
18245
1825
1826
1831-2
1842
1858-64
1862

1863

A History of Malaya

Kedah Sultan summoned to Bangkok
Kedah invaded by Raja of Ligor
Crawfurd mission to Bangkok

Perak liberated from Siamese with Bugis help.

Further moves by Raja of Ligor for invasions of Perak
Selangor, checked partly by Governor Fullerton of Pena
Preliminary Treaty between Burney and Raja of Ligor.
Anderson Treaties with Perak and Selangor.

Burney mission to Bangkok. Anglo-Siamese Treaty. Low
with Pérak.

Naning War in Malacca.

Kedah Sultan restored: Perlis created.

Civil War in Pahang.

Siamese fleet at Trenggauu

Trengganu fort shelled.

Wan Ahmad becomes Bendahara of Pahang.




Chapter 8

THE MALAY STATES IN THE
MID-NINETEENTH CENTURY

eography determined the pattern of settlement in
alaya, and the typical kingdom was based on set-
tlements along a major river valley. The capital lay
r the river estuary, where the ruler could control the
nents of people into and out of the state, organise
ence against any enemy, and levy tolls and taxes on
s and exports. The sea and the rivers provided the
n. and often the sole, means of communication, and jungle,
untain, or swamp acted as natural barriers between the
ered areas of riverside settlements.
he population of these river-states was small and scat-
in 1850 it may have been about 300,000 in all the
together. The kampong was the unit of social life, and
state-capitals had a kampong-like appearance, with the
on of one or two larger and more imposing buildings
as the Sultan’s residence and mosque.
ach state was a world unto itself, and there was no idea
& larger Malay world, or of a union of Malay states. There
d, of course, been an earlier tradition of a dominant state
southern part of the Peninsula which demanded tokens
iance and tribute from the other settlement areas.
n the fifteenth century, and, to a lesser extent, Johore
sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, had exercised some
ity over less powerful neighb . By the mid-ni h
,h , this situation was ch d.! A Malay state
imes exercised temporary control over its neighbour, as

101d claims were sometimes revived, but not usually with much effect
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in the case of Kedah and Perak in 1821, or Selangor and Pergl
in 1822, and some states were subject to a measure of forej,
overlordship from Siam. The typical relationship, however,
one state to another was that of isolation and self-containmeg
Broadly speaking, each state went its own way, and thoug
there were plenty of wars and disturbances, these were usug]}
civil wars arising from domestic disputes within the stag
themselves.

Even among the Malay population the sense of commey
racial feeling did not extend beyond the state. A Malay
another state might be regarded as a foreigner, altho
Islam didprovide a common bond. Many Malays were dg
scendants of immigrants from Sumatra, The majority of the
were Minangkabaus, but there were also Korinchi, Rawg
Mandiling, and Batak groups. In addition, there were Malay
from Acheh and Java as well as Malays of old Penins
stock. There was a small but influential group of Arabs an
people of mixed Arab-Malay descent, and there were Bi g
whose forefathers had come from Celebes. Despite a commo
general culture, the Malay population was very much aw;
of the differences between these groups as shown in th
languages and customs.

Small Chinese groups existed in most states before
nineteenth century; they lived sometimes in separate
lages known as ‘Kampong China’. From the 1820s onwards
a very much larger Chinese immigration movement wi
taking place in Sungei Ujong, Selangor, and Perak. This wi
associated with the development of large-scale tin-mini
The bigger Chinese mining 1 not only ch d th
balance of population in these areas to something like eq
numbers of Malays and Chinese; they also represented
large element living in, but outside the normal political ad<
ministration of, a Malay state.

The Indian element in the population was small, 8
was mainly linked with trade at west-coast ports. It was the
development of public services and plantation agriculturé
towards the end of the nineteenth century which brough
about large-scale immigration from India and Ceylon.
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e government of the Malay States was organised on
sonal and autocratic lines.! The formal head of the
‘was the Sultan, a title used in all states except Negri
pilan, which had an elected Yang-di-Pertuan Besar, and
ang, whose ruler still bore the title Bendahara. The Sultan
lised the unity of the state, and had a duty to preserve
made all major appointments and was the source of all
ity; he alone, within the state, had powers of life and
His person was sacred, and his public appearances
surrounded by ritual and ceremony. He was entitled to
test respect, and when a new Sultan was installed
chiefs of the state made a formal and humble public act
ubmission to him.
is necessary, however, to distinguish between the Sul-
s high position of honour as head of the state and the
lities of government. The Sultan was responsible for de-
ge and foreign policy, but the government of the state
If was largely in the hands of the appointed chiefs. The
also had a say in determining the succession. A new
1 would normally be a member of the royal family of
state, but his relationship to the previous Sultan could
. Any aspirant to the throne needed the support of the
fs. In practice, the chiefs would be disposed to support a
ant, who, as Sultan, would interfere as little as possible
their own rights and privileges. In Perak there existed
thole framework of offices through which a potential Sultan
18 expected to pass before he reached the throne. At any
nt on this promotion-ladder he might be overlooked by
8 chiefs if, for any reason, they did not wish him eventually
‘become Sultan.
The state was divided out into districts usually based
sections of a river and its tributaries, or, as in the case
elangor, upon the separate river valleys of which the
e was composed. Each district was controlled by a chief
¢ authority came from the Sultan, but who was very
his own master in his own district. The revenue of the
ict came from taxes on crops and mining land, and from

& detailed discussion, sce J. M. Gullick, Indigenous Political Systems of
rn Malaya, University of London, 1956
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tolls charged on trade-goods which passed along the river jy
either direction. This revenue was the personal income g
the district chief, who was normally liable by the terms
his office to send a proportion of it in money or commodi
to the Sultan. In his own region the Sultan received
revenues in the same manner as a district chief.

From his income the chief supported many relatives.
his own aristocratic class who assisted him in one capacig
or another, and he also met the expenses of a large hous
hold. The most important item of expenditure was the upke
of a small private army of retainers who acted as a perso
bodyguard, manned the stockade from which the distriet
controlled, and accompanied the chief on his journeys.

When Munshi Abdullah, whose life had been spent
Malacea and Singapore, noted the presence of large numbeg
of armed men in the east coast states, he was probably
ferring to these bands of armed retainers, who were j
standing around, prepared for trouble when it arose.

The chief was responsible for the defence of his o
district and also for the maintenance of law and order. Ea
village had its own headman, or penghulu, who dealt
minor offences, but any serious trouble was brought to 8
chief's notice. He could either act as judge himself, or delegal
a kinsman to act on his behalf. There were no regular
courts or codes of law. The courtroom was, as likely as nf
the house of the chief, and decisions were made according
custom, but with wide powers of discretion in the hand
the chief, who usually kept the proceeds of fines and cal
fiscations which he had ordered. Only the Sultan had
right to order a death-penalty, but even this power
usurped at times by the chiefs.

Malay society was divided into two clearly marked grt
a class of nobles and a class of subjects (raayat). The nol
itself was a hierarchy which was sub-divided into many gra€
from the Sultan downwards, but it stood apart from!
peasantry, and held important privileges and exemp!
This nobility included relatives of the Sultan and mem
of families who could claim the right to fill certd
chieftainships. This royal and non-royal nobility was b
almost entirely on the principle of birth and family desc®
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yin unusual cir , or by ional ability, could
\an born in the lower class rise to an aristocratic position.
en this did happen, the man concerned might often be an
t whose own family background was unknown. For
ir fighting ability or for their wealth as traders, some
aps of immigrants were by this time accepted as having
social status with the Malay ruling class. These included
e Achinese and Javanese, Arabs and Bugis.
the other end of the social scale was the subject class,
at. This was made up of the mass of ordinary villagers,
d in farming and fishing and living their lives, subject
force of village opinion, to the authority of the penghulu,
the requirements of the district chief. For many of
s people the Sultan was a remote figure whom they might
er see. The villages varied in size from a handful of houses
undred or more, arranged in clusters along the river
The district chief himself would live in a large village,
even the state-capital was not very different in character
this village setting. Most of the farming was of a
istence nature, and the work was done by family groups.
frequent incidence of civil war, and the demands made
chiefs for labour and supplies, discouraged the raayat
farming on a bigger scale or saving money. There was
sale of surplus foodstuffs and cash-crops, and to this
be added sometimes a small income from the collection
ale of jungle produce for export. The raayat had little
fice to give their labour in return for wages.
Pwo customs affecting the lives of the raayat were wide-
The kerah’ was a system by which the chiefs could
compulsory labour for any purpose, at any time, and
length of time. This labour might be required for the
ing of a stockade, the clearing of a river, the manning
s for a journey, or the erection of a hall or mosque.
was no payment for this forced labour, which was
d through the village headmen, but normally food
be provided for the workers. The nature and purpose
work, and the number of workers required, were
entirely at the discretion or whim of the chief.
other custom was debt-slavery, or, more accurately,
dage. When a subject was in need of money or goods,
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he went to his chief and a loan was arranged with af
date for repayment. If the debtor was unable to Tepay

man, the status of bondage would also include his wife

family and their descendants. In some cases the debtor woi
be taken into the chiefss household and provided with fy
and clothing. His services for the chief would not coun
wards the repayment of the debt, and if he was given mop
it added to the original debt. In this way, it was often quj
impossible for a bondsman to be able to save and pay o
original debt, and if he married, or his children married,
only served to increase the number of debt-bondsmen,
system provided the chiefs with a large supply of unpaj
labour for all purposes, including the domestic work of
household; it also added to the ranks of his private army
increased his own prestige. When a chief wished to
money, or was tired of his bondsmen, he could sometin
transfer them to another chief to whom they were stranges
and they might suffer by the transfer.

In much smaller numbers, there existed a class of sla
doing the same work as the bondsmen, but with no prosp
of redeeming their status except by an act of grace on
part of the chief who owned them. These slaves were
Muslims — Africans, aborigines, and Bataks.

Malay society in the mid-nineteenth century was th
composed of two extremes, a class of rulers and a class
subjects. The ruling class had wide powers in administeri
the law and in demanding services. As individuals, they h
a large retinue at their beck and call, some of whom wel
fighting-men whose services were paid for, while others
debt-bond and bond: . The social classes we
clearly apart, and there was little or no chance of a subj 4
entering the ranks of the rulers. The question arises —
what extent was the subject-class oppressed, and what mean$
if any, had this class of defending its own interests? )

In practice there were a number of checks on the poweH
of the chiefs. One who oppressed his people might find thef
drifting away to other districts. During times of civil Wé!
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village communities moved out of danger areas to set
_homes; it was a possible solution in times of genera]
. Again, dn individual, goaded too far, might ‘run
i Jeaving a trail of murdered people of either class whose
L could be indirectly ascribed to the chief. When making
'the kerah’ system, the chief had to provide sufficient
r his workers melted away. Even with his bondsmen
remember that good treatment would bring the best
. The chief could obviously commit individual acts of
sion with impunity, but to resort to a general op-
of his people would be to work against his own
sts. Their labour provided his income and maintained
josition; in time of danger they were his defence.
e power of the chiefs depended upon the strength of
lowing, and this in turn depended upon the amount
sir income. In states where there was little or no mining,
tan, who was in the best situation to profit from the
varieties of river-trade, was wealthier than his chiefs,
orrespondingly stronger. The development, in some
of large-scale tin-mining gave advantages to those
on whose land tin was found. They could obtain a
by for the tin taken from their land, a tax from the
borne tin on its way to the coast, and taxes on the
ties imported by river for the mining communities.
e development of large-scale tin-mining in the Malay
85 arose on the one hand from the existence of merchant
in the Straits Settlements, and on the other from the
prise of Malay chiefs, who invited Straits merchants to
ise the opening-up of new tin-fields in their territories.
- mining community was comparatively small, the Malay
f might take a share in the management of the mine,
in its profits. In the case of a larger community, the
would participate and profit only as a landlord and tax-

1850 the tin industry was very largely Chinese. Tt
anced by Chinese merchants from Penang, Malacca,
ingapore. For several reasons, Malay labour was not
ly available. Most Malays of the raayat class were either

ee to make a change of occupation, or were already
ficiently occupied in subsistence-farming. Malays had
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taken part in small-scale tin-mining as a part-time emplgy,
ment; generally they had no desire to make it a full-time
sole occupation, Furthermore, the new mining areas of
1840s and 1850s were in desolate, swampy places whe
there was little or no Malay settlement. The life of the Mal
was bound up in his village community on the riverside; fg
him there was no attraction in the pioneer conditions of ay
isolated mining camp.
In any case the financiers of the mining enterprises
Chinese, and they naturally appointed Chinese ma
and headmen, and Chinese agents to recruit labour. Chine
labour was obtained first from the Straits Settlements. Wh
these could no longer meet the demand, there developed
recruitment drive for immigrants from the provinces of souf
China. The large Chinese mining camps in Perak a
Selangor in the mid-nineteenth century lay outside the norma
political life of the Malay state. Under its own ‘Capitan China
the Chinese community, which was almost entirely ma
lived its own life and settled its own disputes. Its contat
with the Malay authorities was fundamentally an econom
one, and consisted in the payment of royalties or rents
the land, and taxes on the tin produced and on the co
modities imported. A political situation could — and did
arise when there were quarrels about land or taxes hetwe
the Malay chief and the Chinese miners. The Maloy chiel
also had cause for worry when disputes arose between iy
groups of Chinese miners within the same state. What
virtually a form of Chinese civil war could take place withil
the confines of a Malay state, and there was no Malay &au
thority strong enough to suppress it. A third possibility
in the event of a long drawn-out civil war between Mal
chiefs and their supporters. Either side, seeking to
victory, might enlist support from the Chinese minif
communities by the offer of rewards.
The Chinese peasants who arrived to seek a new livil
in Malaya came to make money for themselves and the
families, and not to make wars. A combination of circuft

| The Chinese had also developed their own mining techniques. See C!
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s could, however, transform a peaceful mining group
an armed and dangerous fighting force. The rough con-
s of pioneer settlements, the break with a traditional
; of life and the influence of the l'arni]y, and the tempta-
 to spend the money earned in mining tin on spirits and
pling, all contributed to an element of lawlessness. The
Jy mining camps included among their inhabitants a
tion of criminals and adventurers whose aim was to
fortune quickly by their wits, or hy methods of in-
tion. Finally, the Chinese miners settling in Malaya
were, or became, members of one Secret Society or
r. The organisation of these Secret Societies ran right
the Chinese mining industry from mine-owner to
‘humblest worker.
e Secret Society had its benevolent side, and it offered
to the raw immigrant in need of security. It guaran-
protection of his person and his interests. It gave
physical protection if he needed it, and if he died it
after his funeral and sent money to his dependents.
ted a strong bond of fellowship between a man and
e with whom he was working; they were all members of
me brotherhood. All this was very acceptable to the
i t miner. On the other hand, there was a high price
e paid. The Society demanded the utmost secrecy about
irs, To discuss these matters with non-members was
ous crime which normally carried the death penalty.
ce to the society and to its leaders had to be abso-
ind unquestioning obedience was expected. A member
be ready to take up arms at his leader's bidding, and
itack any group or individual whom the Society had
nced as an enemy. The Society held trials and passed
ient on its own members and, at times, ordered and
d out sentences of death. The political authority to which
ese mining communities in the Malay States were
in the mid-nineteenth century was the leadership of
wn Secret Societies.
ie Malay States of the mid-ni h century
ents of potential disorder. The power of the Sultan
3 his own state was often weak; many chiefs were strong,
 law unto th |ves. Disputed i were the
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most frequent causes of civil wars, and the keeping of arm
retainers and debt-bondsmen provided the chief with a py
vate army. The development of large Chinese mining
tlements created new problems of law and order, for whi
the existing political and judicial structure of the Malay stag,
had no ready answer.

It is not possible to trace evenly the course of events i
every Malay state. Earlier in this book emphasis was placed
on the Malay kingdom of Malacca, and its suceessor-state
Johore. Later, those states which had some connection with
Portuguese or Dutch Malacca, or with the Bugis came undy
our serutiny. More recently, those states associated” wij
Siamese claims or influence from the Straits Settlement
held our attention. By the end of the nineteenth century all
the Malay States were under some measure of Siamese o
British influence or control; it therefore seems convenient
here to attempt a brief survey of the States as they were by
the 1850s or 1860s,

All except one of the names of the states which later
became Federal Malaya were in use in the mid-nineteen i
century. The exception was the little group of states lying:
between Malacca, Selangor, Pahang, and Johore, now known
as Negri Sembilan. The nucleus of the present nine states.
was there at this time, consisting mainly of inland states
which had been settled by Malays from the Minangkabau’
area of Sumatra, from the fifteenth century onwards. This!
immigration had taken place over a long period and in small
numbers, and the earliest immigrants had come to terms
with a small number of Malacca chiefs who were already
established in the same area. The Minangkabaus were, for
the most part, people skilled in agriculture, and these states
were essentially inland settlements, They had access to the
Malacca Straits along the Linggi and Muar rivers. A loose
form of political confederation had existed from 1773, when
the tradition of a leader elected from one of four states be-
gan. This federal Head of State, or Yang-di-Pertuan, was
probably intended at first as a war-leader for the purpose of
a common defence against the Bugis. Each state, however,
still had its own ruler, jealous of his own powers.
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e two most prominent Minangkabau states at the time
survey were Sungei Ujong and Rembau, and the Linggi
ed part of the boundary between them. The Linggi valley
one of the western areas of the Malay Peninsula where
osits had been found, and Chinese tin-miners weré at
up-river in Sungei Ujong. The mining and export of
s tin brought profit to Chinese towkays in the Straits
lements, and represented an important source of income
the Malay chiefs in whose territory lay the mines or the
along which the tin passed by boat to the coast. The
alay chiefs received an income from the Chinese mine-
ner for the use of the mining-land, and they also levied
s on the river-trade in both directions. A particular source
evance to all concerned arose, in this instance, from the
that, for part of the course of the Linggi river, Sungei
jong lay on the north bank and Rembau on the south bank.
fin which was mined and taxed in Sungei Ujong was again
by Rembau chiefs before it was allowed to reach the
st. This caused disputes between Sungei Ujong and
mbau, between Chinese merchants and Malay chiefs, and,
lirectly, between Malacca (where much of this sector of
tin-trade was organised) and these two Minangkabau
tes. To complicate matters even more, Sungei Ujong was
tself divided into two parts, ruled by rival chiefs.

The rest of the Malay states consisted of river-settlements,
1ly near the coast, but sometimes, as in Perak, along the
valley of a long main river. All took their name from the
in river which passed through the area, and this river
was usually the chief settlement zone. In Selangor, by
ly of exception, five river valleys lying in an east-west
lirection subdivided the state into five areas of settlement
d political control. Even on these rivers, in 1850, nearly
the population lived near to the coast,

For Kedah the first half of the nineteenth century had
ertainly been a time of troubles. There had been, first, the
heavy demands of Siam, including the order, in 1816, to
Invade Perak. Then followed the Siamese invasion in 1821,
ar d a Siamese government, backed by armed forces, for the
lext twenty-one years. Guerrilla warfare and rebellions on
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behalf of the exiled Sultan marked this period, with its fur.
ther tale of human miseries. The restoration of the Sultan in
1842 was ied by a Si reduction of the size of"
Kedah, and the creation of a small northern neighbour in
Perlis. As though Kedah had not suffered enough warfare
and tension, the restored Sultan tried to take by force the
Krian district of Perak, and provoked a frontier situation
which was only ended by intervention from Penang,

Neither Kedah nor Perlis were strong or wealthy stateg
in 1850. Perlis was a new and small state; Kedah was im-
poverished and depopulated. Both were obliged to send tokeng
of tribute to Bangkok. a

On the opposite coast, Kelantan and Trengganu werg
claimed by Siam as dependencies. Kelantan, like Kedah, w
subject to demands and orders from Siam. In 1831 the Raja
of Patani took refuge in Kelantan after being defeated by
Siamese. The Sultan of Kelantan was then compelled to s
render the fugitive, and to send a large indemnity to Bangko
The anti-Siamese group in Penang regarded these activiti
as a violation of the Burney Treaty of 1826, and urged
establishment of an English ‘factory’ in Kelantan. A contem
porary writer! claimed that the Sultan of Kelantan had re-
quested such a ‘factory’, and that it would bring ‘very consis
derable advantages’. Nothing came of this suggestion:
Kelantan was rather remote; there was no desire for an open:
clash with Siam on the part of either the Penang or Singapo
governments at this time. Penang, in fact, was helping
Siamese to put down rebellions in Kedah. b

Weakness in external relations was combined ifl
Kelantan, as in several other Malay states, with periods 0
divided authority and civi} war. The death of Sultan
Muhammad in 1835, without an heir, led to a struggle fof
power and a civil war.

Trengganu managed to avoid some of the heavier d -
mands of Siam, but only with risks, and by granting oct
sional concessions in addition to the ‘Bunga Mas'. A P!
ticularly capable ruler, Sultan Omar (1839-76), did much

1 T. Newbold, Political and Statistical Account of the British Settlements 11 F2
Straits of Malacca, 2 vols.,, Murray, 1839



The Malay States in the Mid-Nineteenth Century 135

atralise authority in the state, and to avoid dangers which
‘much interference in outside affairs might have brought.
Je refused, for instance, to help his nephew, Mahmud, the
posed Sultan of Lingga, in & scheme for reviving the Johore-
ng Sultanate under Mahmud’s leadership. On the other
nd, he gave assistance to Wan Ahmad in the Pahang civil
(1858 63) posslb]y to meet his nephew’s wishes. He tried
ns y to d hmud from going to Siam, an
which brnught Siamese ships to the Trengganu coast in
of the ex-Sultan. It is likely that Siam would have
rred a weaker and more subservient ruler on the throne
engganu, but there is no evidence of any actual plan to
ose Omar in 1862. Two years later Omar crushed the
rts of a rebel prince of his own state who had recruited
hting men from Kelantan.
The capital of Trengganu in 1836 was a haphazard
chwork of houses and shophouses, set in narrow and
ked lanes. The Sultan’s palace was made of stone. There
6 a large Chinese quarter under a Capitan China, and the
chest man was a Chinese Muslim. Fish and vegetables
e plentiful, and exports included gold, tin, coffee, pepper,
l-nut, silk cloth, and fine sarongs interwoven with gold
silver thread. Opium, thread, and European cloth were
rted. Conspicuous in the harbour was a fleet of beau-
fully painted fishing-boats.!

Pahang was a large but sparsely populated state, once
It of the Johore Empire. With the weakening and division
this Empire in the eigh h and early ni h cen-
, the ruler of Pahang was independent, though still
ng the title Bendahara, and not that of Sultan. Pahang
18 torn by a civil war for five years (1858-63) after the
of Sultan Ali. It was a typical Malay war of the period,
ght between the supporters of two, brothers, one of whom
t help from Trengganu and Siam. There were ambushes
raids, with more protracted fighting around stockaded
tions, In the end Ahmad emerged victorious and strong
&use he had shown himself to be a forceful leader and
Weakened his opponents among the chiefs.

unshi Abdullah's account in Pelayaran Abduliah, Singapore, 1949
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Munshi Abdullah, who visited Pahang in 1838, was nqg.
very favourably impressed with what he saw. The country
appeared to be fertile, but there was a lack of shops, ma
kets, and roads, and the houses were poorly built. Men we;
about armed with numerous weapons, Fruit and vegetable;
were expensive, and people lived by keeping buffaloes, cat.
tle, goats, and fowl. Gold and tin, and some jungle produce,
were exported, and a little silk-weaving was done. In the
vicinity of the capital at Pekan there was a Chinese and an.
Arab community, There were settlements along the Pahan,
river as far inland as Jelai, where gold was mined.

Johore traditionally consisted of both mainland and
island elements. By the mid-nineteenth century the islan
apart from Singapore, were under the theoretical rule
the Sultan of Lingga, but he was under Dutch influence;
Singapore was under the jurisdiction of the English East
India Company. Mainland Johore was in dispute between
the son of Sultan Hussein and the son of Temenggong
Abdu’l Rahman. Increasingly settlement was taking pla
on the mainland, the settlers including Chinese who de-
veloped flourishing pepper plantations.

Ali, son of Sultan Hussein, who died in 1835, had the
misfortune of being both younger and less capable than
Ibrahim, the son of the Temenggong, who had died ten years
garlier. The East India Company was very dilatory about
recognising Ali as Sultan, and Ibrahim, for his part, was
unwilling to lose the start he had gained in controlling
mainland Johore. An agreement was secured in 1855 hy which
Ali’s title of Sultan was confirmed, together with a pension
from the revenues of Johore, and he was given land in the
district of Muar. Ibrahim and his successors, however, were
recognised as having rights of sovereignty in Johore. Ibrahim
died in 1862 and was succeeded by his son Abu Bakar, The
final break in the claims of the descendants of Sultan Hussein
came with the death of Ali in 1877. The land at Muar came.
under the control of Abu Bakar, and Ali's son was known
only as Tunku and not as Sultan, although in the agreement.
of 1854 both the land and the title should have passed to
Ali’s heirs. By way of compensation Abu Bakar, who had the;
support of the Governor of the Straits Settlements, paid an



The Malay States in the Mid-Nineteenth Century 137

sed pension to Ali's son. During the long reign of Abu
ar (1862-95) the modern state of Johore took shape, with
pital at Johore Bahru.!
‘The wealth of the Malay States in the mid-nineteenth
Y lay mainly in the deposits of alluvial tin which were
g increasingly worked by large mining communities.
was little known tin in the east coast states or in
e; the main tin-fields lay on the western side of the
ninsula, in the river valleys between the mountains and
coast. There had always been tin-working in Kedah, and
gre were recent developments in Sungei Ujong, but the
eatest expansion took place in Perak and Selangor, and we
now consider these states in a little more detail.
'~ Around 1840 large-scale tin-mining developed in the Larut
trict of Perak, near modern Taiping, Long Ja'afar, the
alay chief who collected taxes in the Larut district of Perak,
scovered large tin deposits in what was then a swampy
isolated part of the state. He invited Chinese business
terprise from Penang to exploit them. The Larut river was
e highway for Chinese workers and the supplies they
ded, as well as for the tin sent back to Penang., The
ypulation of these mining groups ran into many thousands,?
id was divided into two rival camps. The division was on
Secret Society basis. All Secret Societies among the Chinese
the Malay Peninsula were offshoots of the Triad Society,
ise known as the Three in One, or the Heaven, Earth,
l Man Society. This was a particularly strong and wide-
read movement in south China during the eighteenth and
eenth centuries, and its main political creed was op-
on to Manchu rule and a restoration of the old Ming
sty. Within the larger movement rival groups emerged,
two such groups lived and worked in adjacent territory
the Taiping-Kamunting area. These were the Ghee Hin
the Hai San, otherwise known from their districts of
1IN in China as the ‘Si Kwans' (Four Districts), and the
© Kwans' (Five Districts).

 Chapter 13,
s estimates havebeen made, none very reliable. The most quoted figure
1000 by 1870. Warfare caused great Nuctuations.
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The divisions between the Ghee Hin and Hai San j
terms of language and place of origin were not absolutel;
clear, but in general the Ghee Hin were Cantonese-speaking,
while the Hai San spoke Hakka or Hokkien. The Ghee Hj
became centred on Kamunting and the Hai San on the sitg
of modern Taiping, beginning, curiously enough, near
site of the later Taiping gaol. Rivalries between these t;
groups existed in China and in Penang; in the environmeng
of the early Larut mining camps these rivalries led to violenca,
The two groups were too close together for comfort, and the
extension of mining operations led to boundary disputes ang
quarrels over the diversion of river water, while clashes
caused by personal incidents and provocations.

Long Ja'afar, the district chief, died in 1857, and wi
succeeded in office by his son, Ngah Ibrahim. Both chie
father and son, became wealthy on the revenues from
tin-mining, but they had no means of exercising effec
control over the miners themselves. In 1862, following
massacre of a party of Ghee Hin who had unwisely entere
the Taiping area and were attacked in a gambling-saloon
serious fighting broke out. The Ghee Hin-were driven fron
their mines and fled back to Penang. Ibrahim, unable
control events, made known his support of the victors, th
Hai San, Many of the Ghee Hin were Straits-born Briti
subjects, and they appealed to the Governor of the St
Settlements for redress. The Governor was Colonel Cavena
a man of action, and he demanded from the Malay gove
ment of Perak payment of compensation to the Ghee Hi
Cavenagh followed his demand by sending a warship to pal
the coast near the Larut estuary, to block the tin trade.

The Sultan of Perak passed this demand to Ibrahim
who, after some delay, agreed to come to terms. As a rewa ré
for this the Sultan conferred wider powers over Larut & L
Krian on Ibrahim, making him, in practice, an independef
ruler there. He was also given the title of ‘Mantri’, one of th
four main titles of the Perak nobility.

The struggle between Ghee Hin and Hai San did not
here, The Ghee Hin returned, the old rivalries resumed
by 1872 a full-scale Chinese war was once again in prof
in Larut.
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Meanwhile the Malay chiefs of Perak had problems of
own. When Sultan Ahmadin died in 1806 the sons of
of his three wives were recognised as having sufficiently
status to found royal lineages. The Sultan was to be
in turn from each of the three lines; if possible, the
would fall on the eldest legitimate son of a previous
of the same line. An aspirant to the throne normally
d through the offices of Raja-di-Hilir, Raja Bendahara,
Raja Muda, before he became Sultan. In theory this
ided that the Sultan would be a man experienced in
ice-holding, and known by the chiefs. In practice the Sultan
ed to be advanced in years by the time of his installa-
n, and to have a short reign.! Also the chiefs could, and
d, overlook a candidate for office whom they did not like,
* who was likely to become a strong Sultan. Politics in
ak were also affected by the tendency of the chiefs to
ap themselves regionally, one group in Upper Perak, the
er in Lower Perak. There was a danger that each of these
ups might support a claimant of its own choic
When Sultan Ali died in 1871 the order of succession
e throne differed at every point from the normal
entions. Raja Abdullah, son of Sultan Ja'afar, was heir-
parent, or Raja Muda, but he had been promoted directly
this office on his father's death, while other candidates
been by-passed. Raja Ismail was Bendahara, but he
s riot a descendant of the royal house on the male side.
the background was a Raja Yusuf, son of Sultan
lullah, who had no support among the chiefs and whose
ims to office they had consistently overlooked. Yusuf was
pular, partly on the grounds of a moody personality,
rtly because, during his father's lifetime, he had tried
it the chiefs' powers. Ibrahim, the Mantri, was not
tly involved in this succession question, but as the
hiest chief in Perak his support — wherever he gave
was extremely valuable.
The succession dispute which arose in Perak in 1871,
Lthe renewed outbreak of fighting between the Ghee Hin
i San in the following year, had a direct bearing on

Sultan Abdullah, 1851-7; Sultan Ja'afar, 1857-65; Sultan Ali, 1665.71
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the question of British intervention in Perak in 1874,
the whole situation is discussed more fully in the followi;
Chapter.

In Selangor there was a counterpart to the situation i
Perak, There was a Chinese mining settlement at Lukut g
early as 1824, and this was followed by others at Kanching
in the Selangor valley (1840), and Ampang in the Klang
valley (1857). Malacca merchants played an initial part i
these mining enterprises, and Malacca served as an outleg
port for the tin, though its importance became overshadowed
later by Singapore. Each of the five main Selangor rivers
was under the authority of a district chief related to the
Sultan and, as in Larut, Chinese mining was made possiblg
by the enterprise of Malay chiefs wishing to raise the revenues
of their own districts.

The mining communities were organised into the same
Secret Societies as those of Perak. The Ampang miners, whose
settlement marked the begmrung of Kuala Lumpur, were:

raids to take place, and the arrival of refugees from the
Larut wars added extra bitterness to the proceedings. Only:
after a Malay war had broken out in Selangor, however, did
the two Chinese centres take to large-scale fighting.

Succession to the Selangor throne was not linked with
any promotion-ladder, but it was subject, as in Perak,
pressures and influences from the chiefs. Two Sultans’ reignt
spanned the period between 1826 and 1898. The ruling cl
of Selangor were of Bugis or mixed-Bugis descent, and th
leading chiefs and the Sultan between them controlled five
separate river valleys. The Sultan normally lived on the Klang
River, near its estuary. This dispersal of wealth and authority
weakened the Sultan’s position at the expense of the chiefs:

When Sultan Mohamed died in 1857 his eight-year-old
royal son, Raja Mahmud, was recognised as Raja Muda, but
a son-in-law, Abdul Samad, who was a grandson of Sultafl

!'Sultan Mohamed, 1826:57; Sultan Abdul Samad, 1857-98.
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rahim, claimed the throne, and was acknowledged as Sul-
the other chiefs after an interval of some years. It was
L uneasy situation. The late Sultan had had two non-royal
ns, Raja Sulaiman, who had died in 1853, and Raja Laut.
) also had three daughters, all of whom were married. Tt
as the chiefs married to these three daughters who now
Rined political office. One son-in-law, Abdul Samad, became
n, a second son-in-law, Raja Juma’at, became the chief
kut and the third son-in-law, Raja Abdullah, became
ehlef' at Klang, Abdul Samad chose 1o live near the es
iy of the Langat rather than at Klang. Abdul Samad's
‘son, Raja Musa, was given charge of the Selangor River,
meant that these who had married into the former
an’s family had profited at the expense of his own sons
 of these sons had already died, another lacked status on
t of not having had a royal mother, and a third — whao
8d had a royal mother — was only eight years old. This
¥, Mahmud, was some forty-four years younger than Abdul
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Samad, and it might well have seemed likely that A
Samad would reign until the boy grew up. As it hap,
Abdul Samad outlived most of his contemporaries and
for forty-one years!

These arrangements, made mostly at the time of Syl
Mohamed's death, had the effect of dividing the Sela
chiefs into two factions. It was a case of the ‘haves’
the ‘have-nots’.! The discontented princes were Raja Laj
the Raja Muda, Mahmud (when he was old enough to
preciate the position), and Raja Mahdi, son of the deceag
Raja Sulaiman who had been chief at Klang until his deg
in 1853, It was only a matter of time before one of these
strong enough to challenge the established order. In 1
Raja Mahdi attacked Klang and drove out Raja Abdull
the Selangor civil war had started. Legally, Mahdi h
right to Klang, because the appointment of a chief by #
Sultan was for life only, and, at Mahdi's father’s death, Sull
Mohamed had given the post to Raja Abdullah. As a grands
of Mohamed Mahdi felt that he had a real grievance whi
a son-in-law was preferred to him. Another point was thi

Juma'at, tin-mining on a big scale had begun in the Ki
valley near modern Kuala Lumpur, and by 1866 the pof
Klang was a very profitable one.
When Mahdi refused to evacuate Klang, the chiefs t8
sides, while the Sultan, at Langat, managed to keep on g0
terms with them all, granting them help impartially
they came to see him. That the reality of power in the 8
was in the hands of the chiefs could not have been
clearly demonstrated. In 1867 the Sultan brought in
outside prince to act as viceroy and arbitrator. This 1
Tunku Zia'u'd-din, better known as Kudin, younger brof
of Sultan Ahmad of Kedah. Kudin was already marri
Abdul Samad’s daughter, and he was an able and resourcet
leader. This act only increased the opposition of the Tl
chiefs, and the war spread further into the valleys.
Chinese tin-mining communities were now in the war 208
and needed little encouragement to take up arms on oppo=s

13, M. Gullick, Indigenous Political Systems of Western Malaya, p- 39
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y were already on ﬁghnng terms with each other,
secured a powerful ally in Yap Ah Loy, the Capitan

at Kuala Lumpur, while the Ghee Hin at Kanching
d forces with Mahdi, Mahmud, and Sayid Mashhor, a
or of Arab stock who was in the service of the rebels.
70 to 1873 these alliances waged a fierce war against
er, often crossing and recrossing the same territory.
a Lumpur had its full share of the accompanying

on.
hus, by 1871-2 the two main tin-bearing states, Perak

angor, were in a troubled condition. The Chinese had
d their fighting in Larut, and there was a succession
to be solved for the throne of Perak. In Selangor the
es and rivalries of the Malay chiefs had become in-
en with the hostilities of the Ghee Hin at Kanching
e Hai San at Kuala Lumpur, in what can perhaps be
d as a general showdown. The tin trade came, at
, to a standstill, and the coasts of these states became
for honest shipping.

TIME CHART: A.D. 1824-1873

Porak _ Selangor
Long Ja'afar invited Chinese 1824 Tin Mining at Lukut
o mine tin in Larut district, ¢ 1840 Tin Mining at Kanching.
7 Death of Sultan Abdullah 1857 Tin Mining at Ampang

Death of Long Ja'afar. (Kuala Lumpur)
Outbreak of ‘Larul wars/, 1857 Death of Sultan Mohamed.

ween Ghee Hin and Hai ¢ 1860 Recognition of Sultan

San, Abdul Samad
Tbrahim paid compensation 1866 Raja Mahdi's attack on
to Penang Klang
Tbrahim appointed Mantri Beginning of civil war
Death of Sultan Ja'afar (1866-73)
Death of Sultan Ali. 1867 Kudin appointed viceroy.
B Renewed outbreak of ‘Larul 1870-3 Extension of civil war

S vars o include Chinese at Kan-
Disputed suecession to ching and Kuala Lumpur

the throne
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(A) FAMILY OF SULTAN MOHAMED OF SELANGO)

Sultan Ibrahim, d. 1826

I 1
Mohamed, d. 1857 R. Abdullah

SONS ‘ _DAUGHTERS

i 2
R. Sulaiman R.Laut R Mahmud m. R Jumaat m. Abdul
[died, 1853] (Raja Mudd) m. R, Abdullah
=
R Mahdi R.Bot R Yahya
R Ismail

(B) SUCCESSION IN PERAK

(1) The normal 'ladder’ (ii) The position in 1871
Sultan Sultan Ali - deccased
Raja Muda Raja Muda - Abdullah
Raja Bendahara Raja Bendahara - Ismail

Raja di Hilir No office - Yusuf
(a) Abdullah had moved up Loo qui
(b) Ismail's claims rested on ma:
(¢) Yusuf was senior to Abdullah,
should by this time have been
Muda, but he had been consiste!
averlooked hy the chiefs



Chapter 9

BRITISH INTERVENTION IN
THE MALAY STATES
AD, 1874

he year 1874 marked the introduction of British ad-
ministrators into three Malay states, and British
advice and protection was extended later to other
8. The traditional policy of the English East India Com-
ever since the first negotiations for Penang, had been
d to any active interference either in, or on behalf of,
alay state. In practice, however, a fair amount of such

ention had taken place. The Crawfurd and Burney
ns to Bangkok in 1822 and 1825-6 had the subject of
on their agenda, even though it was well down the
e Anderson Treaties with Perak and Selangor, and
on’s gun-boats at Trang, were aimed at preventing
amese from intervening in states south of Kedah. The
‘Treaty of 1826 gave, under certain conditions, the
tion of the Company to the Sultan of Perak.! In 1843
g intervened in a dispute between Kedah and Perak
boundary between them. In 1862 the Governor of
ts Settlements blockaded the Larut estuary in order
Nforce the payment of compensation from Perak for the
ed flight to Penang of Ghee Hin, who claimed British
enship. In the same year the same Governor sent a
ip which shelled Trengganu fort, because Trengganu
 harbouring a Malay prince who was receiving Siamese

hile, in 1831, and again in 1838, Penang supported Siam against
'8y risings in Kedah, in accordance with the Anglo-Siamese Treaty of
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Long before 1874, therefore, there was no lack of j
dents in which the Straits Settlements had taken some g
tion which implied intervention in affairs of the Malay Stagg
Even Malacca had conducted a war (1831-2) in
Minangkabau territory of Naning over the payment, of tag,
There were undoubtedly contradictions in the policy of g
East India Company in relation to the Malay Peninsula,
there still remained an underlying reluctance to be involygg
in the affairs of the Malay States. The Straits Settleme;
were regarded from the viewpoint of India, and they were g
remain, until 1867, subject to policy direction from Indj
They were seen as three bases neatly placed along a m
shipping route, the Malacea Straits, and were of impo
as collecting-centres and ports-of-call. The Company certainly
did not regard them as jumping-off grounds for any kind g
penetration into other parts of the Peninsula. The Mal
States were seen as a troubled zone where alliances a
commitments would entail military forces in unknown
ritory for uncertain results. The Naning War was a cl.
lesson on these lines.

Why, then, did the Company take action at all in rels
tion to matters concerning the Malay States? Much of th
action was aimed primarily at preserving the Company
existing interests. The missions to Bangkok were m
intended to improve relationships between the Company a
Siam, and to parry any Siamese threat to Penang. The)
were concerned, in part, with the removal of irksome Siame
restrictions on trade with the Company and the possibiliti
of expanding such trade in the future. The safeguarding
the independence of Malay states on the west coast was vé
much more a Penang attitude than a Calcutta one. Similar]
it was the Singapore government which was concerned abot
the possible extension of Siamese influence in the east-coash
states.

To some extent, therefore, the East India Company’s 8@
tions on matters relating to the Malay States can be seen
arising from self-interest, because of existing or possible t;
disruption, risk to food-supplies, or political threats from
power of Siam. It should be noted also that action taken P}
men like Fullerton and James Low frc-  Penang, ané
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gh from Singapore, often represented individual ini-
e rather than official Company policy. The ‘man on the
s much more willing to commit the Company in
affecting the Malay States than seemed desirable
he distance of India. Fullerton, as early as 1825, an-.
d that, sooner or later, the Company would protect
states which remained independent of Siam.!

Jther interests also pressed the Straits governments to
e in Peninsular affairs. As the years passed the
tion of the Straits Settlements began to include an
g number of people who were born there, and there-
entitled to the rights of British subjects. The majority of
g were Chinese of all classes, including merchants and
s associated with the tin enterprises in Perak, Selangor,
the Minangkabau States. When trouble arose, in Larut
fuala Lumpur or Sungei Ujong, appeals for assistance,

ion, or compensation, were made to Penang, Malacca,

apore. In particular, the merchant groups in Penang
gapore were frequently petitioning for some form of
Tvention to settle the disorders on the west coast of
a.

he Secret Society rivalries and wars also had their

rparts in the Straits Settlements. In Penang, for

ple, there were leaders and headquarters of both Ghee

‘and Hai San factions and fighting in Larut could

in problems of law and order in Penang itself. A house

Penang owned by Ibrahim of Larut was blown up by

Ghee Hin, because he had shown himself on the

f the Hai San. In 1867 there was street-fighting of
ious nature in Georgetown, between the two rival

ups. The elements of Secret Society warfare were

Bent, in any case, in the Straits Settlements,® but

ble in the mining camps made things worse for the

s authorities.

Piracy was another great source of anxiety to the Governor

e Straits Settlements. It was an old occupation in the

lacea Straits, but it was always worse when conditions were

! L. A. Mills, British Malaya, 18241867, p. 145
- CF. Victor Purcell, The Chinese in South-Fast Asia, pp. 3013
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disturbed in the coastal states. The first half of the nineteg
century was a particularly bad time for Chinese junks ply
between China and the Straits, and for small craft from g
Malay Archipelago. During the wars in Perak and Selanggpi
the 1860s piracy was engaged in by one side or another a
means of gaining necessary supplies.

There was also smuggling in the form of gun-runn;
especially from Penang to Perak. This was done often
the noses of the Penang authorities, and patrolling shi
found it as difficult to suppress as piracy itself.

As seen from the Straits Settlements, there was mug
cause for concern about conditions along the west coagt g
Malaya around 1870. There were Chinese rivalries,
to break out again in open warfare in Larut; in S
there was full-scale warfare, with Chinese and Malg
groups on either side; in Sungei Ujong there was civil wg
between two Malay groups. Piracy was perhaps not .,
prevalent as ten years earlier, but it was still a mena
Complaints and petitions from individuals and groups!
almost an everyday occurrence.

In 1871 a new political situation arose in Perak with th
death of Sultan Ali at Sayong. This was entirely a Mals
problem concerned with the loyalties and divisions of i
Malay chiefs. Abdullah, who, as Raja Muda, had the b
claim by title to succeed to the throne, could rely upon
port in Lower Perak, where he lived. Yusuf at Sengj
was, strictly speaking, senior to Abdullah, and had be
overlooked for office previously because of his unpopula
with the other chiefs. In 1869 he had written to the Straif
government claiming his right to the throne when Ali died
and he now indicated his readiness to fight in support of
claim. Neither Abdullah nor Yusuf was particularly accepta
to the chiefs of Upper Perak.

Yusuf, a man with a grievance, and liable to take a stron
line if he had the chance, had offended the chiefs in h
father's lifetime, and they had no reason to think he had
changed. In 1870 Abdullah had granted concessions of lan
in the Krian district of Perak? to a Penang trader and 8

! E.g., The Singapore Chamber of Commerce.
#This had formerly been part of the Sultan’s own domain; it was granted
Tbrahim in 1863
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er named Bacon. This was not only against Sultan
5 wmhes it also offended Ibrahim, the Mantri, who claimed
as his own district by gift of the Sultan, in addition to
. Shortly before Suitan Ali died Abdullah’s case was
er damaged by the story that his wife, Raja Tipah, had
him to elope with a Selangor prince. The news that
lullah did nothing to revenge himself except declare his
divorced was bad enough in Malay opinion; it was made
e by the fact that Raja Tipah was a daughter of Sultan
« Rumour had it that Sultan Ali, who was dying, had asked
lullah to bring Raja Tipah to see him. Fearing a trap,
llah was unwilling to go. Raja Tipah then announced
she would go with any man brave enough to take her
father. The offer was accepted by Raja Daud of Selangor
, on pretext of taking her to Sayong in Upper Perak,
ied her off to Selangor instead. Whether true or false,
story did Abdullah a lot of harm.
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Two other important chiefs were possible claimangg
the throne. The Bendahara, Ismail, had a strong following
Upper Perak. He was not a direct descendant of the pq
house, being connected to it only by marriage. He had b
Bendahara to two Sultans without being advanced to R
Muda, because, in the ordinary course of events, he wag
on the ‘promotion-ladder’, The Upper Perak chiefs knew k
well, however. By comparison with Abdullah he was a
ditional and conservative Malay, and an elderly man,
kind of man they apparently wanted as their Sultan,

Finally, in the background, stood Ibrahim of Larut, Man
of Perak. He was the wealthiest of all the chiefs, and he
his support to Ismail. This may have been partly beca
his feud with Abdullah concerning the Krian district,
partly because he judged Ismail to be the better-support
candidate. In any case Ibrahim was obviously more clog
linked with Upper Perak than with Lower Perak, though'}
was related to both Ismail and, by marriage, to th
Laksamana, who was a leader of the Lower Perak group.
has been suggested that Ismail had long-term ambitions fi
himself. Normal practice would be broken if Ismail becam
Sultan, and could be broken again for Ibrahim to succe
Ismail.

After Sultan Ali's death Abdullah, as Raja Muda, W
summoned to meet the chiefs at Sayong in order to atten
the funeral, and take part in the election of the new Sulta
afterwards. He did not answer this summons. Accordi
his opponents, he was afraid to pass through the riversi
village of Senggang, which was on his way, for fear of Yust
who was brooding there. He was also afraid to show him
at Sayong because of the accusations he would have to fa
from the relatives of Sultan Ali and Raja Tipah. Abdul
defence was that the invitation had not come from th
Bendahara, as was usual, and it had not been accompanit
by the token of royalty, the yellow umbrella, He had al
been advised to come only as far as Kampong Gajah, whet
the chiefs could meet him after the funeral ceremony.

'Although he did not die until 1889
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in Abdullah’s absence from Sayong, the chiefs decided to
Bendahara Ismail as the new Sultan. He, in turn,
sinted the eldest son of the late Sultan as Bendahara,
nswnng the traditional line of succession. The main
s who were not present to support Ismail's installation
o Abdullah himself, Yusuf, the Laksamana, and the
sbandar. Of these, the last two were said to have indi-
d their agreement later, though subsequent events did
sear this out.

Abdullah did not lack courage in his own territory.
an Ismail appointed a customs official to replace the
gamana’s son at Kuala Perak, Abdullah and the
dar removed him and restored the estuary trade
| own control. This was open rebellion, but Ismail
nothing about it immediately. By April 1872 Abdullah
§ calling himself Sultan and interfering in affairs in
an and Larut. He also made peace with Yusuf and
pinted him Raja Muda! Between them, they plotted to
ke an alliance with the Mantri’s enemies in Larut, the
Hin, in order to drive him out. Abdullah promised
half the expenses of the Ghee Hin, and to lease
arut mines to them when they were successful.
‘These moves coincided with a renewed outbreak of
g between the two Chinese factions in Larut. The
i had no military or police force with which he could
brol this fighting, and early in 1873 his own position was
igerous that he withdrew to the lower reaches of the
ver Krian, which gave him easy access, if necessary, to
ince Wellesley. In the previous April Abdullah had ar-
8d in Larut, where he met the Auditor-General of the
s government, C. J. Irving, and handed him a letter
g out his claims to be Sultan. To add to the confusion,
dits officials were being approached by Penang residents
held land concessions or tax-farms from Abdullah to
¢ acknowledgment of his claims to be Sultan. The
ier, Bacon, was most active in this sphere.

or a short time Abdullah and the Mantri became recon-
d. Abdullah recognised the Mantri as holding ‘the govern-
Ot of Larut and its dependencies’ while the Mantri recog-
Abdullah as Sultan. At the most this was a marriage
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of convenience, and it soon broke apart. In June 1873
quarrelled, and the Mantri went to live in Penang, whe, 3
September, Governor Ord recognised him as the rightful
of Larut.

Meanwhile the Chinese wars continued and spread g
the coast, with the accompaniment of blockades and pirg
Malay groups had now been formed to support both sides,
‘White Flag' society aided the Ghee Hin, and a ‘Red Flag
society the Hai San. Trade and tin-mining in the area
at a standstill, and there was grave danger of an extensij
of the fighting in Penang. The Ghee Hin had been victorioy
at first, but the Hai San returned in force from Penang i
regain their positions. A contemporary writer described
situation in these words:

‘In the autumn of 1872, the Go Kwans (Hai San) w
had been expelled, and had spent their time in warlike
preparations, made an effort to regain their position. A \
and ammunition were sent up the Laroot River, and a
last a desperate attack was made upon the faction
possession of the mines,”

The Mantri tried to change sides with the fortunes of
war and, not surprisingly, he ended by earning the hos
and contempt of both sides. For this reason, and because hif
own life was in danger, he withdrew first to Krian and thet
to Penang. He engaged the services of a strange, adventuro
Englishman, Captain Speedy, who was then Superintenden!
of Police at Penang, to act as a Chief of Police for him, ans
to recruit a small police force from India.

Several officials of the Straits government had views 08
what they thought should be done about this state of aff
in Perak, as well as about the civil wars and piracies
Sel. and the Mi kak States. As early as 1
when Raja Yusuf put his claim to succeed to the throne o
Perak to the Straits government, the Colonial Secreta
Colonel Macpherson, expressed his regret to the Governof
that it was not possible to support this claim, as a means

'F. McNair, Perak and the Malays, London, 1878, p. 353,
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g a British nominee in the State and thus provide an
act form of British rule. In 1871 a committee proposed
sidents should be sent to the Malay States. In 1872
eutenant-Governor of Penang, Sir George Campbell,

speak with diffidence, being so new to this portion of
the East, but I think it worth consideration whether the
‘appointment under a British Government of a British
Resident or Political Agent for certain of the Malay States
ould 1nct. as in India, have a markedly beneficial ef-

Yet, in the same year, the Straits government was re-
to complaints of losses in Selangor made by Malacca
chants by pointing out that if they chose to adventure in
ese countries’ under existing circumstances, they must not
pect: help or protection from the Straits authorities. This
titude of limiting intervention to attempts to suppress
ey, or to demanding redress for aggression on British
les and territories when it was deemed necessary, was
oved by the Colonial Office in London in December 1872,
d again in July 1873. From very shortly after this latter
however, the Colonial Office moved towards a policy of
itive, though cautious, intervention.

In August 1873 Lieutenant-Governor Anson of Penang
d a meeting between Ghee Hin and Hai San leaders
L attempt to bring the Larut Wars to an end. The meeting
8 also attended by Abdullah, Yusuf, and the Mantri, as
as by Kudin, the Kedah prince who was Regent or Viceroy
angor. The Chinese leaders agreed to an armistice
g arbitration from Penang, but, in fact, the fighting
ued. Abdullah issued a proclamation to the Chinese
en in Larut which was completely ignored.

ﬂ‘wo events followed within a few weeks of this unsue-
8 at Penang. Abdullah visited Singapore to
support from the Straits government; he was advised
Singapore merchant, and member of Council, W. H.

W quoted in R, 0. Winstedt and R. J. Wilkinson, ‘A History of Perak', p. 97.
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Reade, to wait until after the arrival of the new Gove
3ir Andrew Clarke. In November 1873 the new Goverp
arrived at Singapore; Abdullah was in due course take;
meet him, and, at the end of December, Abdullah wr
letter to the Governor asking him for British protection
Perak, and for the appointment of a Resident to ‘show
good system of government’.!

Before Clarke left England he was given new instruct;
by the Colonial Office. These were contained in a cautig
message, clothed in the long, flowing prose of the period. T
use of British influence with the native princes was recop
mended with a view to rescuing, if possible, ‘these fertile
productive countries from the ruin which must befall th
if the present disorders continue unchecked.” Further,
Governor was ordered to enquire into the conditions in
Malay States, and to report whether, in his opinion, a
steps could be taken to restore peace and order there an
secure the protection of trade. In particular, considera
was to be given to the advisability of appointing a Briti
officer to reside in any of the states, with the full consen
the native government and with the expenses of such 8
appointment defrayed by the Straits Settlements.

These orders were hardly revolutionary in tone. Tl
were hedged by conditions, and they suggested investigatio
and reports before the taking of any action. Clarke, howe
regarded them as a passport for action. With this me:
of support, and with the letter from Abdullah, he begun !
negotiate, first for a settlement of the Chinese disputes}
Perak, and then for the recognition of a Malay Sultan
Perak who would accept the services of a British Reside’

Before discussing these negotiations, this might bé
suitable point at which to consider the general reasons whil
lay behind the policy of guarded intervention outlined
Lord Kimberley's despatch from the Colonial Office
September 20th, 1873. It is necessary to go back a littl e,

In 1858 the territories of the East India Company past
to the control of the India Office, and in 1867 the Stral

' C. D, Cowan (editor), 'Swettenham's Perak Journals, 1874-1876, JRAS
Vol. 24, pt. 4, p. 21.
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ents were transferred from the India Office to the
ty of the Colonial Office. This second move occurred
g in answer to expressions of Singapore opinion. The
over in 1858 had left the Straits Settlements stil}
to India. Their importance, as seen from Calcutta,
¢ minimised, and their interests neglected. From India,
tlements were regarded as expensive, especially on
int of the cost of military garrisons, which was only
tly met by the revenues. For its own administrative and
jal reasons, the Indian government tried to force the
Indian currency in the Straits and to interfere with
 trade. Singapore's prosperity was, of course, based on
y trade, and its authorities and merchants alike bitterly
nted any attempt to change this policy, In Singapore
were also gri that the Settl were used
interests of India — for example, as a dumping-ground
nvicts. Last, but not least, the commercial classes in
pore were, for various reasons, looking towards Malaya
field for economic enterprise. So long as the Singapore
iernment remained tied to India, there seemed little chance
i change of policy which would do something to improve
rospects of trade in the Malay States.
So far as the relations between the Straits Settlements
| the Malay States were concerned, the change to the
ial Office in 1867 had two effects. The Straits Settle-
could now be viewed from London in a broader
tive. They were colonies on a map of the world,
t, as formerly, appendages only to the sub-continent
dia. This broader viewpoint meant that policy for the
s could be worked out in relation to events in other
of the world. It could, for instance be related to the
ties of other European colonial powers in the Far

condly, the Singapore trading community, especially
amber of Commerce, could press harder than before
achievement of settled conditions for business en-
n the Malay States. The first Colonial Governor of
ore, Sir Harry Ord (1867-73), was made very much
e of these views.
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By the late 1860s, Singapore merchants had a nump
reasons for feeling insecure, and the Colonial Office, too,
some cause to be concerned about the situation of the §
Settlements,

The Dutch were increasing their control in the Nef
lands East Indies. Ships flying the British flag (and
included Chinese who were Straits traders) were barred
the coastal trade in Dutch-controlled territories, and
¢riminatory duties were placed on British goods. The areg
Dutch political influence had increased in several isl
since the Anglo-Dutch Treaty of 1824, and by 1865 D
control in Sumatra had reached the southern border of Ach
By 1871 it was apparent that the whole of the island woul
eventually come under Dutch rule,

From the late 1850s the French were embarked on
policy of expansion in Indo-China and, after the humiliatin
defeat of France at the hands of Prussia in 1870-1, som
French leaders at least saw further expansion in Asia as the
best means of reviving French prestige.

The opening of the Suez Canal in 1869 increased Eurg
pean commercial interest in the East and the number 0
steamships in eastern waters and Singapore merchants feared
that this would lead to direct trade between Europe and th
South-East Asian markets. If this happened, Singapore woul
lose its position as chief entrepot of the region. The laying d
a submarine cable from London to Singapore put Lond:
business houses in quick contact with the state of the
kets there, and seemed to threaten the position of the reside
distributors. Chinese merchants complained of the appearantt
of large numbers of European firms who seemed to bé
squeezing them out of one trading area after another. Eurt:
pean firms complained of the pressure of competition 3
Singapore itself, while one member of the Singapore Coun
pointed out the great increase in the number of Germ
merchants in the port.! A German interest in Selangor waé
rumoured.

To some extent the European firms represented a seard{j
for new market areas for manufactured goods from Westeri

! C.D. Cowan (editor), ‘Swettenham's Perak Journals, 1874-1876', p. 9, andch
C.N. Parkinson, British Intervention in Malaya, 1867-1877, p. 36
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e. They also sought new sources of raw materials and
ary products. It seems likely that during the ten years
e the introduction of British Residents in the main tin-
ring Malay States, there was an increased demand for
the West. This was reflected in the export-figures of
an tin from Singapore to Britain and North America.
e disorders of the Malay States must be regarded as
ontributory cause of British intervention, but when the
d instruction was given from the Colonial Office in Sep-
1873, other forces were working towards the same
ective. The fear of intervention in the Malay Peninsula by
e other European power, and the quickening of British
arest in eastern trade, were both part of the spirit of the
es in the early 1870s. The merchant class of Singapore
noured for orderly conditions in the Malay States as a
cessary condition for trade, investment, and the develop-
ent of natural resources.

Now to return to Sir Andrew Clarke. He first sent his
ficer in charge of Chinese affairs, Mr. W. A. Pickering, to
get rival Chinese leaders in Penang to discover whether
would be prepared to reach an agreement and accept
¢ arbitration of the Straits Governor. When Pickering
ported a successful result from his talks, Clarke proceeded
‘invite the leading Malay chiefs in Perak to meet him at
e island of Pangkor near the estuary of the Perak River for
general settlement of the troubles of Perak.

The Pangkor meeting took place in mid-January 1874. It
ded by the signing of two documents, the Chinese Engage-
ent and the Pangkor Engagement. Under the first heading
e Ghee Hin and Hai San leaders undertook to keep the
ace under penalty of a fine of 50,000 dollars. A small
sarmament, issi was inted, including the
linese leaders themselves and British officials from the
raits Settlements. This was to supervise the handing-in of
apons, destruction of stockades, and exchange of prisoners.
is work was done, on the whole, competently and quickly,
e Chinese themselves were heartily weary of wars, and
ven a reasonable settlement were prepared to resume
rmal tin-mining. The mining lands were divided again
tween the two groups, with a marked boundary ditch. It
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was not the end of the Secret Society rivalries, but it i
mark the beginning of a period of comparative peace
prosperity. The population of the Larut district had dro)
almost as low as 4,000 by the time of the Pangkor meetj
by the end of 1874 it had risen to 27,000. For some ¥
Ghee Hin and Hai San competed healthily in the productj
of tin.

Ibrahim, the Mantri, was confirmed at Pangkor in ki
position of ruler at Larut, but he was not acknowledged
héving independent sovereignty there. Clarke had no Writh
evidence of Ord’s recognition of the Mantri as an indg
pendent ruler in September 1873, because the papers cg
cerning this were in Penang, where Ord had dealt with th
matter. The Mantri was considered to have special rj
and privileges in Larut, but to be holding these by
pointment from the Sultan.!

The Mantri's Chief of Police, Captain Speedy, was
stay in Larut, but in a new capacity. He was appoin
Assistant Resident in Perak, a salaried official of the Straits
government. p

The question of the Perak succession was much moré
delicate and controversial. None of the Upper Perak chiefs,
except the Mantri, attended the meeting. Ismail was invitedy
but did not come; Yusuf was not even invited, but this was
probably due to the Straits government’s ignorance of
claims. From Ismail's point of view there was no purpose il
attending a meeting to discuss the rightful succession to
Perak throne, He had been properly installed, and the matter
was settled. The same view would have been taken by the!
up-river chiefs who had supported him. The Mantri came
Pangkor largely to assert his own rights or defend his o
interests; in particular, he must have hoped to gain confirs
mation of Ord’s recognition of him as an independent rule ¢

Clarke presided over the meeting, and claimed afterwards:
that decisions taken at Pangkor were not his decisions buti
those of the interested parties who had met under his chair-

' C.N. Parkinson (British Intervention in Malaya, 1867-1877, p.132) holds
that Clarke may have known about Ord's decision, and that he intended (0
reverse it. I
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ship. The decision taken about the Sultan could, in view
e partisan grouping of the chiefs present, hardly have
n otherwise. Apart from the Mantri and the Temenggong,
e chiefs were from Lower Perak, and supporters of
lah, who was also present. They agreed to recognise
llah as Sultan, the Mantri doing so after some hesitation
wards it was clear that they had felt this to be the
sion which Clarke wanted, and no doubt they were right.
1 was a remote figure with whom no Straits official had
eld discussion. Abdullah, on the other hand, was fre-
ntly in evidence in Penang or Singapore, and his home
ry was not far from Kuala Perak and convenient to
al traffic. Moreover Abdullah had offered to take a
h Resident to help him provide good government. As
ke saw it, Abdullah seemed the candidate to the throne
able to establish his position and, at the same time,
pst likely to take British advice.

Ismail, who was not present, was pensioned-off with
he courtesy title of Sultan Muda and an income and land
dequate to his position. He was to be told of these terms,
to be asked to hand over the regalia to Abdullah.
isuf was not mentioned.

3 Sultan Abdullah was to receive a British Resident whose
ice must be asked and acted upon on all questions other
those touching Malay religion and custom. The collection
d control of all revenues, and the general administration
‘the country, was to be regulated under the advice of the
esident.

With the signing of this agreement' Perak had a
itish-acknowledged Sultan supported by the chiefs in
er Perak, and by the very doubtful support of the
antri, who probably only agreed in order that his own
tion would not suffer in any way. In Upper Perak,
il continued as Sultan with no desire for a pension or
| courtesy-title. Pangkor had no meaning for Ismail and
8 up-river chiefs, A greater novelty lay in the two British
Ppointments to the government of Perak. The Assistant

The Engagement also contained new boundary definitions for the Dindings
2nd Province Wellesley, both of which were open to different interpretations
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Resident was already on the spot. The Resident was no
appointed until some months later. What the position of
this Resident would be in practice remained to be seen, I
Clarke was, in a sense, using Abdullah as a means fop
introducing a British administrator to his state, was neg
Abdullah perhaps merely using this Resident idea as g
means of obtaining British recognition? As for Malay,
opinion in Upper Perak, this was inevitably opposed to
decisions reached at Pangkor, and not least to the intrusion
of a foreign official into Malay politics. News of the new
boundary revisions also served to increase Malay mistrust
of British intentions. !

Clarke next turned his attention to Selangor. At the
time of his arrival in Singapore, in November 1873, the
civil war in Selangor was drawing towards an end
Kudin was extremely resourceful in recruiting milita
forces. At one stage, in the late months of 1871, he had
in his service two European officers (one a Dutchman,
the other an Italian), twenty European and Eurasi
non-commissioned officers, and nearly two hundred In:
dian Sepoys. In addition, he recruited Malays where he
could, including some from his own state, Kedah, Y
until March 1873 Kudin and his supporters were v
much on the defensive. Mahdi’s forces were in control
of the whole of the interior of Selangor, with an outle
to the sea at Kuala Selangor, and friendly contacts with
the chiefs of Sungei Ujong and Ulu Bernam, It was the
advance of a large force from Pahang which turned the:
tide of victory for Kudin. He had sent an envoy to the:
Bendahara of Pahang in December 1871, and he mads
a personal visit, for the same purpose of enlisting m
tary support, a few months later. Wan Ahmad wi
willing to help because of the captivity of a kinsman ifl
the hands of the Selangor ‘rebels’, and because of the
incursions made into his own territory by Rawas, who
used Selangor as a base. The Straits government Wi
favourably impressed by Kudin, but Wan Ahmad made:
sure there would be no objections from Singapore beforé:
he sent an expedition to Selangor,

The main Pahang army came over the passes from Raub
and Bentong, while a smaller force reached Kuala Selango®,
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sea. Together they gained command of the central Selangor

yea. In March 1873 they co-operated with Capitan China
7ap Ah Loy in a successful battle for the recapture of Kuala
umpur, which had been held for seven months by Mahdi's
rces. This victory was the turning-point of the war, and it
ked the ascendancy of Kudin; but in the late months of
873 Mahdi and Mahmud were still free men and by no
peans reconciled to defeat.
" As in Perak, the Selangor war had been accompanied by
ets of coastal piracy. In 1871 a Chinese junk was plundered
its crew and passengers killed by pirates who were al-
ged to be operating from Kuala Selangor. In Malacca and
ingapore there arose the usual cry for action against piracy
ind the safeguarding of the lives of British citizens and
eful traders. A naval ship, H.M.S. Rinaldo, and the
onial steamer, Pluto, were sent to Kuala Selangor to arrest
he pirates. This expedition found an armed stockade held
jy Sayid Mashhor which resented their demands, and firing
roke out. The stockade was shelled and its garrison driven
the jungle. This action had the effect of gaining Kuala
gor for Kudin,

In November 1873, at the time of Clarke’s arrival in
ingapore, another incident of piracy occurred, this time off
e estuary of the Langat, where Sultan Abdul Samad lived.
. Malacca vessel was plundered and eight of its nine crew
nd passengers murdered. A similar attack on a Malacca
oat was made in the following month, but with no loss of
8, as the crew swam to safety.

A party of Selangor Malays, thought to be the pirates of
he November incident, was arrested in Malacca, and Clarke
Beided to take up the question of their trial with Sultan
bdul Samad. These negotiations took place at Langat in
ebruary 1874, just a month after the Pangkor meeting. The
an, possibly overawed by the nearness of a British naval
dron deliberately anchored off the Selangor coast, agreed
O the trial of the alleged pirates by a court under the presi-
ncy of the Viceroy, Kudin. The trial was held, and the men
e convicted and executed, with the Sultan’s approval !
“Ompensation was paid for the loss of life and property of
fitish subjects, in this case Malays and Chinese.
ceording to Swettenham, these men were not guilty of Lhis particular crime,
Pt this was known only to Malays at the time.
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This meeting of the Sultan, the Viceroy, and g
Andrew Clarke, prepared the way for further diplo;
relationships, though Clarke was hesitant about pre
for the introduction of a British Resident in Selangor yng
the effects of his experiment in Perak could be seen, J
aimed at cultivating the friendly relatlans}np now b

free and unanimous choice of all the chiefs themsel
By September 1874 he had left at Langat the young F
Swettenham to give the Sultan informal advigg
Swettenham made a good impression, and Clarke so gh
Colonial Office approval for a more formal appointmen
The appointment of a Resident in Perak had been appros
by Lord Carnavon, successor to Lord Kimberley, in Marg
1874 and confirmed, with more enthusiasm, in the follo
May, after a debate in the House of Lords.

As Resident in Selangor, Clarke chose Mr. J. G. David
a friend and adviser of Kudin and an experienced colonial
lawyer. Swettenham was left where he was wnh the Sultar
at Langat, as Assi id These e
made in November 1874, when the practical experiment of 8
British Resident in Perak was just beginning.

Meanwhile Clarke had made approaches to Sunge
Ujong. Here he acted on the grounds of long-standin
grievances and complaints in relation to the river-tolls
trade to and from Malacca. The political situation was
complicated by the rivalries of Sungei Ujong and Rembau
and by the uncertainties of rule in Sungei Ujong itsel
where two chiefs, the Dato Klana and the Dato Banda
led rival groups. In April 1874 Clarke obtained a treal
from the Dato Klana, who promised to govern with justi
and to protect the lives and property of traders, as we
as to give no assistance to the enemies of the Briti
government or of states allied to, or at peace with, Britais
In addition, the district of Sempang was given to thé
‘control, order and direction of the British government
Sempang lay on the Linggi, in the boundary-zone bet
Sungei Ujong and Rembau. Four months later the Dat®
Klana was asking for a British Resident, and in Novemberl
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ain Tatham was appointed ‘Assistant Resident’ in
Ujong. The Dato Bandar was very much opposed
‘this intervention from the Straits government, and he
i to meet either the Klana or the Governor. He was
brought to submission by the use of a small British
ree in support of the Dato Klana's troops.

By the end of 1874 British officials were operating in
irut, Lower Perak, Klang, Langat, and Sungei Ujong. Their
s of reference could he related to those of the Pangkor
N which were th Ives not lacking in ambi
d contradiction. Backed by the new directions from the
ial Office, Clarke had succeeded in introducing an
rtain form of British indirect rule into three Malay states
gring his first year of office at Singapore. In the next

ipter, an account is given of how this experiment worked
it in practice.




Chapter 10

THE BRITISH RESIDENT SYSTEM
A.D. 1874-1895

he early British Residents in the Malay States hg

no system to follow and no clear rules to guide thes

This experiment of British ‘advice' depended p
on how much the advice was wanted by the Malay autho
and partly on how strongly the Resident was likely to
supported by the Straits government. Under the terms of
Pangkor Engagement the Resident was entitled, strie
speaking, to advise on very little. Questions touching
religion and custom were not included among those on whi
his advice was to be sought and acted upon. There was sou
possibility of separating purely religious matters from
politics, but custom ran through everything. How were
revenues and the general administration of the state t0
regulated under the advice of the Resident without touchi
matters of custom? The revenues were, by custom
personal incomes of the Sultan and his chiefs; there
also all kinds of customary claims, through family
to the offices of state.

Even in the case of a Sultan willing to take advice, the
remained the practical difficulty of how to carry out,
changes. The governments of the Malay States at this
were not centralised, and there was no civil service:
early Resident, on taking up his appointment stood very
on his own; if his advice was to be put into practice, he
the one who had to do it. The Resident, it would seel,
the choice of either doing nothing much, or of giving &€
# ‘Nothing, ham, ‘with any p to asystemhad®

formulated,’ British Malaya, p. 217.
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acting upon it himself. In the latter case, he inevitably
e a government executive, and not just an adviser.

Malay opinion the Resident, if he actively undertook
ge the administration and the revenue system, was a
ner, ignorant of Malay ways, and possibly seeking to
a fortune. The Malay state was a collection of private
and private privileges and interests, and anyone who
d to interfere with these was bound to meet opposition
kind or another. The conception of a modern and
onal state, existing as a public institution, had no
the minds of the Malay Sultans or their chiefs in
en the appointment of a Malay prince from another
act as the representative of the Sultan helped to fan
ames of civil war in Selangor. It is not difficult to see

ined similar powers in Perak, and was using them
revolutionary manner.

position of the early British Resident would have
elicate and difficult enough even if the Malay States
en in a stable condition when he took up his appoint-
it this, of course, was far from being the case. It was
il wars among Malays and Chinese, and between ele-
of both, together with the subsidiary piracy opera-
in the Straits, which had provided the opportunity for
_intervention, and many problems of law and order
ll outstanding in the three states to which British
were first sent. The Resident had no strong mili-
with which he could handle a violent situation.
| Speedy, Assistant Resident in Perak, was better off
it in this respect, because he already had a police
h he had trained while in the service of the Mantri
appointment as Resident by the Straits govern-
was also in the worst trouble-spot so far as the
Tivalries were concerned. Yet his forces were not
thad a ‘Residency Guard’ of twenty-five Sepoys, and
ree of about one hundred and sixty, mainly Indian,
g a small group of Chinese. At Bandar Bahru, in
ik, the first British Resident had a small garrison
between fifty and sixty, nearly all Indians. Not
€ these garrisons small, but they have also been
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described as unreliable.! Recruits from India were of mixeg
quality, and at first it was impossible to recruit reliahlg
Malays. ‘
The Resident’s opinions could therefore not be backed up
by an impressive show of force, unless this was forthcoming
from the Straits Settlements. In a matter of serious disp
between the Sultan and the Resident, it was possible for g
Straits Governor to use pressure, and even a threat tg
withdraw British acknowledgment of that Sultan in fave T
of another prince, but a Governor would be unlikely to send
armed forces unless he felt that he could clearly justify
action to his home government. On the other hand, from
Malay point of view, the British government might seem
be standing squarely behind the Residents. Malays told
Swettenham that he and other Residents were thrown out
bait by the British government. ‘If the Malay chiefs swallowed
the bait, they would find themselves on the British hook
course, no one would worry about the bait.”? The genei
directions from the Colonial Office in the 1870s were muel
more cautious, however, than the moves made both by Cla
and by Sir William Jervois, his successor at Singapore.
British military forces were used in two instances. On @
small scale they were used in support of the Dato Klana 0
Sungei Ujong against his rival, the Dato Bandar. On a muel
bigger scale they were employed to hunt down the leaders of
the movement which had caused the murder of the fi
British Resident in Perak. The campaign in Perak had th
effect of removing from the scene all the main oppositiol
leaders, and, at the same time, of serving as a warning agains
militant opposition in the futare.
Much, of course, depended upon the personal relatio '
ship between the Resident and the Sultan and his chie. ,
The Viceroy of Selangor had had friendly contacts WitA
Singapore before 1874, and he was pleased to have Brih_
recognition of his status. The Resident appointed to advil
him, late in 1874, was J. G. Davidson, who had already beé

\ Ei. by J. M. Gullick in ‘Captain Speedy of Larut, JRASME, Vo, 26, pt-

. 45-6.
*F. Swettenham, British Malaya, p. 219.
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personal adviser and financial supporter during the civil
Kudin and Davidson were, in Swettenham’s words, ‘old
nds'. As a newcomer to Selangor, and victorious over those
jefs who had resisted his authority, Kudin was both less
servative about the Selangor administration and better
Je to enforce the introduction of any changes. Davidson, by
counts, was a quiet and patient man tactful about Malay
irs, and sound on financial matters. He and Kudin made
nodest start with a government treasury and police force
g. For six years the mainly Chinese settlement at
Lumpur continued under the rule of Capitan China,
Ah Loy. Even after the transfer of the British Residency
n Klang to Kuala Lumpur in 1880, Ah Loy was still a
to be reckoned with, and he found ways and means of
tely obstructing the Resident’s plans when these did not
. Generally, however, he was on friendly terms with
sh Resident especially while Swettenham held that
from 1882 until Ah Loy’s death in 1885. Previously
nham himself had been on good terms with the old
, Abdul Samad, at Langat.

Vet all was not ful in Selangor. In November, 1875,
8 Mahdi, from exile in Johore, was planning a renewed
against Kudin (and, indirectly, against British inter-
), with the aid of Sumatran Malays at Cheras and
in the Langat valley. Davidson had a police force
er the command of a very able young officer, Syers, who
ained as military police a detachment of Malay and

mercenaries who had fought for Kudin. With these

8, and further Malay recruits, Syers and Davidson

ed Kuala Lumpur, where Ah Loy added a Chinese

nt. Cheras and Kajang were then easily taken, and
olt was over.

Sungei Ujong, the Dato Klana’s position was bol-

by a British military garrison. He was attacked by

ang-di-Pertuan under the influence of other

Mgkabau states which did not. approve of the Klana's

8 with the British. Although the Yang-di-Pertuan,

Antah, was defeated and went into temporary exile,

British influence in the Minangkabau states re-

'®d limited to Sungei Ujong until 1883. By the time of
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Tunku Antah's defeat in 1878, the Colonial Office, beari,
in mind the recent Perak War, recommended that p
further extension of the Resident system should be g
tempted in this region until the experiment had proyg
itself successful elsewhere.
It was with Perak that the first negotiations for a Britj
Resident had taken place during the meeting at Pangkor:
January 1874, Perak also provided the scene for the dramat
murder of the first British Resident, and, later, for the wor
of the most successful exponent of the early Resident syster
In Larut Captain Speedy, as Assistant Resident, ha 1
fairly free hand between January and November 1874, N
Resident was appointed to Perak until November, and |
Mantri, dissatisfied by the proceedings at Pangkor, tog
practically no part in the government. He even contempl
sending his Penang lawyer to England in an attempt to
his claim to status as an independent ruler recognised aj
Speedy was fortunate in having the minimum of Malag
opposition. Apart from the Mantri, there was no other chi
of importance in Larut. Although the Mantri became draw
into the plot for the overthrow of the British Resident
Perak, he was not an active opponent of Speedy. Many @
Speedy's early problems were concerned with the Chine
tin-mining groups. ‘Fighting men’, who had been impo;
from China during the Larut wars, stayed on, and th
leaders demanded a share in the profits of the mines whid
had been promised to them. Friction occurred between
headmen of the miners and the leaders — or ‘Panglimas’ 8
they were known — of the fighting men. Speedy took a i
line, and banished some of the leading trouble-makers.
Speedy next-attempted to ban the Secret Societies all
gether, making them illegal in Larut. This proved to be 8
task beyond his powers, for the two Societies continued U
function, really in secret, whilst their leaders made an 8
pearance of co-operation by betraying the existence of
new Society which was starting up. Speedy did, however,
the Chinese headmen, who were Secret Society leaders, &
liaison officers with the Chinese community, and he recof
nised their position by the title ‘Capitan China’.
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“With the aid of his police force Speedy put down a cer-
in amount of lawl and he blished a Court of
in Larut, where the Penal Code of the Straits Settle-
was applied. It seemed as though a satisfactory
on of law and order had been achieved, yet it is doubtful
far Speedy’s policies were aceeptable. When, in November
75, conspiracy against British rule in Perak was reaching
Jimax further south, the Malays of Kuala Kurau were
gparing to rebel against Speedy; the Chinese headmen in
t had been informed of the plans of the Malay chiefs,
were keeping quiet.

The export duty on tin was made a direct government
and Speedy had two British officials to supervise this
, Marples as Treasurer, and Peterson as Harbour-Master
Customs Officer at the Larut estuary. There were import
ties on opium and spirits, which were paid at first by the
tinese headmen, who imported these commodities for resale
jthe mine-labourers. In 1875 the Resident of Perak decided
m out the revenue from these sources, as was the usual
tice in the Straits Settlements. The choice of the first
-farmer was unfortunate. He was Cheng Tee, a Ghee Hin,
was in partnership with a Singapore financier, Kim
g, to whom Sultan Abdullah was indebted. This tax-
roused great resentment in the Chinese headmen, who
w lost an important source of profit themselves. Those
ho belonged to the Hai San group naturally had a second
ason for hostility, since the farm was in the hands of a
Hin. The miners themselves felt they would be worse
f under the new arrangement, and as many as 3,000 to
000 of them were said to have left Larut for other areas,
itluding Klang, where the opium duty would be less.
“The maintenance of law and order and the establishment
& revenue system were among the most important of the
sident’s duties. Other tasks included the planning and
*veloping of t hips, and the impr of

ns. In Larut Speedy laid out a site for a new town in
of the two main mining areas. The town in the Hai San
he named ‘Thaipeng’ (‘Everlasting Peace’); the Ghee
town took the local Malay place-name, Kamunting.
Vettenham described these towns in very favourable terms
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in the Journal of his visit to Perak in the months of Apri]
and early May 1874. He noted that the houses at Thaipeng,
(which he identified as Tai Kong) had been built in a ‘mar.
vellously short time, and very nice looking houses they arg
too, all alike, going up on both sides of what will be very
shortly a good street’.! There were at least 250 houses in all,
Similarly, Kamunting with its 200 or 300 houses had all the
appearances of a peaceful and flourishing new township,

The only roads in Larut at the time of Speedy’s appoint.
ment were those built by the Mantri, consisting of one road
seven miles long from the mouth of the river Larut towards.
the mines, with another branch extending to Kota and Bukit,
Gantang. Logs sunk in the mud provided the road surface,
and this was in very bad condition. Ox-carts and buffalo-
carts provided the usual means of transport when the road
could be used; elephants could follow a track of some sort in
the most difficult of conditions.

Speedy repaired this road system as well as he could by
using stone from the tin-workings, and he even extended the
roads inland. His biggest difficulty was that of preparing a
good road surface for the coastal stretch of the road, which
lay on very swampy land several miles from the nearest
supply of stone. Public buildings, including a Courthouse, a
Residency building, and the renovation of the Mantri's gaol,
were also part of Speedy’s work, entailing further expendi-
ture and also technical problems for which no experts were
available.

The Mantri received a fixed income of between 8 per cent
and 9 per cent of the Larut revenue each year, and Speedy
governed largely without consulting him. Speedy published
his own Report for 1874, including a statement of revenue,
from which it was quite obvious that the administration was
directly in his hands. The Mantri’s feelings on the matter
must have been bitter. Although he enjoyed greater personal
security, his income was much smaller than previously, and
he had heavy war-debts in Penang. He saw the Larut district
governed by a man whom he had originally employed and
paid as his own Chief of Police. He could only forestall

L€ D, Cowan feditor), 'Swettenham's Perak Journals, 1874-18767, p. 44
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eward questions from Malays by spreading the idea that
,dy was working under his orders. It is not surprising
t the Mantri was willing to join a Malay resistance move-
against the new order,

From November 1874 Speedy was subject to supervision
. the newly-appointed Resident of Perak, James Birch.
¢h had been in the colonial service for nearly thirty years,
aly in Ceylon. Since 1870 he had been Colonial Secretary
e Straits Settlements. After Pangkor, he applied for the
v post of Resident in Perak, and in April-May 1874, he was
it on a visit to the west-coast states, accompanied by
ttenham, to observe conditions and report back to Sir
rew Clarke. Swettenham was his interpreter and as-
int. Birch met Yusuf at Senggang, and Ismail at Blanja,
d he reported that they were both opposed to the Pangkor
ment. A month later Swettenham was sent to try to
ade both Yusuf and Ismail to come to Penang to meet
irke. This was an extremely delicate mission, and only
jat perseverance on Swettenham’s part made any progress
ible at all. Yusuf was persuaded to go to Penang, but
declined and remained at Blanja. Yusuf met Clarke
d became willing to accept British policy, seeing in it,
aps, the ibility of his own ad

the months between the Pangkor Engagement and
pointment of Birch, Abdullah carried on government
his own fashion in Lower Perak. According to
ttenham, he was ‘weak, inordinately vain and hopelessly
agant’. Abdullah farmed out the taxes of Kuala Perak
Singapore friend and financial supporter, Cheng Tee,
,000 dollars, receiving half the payment in advance.
50 sold land concessions without any reference to the
or with whom he had concluded the treaty.

us, when Birch arrived in November 1874, the estu-
lls were in the hands of a Chinese tax-farmer who had
good money to Abdullah. Abdullah had granted land in
Krian district, where the Mantri had claims, to a Rawa
f Che’Karim, for the purpose of opening up tin-mines.
at Senggang was reconciled, for the time being, to
ish policy, but Ismail at Blanja, and the Upper Perak
8, wanted no dealings with the British Resident.
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From the first there was a wide gulf between Abd;
and Birch, and, as time went on, this became wider. Abdu]
had taken a British Resident mainly as a means of obtaini
acknowledgment of his claim to be Sultan. He probal
thought of a Resident as a junior official who would ta
orders from him, and whose advice, if listened to at all, coy
either be taken or ignored. Certainly he envisaged p
revolutionary changes in the administration of the state, ang
no diminution of his own existing authority. A sensitive ang
pleasure-loving man, Abdullah had to be approached
the greatest diplomacy before he would be likely to agree 4
any changes. b

Birch came to his new post with a keen sense of purpo
and tremendous energy, but with little sensitivity of the de
cateness of his situation. He wished to modernise the
ministration of Perak along the lines of his experience
Ceylon and the Straits il and diture
would be in the hands of government officials; law would
administered as a function of a centralised government, ang
a public police force would maintain order. Existing customs
which barred the way to these plans would have to go.

Birch was an idealist in a hurry. He had little knowledgey
and no appreciation, of Malay traditions. In his zeal for refo
he probably failed to grasp just how revolutionary his ide
appeared to the Sultan and his chiefs. Opposition would nf
in any case, have deterred him from doing what he considere
to be his duty. He realised at times that his life was if
danger, but he noted that if one Mr. Birch died, anoths
would take his place. Although his intentions were hon
and well-meaning, his actions were highhanded, and th
inevitably aroused feelings of slight and injury in Malay
leaders sensitive of their own traditional dignities and powers:
Birch also suffered from the disadvantage of speaking through
a Malay interpreter. A good knowledge of Malay was
primary requirement for a British official in a Malay statéy
and the advantage which this gave, for instance, 1
Swettenham and Hugh Low can hardly be overestimatets
Personal relationships were all important in states whe
government was such a personal affair, and these were n0%
assisted by talks and conferences which had to pass through
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q interpreter. A Malay interpreter had the worst of both
1ds. With habitual politeness he would try to cushion the
rpness of the views exchanged between Birch and the
y leaders, and, in so doing, he did not help the cause of
her side.

Firmness and speed were the essential features of Birch's
He explained that there was to be only one joint farm
opium, spirits, and gambling in the state, and that taxes
rivers would be collected by government officers backed
police force. There would be one high court judge for the
hole state, who would sentence unlawful tax-gatherers.
irch instituted new customs duties on tin and other com-
ities, and attempted to regularise both the places and
e procedure of tax-collection.

'1 would tell the chiefs of Perak that . .. we would not
ullow any of them to levy taxes in v.hmr own names, but
must have the revenue all collected at proper and stat.ed
places, and by a fixed method, and in the name of the
Sultan only; and if they chose to attempt to take taxes,
_or rather levy blackmail on their own account, the result
would be that we should stop it by force....

Blrch followed up these instructions by taking action
ainst ‘illegal’ toll-stations which he came across on his
er journeys. These measures were bitterly resented by the
fs concerned, and by their relatives in other posts of
ithority.

W'hl]e Birch was offending the chiefs in this matter of
% ion, he was also ying them by his attitude to
ry and debt -bondage. Every chief had bondsmen and
dswomen, and the custom of bondage had deep roots.
me chiefs also had slaves of non-Muslim stock. Birch soon
it clear that these were customs of which he strongly
pproved, and his Residency at Bandar Bahru became a
for fugitives of one status or the other who were
Mpting to escape from their masters. Speedy in Larut
% exactly the same problem. The numbers of people

oled from R, 0. Winstedt and R. J, Wilkingon, ‘A History of Perak’, p. 104
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concerned were small, but an important principle wag
stake. Should the Resident give protection to the refug
or should he see that they were returned to the chief
whom they had fled? If he protected them, this might
increase the number of such cases, and it would ce
anger the chiefs. If he returned them, he might feel th;
was condemning the runaways to unknown punishmg
and was condoning a system with which he was ng
agreement. Speedy respected Malay custom and retun
the slaves or bondsmen; Birch was inclined to give th
asylum and support their efforts to escape.
Whilst Birch's relations with the Malay leaders
steadily getting worse, there still remained the ta
persuading the up-river chiefs, including the elected
Ismail, to recognise Abdullah’s authority, and to hand
to him the State regalia. In early January 1875 Bircht
ranged a meeting of the Malay chiefs at Blanja, in the hi
that Ismail would on this occasion hand over the regalia
accept Abdullah as Sultan. It was a tribute to Birch's |
sistence that the meeting took place at all, but it did
work out the way he had hoped. The Mantri came to Bl&
but did not attend the conference. The Maharaja Lela, a do
river chief, stayed away. Abdullah would not talk to Vi
Ismail. Ismail was, apparently, polite, but nobody.
anything that mattered, and after three hours evel
including Birch, had had enough. Unknown to Birch,
had sent a message to Ismail which sabotaged whatever$
hopes there might have been of an agreement. Abdul
Ismail that he was not coming of his own free
asked Ismail not to agree to hand over the regalia, or ¥
installation of himself as Sultan. Otherwise, added Abd
‘Perak will be given over to the English, for my wo!
caused me to be much indebted to them.’
Abdullah and Birch were, in fact, working at
purposes. As Birch went off to Penang to Jet the opiuft
spirits farm, Abdullah resumed his normal practl
farming out the taxes for ready money. Birch retur®
deliver another of his addresses on the subject of t&
and to try, without success, to persuade first Abdull
Ismail, to visit the Governor of the Straits Settlem
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reliable indication of the course of events was the
ding of a strong stockade round his village at Pasir
k by Maharaja Lela.
A Malay deputation did call on the Governor at Singa-
n May 1875. This was led by the Laksamana and Raja
(who was later to become Sultan). It arrived at Singa-
a time when Sir Andrew Clarke was handing over to
gssor, Sir William Jervois. The inopportune timing,
je fact that this was a secret mission so far as Birch
rned, prevented the Malay group from having their
seriously heard.
eanwhile Birch was energetically touring the river
of Perak and trying, whenever he saw Abdullah, to
e royal seal affixed to notices for the new taxes.
h could always find reasons for a postponement of
system. In July Abdullah managed to call together
sentative conference of Malay chiefs at Durian
a little north of his own headquarters, Batak
this move Abdullah became the leader of a Malay
for the removal of Birch and all that he stood
I did not attend, but he sent a letter agreeing to
for the removal of Birch. The meeting decided to
co-operation of Ismail and the up-river chiefs in
the British out of Perak, and the Maharaja Lela
to stab the Resident.
relationships between Abdullah and Birch became
cidents, humiliating to the Sultan or infuriating
le vdent, increased. There were further disputes about
Land refugee-slaves. Under pressure, Abdullah signed
ions giving control of all taxes, and the right to
d dismiss headmen, to the Resident and the
. At the same time the Resident and Raja Dris
ted Judges. Abdullah followed this by ordering
‘enang, and by attending a spirit séance at which
: th was symbolically forecast by the use of Malay

ptember Perak received a visit from Governor
new Governor realised that little real progress
made in Perak either towards the general ac-
Of Abdullah as Sultan, or towards the establish-
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ment of a public revenue system. He wanted powers
control for the British Resident, not merely the right g
advise, The Malay chiefs would be given pensions, ang
the actual government would be in the hands of Bri
officials appointed by the Crown. Jervois had put the
views in a letter to the Secretary of State for the Coloj
in July, and his visit to Perak was aimed at seeing wh
could be done to further them in a series of persong
interviews with the Malay leaders.
Tsmail would have nothing to do with Jervois's proposal
Yusufand Dris signed letters asking the British government
take over the government of Perak. Abdullah temporised,
finally, at the end of September, signed a letter accepting
Governor's proposals. Yusuf, Dris, and Abdullah all receiy
written promises of pensions. A further letter from the
nor suggested that Abdullah would remain Sultan, and {l
British officers would administer the state in his name.J
ternatively, in the event of a refusal by Abdullah, the
terms were to be offered to Yusuf. :
Abdullah was now pressed by Birch to sign proclamal
which gave the new policy in practical terms. British office
Perak were to have the power of judges and the right to ap)
magistrates. They were to be the Sultan’s representati
the collection and administration of revenue, and for thi
pointment of all chiefs and headmen, together with theg
administration of the country. Abdullah only signed 8
proc\ammionsunder threat that they would other wisebeoft
to Yusuf. 3
When these proclamations and Abdullah's earlier I
of acceptance were received in Singapore, Jervois Worke
the details of the new form of government, which was
in the name of the Sultan through Commissioners &
sistant Commissioners of the Queen. Jervois now T
his policy for the first time to the Colonial Office and, &
simultaneously, he received a reply to his earlier 8
written in July. Lord Carnarvon, in this reply, wow
agree to any immediate extension of British control in
and stated that the Resident system must be given & 4
period of trial. The Governor was now, however, 00,
committed to withdraw
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The situation in Perak was approaching a crisis. Despite
mises to the contrary, Birch continued to give aid to fe-
e slaves or bondswomen who sought refuge at the Resi-
Abdullah made contact with Ismail in a common front
oppose the British control to which he had Jjust given his
nt. He also sent his approval of the Maharaja Lela’s
 to kill Birch when he came to his village at Pasir Salak.
and his chiefs agreed to support the Maharaja, and to
up Birch’s death with an attack on the Residency,
late October Swettenham brought from Singapore
d copies of the proclamations and the new instructions,
he went up-river to distribute some of these, and to
Jain the new system in the inland villages, while Birch
§ carrying out the same work in Lower Perak. Abdullah
mail now both sent supplies and arms to Maharaja
, and Abdullah finally sent a kris.
en Birch arrived at the Maharaja's village, Pasir Salak,
lovember 1st, he was confronted with a scene of armed
ility which he either underestimated or simply ignored.
sting of the proclamations next morning on the wooden
8 of a Chinese shop-house served as a signal for the
tk on Birch, The proclamations were torn down, and
was speared to death through the palm-leaf walls of
erside bath-house near which his boat lay moored.
ham, in Upper Perak, was in a very dangerous
on. As the news of Birch’s death moved up-river,
btenham decided his best chance of escape was to make
IStream, even though this meant passing through Pasir
K. He was accompanied on his Jjourney by Raja Mahmud
angor, who had been extremely loyal to him since the
of the Selangor War. They passed through Pasir Salak
2nised, at one o'clock in the morning, and reached
Bahru to find that the Residency had not yet been

iere was no well-planned and determined Malay rising.
lack on the Residency by Maharaja Lela’s men was
ff, possibly by Abdullah,' who now posed as having
) part in the attack on Birch. Birch's boat, a ‘Sampan

©. Winstedt and R, J, Wilkinson, ‘A History of Perak’, p. 115
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Naga’, had been sent up-river to Ismail as proof of the g
sination, but Ismail sent it downstream again, having
wish to explain its presence in his district. In other wop
having agreed on Birch’s death, the Malay leaders took:
cautions, arming their men and sending their wives
families to greater safety, but waited on developments,

The Residency was reinforced from Penang. Jervois
in person with troops from Singapore, and, by the e
November, other British naval and military forces had a
from India and Hong Kong. This military expedition
its way up-river, with a second co'umn entering via
Little serious resistance was encountered. Only Pasir
would appear to have been strongly prepared for defence
the middle of 1876 all those implicated in the assassina
had been arrested. The Maharaja Lela and his followers,
tried under two Malay judges and two British assesso
Matang; Lela and two others were convicted and execul
fsmail fled to Kedah and later agreed to live in exile
Johore. Abdullah, the Mantri, and the Shahbandar, for th
complicity in the plot were brought to Singapore and sent
live with their families in the Seychelles. Of the lea
Malay chiefs only Yusuf was exonerated from blame, and
now became recognised by the British, first as ‘Regent,
in 1886 as Sultan of Perak,

Birch, after only one year in office, had fallen a
partly to his own temperament and actions, and pa
the policy of British control which he and Jervois saw a8
only means of bringing modern government to Perak.
attack on Birch was not merely a personal one. It Wi
attempt by Malay leaders to drive out political and econ 0
innovations which would place them under foreign rul
which would rob them of their customary sources of we
prestige, and authority. ,

After this ‘Perak War', there was much heart-sear®
on both sides. Malay opposition to British influence &
lacked leadership, and became centred in certain vill#
from which, however, trouble could still be expected

1 Another Pasir Salak man had previously been tried, ander Raja DA
exeeuted at Bandar Bahru
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British side, Jervois was rebuked by the Colonial Office
is unofficial policy of rule by Commissioners in the
of the Sultan, which was thought to be the reason
e hostile outbreak. The Resident system was con-
with the Resident once again confined to the giving
ce. Co-operation on these lines was still going to be
(difficult for many years. There were, however, some
ntages in the situation of 1876. No one was left to
jute Yusuf's title, and all the other prominent Malay
res who had played leading parts in recent years were
_absent from the scene. Although resentment still
suldered in some Malay villages, it was not so likely to
gk out into open rebellion after witnessing the passage
the river of a large British force in 1875-6, Even at
e of Birch’s death, no general Malay rising was
ent. On the other hand Yusuf, the new ruler, was
and unpopular, perhaps increasingly unpopular
g the remaining chiefs because of his acceptance of
sh policy. A new Resident not only had the task of
g himself acceptable to the Malays; he also had to
is influence to make Yusuf acceptable to his own

e new Acting-Resident was J. G. Davidson, the friend
Kudin, who was transferred from Selangor to Perak in
He worked under great difficulties. To begin with, the
commanders were virtually in charge, and when the
ps were withdrawn, he had to raise and pay for a large
ice force of Sikhs and Malays under European officers as
ution against further troubles. There was insufficient
enue to meet this urgent need, and there was also a heavy
ebt. Within a year Davidson had resigned from his
ppy position. His interests lay mainly in Selangor, and
‘Eippointment in Perak had, in any case, been a provisional

i e appointment of Davidson’s successor, Hugh Low,
0 was to be Resident in Perak for the next twelve years
-89), marked the beginning of a happier and more
I and prosperous era. Low’s success in Perak served
model for Residents in other states, and, in so far as
Te was any ‘system’ at all about the work of the British

ents in the early years of this experiment, it was Low
reated it.
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Yet at the beginning of Low’s term of office in Perak j;
achievement could hardly have been foreseen. He succeeq
an able man who had surrendered the job. There was
reserve of money; there were problems of law and ord
Malay co-operation was very doubtful, and there was
difficulty of working with Yusuf. The old issues of taxati
and debt-bondage had still to be faced, and there were ¢
barrassing visits from the needy relatives and kinsmen
those leaders who had been sent into exile. '

Low was a newcomer to Malaya, aged a little over fifty
with a striking white beard. He was originally — and
some extent he always remained — a botanist. He had s
most of the previous thirty years in Borneo, where he start;
in the service of Raja Brooke of Sarawak, and he came
Perak from Labuan, where he had been Colonial Secreta

Low had the advantage of speaking Malay, and he w
also familiar with Malay customs, including that of de
bondage. Just as Birch had lived at Bandar Bahru in Lo e
Perak so as to be near Abdullah, so Low took up his stati
at Kuala Kangsar to be near Yusuf. Larut was brought wil
the direct sphere of the Resident, and the Assistant Reside
was moved, at a reduced salary, to Durian Sabatang, in Lows
Perak. Captain Speedy, who was not in good favour wil
Governor Jervois, had to make this unwelcome change’
situation, but he resigned late in 1877. His successors in
office need not concern us here. The wife of one of them,
Mrs. Innes, wrote a book with the title The Chersonese
the Gilding Off, published in 1885. She gives an unflatte!
picture of Durian Sabatang. This centre was soon shown
be too far upstream for river steamers to come there
safety, and its place was taken later by Telok Melin
renamed Telok Anson.

Low judiciously blended great tact and patience with:
occasional show of firmness. He worked on the principle th
when dealing with members of another race, one shauldj
at least as considerate as to members of one's own race,
infinitely more patient. He made himself accessible to
who wished to see him, and he showed an understand®
attitude to the customs and problems of the Malays. He M%
no attempt, for instance, to interfere in any way with ¥
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ice of debt-bondage until such time as it should be
slished by the law of the state. He aimed, above all, at
ining the confidence of those whom he met. In Winstedt's
rds, ‘his personality appealed to the Malay’, while the
sinese responded to the more settled conditions and were
en given tepresentation in the State government.

‘Compensation or employment as State officers was offered
 the chiefs who would lose their old rights under a system
s hublic revenue. A civil list of pensions and annuities was
up, but many chiefs became government tax-collectors,
titled to a fixed salary out of their receipts. The police
was reduced by giving police duties to village headmen.
spointments to offices were made by Low in the name of
Sultan, but Malay opinion was consulted first. A land-
¢ was substituted for the old personal rights of the chiefs
forced labour. Rivers were placed under State control.
arts of Justice were introduced, presided over by European,
assisted by Malay, magistrates; Raja Dris sat as a
ge for many years in the Kuala Kangsar Court. The state
s divided into districts under European and Malay district

s,
Slavery and debt bondage gradually began to lose their
iportance, and even, in some cases, their function. The new
ministration outdated, for instance, the role of the armed
tainer in the service of his chief, while improvements in
unications increased trade both internally and exter-
and emphasised the importance of a money-economy
d of a system of feudal obligations. On January 1st,
, slavery and bondage in Perak came to an end by law,
compensatory sums of money payable to the former
ers.
hind all this was the Resident, but the authority
h which he worked was the State Council, which Low,
his flair for co-operation, brought into existence.! The
was its President, and the other members included
leading Malay chiefs, and Chinese leaders. The Resident

he idea may have come from the Colonial Office, and perhaps, originally
Jervois. (Cf. Letter from Carnavon to Jervois une 1st, 1876, in
- Parkinson, British Intervention in Maleya, 1867-1577, pp. 313-17)
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was a member of this Council, but his ideas could only pg
put into practice with the agreement of the other membepg
A tactful and respected Resident could often carry the Coup,
cil with him. Once decisions were taken, they were no long
his proposals, they were the orders of the Council. When hjg
ideas were not accepted, he could drop the subject tactful]
and, if necessary, bring it up again on a later and morg
opportune occasion. All important acts of State stemmed from
this Council. It dealt with the annual estimates of reveny
and expenditure; the appointments and salaries and pension
of all Malay chiefs and headmen; the confirmation g

dification of death t passed in the Courts. At th
Council meetings, business was conducted in Malay and
Resident discussed all important matters which came wi
his sphere. The Perak State Council was so successful th
its pattern was copied by other States.

Low was careful about money. He practised strict economy
in expenditure, and transformed a heavy State-debt into
credit balance within six years. He left Perak, when he re
tired in 1889, with an annual revenue of over two mill
dollars, and a credit balance of one and half million dol
‘It would be difficult’, says Swettenham, ‘to overstate
value of his twelve years’ work.

The work of the Resident increased in scope with
passage of time and the greater availability of money, either
in the form of surplus revenue or in loans negotiated with
the Straits Settlements. One field of enterprise was the im
provement of communications. This was itself a stimulus #
increased production and trade; indirectly, it aided
centralisation of the State government. Rivers were clea
and road-making was begun in the form of six-foot-wide earth
bridle roads, which were later widened and metalled. Thesé
roads were built in the tin-mining districts, linking the mines
with the growing townships; they played only a minor part
at first in connecting the mines to the coast. In Selangor, f
example, a road was built up by the joint efforts of Ah Lo
and the British Resident from Kuala Lumpur to Damansaré
fifteen miles down river. From Damansara, it was stil

\Britixh Malaya, p. 252
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ary to proceed to Klang by boat, By 1885 Selangor had
cart-road running from the northern to the southern

1 e

, and more so far as the tin
was concerned, was the introduction of railways. In-an
 of high faith in railways in Britain, British Residents
w railways as the answer to the problem of tin-transport.
1885 Low had a railway line operating from Taiping to
petang (later Port Weld) on the Larut River. Before this
was completed, Swettenham had started work on a longer
t-west railway to Klang, with half the necessary capital
rowed from the Straits government, the other half to be
pvided from revenue as the work proceeded. Skilled labour
railway construction in both Perak and Selangor was
oduced from India and Ceylon. Before the end of 1886
Kuala Lumpur line ran to Bukit Kuda on the north bank
river, opposite Klang. This line was later taken by
to Klang, and eventually to Port Swettenham. Before
two other lines were opened, one by government, from
Road to Telok Anson in Perak, the other, by the Sungei
Company, from Seremban to Port Dickson. These
ay lines not only speeded up the two-way traffic be-
en the mining areas and the Straits; they also brought
itional revenue to the state by stimulating a greater output
in, and by running at a profit themselves.

All kinds of amenities were required by the growing
ips. These included the planning of sites, building
ations, drainage, water-supply, street lighting, and the
ion of some kind of public medical service. All these
formed part of the work of the early Residents, though
elopment of Town Sanitary Boards about 1890 relieved
Resident of much direct contact with the local details.
ident felt a particular responsibility for dealing with
ics such as smallpox and cholera, and it was extremely
It for him to gain co-operation in the drastic measures
he often had to take to check the spread of infectious

make the State more prosperous Residents encouraged
ettlements and the development of plantation agricul-
Settled political conditions and better ications
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also, of course, contributed to this end. Plantations of y
1880s and early 1890s included pepper, sugar, gambier,
tobacco, all, except sugar, worked on a small scale by Ma
Chinese, and Javanese, together with a new series of Ey
pean plantations in Perak, Selangor, and Negri Sembi
which were mainly concerned with the growing of Libe;
coffee. When the coffee-boom gave place to a rubber-boom;
is interesting to note, some experimental work on the By
zilian rubber-tree had already been done by Hugh Loy
the Residency gardens at Kuala Kangsar.

The early Resident was not just an office man, A
deal of his time was spent in travelling about the St
meeting people and studying local problems and conditig
at first hand. He kept a daily Journal, which was a mixtuj
of official reports and personal diary, and this was sent frof
time to time to Singapore. In addition, the Resident sent|
the Governor of the Straits Settlements for his approval
annual estimate of revenue and expenditure, and an Anny
Report. The Residents were nominated by the Governor ai
approved by the Secretary of State for the Colonies,
apart from the annual returns, the Governor could on
exercise any effective control over a Resident by visiting
State concerned. According to Swettenham, apart from a
period (1876-82) when there was at Singapore a Secret
for Malay Affairs (Swettenham himself), there was no one i
Singapore until 1896 who ‘had knowledge enough to criticil
successfully the actions of the Residents’.! This may have lé
the Residents with wide powers in practice, but they d
receive general instructions from Singapore not to exct
their function, which was to advise. They did, of course, *
much more than offer advice, but by co-operation, and
machinery of the State Council, the Resident appeared |
more a business partner than a managing director. The Sult
retained prestige and had an important political role 8
President of the State Council. As the State prospered,
he and the leading Malay chiefs were aware that the
regime was not without advantages for them.

Emphasis has been given to the Resident system in Pe
where it began, where it met its greatest crisis, and whi
it achieved a success which was copied elsewhere. Referen!

' British Malaya, p, 247
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also been made to Selangor, where the Residency was
‘at Klang and later at Kuala Lumpur. It now remains
to mention the extension of the Resident system to
‘Minangkabau States after Sungei Ujong, and, finally,
ang.
Sungei Ujong, the Dato Klana was only too willing to
British advice. The Assistant Resident there introduced
ry and the collection of revenue in the name of the
y, as well as a magistrate's court, a police force, and a
. In 1877 disputes between the states of Jelebu and
au were brought to the Maharaja (formerly Temenggong)
ore, Abu Bakar, for his arbitration. Abu Bakar was not
ant to take this opportunity of renewing, to some extent,
erdohoreinfluencein thisregion, butthe Minangkabau
s themselves were divided on this point for the tribal
dmen had not been consulted by their chiefs. The tribal
dmen secured a reversal of this policy, and Rembau and
buasked the Straits government to become arbiter in place
Maharaja. In 1886 and 1887 respectively Jelebu and
accepted British administrative officers and British
etion; in 1889 the rest of the small states also placed
nselves under British protection, and the confederation of
e States began to take shape. British influence, notably the
of an ex-coffee-planter Resident, Martin Lister, served as
ing factor, and by 1898 Negri Sembilan was a federal
@ with a Yang-di-Pertuan and one British Resident.
A number of only partially-related circumstances led to
lish intervention in Pahang. In 1882, with the approval of
faharaja of Johore, Ahmad, victor of the civil war twenty
I8 previously, took the title of Sultan. During the following
r a boundary dispute arose between Pahang and Jelebu,
it the time when the headmen of Jelebu were beginning to
 British protection. The Straits Governor, Sir Cecil Smith,
to mediate in this dispute. He also tried to re-establish
ly relations between Ahmad and his brother, Mansur,
‘whom he had quarrelled. Mansur was causing trouble by
BMpting to use Selangor as a base for attacks on Pahang. In
Swettenham was sent from Perak, where he was Acting-



186 A History of Malaya

Resident, to visit the Sultan at Pekan to try to settle g
boundary question, to seek a reconciliation between Ahp
and Mansur, and to propose the idea of a treaty betwe,
Singapore and Pahang. Nothing really came of this meetjp
but on his return Swettenham recommended to the Governg
the appointment of an Agent at Pekan to watch the interes;
British subjects. The Sultan was at this time granting con,
sions of land to European companies who associated thy
selves with Malays or Arabs. In tin-and gold-mining areg
these concessions caused trouble because they sometimes ovey
looked the existing rights of Malay and Chinese miners,

In 1887 the Straits Governor finally obtained a tre;
from the Sultan through a diplomatic visit by Hugh Clifforg
a young officer who, not long before, had worked at
Residency of Hugh Low in Kuala Kangsar. The main
nificance of this was the appointment of a British Agent af
Pekan, and Clifford was himself placed in this new post.
functions were defined as similar to those of a Consula
officer, but he set out to influence the Sultan in favour o
reformed legal and administrative system. Although the
Sultan established a Court of Justice on Clifford’s advi
cases were heard in a very arbitrary way, and the Sulta
officers sometimes interfered with decisions.

The murder of a British Chinese shopkeeper in the
vicinity of the Sultan’s palace in February 1888 gavé
Clifford and the Governor occasion to press Sultan Ahma
further for the protection of British subjects. The Govers
nor visited Pekan, and Ahmad subsequently consulted hi
chiefs. Opinion was by no means generally in favour
British protection through the Resident system. The ruu
of Johore advised Ahmad to accept a British Resident
and the more moderate chiefs agreed. In August 1888
Sultan wrote to Governor Cecil Smith and asked for
appointment of a British Resident.

Mr. J. P. Rodger was the first Resident, with Clifford 8
Superintendent oi'Ulu Pahang Rodger had previously serve
in various in S as deputy R
dent or Acting Resident under Swet,benham He faced reé
problems in Pahang, of the kind which Birch had me¥
originally in Perak. There were quarrels about reven®




The British Resident System 187

jon, pension lists, and land-rents. Bahman, the Orang
of Semantan, a warlike and rebellious chief by nature,
armed resistance to British officials in 1891, but his
t was limited mainly to three hundred of his own
, and the Sultan declared against him. The rebels
ually withdrew to Trengganu and Kelantan.

Jy 1895 the Resident system was firmly established in
ak, Selangor, Negri Sembilan, and Pahang. It had ‘evolved'
a kind of trial-and-error experience to a position of
ish indirect authority in these four central Malay states.
an administrator's point of ¥iew, advantages might
e from some kind of union between these four States,
were all governed on similar principles. Swettenham,
se experience by this time was very considerable, began
nake his suggestions for federation. This issue is discussed

later chapter.!

=

| Chapter 13.



Chapter 11

A SURVEY OF SOCIAL AND
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS
¢. A.D. 1850-1950 (1)

he introduction of British advisers into four Malay

states during the period 1874 to 1888 marked the

beginnings of a political revolution which eventua y
created modern Malaya. This was neither a sudden nor
violent movement, but it was a revolution in the sense th
it produced a fundamental change in the government and
the very function of the state. From about the middle of the!
nineteenth century, fundamental changes also began to oc-
cur in the economic life of the Malay States. These produ
in due course not only new social classes but also large
revenues which governments could apply to the provision of
what are usually called Social Services — rctably, Health
Education, Welfare, and Housing. Some of the Malay States
passed through a phase of development similar in many
respects to that of the Industrial Revolution in wester
countries a little earlier. The tin-mining and tin-smelti
industries grew tremendously in size, organisation, and out-.
put, all of this accompanied by large capital investment and
the use of improved technical processes.

Linked with the expansion of tin-mining was a pattei
of communications both within the mining areas themselves,
and between the mines and the coast, en route to collecting:
centres for the export trade. This pattern included, by the:
turn of the twentieth century, cart-roads, railways, railway-:
ports, and coastal steamship services. It was the counterparts
of turnpike-roads, canals, railways, and docks in Britain
during the period 1760-1840.
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1t was not only Malayan industry which was changing.
Jeast equally striking were the changes in agriculture. In
these were stimulated by the greater demand for food
- an increasing population, including a large proportion of
urban or semi-urban character. The more spectacular
ct, however, was the vast increase of plantation agri-
re, which included crops new to Malayan soil, and which
s mainly destined, like tin, to supply distant, and some-
s varying, markets.
Employnient of labour at all levels accompanied these
velopments in industry, communications, and agricalture,
the Malay States in which they took place became lands
fpromise for many people. At one end of the economic scale
as the European or Chinese merchant-house or joint-stock
pany with its capital and executive personnel; at the
er end was the Chinese, Tamil, or Cingalese labourer,
d the Indonesian villager from Sumatra or Java. Several
her occupational groupings occurred amongst the immigrant
ulation. These included traders, shopkeepers, teachers,
s, and skilled workers, watchmen, and police.
land of promise was not necessarily a land of seftlement
ind there was emigration as well as immigration. The balance
wasnormally on theimmigrantside, thusincreasing theoverall
pulation. The striking rise in the population of the Malay
tes from an estimated figure of well below half a million in
0 to some four millions about eighty years later (1931 census)
only partly accounted for by immigration. Improved health
ditions and a consequently lower death-rate played a part
hich it is difficult to overestimate.
The increasing population was not evenly spread over
nine Malay States. The east-coast states, where relatively
e economic change took place, remained thinly populated.
t affected were western Johore, Negri Sembilan, Selangor,
nd Perak. On a north-south line, a chain of towns developed
these states in the western plain between mountains and
and in the river valleys which intersect the higher land.
All these towns were products of the economic development,
eir surrounding areas, though in some cases their growth
also partly due to their choice as centres of government.
wing towns of the 1880s and 1890s, like Taiping, Ipoh,
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and Kuala Lumpur, had to face all the usual problems g
urbanised life — water-supply, street-cleansing, pavin
lighting, housing and health regulations, and so on. Th,
were pioneers in municipal government in the Malay Sta

Surplus revenues were soon applied on the one h
to improving communications and, in some cases, assistin
the passages of immigrants; on the other hand, to th
provision of public services in health and education. Bo
types of expenditure represented an investment in the f
ture. The health measures consisted partly of a camp:
against tropical diseases, including preventative and
search work, and partly in the provision of public hospita
Money for education was spent mainly, in the first insta
in subsidising schools established by voluntary orga
tions, and this practice continued later, side by side with
the establishment and maintenance of government schoolg

Thus, as the Malay States developed a modern look i
the political sense, they also developed economic and soci
features which are commonly found in modern states to
This economic and social revolution affected the west c
states very much more than those of the east coast,
some attempts to remedy this were made later.

The economic and social history of Malaya has not
ceived the attention from historians which it deserves, @
though some striking contributions on individual topics ha¥
been made. Within the scope of this present work, it is onl
possible to summarise the main features over the last hundre
years or so. It must, of course, be remembered that
topic is not exclusive; there is a great deal of overlapping
inter-connection.

1. MINING

Gold has been worked in Pahang from at least the s}
teenth century, and it may have been worked near Malacca
neolithic times. The guantities were not large, and extracti®
of the gold was a slow and laborious process. Gold-mining
tin-mining were carried on in adjacent areas in the Kuala LiP!
region. Tin-mining here as elsewhere was a Chinese indust
but Malays seem to have taken a major part both in the con®
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4 the actual working of the gold mines. District chiefs were
subject in Pahang than in the west coast states to the
ment of taxes and royalties to the ruler of the state,
hough they were still inclined to be rebellious if their
jvileges were infringed upon. .
In the 1880s the Sultan of Pahang granted several con-
jons to western companies for mining purposes. These
urred at a time when it seemed likely .that British pro-
sion would be extended to Paharg, and they stemmed
inly from busi interests .in Singapore. There were
mours that Pahang was not only rich in tin, but also rich
deposits of gold. Many of these enterprises never got beyond
e prospecting stage; some did not even venture so far.
rs involved considerable capital expense but failed after
years, usually because of poor management, difficult
cing conditions, or disturbances following the appointment
British Resident in Pahang. The one really successful
ern’ venture was the Australian gold-mining company
lished at Raub in 1889 (Raub Australian Gold-Mining,
d.). Raub survived as the main gold-mining concern in the
ay States, accounting for three-quarters or more of
an gold production, but this last mine was eventually
ome uneconomic and to close down in 1962.
01d alluvial gold-workings also occur in Kelantan, and in
@ early years of the present century a British company, the
Syndicate, undertook, among other activities, dredging
mining for gold, with only very moderate success.
At the end of the nineteenth century there seemed to be
e possibilities of a ‘gold-rush’ in the east-coast states of
a, but this did not materialise. Western business en-
ise was prepared to follow, or even, in some cases, to
e, British political influence. Many efforts ended in
and even the Raub company almost came to an early
d when its first gloomily i d the neglected
water-filled hole of the old Malay workings.!
ing the present century coal-mining began at Batu
g in Selangor through Western enterprise and the foun-
of a company known as Malayan Collieries Ltd. (1913).

1A Wright and T. H. Reid, The Malay Peninsula, p. 264.
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The technical and clerical staff included both Asiang
Europeans, and the labour force consisted mainly of
and Indians as well as a smaller number of Malays, Th
mined here has not been an expart commodity, and itg
uses have been for railways, power-stations, and d
For various reasons, notably the increasing competif
fuel-oil, coal production had gone down and Malayan g
mining slowly ceased.

Iron-ore has been worked by Japanese enterprisa
Johore, Trengganu, and Kelantan, since shortly after
First World War, for export to Japan, where it was smelg
By 1938 the shipments represented about half of Japan’
imports. Kedah, Perak, and Pahang have also become g
producing states in recent years, and the industry is.
panding. It was again very largely linked with Japan af
the Japanese steel industry and, initially, no iron-smeltis
was done in Malaya.

A number of other mining operations had their orij
well in the present century. Of these, the mining of ba
(aluminium) has had the largest output, and it was, li
iron-ore, originally in Japanese hands. The mines were
Johore and production was i ded for the J. mé
ket.

An overwhelming proportion of mining in Malaya tod:
concerns the mining of tin, and the growth of large-scale tins
mining has been a very significant development since al
the middle of the nineteenth century; the main tin-produci
areas have been in Perak and Selangor. This topic has alr
been touched upon in so far as it concerned politics @
order in Perak, Selangor, and Sungei Ujong. Some attenti
must now be given to the growth of the tin industry in
own context.

Tin-mining in a simple form had been carried on in:
Malaya from at least the early centuries of the Christi
era. Tin gained from alluvial streams may have been used
a component of bronze-work and as an early form of money-
By the ninth century A.D., Arab traders were attracted 0
Kedah for tin, among other things, and the export trade
tin continued to play an important part in the history of the
west coast states during the time of the Malacca Sultanaté;
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equently. Tin in blocks and in coins was an impor-
um of exchange in fifteenth century Malacea, and
ring states also paid tribute in this valuable metal to
ca Sultans. The Portuguese, Achinese, Dutch, Bugis,
he English East India Company, all in turn took a very
interest in the collection of tin from the westcoast

il about the middle of the nineteenth century, how-
n production in the Malay States, important as it
ould only be said to be on a fairly small scale. It was
influx of Chinese capital from the Straits Settlements,
the introduction of Chinese mining techniques, which
ked the change in scope of the old industry. Chinese
ts in Penang, Malacca, and Singapore, were often
ted in tin as a trading commodity. Through trade they
able to acquire capital which could be employed in other
orises, and in several areas Malay chiefs, to increase
ir own income from rents, royalties, and river-tolls, were
ng to grant mining concessions. Sometimes the local
Jay ruler went into active partnership with the Chinege
ay; sometimes Chinese miners worked in small groups
to the Malay chief. In the larger mining concerns,
er, the Chinese community, although present with the
inal approval of the Malay ruler, became virtually a
te entity linked with the Malay authorities only
h the economic ties of payments for the right to mine
ship tin.

e main Malay method was ‘lampan’ mining. This con-
d of diverting a stream through a prepared channel, and
pulling soil with mattocks down into the running wa-
The water washed away the earth, and the tin-ore was
red from the bed of the channel. This technique was
to extracting tin as a part-time occupation with the
imum of preparation,

‘The Chinese introduced the open-cast ‘lombong’ method.
arge hole was dug in the ground after a site had been
with the aid of a Malay Pawang and the added
aution of trial-boring. The tin-bearing soil was carried to
® surface in baskets, with the use of tree-trunk ladders as
€ mine grew deeper. At the surface the soil (‘karang’) was



194 A History of Malaya

washed in a trough of running water (a ‘lanchut’) to separatg
the ore from the earth. As this stream continued, the tailingg
were sometimes washed a second time by women and chi
dren, using wooden pans (‘dulangs). The tin-ore was either
transported for smelting elsewhere, or smelted in a brazier
on the mining site. The brazier was heated by the use of
mangrove-wood and charcoal as fuel in alternate layers, and
the molten tin was drained off from a pipe which led from
the furnace.

Two main technical problems had to be overcome. Ony
was to prevent flooding and subsidence in the mining h
the other was to provide a controlled water-supply. A variety
of devices, some of them adapted with ingenuity from ri
field techniques of South China, were introduced to me
these problems. Streams were dammed and artificial wal
courses planned; chain-pumps driven by a water-wheel w
used for pumping operations; in some cases bamboo waters
pipes were employed. The Chinese miners were also quick
adopt Western devices. About 1879, Hugh Low, Resident of
Perak, had a British steam-engine and centrifugal pump on
show to interest Chinese miners as an improved method of
flood-prevention. This brought a quick response. Yap Ah
for instance, imported a steam-engine two years later for
in his largest mine at Ampang. The gradual, replacement,
Chinese mines, of the chain-pump and water wheel by the
steam-engine and centrifugal pump made open-cast mininj
both safer and possible at much greater depths,

Similarly, the Chinese adopted from early Western
terprises the practices of hydraulic sluicing and gra
pumping which had been developed in Australia. 3

It is obvious that this Chinese mining with its large,
not necessarily deep, open-cast hole, and its plann’
equipment, labour force, and housing needed consider
capital outlay and organisation, and required a contin
labour supply under fixed conditions. The two main exee
tives in a typical Chinese mining organisation of the
teenth century would be the financier who supplied the cal
and the Headman of the mine who had charge of the mi
operations and the miners. The miners worked on V&
terms. Indenture-labour was common for workers recr’
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South China, whose passages in emigrant junks were
ovided, and who were fed and clothed and perhaps paid a
ry gmall sum of money in return for 360 days’ labour. As
e demand for labour increased, this system became both
opular and unsatisfactory, and various co-operative
ems took its place. These gave the workers a fixed
ortion of the profits of the mine — whatever they might
_ at the end of each six-months’ accounting. At the same
the workers were committed to purchase their personal
irements from the mine owner at rates above the current
rket price. Sometimes fixed wages were offered as an
ative to the profit-sharing. Since not every mining
e was a success, there was an element of risk on both
des. The mine-owner either gained most or lost most, but
ad a second source of income in the trading side of his

rise.

In the 1880s and 1890s European companies, mainly
tish and French, began to obtain mining concessions in
¢ Malay States. European investment was stimulated by a
ber of factors. More settled and favourable political
ditions following the introduction of British Residents in
ain tin-bearing states seemed to offer greater security.

1 of icati ially railways, was
ing to solve some of the transport problems from the
g valleys to the coast. There was an increased demand

ning and packaging purposes. Western technology in the
m first of the steam-engine, centrifugal pump, and winding
Ir, and, later, of hydraulic methods and, finally, of the tin-
, could be used to improve mining methods and out-
eamship services were both quicker, via the Suez Canal
870 onwards, and more frequent, and the establishment
melting centres at Pulau Brani near Singapore (1887)
Penang (1897) assisted the collection of smelted ore,
ed its quality, and saved shipping space.

‘et there was no great influx of European mining com-
before the end of the nineteenth century, and some of
early enterprises ended in failure. In Selangor there was
‘boom’ of European enterprise in the years 1882 to
Mining land was taken on lease by European concerns,
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and negotiations were made for the purchase of Chj
mines. Yap Ah Loy sold his Ampang mine to a Singa
firm, but retained shares equivalent to about one-sixth
the purchase price. The boom was short-lived. Within a
years the European companies sold out to the Chinese j
only their mining concessions but also the expensiy,
equipment with which they had furnished them. Ah Lg
bought his own mine back again, better equipped, at a m
smaller price than he had been paid for it.

The reasons for these European business failures Ig
partly in expensive over-staffing at top levels, and partly
the insufficient attention given to trial-boring. The Europ
firms were also inclined to place too much faith in the
nomics of expensive apparatus before it had been caref
tried and tested in local conditions.!

Until the end of the nineteenth century tin-mining in the
Malay States was still very largely a Chinese enterprise,
and, even as late as 1912, 80 per cent of Malaya’s tin pro
duction was under Chinese management. The labour fore
was - and still continues to be — predominantly Chinese.
was the introduction of the large and expensive tin-dredge,
first used in Malaya in 1912, which increased ‘Western' in-
terests in Malayan tin, and finally gave European manage-
ments a lead over Chinese in the production figures. Dredgel‘
for mining were first used in New Zealand; later they were.
adopted in Australia, Australians first brought the tin-dredge.
to Malaya. By the early 1920s tin-dredges were being pre-
fabricated in Britain for assembly on Malayan sites, and
European mining companies rushed to instal them. The
dredge could work in swampy land, and could be employed
on land too poor in tin-content to be profitably mined in any.
other way. The dredges were exclusively used by Western
firms on account of the large capital required both for the
dredges themselves and for the leasing of wide areas of mining
land to make the venture worthwhile. Malayan-Chinese tin
concerns could not meet such heavy demands on their re-
sources.

' J.M. Gullick, "Kuala Lumpur, 18801895, JRASMB, Vol. 28, pt. 4, pp. 55-6.
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1y 1904 Malaya was producing about 50,000 tons of tin
Ily, more than half the world’s output. What has hap-
g since then is that overall production has ot increased
ndously,! due partly to competition from other parts of
orld, including Bolivia and Nigeria, and partly to inter-
al restriction schemes which fix quotas in relation to
ts and prices. Malaya still produces about one-third of
orld’s tin and is easily the main exporter. About half of
esent production is by the dredger method, and about
r cent of Mal tin is Europe d, but the
nical and administrative personnel of the companies has
n increasingly Malayanised. A most striking change isin
¢ actual number of people employed in tin-mining. At-
ing to an International Bank Report, published in 1955,
we were 200,000 tin-workers in 1913, and they were
roducing less tin than the 40,000 tin-workers in 1954.
The effects of the revolution in tin-mining cover a wide
1d of activities. It was responsible for a very substantial
roportion of Chinese immigration. It led to improvements
communications. It was the main reason for the growth of
s which served the many needs of the mining areas.
, but certainly not least, the production of tin became a
jery important source of government revenue, as it had
ormerly been the main income of Malay chiefs in the tin
jcts. Revenue was derived from licences for prospecting
rents for land, but, above all, from an export duty on the
saleable tin. This export duty was always a heavy tax, based
n the volume or value of the tin. In Larut under Captain
edy in 1874-5 it was 25 per cent or more of the value of
the tin, and this was presumably similar to former prac-
es.? The revenue from tin provided the main fund from
ich early British Residents could meet existing obligations
ch as pensions, annuities, and the costs of administration,
s well as embark on new developments in the form of com-
Munications and public welfare services.
In more recent years the tin export duty has fluctuated
‘between 10 per cent and 15 per cent of the value, in ac-

! About 60,000 tons annually i4 the present figure,
*Based on information in J. M, Gullick, ‘Captain Speedy of Lurut', pp. 49-50.
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cordance with the rise and fall of prices. An income-tax of
per cent on net profits of the mining companies raised the
question of whether tin-mining had not now reached
Timits of effective taxation.

2. COMMUNICATIONS

Brief reference to the construction of roads and railw;
has already been made in discussing the work of the early
British Residents. The work of road-making was slow, dif
ficult, and expensive, and developments were gradual.
Swettenham puts it:

‘It is not an easy task to construct really good well:
graded roads through an unexplored country, cove:
with virgin forest and the dense undergrowth of a moist,
tropical climate with hill and swamp alternating, and
rainfall of from 80 to 160 inches annually.”!

In Perak, and in Selangor, a small Public Works De-
partment was started soon after the appointment of British
Residents, while Pahang and Negri Sembilan each had &
Clerk or Superintendent of Works. The ‘Public Works' i
cluded public buildings of all kinds — Residency buildings,
courts of law, hospitals, police-stations, prisons — as well
as installations such as reservoirs for water. The main item
of expenditure in the annual reports, however, seems to
have been ‘roads, streets, and bridges'. Before the coming
of the motor-car, the roads were classified as metalled cart-
roads, unmetalled cart-roads, bridle-roads, other paths and
‘gravelled’.

Roads were built as revenue became available, and where
they seemed most needed for economic development. Most:
expenditure obviously occurred at first in those states which
had most revenue — that is, in Perak and Selangor (both:
states which had had British Residents since 1874) rather.
than in Negri Sembilan and Pahang. The Public Works
Departments of these four states were amalgamated in 1901,

 British Malaya, p. 237
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s which time the chief official in each state was known as
State Engineer. By the 1901 arrangement the four State
wineers served under a federal Director of Public Works,
n the years immediately following Pahang and Negri
lan received a little more attention; but they still lagged
ong way behind the other two, Pahang having easily the
‘mileage of cart-roads or bridle-roads. By 1906 the
derated Malay States had a total of approximately 1600
iles of metalled cart-roads and 270 miles of unmetalled
roads.! In the years which followed the end of the First
forld War this road system — and that which existed in the
sther states — was adapted, by widening and strengthening,
the use of motor-traffic. Emphasis was given to trunk
ds, especially a western road from Johore Bahru through
la Lumpur to Kedah and the Thai border. An east-coast
k road, less well surfaced, runs from the principal trunk
d, north of Johore Bahru, to Kota Bharu and Tumpat.
rly all the roads which link with these north-south routes
in the west-coast states, apart from two main east-west
inking roads, one in Johore, the other between Port
ettenham, Kuala Lumpur, and Kuantan.
In modern Malaya there are many areas with no main
d, and the total road mileage, still increasing, is not high,
t the pattern of roads constructed since the 1880s compares
very favourably with the road systems of other South-Bast
Asian countries. A modern scholar asserts that, during the
present century, ‘Malaya created a road system that was
ique in the Far Bast.”
| The pattern of railways was similar to that of the roads;
in fact, the western north-south main line preceded the largely
djacent trunk road. The early railway lines were fairly short
nes running east-west from tin areas to the west coast.
hey ran from Taiping to Port Weld (1885); Kuala Lumpur
0 Bukit Kuda (1886), then to Klang via Connaught Bridge
1890), and later to Port Swettenham (1899): Seremban to

A Wright and H. A. Cartwright (eds.), Twentieth Century Impressions of
- British Mulaya, p. 316
G. C. Allen and A. G. Donnithorne, Western Enterprise in Indonesia and
Malaya, p. 228
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Port Dickson (1891); Tapah Road to Telok Anson (1893),
were also short lines from Kuala Lumpur to other mipg
areas at Rawang and Kuala Kubu to the north and at Sy,
Besi to the south; these lines were constructed in the pei
1888 to 1895. :
All except the Seremban — Port Dickson line were goyep
mentrailwaysfrom the first. Money came from revenues, ajg
sometimes by loans from the Straits Settlements. Brij
engineers were recruited from the Ceylon Public Works
partment for the work of planning and constructions,
skilled labour was introduced from Ceylon and Bengal. Log
Chinese and Malays provided the rest of the labour force,
After the federation of the four central states, the wes
lines were linked together in the Federated Malay Si
Railway by a a north-south line which joined up the exis
railheads and ran northwards to Prai, opposite Penang,
southwards as far as the borders of Johore at Gemas.
work, planned in co-operation with the Straits Settles
for the Province Wellesley sector, was completed by 1908. If
the meanwhile, in 1903, a new branch line ran from
north-south line, between Seremban and Gemas, to Malacea
The Seremban — Port Dickson line was taken over by the
M. 8. Railway from the Sungei Ujong company in 1908,
The next stage was to extend the line southwards fron
Gemas and northwards from Prai. This was done in
operation with the State governments of Johore and Ked
Johore Bahru was reached in 1909, and a ferry servi
linked with Singapore’s island railway, which had be
built in 1903. In 1926 a railway was opened across B
causeway between Johore and Singapore Island to compl
this connection,
Meanwhile the west-coast line was taken north to thé
Thai border and linked with the Siamese railway in 1918
and a start was made on what was called an east coa
railway to join Gemas to Tumpat through Pahang an
Kelantan. This was a very slow-moving project which suffere
at different times from apathy, lack of money, and diffic!
ties of terrain. In 1921 the northern end was joined to
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e railway, but the whole line was not open until ten
ter.

, in brief outline, was the nature of road and rail-
velopments. There were many significant conse-
s. Villages and areas of cultivation followed along the
of the roads, new settlement areas followed and land
y districts began to have some value for the first time.
aph and postal services developed in conjunction with
 and railways. In the early years of the present century
| carts pulled by ‘trotting bullocks' conveyed mails to
s and mines, while motor-car mail services were being
uced into some main centres. Telegraph lines mostly
the route of the railway, and where there were no
ffice lines railway stations accepted telegrams for
psmission through their own service.

de and industry benefited most. Tin-ore and planta-
bber could be moved quickly by rail, and later by road,
ports. Essential supplies travelled in the opposite
jon. A number of new ports were created at the coastal
heads — Port Weld, Telok Anson, Port Swettenham and
 Dickson, all named after British officials. These were
lway ports, equipped with wharves and jetties, with
rt Swettenham easily the most important. It was built in
i first decade of the present century on land reclaimed
m swamp, and it provided anchorage for ocean-going
ers and easy access to and from the mining and rubber
s of Selangor. Meanwhile, Penang’s position was en-
d by the ferry-link to the railhead at Prai.

Roads and railways absorbed immigrant labour, espe-

,in the construction and running of railways, from India
Ceylon. They also contributed to the growth of towns.
s and Port Swettenham were creations of the railway;
tala Lumpur owed some part of its growth to its function
& railway-centre with railway workshops. Roads and
ays also helped, of course, to increase communication
een different states, though not with any direct conse-
ces as regards political unification,

"The railway ports were used by local as well as distant

Hpping, and the Straits Steamship Company was very
fminent in this coastal trade. It was founded in Singapore
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in 1890 with a mixture of British and Malayan Chinesg:
vestment. Its capital and shipping-fleet expanded rap"
By the mid-1920s it had a fleet of forty-eight vessels, mg
of them specially constructed to suit local conditions, a
was serving fifty-three ports in South-East Asia.!

The pattern of roads and railways served both as a cay
and an effect of economic development, and also helpeg
determine its character. When land was taken for large.
rubber planting, the sites mainly chosen were ones w]
lay near existing means of communication, especially
ways.

3. AGRICULTURE

The increase in the size and organisation of the tin §
dustry was paralleled by changes in agriculture. It would
too much of an over-simplification to describe the chan
a move from subsistence agriculture to the growth of
crops, for there had been cash-crops in the Malay Si
before the nineteenth century, and subsistence agricul
has continued in some parts into the present century, Wh
has happened since the mid-nineteenth century is that t
amount of agriculture devoted to saleable crops has incre
beyond recognition. The industrial revolution in tin-mini
had its counterpart in an agricultural revolution marked
the cultivation of larger food-growing areas for the log
population and plantations for the export market.

The population increase through immigration, bett
health, and more stable political conditions, necessitat8
either more food production or more imported food in a
where the main increase had taken place. The growth of il
mining and of towns created an industrial and urbi
population which depended on others for its food-supply.
new townships became fringed by land under cultivation ¢
rice, fruit, and vegetables, usually through a combination |
Malay smallholdings and Chinese market gardens. Kudl
Lumpur in the 1880s can be taken as a good example of th!

' G.C. Allen and A. G. Donnitherne, op. eit., p. 217
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trated food production for a town market. Padi areas
led the whole Ampang valley, as well as Batu and
on the outskirts of the town itself. There were or-
of fruit trees and market gardens along Ampang Road
u Road, and there was a ring of Chinese market
lens within a three-mile radius of the town. Yet among
roduce sold in the Kuala Lumpur market that of the
smallholdings was much in evidence.!

ly examples in Malaya of plantation agriculture for
would include pepper in Kedah in the seventeenth
ury, spices in Penang in the late eighteenth and first
f of the nineteenth century, and" spices also in early
gapore. Chinese agriculturists introduced pepper plan-
jons into Johore after 1840, In the nineteenth century,
in impetus for plantation crops came from Europeans
Chinese. Pepper was the most important Malayan export
until about 1850, and nutmeg and cloves had some
ance until the advent of plant diseases after 1860.
the 1830s a few European merchants planted sugar-
@ in Penang, Province Wellesley, and Malacea. It was in
cca that most cultivation took place. A Malacca Sugar
y was formed in the 1840s with land on the River
while a private planter with experience of the sugar
stry in the West Indies began work on a 5,000-acre tract.
) work of clearing, planting, and harvesting, was usually
e by Chinese, but it was often difficult to obtain sufficient,
, and Tamil workers were brought in, under indentures,
ome planters in the 1880s. After indentured labour was
ed in the Federated Malay States in 1910, the Malayan
industry declined, and the last factory closed in 1913,
out fifty years, however, sugar had been an important
ct.

the 1880s coffee planters arrived from Ceylon, where
Ir erops had failed through the outbreak of a plant disease.
e were specialist planters and not, as had often previously
N the case with Europeans, merchants venturing into
iting. They planted estates with Liberian coffee in Perak,
ngor, and Negri Sembilan, and for a time they prospered.

1J M. Gullick, 'Kuala Lumpur, 1880-95, p. 59
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At the end of the century, coffee prices dropped very gh
owing toan increased output of Arabian coffee from Bragi)
afew years later the estates in Malaya were seriously da
by pests. Coffee-planters either returned to Europe, fg
other types of occupation, or turned to the planting of
Before coffee gave way to rubber it had been taken upg
smallholder crop by Malays, who also followed the tige
fortune and changed later to rubber.

The introduction of rubber to Malaya has had such}
portant consequences that the story of the early seedl
has often been told. The first phase was a botanical
periment with a view to possible economic results.
tiative came from the head of the geographical section of
India Office, Sir Clements Markham, and the Director of
Botanical Gardens at Kew, Sir Joseph Hooker. Two &
ditions were sent to the Amazon from the India Office,
second of these expeditions, led by Mr. H. A. (later Sir He
Wickham in 1876, obtained a collection of 70,000 see
these were despatched to Kew Gardens for germinatig
the artificial heat of the conservatories. From Kew a
3,000 seedlings were sent to British colonies in tropica
gions, most of them to Ceylon. From Ceylon twenty-two pl
reached Singapore in 1877; some of these were plante
the Botanical Gardens in Singapore, others were taki
the Curator to Perak and planted in Hugh Low’s Residel
Garden at Kuala Kangsar. Thus, as a botanist, Low ¥
linked with the experiment, and in Singapore and Ku
Kangsar the Malayan rubber industry was born. 3

For many years cultivated rubber remained at the!
perimental stage. Few people had any knowledge of the ‘he
brasiliensis’, as this type of rubber-tree was technical
known, a yield of liquid rubber (latex) could only be expeé
after five or six years' growth, and efficient methods of’
ping’ the tree for latex were unknown, Moreover, while
rubber-trees were still in the Botanical Gardens, ¢0
planting had been established with success in the wes
Malay states which were under British protection, and net v
government nor planting interests had any enthusiasm
rubber.
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ber of factors coincided to produce a rubber boom
. Malay States. The misfortunes of the coffee-planters
p 1890s and early 1900s, when a drop in prices was
in a few years by plant diseases, made some of

ling to try an alternative crop on land which was
v in use for coffee. Some planters, while continuing
e, placed rubber-trees between the coffee-plants to
hade, and waited to see what the yield of rubber would

@ appointment of Henry Ridley as Director of the Gar-
Singapore in 1888 brought a remarkably able and
tic man to the experimental side of rubber in Malaya.
entific investigator he studied every aspect of rubber-
g he held shows in Singapore at which rubber sam-
e displayed, and he sent samples to London. He
to convince the coffee-planters that there was a
g future in rubber, and he distributed seeds, packing
ith damp charcoal powder in closed tins. A Chinese
ir has described his activities in this way:

‘It was his practice to stuff seeds in the pockets of
anters and others begging them to make a trial: and
nong planters he earned the soubriquet of “mad Ridley”
¢ “rubber Ridley”."!

Neither the planters nor government officials surrendered
to Ridley's enthusiasm, but a few were persuaded to
is experiments to a practical test. A Malacca Chinese,
Chay Yan, planted forty acres of rubber among tapioca
. A British coffee-estate partnership in Selangor
ed five acres as a separate rubber crop in the same
In the following year another British coffee-estate in
inter-planted rubber and coconuts among 200 acres of
€, and felled the coconuts a few years later. By this time
), twenty years after the appearance of the first seed-
5in Malaya, only 345 acres were under rubber. Even in
) only 200 tons of jungle rubber produced elsewhere,
My in Brazil.

g Siang, One Hundred Years' Histary of the Chinese in Singapore,
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Very significant expansion was, however, taking plagg
the first decade of the present century, and by 1919
rubber boom was at its height. Ridley again contriby
this. It was he who perfected in Malaya the method of §
ping which is used to-day so as to extract the maximum
of latex with the minimum damage to the tree. The
important new element was the rise of the car indus
the West, with its heavy demands for rubber, especiall;
tyres. Subsequently, especially from the time of the By
World War, the market for rubber was further increased
its use for clothing and footwear, electrical and me
equipment, and household goods and furniture.

Newly-formed companies for rubber-planting obta
land concessions in the Malay States, often using ¢
tablished merchant houses in Singapore as their aj
and as advisers on local conditions. Most of these co
nies were British, but there were others from conting
Europe (including an important Franco-Belgian com
as well as from Australia and America. Other comp:
were floated in Malaya, with substantial backing
Malayan Chinese. Until 1913, when the states of the F.M
were empowered separately to set aside areas reserved
the use of Malays by the Malay Reservations Enactme
land concessions could be obtained fairly easily on perpeft
lease, subject to certain requirements about cultivatiol

Most of the rubber-planting took place in Perak, Sela
Negri Sembilan, and Johore, where a pattern of communt
tions already existed. An important exception was the 5§
dicate formed by Robert Duff, an ex-police officer, who!
tained a tremendous concession of 3,000 square miles fi
the Sultan of Kelantan in 1900. This concession was |
subject of much debate between Duff, the British governm
and Siam, and its size was eventually reduced. At first®
company concentrated on mining, lumbering, and gen
trading, but from 1906 onwards it became inereasingly 0
cerned with the cultivation of rubber, was to remain s0
many years. )

Manufacturing interests were represented among
early rubber companies, and these included the Dub!
“ompany and the United States Rubber “ompany.
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were made by plantation companies which had rub-
s maturing by 1910 or 1912. The price of rubber in
ing rose from four shillings a pound at the beginning of

ntury to over twelve shillings a pound in 1910. By
} the exports of rubber from Malaya had reached an
al total of about 200,000 tons, over half of the world's
ly at that time. The supply of cultivated rubber by this
exceeded that which came from the South American

was not only the plantation companies which were
ed with rubber; once the success of rubber was ap-
it was planted by smallholders, especially Malays,’
in later years smallholder crops represented between a
d and a half of total production in Malaya.
Annual Reports supply modern statistics on rubber, which
0, had an annual production in Malaya of over 600,000
'!‘wo features of the 1920s call for a brief mention. The
al depression of trade following the First World War
in adverse effect upon rubber prices, With stocks piling
d prices as low as about sixpence a pound, rubber
ies in Malaya began to make economies, and the
er Growers' Association, which represented estate in-
in Malaya, began to urge the British government to
rvene by outlining a restriction scheme for all producers,
outcome was the Stevenson Committee, appointed in
and the Stevenson scheme of restriction for Malaya,
took effect from November, 1922, Each rubber pro-
in Malaya was assigned a quota based on his output
year ending October 1920. Any amount in excess of
juota was subject to a prohibitive export duty.
e Dutch East Indies refused to join the Stevenson
ne, and the output of rubber there was doubled between
and 1928, while there was only about a 40 per cent
Base in Malaya. The scheme was abandoned in 1928, but,
g the depression of the early 1930s, with prices even
€ than in 1921, an International Rubber Regulation
ent to restrict exports on a quota basis was signed n
between the British, Dutch, French, and Siamese
Tnments.
v Chinese and Indians develaped most of the larger smallholdings
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Despite these two depression periods and restriegjg
schemes — and, to some extent, because of them — yg
valuable progress was made on the technical and reseap
side. A Rubber Research Institute was founded in .
Lumpur in 1926 to carry out research projects formey
undertaken by the Department of Agriculture and the Ry
Growers' Association. Among the tasks undertaken by }
Institute have been experiments in budding and gra
from selected trees, selective weeding, treatment of th
and the search for new uses of rubber. In recent years
production has been further helped by government assis
for approved replanting schemes both for estates
smallholders. About one-third of the world's natural
was grown in Malaya in the 1950s.

The effects of the growth of large-scale rubber culti
in Malaya during the present century have covered s
wide field that they are difficult to summarise. Labour
rubber plantations was recruited in south India, first th
agents and an indenture system, later, after indentu
labour was abolished in 1910, through a system of assis
passages. Money for this scheme was raised jointly byl
estate-owners and the government of the F.M.S. in an Ind
Immigration Fund, The Indian Government imposed &
on the further emigration of unskilled Indian labour shi
before the Second World War.

The cultivation of rubber cleared vast acreages of I
and eventually provided a means of livelihood for &
proportion of Malaya’s workers.! It has provided & v
valuable addition to the income of the smallholder.
sometimes overlooked that rubber production both in
and smallholdings has been an important reason for if
gration of Malaysians (or Indonesians), mainly from ¢
and Sumatra, to the Malay States. ).

Rubber has provided industrial as well as agricult
oceupations. The processing of rubber, and, to a lesser et
the growth of factories for the manufacture of rubber &
plays an important part in the Malayan economy. i

I In 1947 over onc-ifthafthe men, andover onc-third ofthe womens 88
employed' in the Federation of Malaya were engaged in =nhber et
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ndirectly, rubber has contributed to the growth of towns,
and communications.

aps most important of all, rubber was to provide
gest single source of government revenue. As with
the bulk of the revenue was derived from an export
d the revenue from rubber was in some years more
ouble that from tin. The export duty was based on
e which varied between about 4 per cent and 15 per
ording to price; there was also, as for tin, an in-
of 30 per cent on company profits, This very
ant source of income, together with the tin duty,
a y responsible for government surpluses which
applied to public utilities and social welfare for a
eriod. Rubber, more than any other single item or
 determined the standard of life in mid-century
@, The need for quality and efficiency in the Malayan
r industry became even greater in view of the com-
from synthetic rubber production, particularly in
ted States of America

ibber came to occupy about two-thirds of the total
e lmder cultivation in Malaya, and to stand paramount
ortance among agricultural crops for the export market.
mention must be made, however, of coconut, oil-palm,
ple and the experiment with cocoa,

e coconut was important in Malaya from ancient times,
a source of food and for other materials, It has
d to be very largely a smallholders’ erop, and a great
n of it is for home consumption. An analysis made
estimated that the consumption of coconuts in all
Malaya amounted to the equivalent of fifty nuts per
per head of the population of four millions.! In-
since the 18705, coconut has alse been exported in
ms of copra and coconut oil; the value of such exports
for instance, was seventy-five million dollars. Estates
taken up by Chinese and Europeans, but these
less than one-fifth of the total production.
Ontrast, the oil-palm was a foreign plant introduced
va, and is an estate crop on Buropean-owned es-

& in The Malayan Agricultural Journal, Vol. XVIIL, a0, 7, July
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tates. The oil-palm was indigenous to West Africa, bug
almost all over tropical Africa. It reached Singapore
Ceylon and Kew Gardens in the form of seeds about 1
and was grown in the Botanical Gardens there. Other gn
were grown in the early years of the present century in {
Public Gardens at Kuala Lumpur. Like rubber, oil-palm y
a subject for botanical experiment, but it was also g
tractive ornamental plant. The first commercial planting
made by a Frenchman in Selangor in 1917, and furtherp
tations followed in the 1920s, following the depression:
rubber and the introduction of the restriction scheme.
of the estates were large ones; by 1933 there were thirty.
estates with 64,000 planted acres, and this acreage hy
increased to 79,000 by 1941. The F.M.S. government,
couraged oil-palm planting as a means of diversifying {
economy, and granted lands on favourable terms. Since §
Second World War the expansion of oil-palm production h
continued. It has remained for the most part an estate
because the organisation of collecting the fruit and extracti
the oil demands good transport, storage, and handling |
cilities, and the use of highly mechanised plant.

Pineapple cultivation for canning was begun by Eus
peans on Singapore Island in 1888, and it spread to Jol
which has become the main centre of pineapple cultivati
On a much smaller scale, pineapples for canning and i
export market are cultivated in Selangor and Perak.
production of pineapples for export was originally intes
lated with rubber, with pineapples as a catch-crop betwe
the rubber trees. In more recent years however, greater
tention has been paid to sole cropping, which is succe:
under certain soil conditions. Estates and smallholders nof
have about an equal share of production, but Chinese sma
holders were the main producers in the 1920s and 19308

The cocoa-tree was brought to Malaya many years befor
its commercial possibilities were considered. The F.M.S. D
partment of Agriculture had an experimental interest in t
tree in the 1930s. Some practical schemes of planting hi
been undertaken, notably in Trengganu and Pahang sing
the Second World War. Cocoa follows on a long line of
perimental plantation crops, including sugar, coffee, rubbefl
and oil-palm. It remained to be seen whether it would be
success or a disappointment.
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THE ECONOMIC ROLES OF PENANG AND
- SINGAPORE

Although its importance as a port was overshadowed by
rise of Singapore, Penang remained by no means an
omic backwater. Trade with Indian ports and with China
tinued, although diminished by the concentration of
ping routes on Singapore. For Acheh, and other Sumatran
, Penang remained an important centre for the collection
er, betel-nut, camphor, rattans, and resins; opium and
, both Indian and European, were exported in return.
the west coasts of Burma and Siam, Penang imported
 birds’nests, tobacco, and tin, and for these areas Penang
a distributor of textiles, opium, and Chinese produce.

AIN IMPORTS AT
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Penang served as an immigration port. In the 1830s and
40s, Chinese immigrants were arriving there at the rate of
00-3,000 a year.! During the rubber boom in the early

"W Purcell, The Chinese in South East Asta, p. 297
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years of the twentieth century, Penang was an importq
port of arrival for plantation-workers from south India,
In many ways Penang became associated with the g
industry in Perak. Penang merchants financed the develgy
ment of the Larut mines and handled the tin trade. Tk
main line of communication for both men and supplies in
mid-nineteenth century lay between Penang and the
river. A tin-smelter was established at Penang by Chi;
enterprise in 1897, and this was taken over ten years laf
by the Eastern Smelting Company, which enlarged the plan
and established agencies for the purchase of ore.
Plantation agriculture and padi-cultivation in Proving
Wellesley was another feature of Penang's contribution
the Malayan economy. In 1860 70,000 acres were reported
be under cultivation, including 40,000 for padi, 12,000
coconut, and 10,000 for sugar-cane. Spices and fruit t;
and tapioca were among the plants cultivated in the
mainder. By 1868 the population of Province Wellesley wa
80,000, of whom Malays (56,000) and Indians (10,000) we
the two largest groups. At the same time the island of Pe:
itself had a population of about 70,000, which was predomi
nantly Chinese in character.! By 1950 the population 0
Georgetown alone was over 180,000 and that of Penang wil
Province Wellesley was in the region of half a million.
In the economic development of modern Malaya, a speé
cial part has been played by Singapore. Geographical sits
and a policy of free trade were the main factors in the rapi
growth of the ‘imgnpure entrepot whose beginnings have 8
ready been outlined.* A report on the trade of Singapore fe
the year 1828-9,% barely ten years after the foundation
the settlement, shows the nature and extent of Singapore
commerce.
From England, the imports were headed by piece-goods®
which were easily the most valuable part of the trade, bul
the list also included iron, woollens, copper-sheathing, ané

' C.N. Parkinson, British Intervention in Malaya, 18671877, pp. 67
* See Chapter 6 3
'Puh hied in C. D). Cowan, ‘Early Penang and the Rise of Singapore, 160

pp. 198-204
Y Fn rics, usually of standard widths and lengths.
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d reshipped at Singapore, while other commodities for the
lish market were coffee, sugar, tortoise-shell, ‘camphor
8', and pepper.
Continental Europe sent to Singapore woollens, wines
d spirits, and iron, and received back cargoes mainly of
inese and Straits produce. Copper and iron came from
ath America, which also provided a small market for Straits
d China produce. Mauritius sent sea-snails and ebony,
d bought, consumer goods, including tea.
. From Calcutta, Madras, and Bombay, came cargoes of
ium, Indian and European piece-goods, woollens, and raw
on; in return, the main exports from Singapore to these
86 ports were copper, tin, gold-dust, pepper, sugar, spe-
‘hmber, and jungle produce. Raw silk and ‘nankeens’ for
hipment to England headed the list of Chinese imports,
these also included spices and camphar. Opium, birds'
ts, rattans, tin, sea-snails, ebony, Malay camphor, and
r were despatched to China.
Copper, coffee, rice, and tobacco, as well as Malay piece-
ds, were imported from or via Java, which received back
lian and European piece-goods and opium. Piece-goods were
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alsoshipped to Siam, C chin~(3hina,Achehanduthersuma'
ports, Borneo, Bali, Celebes, and the east coast of the Ma
Peninsula. The distribution of opium from Singapore wag
prominent feature of the trade with Siam, Cochin-C| ina, gk
east coast of the Malay Peninsula, and island South-Eagt A
From the same regions came rice, sugar, salt, gold-dust, bj
nests, rattans, and tortoise-shell, whilst tin was the domj
commodity from the west coast of Malaya. Other trade exchan;
were made with Ceylon, Cambodia, and Manila. Altogetherg]
annual imports of Singapore were valued at seventeen millig
rupees, and the exports at fifteen million rupees. By comp;
son, the corresponding figures for Penang in the same

were five million rupees, and about three and a half mil
rupees. The Sicca rupee used in-figures given in the offic
returns of the Straits Settlements at this period had a slj
higher nominal value in relation to sterling than the pr
Malayan dollar. By any contemporary standards, the entrepy
trade of Singapore in 1829 was impressive, both in value an
in the extent of the collection and distribution area.
The growth of the Singapore entrepit was reflected bof
in the size and in the racial character of the populatio
In 1830 the population was 16,634; in 1836, 29,984, anl
in 1860, 80,792, By 1901 the total figure had risen
228,555;" by 1950 it was over a million. This was a m

racial society which included Chinese, Malays, Javane
Bugis, Arabs, Hindu and Muslim Indians, and a Europes
community which was mainly British. Alfred Russ
Wallace, who visited Singapore several times between
and 1862, gave a concise description which conveys somi
thing of the atmosphere of mid-nineteenth century Singt
pore.

‘The harbour is crowded with men-of-war and tradinj
vessels of many European nations, and hundreds of Mal
praus and Chinese junks, from vessels of several hund
tons burthen down to little fishing boats and passe
sampans; and the town comprises handsome public buildi
and churches, Mahometan mosques, Hindoo temples, Chil
josshouses, good European houses, massive warehous
queer old Kling and China bazaars, and long suburbs
Chinese and Malay cottages.”

! Song Ong Siang, One Hundred Years' History of the Chinese in Singapor®h

p.23.
* A R. Wallace, The Malay Archipelago, p. 16
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allace also noted the large Chinese element in the
alation. In 1836 the Chinese represented rather less than
of a total population of nearly 30,000; by 1860 there
50,000 Chinese out of a total of 80,000, and by 1901 the
se figure had risen to 164,000 out of 228,000. By 1950
1 population was more than a million, of whom nearly
cent were Chinese. Of the typical, prosperous, Chinese
ant, Wallace wrote:

‘He has a handsome warehouse or shop in town, and a

d house in the country. He keeps a fine horse and gig
and every evening may be seen taking a drive bareheaded
o enjoy the cool breeze

‘Enterprising and industrious as the Singapore Chinese
doubtedly were, their pattern of life was seriously shaken
n time to time by the outbreak of clan fights and Secret
ety feuds. Particularly violent riots occurred in May, 1854,
ently as a result of a clash between Hokkiens and Can-
. The number of dead was estimated as 600, with a
ser number wounded and 300 houses burned or plun-

‘A number of circumstances imposed restrictions on the
sion of Singapore’s trade. When the East India Compa-
monopoly of direct trade between Europe and China
abolished in 1833, private merchants were no longer
ler obligation to tranship at Singapore cargoes which were
und to and from China. Apart from any wider consequences,
8 meant the loss of commission charges formerly made by
igapore merchants for the work of landing and reshipping.
e British acquisition of Hong Kong in 1842 and Labuan
1846 caused some decline in Singapore’s share in the trade
tween the West and China, and also in the distributive
of the Malay Archipelago. Direct trade between Eng-
d and the treaty-ports in China was also to Singapore's
ladvantage.
‘The weakening of Singapore’s position as an entrepot
eame apparent in the mid-1860s. There is evidence of keen
Npetition among European merchants in 1864. Two firms
it bankrupt with liabilities of over a million dollars, and
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there was a general breakdown of credit dealings. There
even, for a short time, a run on the banks for silver ag
crisis led some traders to doubt the currency value of
bank-notes.! Another trade recession occurred in 1867-8

The feelings of insecurity among Singapore merchantg]
the late 1860s have already been mentioned. The openi
the Suez Canal brought more shipping to Singapore from g
West, but, at least to the British merchants of Singapore
also seemed to indicate boih the prospect of more direct t
between Europe and South-East Asia and the pressure
competition from other nations, including France and Gy
many.

The introduction of British Residents in Perak, Selan,
and Sungei Ujong in 1874 coincided with a gradual cl
of hasis in Si e's ic function which wa
some extent, already taking place. Although the entrepit trag
continued, Singapore became increasingly linked in maf
ways with the economic development of the hinterland in
Malay Peninsula. This was not a mere coincidence, for f
pressure of Singapore opinion had played no small p:
preparing the way for British intervention in the
States.

Already, before 1874, Singapore had contributed to et
nomic devel in the Peninsula. Chinese agriculturis
appeared on Singapore Island from the early years of
settlement, and they became particularly concerned wi
vegetable-gardening and plantations of gambier and peppl
As the numbers of these planters increased and the richni
of the soil became eroded, they overflowed, from about
into mainland Johore. Here, with permits issued on behall
the Temenggong (later Maharaja) Abu Bakar, they settled
the river valleys and established further gambier and pepl
plantations.

immigrants. The arrival of Chinese junks in December, load
with newcomers and with produce for sale, was one 0
big events of the year in mid-nineteenth-century Sin,

* Song Ong Siang, One Hundred Years' History of the Chinese in Sing
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ards the end of the century, European steamships played
jmportant part in carrying Chinese immigrants to Singa-
re from Amoy and Swatow,

In the export of Malayan tin, Singapore’s position was
aramount. Until about 1860 China and India would seem
 have been the main markets, but in the next ten years
ere were increasing shipments to Britain and North
nerica. By 1871 4,500 tons of tin were being shipped an-
ally from Singapore to these two areas.! The opening of
e Suez Canal and the increasing market for tin in the

st were contributing to the growth of trade in tin between
gapore, western Europe and North America before
Jestern enterprise had entered Malayan tin-mining at the
oduction level.

Exports from Singapore to Britain and North America of
o-flour and gambier (for dyes) were also on the increase
he 1860s and early 1870s. This was another aspect of the
owing tendency for Singapore to provide Western markets
Malayan produce. The partial decline in the entrepdt
ade was to be compensated for by greater trade-links with
lalaya.

‘Some changes were taking place in the port itself. The
onal anchorage for shipping was in the ‘roads’, while
all craft entered the Singapore River. The coming of the
amship, and especially the introduction of a mail and pas-
er service by the Peninsula and Oriental Steam Naviga-
Company (P. & 0.), focused attention at Singapore on a
 deep-water anchorage close in-shore. This was the New
arbour’, a narrow channel to the south of the existing town,
between Singapore Island and Pulau Brani and Pulau
ang Mati. From 1852 the P. & O. line had a wharf and
ling-station at New Harbour, and other development
ts in this area followed. These were private-enterprise
ures, the first being the construction of a dry dock at the
rn end for the repair of ships. At the eastern end, a
was built by the Tanjong Pagar Dock Company, formed
3, and the same Company opened an adjacent graving
in 1868. A third financial group, known originally as

L C. N. Parkinson, British Intervention in Malaya, 1867-77, pp. 36-7.
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the Patent Slip and Dock Company, and later as the N
Harbour Dock Company, built two docks in the same
bour, while the Tanjong Pagar Dock Company added a
Albert Dock in 1879 as a companion to its existing Viegg
Dock.

Thus, during the second half of the nineteenth ceng
Singapore developed quite a new port, more in keeping
the age of steam. By the end of the century the Tanjg
Pagar Dock Company had bought up the smaller docks gg
wharves, but further extensions were still needed. In vie
the heavy expenditure involved, and the importance of iy
work, the government of the Straits Settlements, which hg
already bought shares in the Company, bought up all g
assets in 1905, following considerable controversy about th
Tepayments to be made. A dock board formed to administe
the property became, in 1913, the Singapore Harbour Boan

These improved facilities for storage and shipment &
Singapore assisted the export of Malayan tin and rubb
(especially to the U.S.A. and Britain), but this was only on
of the several ways in which Singapore contributed to thi
economic development of the Malay Peninsula about the en
of the nineteenth and the turn of the twentieth century. Jus
as Chinese merchant-capital from the Straits Settlements
had earlier revolutionised the scope and techniques of
Malayan tin industry, so now British merchant-capital wal
used directly or indirectly by established Singapore merchan
houses for investment in Malayan mining and agriculture:

The Straits Trading Company, which eventually
cialised in tin-smelting, was largely an offshoot of a Si
pore merchant-house. Its smelting plant had been establish
since 1887 on Pulau Brani near Singapore, and it had agem
cies in the mining areas for the purchase of the ore. O
European merchants in Singapore became engaged in the
shipping of tin and the supplying of machinery to the miné
they i ended by participating in the actual man
ment or ownership of the mines with which they were deal
Even when the merchant-house retained much of its origi
economic function, its knowledge both of trade and of
general conditions of life in Malaya were often extremely
valuable to néw European companies formed for mining o
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sultural enterprises in the Malay States. Such compa-
‘would be pleased to secure the services of an established
hant-house, whose name and reputation would encourage
gment in the home country, and whose advice could
te all the difference between success and failure. In this
; many leading European merchant-houses became
g agents for one or more companies which had raised
al in say, London, for Malayan plantations or tin-mines.
Singapore firm would be employed to administer the
gern and sell the produce.’

In a similar way, European merchant-houses in Singapore
d as agents for distant bankers during the first half of the
genth century. From about 1850, several Western banks
in Singapore, and the economic development of the
States led a number of these banks to open agencies in
y Malayan towns like Kuala Lumpur and Taiping. Chinese
ks also began in Singapore at the beginning of the present
,and extended their activities later tomainland centres.
e growth of banking assisted industry and agriculture in
a by granting credit facilities particularly in the rubber
in industries
Singapore, through its merchant-houses, thus contributed
atly to the establishment of Western tin and rubber com-
es in Malaya. Its Botanical Gardens served as a nursery
laboratory for early rubber and oil-palm plants, which
e, respectively, natives of Brazil and West Africa. Ridley’s
er work on rubber whilst he was in charge of the
rdens at Singapore had an importance for the Peninsula
ich it is difficult to exaggerate.

The development of industry in Singapore has been to a
degree complementary to the production of the Malayan
4 rland. Tin-smelting has already been mentioned. Before
8 end of the ni h century pi | ing had
ome established in Singapore. This was a Chinese industry
ed with production in Johore and neighbouring islands.
£1906 there were as many as sixteen factories producing
T 700,000 cases of canned pineapples in a year. This

details of these arrangements, sce G, C, Allen and A, G. Donnithorne,
¥tern Entorprise in Indonesia and Malaya, Chapter 11.
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industry suffered very severely as a result of the Se
World War, but it had by 1950 regained much of its for,
importance in Johore and Singapore.

The milling of rubber, copra-oil, and palm- ml and

although these also have their counterparts in the Fede;
tion. It must be remembered also that some of Singapoy
processing industries deal with raw materials which come
some measure from other parts of South-East Asia. In
dition, Singapore has an important modern trade in
collection and distribution of mineral oil in South-East

Table to illustrate the importanve of export dutiss on’ Rubber and Tin in the
modern: revenue of the Federation of Malaya

Period: 19517 Figurves in Militons of Straits Dollars
Export duty from Of the Total Re
— ——
% from | % from
Year | Rubber| Tin | Al | Total | Export | Rubber Notes
Sources [Roveriue | duty | and Tin
1951 - - 952 | 785 | 47% - Duty from
Rubber and

1952 : 2 190 | 725 | 2w S nat, shown
separutely in
Annual Repo

1955 54 51 nz | 620 | 18w | 17%
1954 52 ) ez | 622 18% | A7
1955 174 246 | 707 | d0% | 29%

1956 143 60 210 | s0z | 26% | 25%

1957 | 120 54 180 | #00* [ 220 | 226 |* Approximate
figure

Figurea taken from Federation Arinual Reports

N.B. 1. Revenue is also obitained fram Rubber and Tin by income-tax levied on
mining and cstate compunies, and, on a State basis, through reats and

Rubber tends to have wider fuctuations of the market than tin, and
changes can be difficult to predict from year to year.

"
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By the mid-twentieth century the main economic ten-
ies in Singapore were still partly related to an entrepot
, which, while alive and important, was nevertheless
ng. More significant was the extent of the economic
onships with the Federation of Malaya. Economic de-
opment in the Federation has increased the import as
il as the export trade of Singapore. As the needs of
try and agriculture increased in the Federation, the
rket for consumer goods of all kinds also expanded. By
Singapore claimed to handle about. 74 per cent of
a's direct foreign imports, and 67 per cent of the
exports.! Some slight reduction took place later in
pore’s position as an exporter, due to increased con-
tration in the Federation on Port Swettenham and
g. The main economic argument which divided
pore from the Federation lay in the contrast between
ngapore’s free trade and the Federation's dependence on
and export duties.

1 Colony of Singapore Annual Report, 1952,



Chapter 12

A SURVEY OF SOCIAL AND
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS
¢. A.D. 1850-1950 (I1I)

L. POPULATION AND GROWTH OF TOWNS

T he population of Malaya has grown at a rate comm

surate with the development of large-scale indust;

and agriculture. No census figures for the whole

Malaya were taken before 1911; earlier, some counts
taken in the F.M.S. Early figures must be treated with a lj
caution, since it was not possible then to achieve the accu
of a present-day count. When the census figures are used,
must also be remembered that until, and including, 19
Singapore appears together with the Federation of Malay,
After 1911 the intention was to hold a census every
years, and this was carried out in 1921 and 1931. The schi
for1941 wasinterrupted by the imminence of war, and the ng
census was in 1947. The most recent census followed ten yes
after this, in 1957. Put in very round terms, the population
what became the sovereign state of Malaya has grown i
follows:

1911 2.3 millions 1931 3.8 millions:
1921 2.9 millions 1947 4.9 millions
1957 6.3 millions

In less than half a century there has been an increase
nearly 300 per centin the total figure, and the same process
been going on before 1911. Within the hundred years betw
the 1850s and the 1950s, the population of the area of moder
Malaya must have increased between twelve and cwem.y-fo
This is much more spectacular than the rise in populati
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dhich took place in Britain during a long period of industriali-
tion, say from 1700 to 1950, when the population multiplied
olf about ten-fold, from five millions to fifty millions.
sanwhile, the population of Singapore increased from 80,000
3 1860 to about a million in 1950 — a twelve-fold increase in
ety years.

One major reason for the population increase was the
aprovement in health and the subsequent prospect of longer
Although individual cases of long life in Malaya are
sted in the nineteenth century,! many people died young or
ame old at what today would be considered a comparatively
rly age. Epidemics such as cholera, typhus and smallpox,
ether with dysentery and malaria, took a heavy toll of life,
there was, to put it in present-day language, a high infant-
ortality rate. The measures taken to raise standards of
salth and hygiene are outlined in the following section,

The other great contributory cause of the increase in
ulation was immigration. Several immigrant racial
ups were attracted by Malaya's growing economy. Of
se the Chinese, originating mainly from the provinces
South China, were the largest group. They came as
srchants, shopkeepers, estate-owners, and labourers in
es and plantations. Very few became engaged in padi-
nting, but Chinese have taken part in the fishing in-
ustry, both as middlemen and actual fishermen. The
linese peasant who sailed to the ‘Nanyang' in the
ineteenth century was one element in a large-scale or-
inisation run by Chinese merchants to supply labour
ere it was wanted. Conditions in the slow sailing junks
often appalling, the amount of personal space allowed
g six feet by two feet, and even less in many vessels,
Until 1929 there was completely free immigration of
races into Malaya. An Immigration Ordnance of 1930
Posed restrictions and a quota system. This was not
ected specifically against the Chinese, as it applied to
immigrants, but they were the most affected. The
ons for restricting immigration were economic. It was
lime of great trade depression, and there was much

'E.g., Sultan Abdul Samad of Selangor, who lived to be ninety-three.
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unemployment in Malaya, especially among the Ching
Many unemployed were, in fact, voluntarily repatriateq g
China at government expense. From 1930 to the time,
the Japanese invasion of Malaya, a gquota system
applied to the immigration of male Chinese, the deta
varying from year to year, and even for different times
the year. No restriction was placed on the immigration g
Chinese women and children.
Whilst there was less immigration, there was also Jas
emigration from Malaya to China during the 1930s, In
Chinese community in Malaya, men had outnumbered womey
by almost two to one in 1931; the arrival of more women and le
men reduced thisdisproportion and created more settled fam
units. The outbreak of war between Japan and China in 19
deterred Chinese from returning home, and the Japane
occupation of Malaya in 1941/2 made return impossible.
Two features about modern Chinese settlement
Malaya may be noted. The great attractions which
mining and commerce of all kinds have had for Chines
immigrants is reflected in the large Chinese element if
the towns. According to the 1947 census, the Chi
comprised 62.4 per cent of the urban population of Mala;
Secondly, the numbers of Chinese have increased in grea
proportion than those of the other races in Malaya.
cluding Singapore,? Chinese represented 38 per cent of
Malayan population in 1947, with Malays totalling 49 p
cent; but the Chinese population was increasing at @
greater rate. One further fact is that the number of Chin
born Chinese in Malaya became less and less as the year
pass, and, though mostly descended from immigrants wh
arrived at varying dates up to the 1930s, Malayan Chines
increasingly came to regard Malaya as their homeland.
Indian immigration in modern times was attracted by
railways, commerce, government service of many kinds andy
most of all in terms of numbers, by plantation-work.
scale from India, ially from southern Ind

' A Report on the 1947 Census of Population, p. 47,

* In Singapore, in 1950, Chinese totalled a little less than 80 per cent of &
population ofone million. Taking Singapore and the Federation together, thé
Chinese element was gaining a slight overall lead.
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dalso from Ceylon, took place in the years of the rubber boom
m about 1907 until after the First World War. As the Indian
pply of labour for rubber-planting came later than much of
Chinese movement into tin-mining, it was also accompa-
d by more government assistance and safeguards. Inden-
labour was abolished in 1910, and the F.M.S. set up an
igration Fund to which all employers of south Indian
bour (including the government itself) contributed, for the
rpose of assisting passages to Malaya. Government regula-
salso protected and made welfare provisions for the Indian
tate-worker.! Controls on emigration of unskilled workers
ve been placed by Indian governments from 1922 onwards,
d, shortly before the Second World War, a ban was imposed
her emigration of thiskind. In Malaya, the same economic
reumstances which restricted Chinese immigration also ap-
d to Indians. The Indians, who comprised 11 per cent of
lalaya’s population in 1947, maintained more links with their
try of origin, and a fair amount of two-way travel between
idia and Malaya continued.
Chinese and Indian immigration in the modern period of
alayan history stand out clearly, in outline at least; Malay
imigration is more difficult to detect and analyse. Immigrant
falays (or Malaysians, or Indonesians) merged fa]rly easily in
he present century into Malay society in Malaya,” and they
0stly took up agricultural occupations. Johore and Selangor
the States most affected, and the chance of a rubber-
ltholding or of plantation-werk attracted, in particular,
ays from Sumatra and Java. In 1931, according to T. E.
th, nearly 28 per cent of all Malaysians in Selangor were
Orn outside Malaya and the same was true of nearly 27 per
ent of all Malaysians in Johore. By 1947 the corresponding
fures were reducedto 14 per centand 13 per cent respectively.
Other races make up only 2 or 3 per cent of Malaya's
lodern population, but they have often had an importance out.
proportion to their numbers. They include people of Arab
k? linked to Malaya through trade and religion and inter-
ially the provisions of a Labour Code in 1912
tran Malays and their descendants merged more easily than Javanese
number would be difficult to assess; many became Malays or Malaysians
I census.returns.
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marriage; Burasians, most of whom have a long family bagl,
ground in Malaya; and Europeans who, as individuals, hay,
stayed varyinglengths of time in Malaya through trade, ind;
try, plantation agriculture, and government service.

One feature of the general growth in population was th
growth of townships and urban populations. By 1947 26.5 pe
cent of Malaya's population lived in towns and villages of 1,00
or more people, and 18 per cent lived in towns with populationg
0f 10,000 and upwards. The urban population has continued tg
grow rather more rapidly than the remainder.

The history of most Malayan towns is still to be wri
and it would be rash to generalise on their development. unf
further studies are forthcoming. Detailed work has been dong
on early Kuala Lumpur, and Malaya's modern capital is
striking instance of a hundred years’ growth from the smalle
beginnings. Kuala Lumpur was, in the late 1850s, a riversids
site where boats which were concerned with the newly-openey
A i Id iently come with supplies and tak
away tin. Nearby was a kampong of Sumatran Malays. A sho
run by two Chinese in association with a Sumatran trade;
marked Kuala Lumpur’s beginnings as a commercial centre. A
small poorly-built township developed in the 1860s with
success of the tin-mining, but it suffered badly during
Selangor Civil War, and, at one stage, was almost abandoned:
altogether. It was very much a Chinese township under it8
Capitan China, who kept law and order among the Chinese and
collected the revenue due to the Malay chief at Klang. The fi
Capitan China was one of the merchants who had opened
first shop, but the most celebrated figure in this office was Ya
Ah Loy, who was Capitan China from 1868-85.

Until the coming of the British Resident to Kuala Lumpus
in 1880, Ah Loy was the real authority in the town. He was af
astute business man and owned many properties, includin
mines, shops, houses, a smelting shed, a gambling-saloon, and
the town's first market. He started a hospital for sick mi
and helped to start a Chinese school. He kept law and order i
aharsh mining community. Much criticism could be levelled 8%
Ah Loy's Kuala Lumpur. The houses and roads were poo)
built; the town, including the market, was dirty and epidemi€
were common. Justice was of a very rough-and-ready kind. Yel
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hin the limits of his own times and circumstances, Ah Loy
more than anyone to establish the little township destined
come Malaya’s capital.
In 1884 Kuala Lumpur's population was 4,000. Eleven
s later, when the town was chosen as the administrative
uarters of the F.M.S., the population had risen to 25,000.
is time the population included Indians and Malays as
as Chinese, and a small European community, mainly
tish. The railway ran to Klang and to surrounding mining
tricts; it was soon to be linked northwards to Perak and
thwards to Negri Sembilan and Johore. On a small scale the
n, in 1895, was performing many of the functions of today.
ossessed a railway station, railway workshops, government
ldings, a police-station, a fire-station, military barracks, a
ilding industry, banks, shops, hospitals, and schools. It was
ll-placed to benefit from the rubber boom about 1910, and it
at this period that the federal government buildings and
way station were designed and constructed. During the
t century Kuala Lumpur has continued to grow at a
arkable rate. In 1947 the population was 176,000 and in
87, 315,000. Kuala Lumpur has long been a centre for
earch institutes relating to medicine, rubber, and tin; in the
0sit also became a University city —and a language centre.

2. HEALTH AND EDUCATION

There were plenty of health problems in the Malay States
the nineteenth century, and evidence of them is found in
émporary accounts, including the early Journals of the
itish Residents and records of the Straits government. Ma-
dysentery, beri-beri and other tropical diseases were
Mmon, whilst outbreaks of smallpox, cholera, enteric fever
other plagues struck suddenly and took a heavy toll of life.
‘the opening-up of the country, with new mining and
ting areas, new roads and railways, and new townships,
8 accompanied by a heavy death-rate as virgin jungle was
ered, malarial swamp encountered, or as the new town

to a point where the lack of suitable water and cleansing
Mities brought its own terrible dangers, To quote only a few
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examples: There wascholerain Larutin the sprmgof1874 8
the death-roll was estimated at 65. Out of 87 mining laho,
who wernt from Lukut to Ampang in 1857, only 18 were alis
the end of a month; jungle-fever had killed the rest,
number of beri-beri cases treated in hospital in Selangor §
1894 was 2,817, and the death-rate among these was 24 4
cent. In Selangor, in 1905, the number of deaths was sta
be two and a quarter times as great as the number of birgh
and, in 1906, almost three times as great. The proje 3
building the new port of Port Swettenham in the first decadal
the present century was almost abandoned on account of:
terrifying death-rate from malaria among the labourers,

This state of affairs could not, of course, be remedi
suddenly, and even when remedies had been found for n
diseases, vigilance and precautions were — and still are
necessary to prevent renewed outbreaks. The development
measures to meet Malaya's medical problems may be
marised under three main headings, namely the provision
hospitals, the establishment of Town Sanitary Boards, and
application of the findings of medical research.

One of the earliest hospitals in the Malay States was th
provided by Yap Ah Loy for sick Chinese miners in
Lumpur. It was maintained by a tax of a dollar on every
slaughtered in the neighbouring mining area. The patients
whom there were twenty-eight in 1880, were provided
food, shelter, and rest, but they had no real medical attentd
The early British Residents gradually provided State hospi
out of revenues, and recruited European medical staff to#
State establishment. Kuala Lumpur, before 1890, had!
government hospitals, each with forty beds, and a new Chi
hospital was built in 1892 by the Capitan China, Yap
Seng, and maintained by voluntary contributions from
Chinese community. The early hospitals were neither
enough nor numerous enough to meet the demand, and, in
case, many people were unwilling to enter them. The des
rate in the hospitals was very high because many people
brought there only when they were already dying.

By 1908 a wider pattern of hospital services |
emerging. There were, at this time, fifty-two hospitals in
F.M.S. Each of the four States had a State Surgeon wit
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mber of district surgeons under him. On the rubber-estates
compulsory to provide hospital accommodation on a
of four beds to every hundred workers, to employ a
sser, and keep a supply of drugs, These estate hospitals
gubject to visits from government medical officers. The
service has continued to expand, providing larger
gs and increasing the number of hospitals, including
al for specialist work. One of the main contemporary
is to extend the excellent services of town hospitals
rural areas.
[he establishment of Town Sanitary Boards was a very
nt step towards meeting the problems of urban health
ygiene. Kuala Lumpur had such a Board, or committee,
90, composed of Malay and Chinese leaders and members
British Resident’s Staff.! It was the town counterpart 6f
tate Council. Only the Secretary of the Board was a full-
icial, and he received a very modest salary, The Board
sed the cleaning and lighting of streets, the upkeep of
and houses, the building of drains, and the administra-
of the market. In the 1890s it made provisions for piped
from a reservoir, It was much concerned with passing or
gting plans for new buildings, and it made regulations for
rection of covered arcades or ‘five-foot ways’. At Ipoh in

for its cleanliness. About the same time Taiping had
e street-lighting and a piped water-supply.

fledical research conducted both inside and outside the
Ay States made an invaluable contribution to the control of
st diseases. For smallpox, a preventative vaccine had
scovered in Europe at the end of the eighteenth century.
difficulty lay in persuading people in Malaya to be
Bated, and much depended upon the local community
5. In Selangor, Raja Mahmud, a friend of Swettenham,
dnot organise a vaccination campaign, butanotherprince,
t, not only co-operated, but insisted on training as a
flator himself. The Capitan China at Kuala Lumpur in
field weekly vaccination sessions for the Chinese at his
se. ATamil leader advocated a policy of house-to-house
fon for his own communi
Tndian member, Tambusamy Pilla

. joined the Board in 1894
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It was possible to check smallpox by vaccination ap,
cholera by improved hygiene and water-supply, but there wera.
still deadly diseases like beri-beri and malaria on which furthg
research was needed.

An Institute of Medical Research was established at Kuajg
Lumpur in 1900 to investigate tropical diseases in both m;
and animals. Beri-beri figured very prominently in its early
studies. Dutch medical men in Java were also interested in th;
disease, and a Duteh doctor, Dr. Eykman, noted in 1896 th,
chickens fed on polished rice were liable to beri-beri.
publication on this theme was not known to British docto,
and a similar conclusion, namely that beri-beri was due to
diet deficiency, was reached at the Kuala Lumpur Institug
about 1906. With this knowledge, and the application of com
plementary diets to beri-beri patients, the death-rate from thig
disease was brought down very sharply.

The most widely known preventative measures in Malayl
are those which have been concerned with malaria. In
field of research, British and Dutch medical men also pla;
a prominent part. The researches of Ronald Ross (1857-1938;
who studied malaria during his career in the Indian Medic
Service, and continued his laboratory work in Britain, wen
put to practical purpose in Malaya. The use of drugs, &8
pecially quinine, had already been introduced into Mala
before the campaign on the various types of malaria-carrying
mosquito and their breeding-grounds began. One of the wo
malarial areas of Malaya was the swampy coastline of
Selangor, and it was here, at Klang and Port Swettenhai
that Dr. Malcolm Watson, Assistant Medical Officer i
Selangor in the early years of the present century, proved
the value of Ross's theories. When Dr. Watson arrived
Klang in 1901 he found the hospitals full and malaria ragil
in some villages whole families died in a few weeks.
systematic drainage, he attacked the breeding-grounds,
within a year he had reduced the death-rate from malaria If
Klang and Port. Swettenham from 168 to 41 per thousand

The anti-malaria campaigns were extended to other areas
A Mosquito Advisory Board was set up in 1911, a specilk
division of the Institute of Medical Research concentrat.ed 0N
malaria work, and local Mosquito Destruction Boards we!




A Survey of Social and Economic Developments (1) 231

ned. The eventual result was the practical banning of
laria from town areas and a large measure of control in rural
This is a battle, however, in which the defences must
erbe relaxed. The work of research in tropical medicine, too,
a very valuable and necessary side of Malaya's socml
ces.
The Singapore Medical School, founded in 1905 and later
ed The King Edward VII College of Medicine, provided a
of qualified doctors, many of whom served in the Malay
. Other doctors have been immigrants or European
riates. Side by side with the introduction of public health
ce: and Western-inspired medical research, traditional
d { , and Indian, still plays a part in
iny people’s lives. With so many medlcnl traditions on which
draw, it is not surprising that Malaya can claim to be the
thiest country in South-East Asia.
The building and maintenance of modern schoolsin Malaya
s at first the voluntary work of individuals or groups,
teluding religious missionary communities. In the first half of
rnineteenth century, schools were founded in Penang (1816),
apore (1823/37), and Malacea (1826). The Anglican
plain of Penang, Dr. R. S. Hutchings, was theleading figure
nd the Penang Free School, which was free in the sense
itit was open toallraces and that fees were not to be charged
those parents who could not afford them, Public subserip-
ns and donations from the East India Company helped to
i ys' school; a brave attempt
n a girls’ school was made between 1817 and 1821 and
between 1828 and 1851, when it was finally given up, The
apore Institution of 1823 was Raffles’s idea, though he
lt,ed Dr. Hutchings of Penang and l)r Mnrrison, a mis-

s

. tmm qndwa:(ohmemmefrum lheﬂastIndm(‘mnpanv
it the xcheme was soon abandoned after Raffles’s departure
Singapore. The East India Company withheld money,
ding Raffles's idea as impracticable; it was, however,
Pared to make grants to less ambitious local schools. The

ame a boys'school, the Singapore Free
Mool, set up by a trusteeship and modelled on the school in
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Penang. From 1844, a girls’ school was incorporated on
same site; this moved to other buildings in 1871. The
Free School (from 1878, Malacca High School) was foung,
1826 and was, like the Pennng school, an Anglican foun
supported and d by a of pr
residents and aided by funds left over by a former Dutch
Mission schools, organised mainly by the Chri;
Brothers, a French order of nuns (Les Soeurs du Saint Ep
Jesus), and the American Methodist Church, were openg
the Str: Settlements during the second half of the
teenth century, and, before the end of the century, in the
States. These included St. Xavier's, Penang, St. Jo
Singapore, and the Penang Convent School, ail founded in|
1850s; the Anglo-Chinese School, Penang (1891), the Metha
Boys’ School, Kuala Lumpur (1897), the Convent School, Ky
Lumpur (1899), and in 1904 St. John's, Kuala Lumpur. Q
mission-schools followed. In the meanwhile, from a fund
in Kuala Lumpur to commemorate Queen Victoria’s Jub
the Victoria Institute was endowed and founded (1894),
Allthese were trustee- or mission-type schools. They bef
mainly with voluntary funds, but they received some gov
ment support in the form of grants from the Straits and E.M
governments. Before the First World War some head
been made in the provision of government schools usi
language medium of English or Malay. Kuala Lumputy
instance, had its first ‘Government English School’ about 18
In 1919 there were seventeen of these Government Ei
Schools as against sixty-three schools of a trustee or mis8
type,aided, butnot established or controlled, by the governmi
The government schools, both in the medium of English
Malay, were mainly small ones atfirst; the Government Ei
School in Kuala Lumpur had forty pupils in 1892; in the
year the Malay school (Raja School) in Kuala Lumpur, fo
for the sons of Malay aristocracy, had eleven pupils. An
exception was the Malay College at Kuala Kangsar,
from 1905, which was a res i
princely Malay fam imi

the rubber estates where, by the Le\hnurr(‘ude of 1912, estd
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ors were obliged to provide schools for their workers’
en between the ages of seven and fourteen, in cases of ten
ore children, and were aided by a government grant. The
cy of these schools and, even, in many cases, their
tioning at all, was a very doubtful matter untilat least well
the 1920s. In urban areas, Indian communities, where
enough, made some efforts to provide vernacular schools;
poor conditions of pay and service for teachers who were
pited from India and Ceylon resulted in low standards of
on.

arly Chinese vernacular schools were founded by the
of the Chinese communities, mostly without any
ent help. In Kuala Lumpur, by way of exception, the
ment built the first Chinese school, but Yap Ah Loy
ded a schoolmaster at his own expense, and other leading
tays supported the school. The Chinese literary tradition
fostered before 1911, and all ten text-books in use at the
ila Lumpur school in 1895 were Chinese classi
In the twenty years between the First and Second World
5.8 great deal of progress was made in Malayan education.
in steps can only be briefly summarised here.

eral of the old trustee schools were taken over by the
nments, mainly for financial reasons. These included the
g Free Schooland the Victoria Institute. (Trustee schools
lacca and Singapore had been taken over by the Straits
imentat earlier dates.) Non-government English schools
e eligible for increased grants, known as grants-in-aid,
paid the salaries of teachers on an approved scale and
fbuted to the cost of new buildings and maintenance.
more Government English and Government Malay
s wereopened, and aMalay Training College was founded
anjong Malim in 1922. The number of Indian and Chinese
lacular schools increased and grants were made available
i6m, subject to some degree of government inspection,
ithe Chinese did not always welcome. Kuo-Yu became the
of instruction in Chinese schools.

small beginning was made in the field of technical
alion when a technical school started by the Public Works
rtment in Kuala Lumpur was taken over by the Education
ent in 1926, A School of Agriculture was founded at
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Serdang (Selangor) in 1931. Teacher-training was establisheg
from 1907 onwards in Normal Courses which consisted mainy
of holding a practical teaching job and pursuing associaf
studies under the guidance of experienced teachers. This Nop
mal-training was extended from a two-year to a three-yegy
period in 1928. In the same year the Raffles College of Art;
Science was established in Singapore with a two-million dol}
subscription and government aid, and graduates of the Coll,
could take a one-year diploma course in Education. A Trai
College for Malay men has alreaay been mentioned; a Malg
women’s Training College was opened in Malacca in 19351
Shortly before the Second World War committees
gan work on the idea of a university in Singapore, wit
the King Edward VII College of Medicine and R
College as its nucleus, Details were still being worked
when the Japanese invasion took place, but the proj
was revived again after the war. In October I 949 thy
University of Malaya was established at Singapore a
universities at Kuala Lumpur and Penang followed latey
A Chinese ‘Nanyang’ University, also at Singapore, wal
another modern development; early on, it was faced
problems of finance as well as the need to raise academi
standards.
Finally, a brief word is due on the administration
education, which has been as complicated as the oth
branches of administration in Malaya since 1895. In

of Public Instruction. His headquarters were at Singal
with assistant officers at Penang and Malacca. In the F..

cation. In 1927, when some decentralisation took place in 8
F.M.S,, the Director's work became much more advisory,
each State was in charge of its own Education service.
Unfederated States recruited Education officers from

! Education for girls Tagged behind that for boys in Malaya as clsewhere; B
progress in the education of Malay girls has been one of the striking featt!
of Malayan education in modern times
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aits Settlements, the F.M.S,, and from outside Malaya,
acluding Britain, and worked out their own programmes,
uninfluenced by what was happening in other Malay

tes.

Under the Federation of Malaya Agreement, the Federal
wvernment became responsible for educational policy which
as then carried out at State and Settlement level, aided by
nds from Federal revenue. On the introduction of the Mem-
ir system in the Federal Legislative Council, the post of
ember for Education was created. After the 1955 elections
to Abdul Bazak became the first Minister for Education in
e Alliance government.

- Education is a subject of the greatest importance in mid-
tieth century Malaya, and a vast programme of expansion
ng carried out, with the inevitable accompaniment. of
avy expenditure. Included in this programme are more
hools of all kinds, more teacher-training and university fa-
es, and more technical education. Attention is being
tothe lesg-developed East Coast, and to ensuring that the
layan boy or girl will have the best edueation possible,
rominent amongtheaims of the present education programme
the creation of a Malayan consciousness and unity.

(A) Population Figures in Census Returns

Wi 1921 1941 47 1957
fon of Malnys 2590051 | 29061 | 97672958 | 4.008.086
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Chapter 13

POLITICAL AND
CONSTITUTIONAL CHANGES
AD, 1895-1941

Straits Settlements, Sir Cecil Clementi Smith, a sch

for the federation of the four states which had Bri
Residents. This draft scheme was forwarded to the Secretan
of State for the Colonies, and Smith’s successor, Sir Charl
Mitchell, received instructions to report on its proposals,
nearly two years the matter remained undecided, but in
Mitchell recommended that if the Malay Rulers would
to it, the federal plan should be accepted. The Colonial Off
confirmed this recommendation.
Several reasons prompted first Swettenham and, late
Mitchell to urge the advantages which would follow fed
tion. Communications between the four states and betwee
their four Residents were limited and uncertain. All
Residents were attempting to follow a similar broad poli
but there was little or no opportunity for consultation b
tween them, or for passing on the benefits of experien
gained. Too much power was said to be left in the hand
one man, especially as it was difficult to maintain effectiy
control over the Residents from Singapore. With some fos
of centralisation it would be possible to secure uniformity
matters such as justice, taxation, and land-settlement;
well as to plan communications on a wider basis. )
Swettenham proceeded to seek the approval of the f0
Rulers to the proposals for federation. These proposals
cluded the appointment of a British ‘Resident-General
! Frank Swel
Residen

In 1893 Swettenham! submitted to the Governor of g

enham, then in Pe
d Colonial Office off

k, claimed the first federa) scheme buts
cials worked to the same end
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ise the admlmstratmn of the four states, and to act
gh the individ id The Resident-General was
be under the supervision of the Governor of the Straits
flements, who would also be known as High Commissioner
e Federated Malay States. There was to be a Federal
l service with departmental heads, but no Federal Council
h powers to make laws or to take financial decisions.
fhough the aim was uniformity, all legislation was to be
in similar terms, in each of the four State Councils,
i the theory was maintained that the powers of the Rulers
their own states, together with those of the individual
Councils, were not curtailed.

‘The Rulers accepted these proposals; in fact, according to
gttenham, they gave them their cordial approval, Their
s was apparently not impaired, they believed that their
and dignity would be enhanced by federation, and
w advantages in the better opportunities for economic
pment and in the lessening of inter-state frictions. The
s of Perak and Selangor were prepared to agree, as
ers of the richer states, to some measure of financial help
the development of Negri Sembilan and Pahang.

‘The Federated Malay States thus came into being on
1st, 1896. Kuala Lumpur, on account of its central
on was chosen to be the headquarters of the Resident-
and of the departmental heads, and it thus became
aderal capital. Yet there was no true federation. Ar-
ments were made for holding periodic conferences of
ur Malay Rulers together with some of their Chiefs
L members of their State Councils, but these conferences
d no legislative powers. There was no definition of the
of authority between State and Federation. One of
‘Teasons put forward for federation was the danger of
g too much power in the hands of an individual
ident, but the new scheme put even more power in the
A5 of one man, the Resident-General. Swettenham himself
the first holder of this office, and although re: le
the Governor at Singapore (as ‘High Commissioner’)
the Secretary of State for the Colonies, he had con-
ble freedom of action, and he soon began to build up a
of departmental headquarters in Kuala Lumpur
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The first Conference of Rulers took place at Kyg
Kangsar in July 1897, just a year after the introduct;
the new system. It lasted for a week, and it was imp;
both as an assembly of a kind which had never met, i,
Malay States before and as an advisory body. Its prop
were passed to the State Councils for their enactm
Despite the assurances given in the terms of the F
constitution, the State Councils were thus losing mu;
their importance and power as separate units. On the ¢
hand, day-to-day policy was controlled by officials in Ky
Lumpur working through subordinates in their own de
ments in the separate states; on the other hand, |
agreements on general policy were being made at this
sory conference and the State Councils were simply
stamping these decisions, The trend was all towards g
centralisation.

The second Conference of Rulers was held in
Lumpur in 1903, and it was marked by the arrival of th
Sultans by railway train; the Sultan of Pahang mai
journey by sea. By this time Malay leaders were re:
that increased centralisation of government considerg
reduced Malay participation, and the Sultan of Perak, wl
praising the British contribution in the administrative fi
spoke against overcentralisation and its effects.

There can be no doubt that the economic effects
federation — or, to be more accurate, of administral
union — were beneficial and wide in scope. The exi
railways and roads were soon linked up by a trunk
and a trunk road in the western states and, a little lal
a railway was planned to run through parts of Pahanj
unified Land Code and Mining Code was introd)
government survey work was undertaken, especial
Perak, and scientific research in agriculture, forest
medicine began on a federal basis.

Swettenham! was proud of these achievements: 3
population of the four States was reckoned as 424,2K
1891, ten years later (after five years of the Federatiof
was 678,595, Between 1895 and 1905 the revenue of the:
States rose from 82 million dollars to just under 24 mil

18ee his British Malaye, pp: 299-301
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and postal and telegraph services had increased tre-
usly to include over 2,000 miles of telegraph wircs
e handling of about 10 million postal covers in a year.
ame story of expansion was also shown in the statistics
ds and railways, hospital patients, and the number of
Is attending schools, which was recorded as 13,000 in

Not all of this ic and social d t was due
sderation. Tin-mining, plantation agriculture and popu-
would all have increased in any case, but administrative
helped, in particular, the development of communica-
| and the introduction of valuable research work in
s of common interest.

litical aspects of federation were more open to criticism,
tate Councils had been weakened in practice, if not in
. The Rulers themselves, despite the idea of the advisory
ence, tended to be rather left out of the administrative
no arrangements were made for holding the conferences
ar intervals and, in an inferval of several years, much
pened. The Resident-General became a policy-maker al-
in his own right. It was not only Malay leaders from
ate Councils (as well as the Sultans) who felt they

of representation in the government so that their views
given, especially on subjects which affected them

Lo meet this political discontent, a Federal Council was
Ip in 1909 through the initiative of Sir John Anderson
gapore and with the agreement of the Rulers. The
ssioner (i.e. Governor of the Straits Settlements)

its President, and the other members were the four
the Resident-General, and the four Residents, as well
unofficial’ members who were to be nominated by
oner and approved by the British Crown.
sioner was empowered to add to this

icil, if he thought it desirable, heads of administrative
ents, but any additions of this kind were to be
erbalanced by the same number of new ‘unofficial’
ers taken from trade, industry, or agriculture, The




240 A History of Malaya

Resident-General's title was changed to that of Chief Secrg.
tary to mark his subordination to the High Commissioner,

This Federal Council was to meet once a year and to deg)
with the draft estimates of revenue and expenditure of
State. It controlled all important policy, leaving on the agendg
of the State Councils only ‘matters of the Muslim religion,
the ideration of death and the banish
alien eriminals’! A clause in the Council’s constitution gave
the High Commissioner discretion to leave to the Staf
Councils any matters which he considered should properly
be dealt with only by them. In effect, however, all importan
policy decisions were made in the Federal Council, whi
apportioned the combined revenues of the four states a
then informed the State Councils of its decisions.

The Federal Council was a curious piece of constitution
machinery. Its president was the Governor of a neighbouri
colony, and its unofficial members required the approval of
British government and not that of the Sultans. The fo
Sultans saton the Council as ordinary members with no powe
of veto, and its business went on whether they attended or
Its legislation was signed by the High Commissioner,
Sultans were entitled to a voice in the discussions and deb:
of the Council, but, as traditional Rulers, this would haw
brought them a loss of dignity and esteem, and they either 58
silent or ceased to attend altogether. The Federal Council di
serve, to some extent, as a channel for the views of thi
‘unofficials’, of whom three of the first four were British and th
fourth Chinese. The State Councils and the Sultans were
however, weakened more than ever and Malay represental
was diminished.

The Federal Council hinged the Federated Malay State
more closely to Singapore through the presidential status
the High Commissioner and the influence of his représ
sentative, the Chief Secretary. This latter new title was 0l
popular in Malay circles because it seemed to emphasis
subordinate link between the F.M.S. and Singapore. In
Federal Council the main voices were those of the
Secretary and of the unofficial members; the High
missioner mainly limited himself to the role of chairm

'R. 0. Winstedt, History of Malaya, p. 251
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Political grievances in the F.M.S. were rather over-
adowed by the general peace and prosperity until the
lepression years of the early 1920s. At this time, trade and
sevenues took a serious drop and a more critical attitude to
ernment developed. From 1909 onwards many British
fficials in the F.M.S. and the Straits Settlements had
onsidered it likely that the ‘Unfederated’ States would sooner
" later come into the Federation, but these states, also
ounting Johore, although subject to British advice and
rotection, had their own Councils with a very considerable
sure of independence. The existence of these Councils
ed the Sultans in the F.M.S. to urge the restoration of
er powers to their State Councils. At the same time, it
as thought in the Straits Settlements that a process of
entralisation in the F.M.S. might encourage the other
tates to federate also.

- In this atmosphere, a reorganisation of the Federal
cil was carried through by Straits Governor, Sir Law-
nce Guillemard, in 1927. By this time the unofficial members
f the Council totalled eight, including five Europeans, two
hinese, and one Malay. Guillemard increased the number
official members to thirteen and that of the unofficial
lembers to eleven. Further heads of departments were given
s on the Council, but the Sultans were withdrawn, and
e inclusion of four new Malay members gave a little more
itlet for Malay opinion. The four Sultans now held annual
\eetings with the High Commissioner and Chief Secretary
nd, in practice, the Residents usually discussed the business
rthcoming Council meetings with the Sultans.

'~ In the early 1930s further changes were made. The Chief
eretary became known as a Federal Secretary, and his
tus was lowered so that he lost authority over the indi-
idual Residents and remained mainly a co-ordinating officer.
Ome life was put back into the State Councils; the control
Agriculture, education, medicine, and public works, was
ik on a State basis and the State Councils drafted their
M budget proposals for the Federal Council. Control of
Mice, customs, military defence, and general finance, re-
@ined, however, matters for the Federal Council. Laws were
€ made again by the State Councils and not by the Federal
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Council. Links were made between State Councils and Feq
Council by the appointment of the two Federal officers
finance and legislation to membership of all the State Co
cils, and by the appointment to the Federal Council of yp,
official members who had previously served on Stg
Councils.

This uneven and complex mixture of ‘itate and Fede
relati ined until the J. invasion of 1941.
The policy ofthe British Colonial Office contained elements g
contradiction, There was a conflict between trying to preseryg
the rights and prerogatives of the Sultans and the indivi
States and, at the same time, seeking to provide effi
government for the four Federal States, which might best
achieved by centralisation. Apart from the question of efficie
the nature of the government was a matter of concern to ser
interested parties — the Malay Sultans, the European ai
Chinese planters, miners and merchants, and political
commercial interests in the Straits Settlements. Any cha
was liable to arouse some opposition in one quarter or anot]
and the result was perhaps rather an untidy compromise.
widespread political movement existed to demand radi
changes or to press for a government based on wider repre
tation. During the 19 however, the State Councils began!
change a little in their appearance; European and Indi
unofficials were made members as well as Malays and Chi
and the Malay members included young men with a mo
education and outlook.

Whilst this uneven constitutional pattern was bei
woven in the F.M.S,, changes occurred in the other Ma
States. These can be examined in two parts; firstly,
transference of protectorate over the four northern stal
from Siam to Britain in 1909, and, secondly, the constitutio
development of Johore.

A long background of motives and negotiations preced
the Anglo-Siamese Treaty signed at Bangkok in March, 1909
and the wider issues can only be summarised here. In the 12
years of the nineteenth century there were frontier iss
between Siam and France and between Siam and Britain. B
1867 the French protectorate over Cambodia was firmi
established, and over the next thirty years there followed
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g-drawn-out series of incidents and negotiations between
ance and Siam in relation todisputed territories, particularly
‘what is today Laos, and in the Lower Mekong basin. The
snch brought very considerable military and diplomatic
gssure to bear on Bangkok in support of their claims,
The Franco-Siamese issues were of rea! interest to Britain
eause Siam was bounded on the west by British Burma,
jose extent was increased by the annexation of Upper
yrma in 1886. The extension of French control in Laos was
eating the strong possibility of a commion frontier between
fitish and French-controlled territories lying, roughly, to
north of Siam between French Tongking and British
pper Burma. Another reason for British concern was a
pench idea of a canal across the Kra Isthmus. In the 1880s
d 1890s, British policy was aimed at attempting to modify
fench demands on Siam; to avoid, or at least limit, a common
ntier with French Indo-China, and to negotiate with Siam
eaceful settlement of Anglo-Siamese frontiers. In this way
jam might play the part of a buffer-state between British
French interests just as, perhaps, Afghanistan served as
buffer-state between British and Russian interests.
The Siamese government only yielded to French demands

her. Siam also sought some compensation for losses of
itory in the east by securing a firmer hold on the southern
fovinces in the Malay Peninsula and obtaining legal recog-
lion of her rights there from Britain, The establishment of
litish protection over the four central states of Malaya gave
fitain a closer interest in any actions of the Siamese to the
and some British officials, including Swettenham, were
Hfavour of the extension of British protection to the Malay
claimed by Siam. The Colonial Office took a much
Ire cautious line and approached Bangkok in matters
erning Perlis, Kedah, Kelantan or Trengganu. One in-
e of this was the liaison with the Siamese government
1895 when a military force entered Trengganu and
lantan in pursuit of rebel Malays from Pahang; another
imple of this attitude was the refusal of the British Foreign
e, in 1900, to give outright support to a British speculator,
i, who claimed a title to a large land-concession from the
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Sultan of Kelantan. Duff was asked to go to Bangkok g
secure ratification from the King of Siam.!

In 1896, after British attempts to negotiate with
for a buffer state in the Upper Mekong region had brg
down, an Anglo-French agreement was signed by whj
France gained territories from Britain lying east of
Mekong, and formerly part of the Shan States of Upy
Burma, but both Britain and France guaranteed the {
tegrity and independence of central Siam, based on
Menam valley. This had the effect of checking any
aspirations on the Menam, protecting British trade inf
in Siam, and leaving open the chances of Anglo-Si
negotiations concerning the southern boundary. As a fi
safeguard to the Anglo-French agreement, Britain
convention with Siam in the following year by which
agreed not to cede any territory south of the el
parallel or to give any special advantage in trade o
in that region without British approval; in return,
would support Siam if any third power tried to
fluence in the area by pressure of any kind.

The price of this British policy of keeping the Frei
of Siam was co-operation with Bangkok in Siamese ¢l
authority in the northern Malay states. In 1899 an &
ment was made about the frontier boundary of Pahan|
Trengganu by reference to Bangkok and not to the S
Trengganu. In 1902 an Anglo-Siamese agreement prov
that the Sultans of Kelantan and Trengganu should
foreign affairs only through the Siamese, that Siam
appoint an Adviser and an Assistant Adviser to each 0
states, whose advice was to be taken on all matters
ministration except those touching Malay custom or
and that these appointments should have British
So long as peace and order and good government Wt
tained, the Siamese would not interfere in the inte
fairs of the two states.

VA Wright and T. H. Reid, The Malay Peninsula, p: 16018
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wettenham, who was Governor of the Straits Settle-
at the time, paid visits to the Sultans of Kelantan and
anu to discuss this Anglo-Siamese agreement. There
no doubt where Swettenham's sympathies lay. He had
viously been in favour of direct negotiation between the
and the northern Malay states, and before he finally
ingapore in 1904 he showed himself sympathetic to
ations for British protection from the Malay populations
i, Sai, and Reman, who complained of various forms
mese oppression.
he Sultan of Trengganu refused to sign the 1902 agree-
at, but the Sultan of Kelantan, who was always in a
ger position, complied. An Adviser and Assistant Adviser
appointed by Bangkok to Kelantan in 1903; both were
sh officials who had been in the service of the Siamese
ernment for a number of years, and they spoke no Malay.
tain and France agreed to bury existing differences in
when they made the famous ‘entente cordiale’ which
‘to make them partners in the First World War, After
ate, both countries conducted further negotiations with
0 concerning boundary questions. There were Franco-
e agreements in 1904 and 1907, and Anglo-Siamese
), which began in 1904, eventually led to a treaty in
which placed not only Kelantan and Trengganu but
Kedah and Perlis under British protection. By this Anglo-
se Treaty the Siamese transferred to Britain all their
8 over the four states, leaving the British government to
liate its own treaties with each of the individual states.
A return for these vaguely-defined powers, Britain gave
right to have jurisdiction for British citizens in Siam
h had existed through a consulate system since 1855, a
glo-Siamese boundary was defined and, by a sepa-
ty at the same time, the Federated Malay States
a loan of four million pounds to the Siamese Railway
bment for the construction of railways in Siam, The
, which had subj d Siamese
the eleventh parallel to British consent, and had
# British help in the event of third-power pressure in
€a, was now abrogated, but Siam gave a further un-
g against granting strategic concessions to any third
£0n the west coast of the Gulf of Siam.
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British influence over the four states concerned in the
09 treaty was increased only gradually. Much depended at
on the existing nature of Siamese control. Kelantan,
had had an Adviser and Assistant Adviser appointed
iam since 1902, was more closely linked with Siam than
of the other states. Other officials had already been
ited from the F.M.S., and Kelantan had the nucleus of
sh civil service, admittedly linked with Bangkok. This
iministration now became divorced from Siam, and a State
juncil was set up under the presidency of the Sultan, Apart
m the British Adviser, the Council was almost exclusively
falay, but a small number of British administrators acted
¢ heads of departments.
‘Trengganu had long resisted Siamese claims to suzerainty,
id the Sultan showed no great haste about accepting British
jvice. He complained, in the first instance, that Siam had
informed him of the terms of the Anglo-Siamese treaty,
910 Trengganu agreed to accept British protection and
ntrol of foreign affairs, together with a British agent with
py limited powers, A State Council was later instituted,
ether with administrative changes which brought the state
ginto line with systemsin Kelantan and Pahang. A British
viser was accepted by treaty in 1919, but, as in Kelantan,
2 State Council was essentially Malay. Its president was the
ntri Besar, while the Sultan remained legal head of the
A small number of British officials were recruited for
2 administration, and the Adviser was consulted on all
rtant matters of state, though he was not strictly a
er of the Council, whose meetings he attended.
dah also delayed in making a definitive treaty with
n for many years, although British advice and as-
nee in the administration began in about 1910. By a
of 1923 the Sultan accepted a British Adviser, but he
to be informed beforehand of any British appointments.
ate Council was provided, and it consisted of the Sultan
sident, three Malay members appointed by the Sultan
approved by the High Commissioner for the F.M.S., and
T. Additional members were to be appointed
the same principle of joint agreement. It was expressly
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stated in the treaty that no attempt should be made to me
Kedah with any other state or colony without the consent
the Sultan in Council.

Similar developments took place in the small state
Perlis. As a result of the Anglo-Siamese treaty, a Britig]
Adviser replaced a Siamese Adviser, who had been maip|
concerned with financial matters relating to a loan
Bangkok, The Siamese debt was eventually paid off, twents
years later, and the role of the British Adviser, whose in;
fluence had long extended into the general administratig
was regularised by a new treaty in 1930. Government w
conducted by a Ruler-in-Council; a British Adviser took ¢
leading part in the administration and there were other
British officers, but the civil service was predominantly Mala

In all these Malay states, the British share in the
ministration was less than in the F.M.S,, and the connecti
with the Straits Settlements were less marked. There was
much more of a Malay administration with British guidanes
as compared with the largely British administration,
certain Malay prerogatives, in the F.M.S. The Rulers of thest
states had no wish to join the F.M.S., because this woult
have entailed some loss of independence; in particular, th
finances would have been subjected to decisions taken A
Kuala Lumpur. They had the advantage of British adv
and they could recruit British professional and techni
assistance while still retaining a very considerable mea:
of self-government. Though willing to make internal chang
from time to time, the Malay Rulers of . Perlis, Ked:
Kelantan and Trengganu, together with their State Council
were anxious to preserve the separate identity of their oWl
states.

Finally, the case of Johore remains to be considered.
nearness of Johore to Singapore made some measu
British influence inevitable,! yet the government of Joho
retained its individuality, and it was remarkably mould
by the careers of three d d of that T
signed the Preliminary Treaty with Raffles at Singapore
1819.

This could also be said of Kedah and Penang.
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In an earlier chapter! reference has been made to a long-
awn-out dispute which arose in the middle of the nine-
enth century between Tunku Ali, son of Sultan Hussein,
d Temenggong Ibrahim, son of Temenggong Abdu'l
ghman. Both were at the time pensioners of the East India
pmpany, and the real issue was the control of Johore and
s revenues. Tunku Ali also pressed for recognition as Sultan
Johore from the Company, whose agent, Raffles, had given
cognition to his father. The policy of Singapore was at this
e directed from India, and Bengal was not very much
rested in Ali's case, which seemed to offer no advantage
the Company’s point of view. Ali’s entitlement to
perty and pension was maintained, but, in view of
rahim’s de facto rule in Johore, the matter of a Sultan’s
E was passed over. Eventually it was settled on a basis of

ediency in 1855, when negotiations between the two
ces and the Straits authorities ended in a treaty which
owed Ali the title of Sultan, a cash payment, and an in-
ased pension, together with a personal domain on land
tween the Kesang and Muar rivers. Ibrahim and his
essors became the rulers of Johore, subject only to ac-
wledging a title and paying a pension to Ali and his
scendants.
- Temenggong Ibrahim continued to live at Singapore,
t he received the revenues of Johore, and he arranged
' the building of a town at Tanjong Putri, which was to
later known as Johore Bahru. It was Ibrahim’s eldest
), Abu Bakar, who, succeeding to the title of Temenggong
his father's death in 1862, gave to the capital of Johore
_1866) its modern name. He had great business sense
d a good mind for detail; he encouraged immigration
d plantation agriculture in Johore and established new
d laws and new customs posts. In 1868, after a visit to
rope and some sounding of Malay opinion on the subject,
u Bakar assumed, with the agreement of the Straits
vernor, the novel title of Maharaja, reminiscent of the
title of Sri Maharajah borne by some of the early
ith-East Asian kings. On several occasions Abu Bakar
|

ISee Chapter 8
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acted as an intermediary between the British authorjj
and other Malay states, and in the 1870s and 1880s,
his relationships with parts of the later Negri Sembilg
and with Pahang, he seemed to be aiming diplomatica]]
at restoring some form of Johore leadership over neigh
bouring Malay states. In this he was unsuccessful, bug |
1878 he secured control of the Muar district, where
tan Ali had died in the previous year. This was achi
through an election held by Muar chiefs, who were m;
clearly to understand the Maharaja’s aims, and knew
the Singapore authorities were in favour of them:
successors were entitled to 500 dollars a month from
Maharaja under the terms of the 1855 treaty; this
now increased by a further 750 dollars to compensate fg
loss of territory. In 1885 the dynastic issue was fi
settled when the Maharaja took the title of Sultan, si
a treaty of alliance with Britain, and accepted a Bri
officer as a consular official.

Abu Bakar took great interest in planning Johore B 1
especially the royal palace and its gardens. He encourage
plantations and market gardens both near Johore Bahru
near the new town of Muar, which he founded in 188
Singapore Chinese were the main producers, and crops |
cluded coffee, tea, cloves, gambier, and pepper. In 1892
Sultan was honoured by the Chinese Emperor with the aw
of the first-class order of the Double Dragon for his justice
the Chinese in Johore.

Shortly before his death in 1895 Abu Bakar iss
written constitution for the state; it was drawn up by Bri
lawyers. This provided for a Council of Ministers, all
and Muslims, who would advise the Sultan. In addition,
was a Council of State whose members were not necess
Malays, but who were required at first to be Johore sub
The Council of State consisted of members appointed by
Sultan with the advice or agreement of his Coune
Ministers, who were th Ives ex-officio b
powers of this Council of State were similar to those
Legislative Council in a British colony; it made laws r
the Ruler’s consent, which, under certain conditions, he
obliged to give. An amendment in 1912, in the reign of 8




Political and Constitutional Changes 251

akar's son, Ibrahim, introduced a third body, an Executive
puncil whose members were appointed by the Sultan; this
as the counterpart of Executive Councils in British colo-
es. 1t met weekly, usually under the Sultan’s chairman- -
ip, dealt with routine administration and proposed new
gislation. The Council of Ministers tended to become con-
ed to dealing with the narrower field of exclusively Malay
d Muslim matters.

LTWO further changes occurred in 1914. The Couneil of

te became open to members who were not Johore sub-
, including British officials, and Sultan Ibrahim, to meet
problems of a growing population and economy, took a
ish General Adviser whose function was similar to that
e Advisers in the other States outside the F.M.S. Under
Sultan, a Malay Mentri Besar remained at the head of
2 administration, and Malay and British officials shared
tior departmental work. Close links — but not dependence
were maintained with the Singapore authorities.

This brings the outline of constitutional development in
laya to the situation which existed in 1941, at the time of
iJapanese invasion. It was a complex scene. On the fringe
‘the Straits Settlements, Penang, Malacca, and Singa-
e, a British colony divided in three pieces and governed
n Singapore, subject to the Colonial Office. At the centre
the Federated Malay States with a large measure of
lish administration based on Kuala Lumpur, but with
le rehabilitation of the State Councils since the early
0s. To the north lay the states over which Siam had
erly claimed suzerainty— Perlis, Kedah, Kelantan, and
hgganu — and which now had treaties with Britain as
Protecting Power, as well as British Advisers and a small
ber of other British officials. To the south lay Johore,
th had had close assaciations with Britain from the time
e founding of Singapore but had maintained considerable
Pendence and Malay control through the progressive
ies of the Rulers d. ded from the T\ ggong family.
lack of a better word, perhaps, the four northern states,
ther with Johore, were commonly named the
ederated’ States, to distinguish them from the F.M.S.
rated, Unfederated, and Straits Settlements — politi-
s this was the Malaya of 1941,
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Nationalist movements were widespread in South
South-East Asia long before the Second World War,
Congress Party in India was aiming for self-government fy
as early as 1906. The military and economic nationalism g
Japan served as another kind of example for the achig
ment of Asian political ambitions and prestige. The Chingg
revolution of 1911, and the subsequent measures to creaf
modern republican China, drew the attention of overs
Chinese. In Burma, in Indo-China, in the Netherlands E
Indies, and in the Philippines, political groups, in open o
secret, and by peaceful means or violence, were workin;
achieve the end of colonial rule. The Japanese conquest g
the region in the Second World War did not create nationg
lism in South-East Asia; it simply hastened the growth of
plant whose roots were already well established.

To a large extent, however, Malaya's case was ex
tional. Nothing which could be termed a large-seale politi
movement for political independence had as yet come i
existence, A number of individual Malayans were, of course
affected by nationalist ideas which were current in of he
parts of Asia, Western-type education, with its emphasis
history, literature and law, on patriotism, political freede
and the democratic society, contributed considerably,
Malaya as elsewhere, to the idea of applying these pring
in an Asian country. British administrators in Malaya
neither completely unaware of, nor completely unsympathi
to these aspirations, but the prospect of a united and in
pendent Malaya still seemed a very long-term one. In
absence of a strong political party with a nationalist 8
form, or an organised popular movement, the case lacke
urgency. Moreover, there wers several difficult obstacles:
the way. )

To begin with, there were the political and adn
nistrative divisions of Malaya. Unity could only come &
agreement between no less than eleven different go
ments. Secondly, Malaya was not directly under
rule, apart from the Straits Settlements, Different s
and groups of states had different treaty relationships
Britain. While British administration was sl.rong!y
trenched in the F.M.S,, the Unfederated States retain€d
considerable measure of independence and were suspiciof



Political and Constitutional Changes

“any suggestions of union or federation which might
duce this. Even in the F.M.S., the forms of Malay politi-
hower were preserved and there was a fair amount of
psultation on both sides. As compared with India, the .
stherlands East Indies, or even Burma or French
doChina, the British protectorate over the Malay States
cluding the Straits Settlements) had been a compara-
ly short one. It began in 1874; it was not fully ex-
ided to the four central states until about 1890; the
ir northern states made their treaties at various dates
er 1909, and Johore took a General Adviser in 1914,
The period of British protection was marked by three
er factors which would have a delaying effect on na-
nalism. Broadly speaking, it was a period of prosperity,
art from hardships caused by trade depressions after the
st World War and again in the early 1930s. Secondly,
il 1931 it was a period of emigration and immigration on
arge scale. Although the overall population increased
rmously, a high proportion of it was temporary, and did
 regard Malaya as a permanent home. Thirdly, for edu-
ed and intelligent Malays, at least, there were opportuni-
 of appointments to government service at a high level.
viously, without the presence of British administrators,
Se opportunities would have been greater, but the fact
t they existed at all not only brought able men into the
hinistration, but also reduced the possibility of an active
ontent stirred by potential political leaders who could
| no place in the existing Tegime.
The divisions of Malaya before the Second World War
e racial as well as political. Although Malaya provided a
example of racial harmony, the small balance in num-
5 which existed between Malays and Chinese, and the
tence of a very considerable Indian minority, put further
iculties in the way of potential national unity. There were
Ities and patriotisms in the Malaya of 1941, but they
many outlets which had no bearing on the vision of an
pendent Malaya. The Malay's loyalty was traditionally
and given towards his own Sultan and State. The po-
ally-minded Chinese looked towards China and mainly
orted in spirit or in deed the Kuomintang party; a much
ller number of Chinese, with a sprinkling of other races,
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were members of the illegal Malayan Communist Party_‘
Congress Party in India unwittingly channelled away
Malaya Indian sympathies and aspirations. j

Although Malaya was by no means a political vag
polities did not loom large on the pre-war scene. In gen
standards of living were higher in Malaya than in
bouring countries; the governments were stable, and
was no widespread pressure, or even desire, for ra
changes.

DATES OF EVENTS

1895 Sultan Abu Bakar's Constitution for Johore.

1896 Federated Malay States,

1902 glo-Si ning Kelanty
Trenggany.

1909 Anglo-Siamese Trealy concerning Perlis, Kedah,
and Trengganu. (Followed by separate treaties bel

these States and Britain.)

1909 Federal Cauncil in FM.S.
1912 Exeentive Council in Johore.
1914 Membership of Johore Council of State wideneds

British General Adviser in Johore
1927 Federal Council reorganised in FM.S.
Early 1930s { Further changes in Federal Council (F.M.8.):

State Councils partly rehabilitated (F.M.S.).

Rulers of Johore: The Temenggong Family

Ibrahim [Son of Temenggong Abdu'l Rahman]

[Son| Abu Bakar [Maharaja, 1868; Sultan, 1885]

1Son| Ibrahim



Chapter 14

MALAYA, SINGAPORE AND THE
JAPANESE WAR
A.D. 1941-1945

n December 8th, 1941, the peace of Malaya was
shattered by a seaborne invasion which landed
Japanese troops on the Kelantan coast at Kota Bharu

an attack timed to coincide with the Jap

American Pacific Fleet at Pearl Harbor, Hawaii, and
‘events were highly dramatic. In Malaya, a long period
e and a continuing faith in Britain's ability to defend
ion against any hostile force had helped to create a
se of false security. From the time of the outbreak of war
Burope, in September 1939, the Malayan economy had
boosted by increasing British demand for tin and rubber,
Japan, too, was active for a while in the expanding
for Malayan exports.

The origins of Japanese military aggression in South East
A can be traced, first of all, to the long war between
in and China, which had started with an outbreak of
ing involving Japanese troops in Manchuria, in 1931,
te quickly and effectively a Japanese garrison army took
bary control of the whole region and the Tokyo govern-
b, giving way to military pressures, recognised and de-
what had taken place. Attempts by the League of
8 to settle this serious dispute between Japan and
8 (which regarded Manchuria as a traditional part of
&) proved to be futile and the conflict spread. Chinese
Its of Japanese goods, banks and steamers and a wave
ti-Japanese demonstrations in Chinese cities were
tered by Japanese naval and military attacks on Nan-
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king and Shanghai. By 1937, Japanese armies were e;
in undeclared, but full-scale warfare on the Chinese main
a situation which, again, the League of Nations proyg
powerless to check. As Japanese warplanes bombed Chineg
cities and Japanese armies penetrated further and fu
towards south and western China, many of the large Chi
community in Malaya were moved to strong feelings of
patriate nationalism. Membership in Malaya of the Chin
Kuomintang (Nationalist) party increased considerably ¢
money and goods were collected widely to be sent to Ching
‘relief and aid China's resistance.

In America and in Britain, too, although there wi
kind of alliance or common policy between the two counts
there was much public sympathy and support for China.
British embassies and territorial ‘concessions’ in
granted asylum to Chinese who sought it, while, in Bi
China Relief Associations were active, collecting money
supplies. In March, 1940, Japan set up a puppet Chi
government in Nanking, which Britain refused to recogt
and the Japanese authorities reacted by taking action
British subjects and interests in China. By this time &
part of China was under Japanese control, but Chine:
mies, both Communist and Kuomintang, were still ael
especially in the western provinces.

So far as relationships between Britain and Japan
concerned, it should be noticed that it was Britain
Japan which had allowed an earlier treaty of political
ship to lapse. This Anglo-Japanese treaty, first si
1902, renewed in 1905, and again in 1911, was highly
by the Tokyo government. When it was due for fus
newal in 1921, Britain decided to abandon ‘it, a move
the Japanese regarded as a serious rebuff to national §
The British view at the time was that the treaty had
its purpose and a wider range of international ag
on defence, especially on naval matters, should no
troduced. The five chief naval powers of the period, €
States, Great Britain, France, Italy and Japan came &9
in the Washington Naval Limitations Treaty ( :
attempt to determine their relative naval strengths
terms of this agreement Britain and the United Stal
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e equality in capital ships, while the Japanese navy would
tricted to three-quarters of the sizg of either of them.
e French and Italian navies were to be smaller still, but
pal, again in the number of capital ships, to each other.
A Four-Power and a Nine-Power Treaty followed this
val agreement, the first between Britain, (including what
g then a small Commonwealth grouping) U.S.A., France
| Japan, concerning their island dependencies, and the
d treaty, also agreed by Japan, seeking to guarantee the
ty of China. The United States undertook to have no
base nearer to Japan than the Hawaiian Islands and
gave a similar guarantee with regard to the seas east
gapore. Japan had called for assurances of this kind
in news of the main treaties provoked a bitter reaction
kyo. From the Japanese point of view, these agreements
a hostile intent of limiting the role of Japanese power
e Pacific and South China seas and blocking any
s of J ionism in inland or island
Yet, with an American navy which would play a role
in the Atlantic and the Pacific and a British navy still
d to meet world-wide commitments at the time, it is
to see that Japan's position was not adequately
ded in the Pacific region. This was especially true
ence of any treaty of co-operation between Britain
e United States and in the certainty at the time that
Berican government would engage in actions in support
it imperial interests.
ving all this diplomatic activity, Britain scrapped
ips on a large scale, but, for longer-term purposes,
the construction of a large modern naval base on
shore of Singapore island, facing Johore across the
Work on the base started in 1923, but, because of the
d inter-war economy in Britain and a strong measure
Bition to the level of expenditure required, progress
W and halting. At a total cost of some £63,000,000, a
figure atthe time, the Singapore Naval Base was
dy in 1941, but the new British Main Fleet which
Needed for the base (assuming other British naval
its elsewhere) was still in preparation. As Japa-
8 threatened to invade Malaya in the early days of
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December, 1941, only the advance units of a new Fleet
able to reach Singapore; they included the cruiser, Rep,
and a new battleship, Prince of Wales. This was a situag
to which the military-dominated government of Japan

fully alert. !

The Japanese government abandoned naval limitaf
in 1936. This was followed (1936-37) by treaties of allj
with Hitler's Germany and Mussolini's Ttaly, though thg
did not go beyond diplomatic support. In 1938, when it y
evident that any prospect of world security through {
League of Nations had disappeared, and that Britain
showing weakness in the face of Hitler's demands, the Jaj
nese launched a major military campaign into southern Chij
Within a few months Japanese forces had seized Canton,)
island of Hainan and the Sinnan Islands in the South Chj
Sea. They were in a position to plan a further advance i
French colonial territories (Vietnam, Cambodia and
then collectively referred to as French Indo-China) w
circumstances in Europe provided the ideal opportunitys

In 1940, the defeat of France by Germany left Ja
in a position to negotiate with the German-control
French government at Vichy for an agreement to stafl
Japanese troops in military bases in the French pi
torate and colony territories in mainland South East
To prepare for this move, Tokyo signed a treaty
friendship with the Thai government and, by Sep
Japanese troops were occupying the northern region
French Indo-China. Acting, at least ostensibly, in sup|
of Germany in Europe, Japan then signed a Three
Pact with Germany and Italy (now also engaged in |
war against Britain), each promising total aid to the of
for a period of ten years.

Two months before German armies attacked the
Union, in June 1941, the Japanese government had i
itself through a Neutrality Pact with Moscow. The ea
dramatic successes of German armies advancing eas
deep into Soviet territory encouraged Tokyo to take B
measures and Japanese troops were now ordered to
and control the whole of the French Indo-China tel
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the border to the west lay Thailand, with which Ja-
ad a treaty relationship. To the south and south-west
“British’ Malaya, and, to the south again, the Nether-
ds East Indies. Britain was engaged in a desperate war
ival in Europe, where the Dutch homeland, like that
e French, was German-occupied and controlled. Rich in
mat.enak valuable in war and in peace, the British-
ed Malay States and the East Indies offered a tempting
ze to a Japanese military establishment already flushed
success in battle and in diplomacy, To leaders in Tokyo
t have seemed that the Western colonial empires in
East Asia were theirs for the taking; it was a rare
prtunity and any delay would only give the British more
 to build up naval resources in Singapore.
'For Japan there was still the reaction of an American
nment to be considered. There had been no separate
ements on matters relating to the Pacific region between

at least arguable that Japan might have attacked
layan and Indonesian territories without incurring any
ediate response, provided that the Philippines were not
threatened, but tensions between Washington and
ran high and the Japanese leadership took the deci-
stage a massively damaging and unexpected aerial
on the American fleet at Pearl Harbor, (December 7,
), at the same time landing seaborne troops in north-
alaya and southern Thailand. There may have been
& emotion than reasoning about Japan's decision to
ble on a war with the United States, but there was an
t of desperation about the Japanese need for greater
erial resources to support her imperial ambitions. Also,
ta further range of territories had been overrun by Japa-
tarmies, the United States, with its Pacific Fleet largely
foyed, might be ready to accept a compromise peace.






Flaatine dock, Singapore base, 194 1. (Imperial War Museum)
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The Japanese leadership had created a vision of g
Eastern Asia, under Japanese control, and, within ] ‘
South-East Asian Co-Prosperity Sphere to replace Wegte
influence by that of Japan. By adopting Western technglg
and military and naval techniques Japan was strong enoy
to challenge the West and Japanese slogans were to mg
great use of an ‘Asia for the Asians’ theme. A Malay
campaign, too, would serve other purposes. Forms of
rial help despatched to a stricken, but still resisting,
would be stopped and those Malayan Chinese associated wj
such activities heavily punished; many, in the event, we;
pay with their lives. The Singapore naval base would g
only be denied to the British; it would, in Japanese h
remain an excellent strategic situation in war and in p
Much earlier, a British government minister had descril
Singapore as a ‘gateway’ to both the Pacific and to the |
dian Ocean. If Japan became master of the Pacific, wi
further opportunities would the prospect of the Indian Oc
hold?

The defence of the Malay Peninsula and Singapg
against external attack was a British responsibility
comparatively little had been done to prepare Malaya
help protect their own territory. In the Straits Settles
and in the Malay States, small numbers of part
Volunteers were recruited and engaged in army traini
schemes as the danger of war increased. British
expatriates in Malaya and Singapore were enrolled as
and army reservists or members of the Volunteers
For those over the age of 55 there was training for
defence, fire-fighting, transport and other duties, whi
expatriate, mainly British, women became auxili
nurses and ambulance drivers. The Volunteers' compal
included small numbers of men of different races and
Malay community raised a Malay Regiment for the defe
of the country. Viewed later, this can all be seen a8
brave effort, but far too small in scale to be faci
highly professional and battle-hardened invading anﬂ“
army. The main burden of military defence was t@
with British, Indian and Australian troops, both regw
and wartime soldiers. Late in the actual military campaifl
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iderable force of Malayan Chinese volunteers was
, but it had little opportunity for training and
as little military equipment to spare for the men.
e separate political boundaries in the Malay Penin-
d the distinction between a British colony, the

@ way of any concept of an all-Malayan defence force;
a of a politically-united Malaya had scarcely yet
n. Defence against the invader, therefore, largely called
-y forces from Britain and the Empire/Common-
notably India and Australia. The British War Office
the defence of Malaya provided for the positioning
reraft on defended airfields in the Malay peninsula
the island of Singapore, together with ground troops
ng strategically defensive positions against likely
gks in northern Malaya. From Singapore a British
force would have the duty of intercepting any enemy
on fleet. If, nevertheless, a Japanese army succeeded
hieving a landing and major breakthrough in the
the defensive strategy was to take the form of a
withdrawal of all forces towards the south, if
ry as far as Singapore. Here, following re-grouping,
m stand would be made, allowing reinforcements to
e by sea. A counter-offensive would then be ordered
ve the invaders northwards back though the penin-
and in the direction from whence they had come.
everal circumstances combined to thwart these plans.
apanese army did succeed in landing in strength at
Bharu in Kelantan and at Singora and Patani in
land. The Thais put up little resistance, as their
tnment had earlier come to terms with Japan. Britain
ed what was considered to be Thai neutrality and
d to send troops in time across the Thai border; this
the invaders in control of two ports there and an
d and the opportunity to direct the main thrust of
Invading army westwards across the isthmus to main
L and rail routes pointing south to Singapore. Within
lys an airfield at Alor Star, in Kedah, had been
idoned and, barely a week later, the island of Penang
left defenceless as the danger of its being by-passed
the mainland was perceived.
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Meanwhile, the advance units of the new Fleet 4
based at Singapore sailed north to seek out Japanese pg
and transport shipping in the South China Sea. An g
carrier, Indomitable, which should have formed part of
Force, had run aground in the Caribbean and been del
by repair work. Going ahead without air-cover, the Py
of Wales and the Repulse were sunk by Japanese
off the Bast Coast on December 10, with heavy
among their crews. This was Britain's ‘Pear] Harbor!
a great blow to morale for the British and Malayang
It was quickly followed by the partial, and very o
versial evacuation of Penang. The Japanese advane
the western side of the peninsula was so rapid th
island was in danger of being cut off from the rest

of troops, many of them part-time Volunteer
evacuated to Singapore by sea. British expatriate ci
and small number of other, mainly Chinese, from Wi
was largely a Chinese population, were also ferried a
It was a hasty operation, not based on previous plans
and it followed the experience of heavy Japanese bos
of the main town and port. Even the British expatri
arriving in Singapore were received with some coolns
their fellow nationals on arrival at Singapore. Meanwh
motor boats and other craft captured in Penang hai
by the Japanese were soon at work ferrying their ini
patrols into estuaries and inlets on the west ¢
Malaya, sometimes in advance of the overland li
attacks.
The main pattern of the Malayan Campaign was'
one of ‘jungle fighting’ than the use of cleared land on
west, where road and rail ran, extending to the coast on'
side and the jungle fringe on the other. Control of the
was vital and Japanese troops used bicycles when O
transport was not to hand. Assisted by good maps and
intelligence from pre-war Japanese agents who had lived
Malaya, Japanese commanders were able also to id
and use trackways for surprise sortie
ground troops, Japanese warplanes quic!

y gained supremé




etreating south. Royal Engineers prepare to hlow up a bridge. (Tmperial War Museum
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air, having a great advantage in numbers and in types
iachine over the defending planes. It had been estimated
the British side that a total of 336 aircraft would be
ded for the successful defence of Malaya and when the
mnese invasion occurred barely half of this number was
tation, largely obsolescent British and American models.
of the shortages at least in this and other kinds of
ting equipment could be attributed to Britain's own de-
se needs at the time and to the despatch, at great cost, of
r material by sea to Britain’s wartime ally, the Soviet
. In existing wartime conditions Malaya lay at three
s’ sailing distance from Britain and beyond speedy
in many respects. Post-1939 troop reinforcements came
nly from the Indian Army and from Australia, ill-equipped
d ill-prepared in many cases for tropical warfare.

1In outline, the pattern of the war in the Malay Peninsula
n be briefly stated. A well-led, battle-hardened Japanese
headed quickly south. After fierce fighting, bringing
vy casualties, in the north, the defending forces took up
trategy of strategic withdrawal. British and Allied troops
epared defensive positions, some of them only hastily pre-
red, until either driven back or at risk of being cut off by
& more creative Japanese tactics, a mixture of dirvect frontal
tacks on a narrow front, assisted at times by light tanks,
d a series of infiltration and pincer movements. Jitra, to
north of Alor Star, was one of the early defensive posi-
ons. Later attempts to hold the Japanese advance were
ide at Kampar, and then (January 7, 1942) on the line of
e Slim River in Perak. Subsequently, the British generals
tided upon a defence-line roughly along the northern border
ohore. Main towns were left ‘open’ and fell readily into
ese hands, from Kuala Kangsar, Taiping and Ipoh to
a Lumpur and Malacca.

There was very bitter fighting in Johore, where
stralian troops were prominent, sharing an uneven
Ont with British and Indians. By the end of January,
M2, however, a general withdrawal to Singapore was
dered and defending forces crossed the causeway to
€ island, almost as further reinforcements were arriving
the port. The causeway was damaged by explosions,






General Percival and flag party on their way to surtender, 15 Fehruary 1942, (Imperial War Musenm)
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but not beyond repair, A week of bombing and she]jj
by the J was foll d by landi on Singapg
north-west and north coasts, despite the many man
swamps. Singapore’s large coastal guns had been gig
to face a possible attack by sea and, though most
traverse through 360 degrees and some were broy
into_use in the battle for Singapore, they were of limif
use against what amounted to an overland invasion
the north. Coastal defences overall proved inadeg
and, within days, the Japanese had seized ammi
and petrol dumps in the centre of the island, toge
with the sites of local water reservoirs. They were
ready in a position to control the main water supp
the island, as it flowed by pipeline across the caus
from Johore,
By this time thousands of civilian refugees from!
mainland, from all races and in all sorts of conditions
increased the city population of Singapore to more
million people and the concentration of troops on the isl
added to the demands for water of which there was
minishing supply. The last military plan was for a defet
perimeter set up at a distance of four miles from cii
port. There was some bravery by defenders here at.
and not least at Pasir Pajang at the south-western e
of the perimeter, a sector held by members of the B
Regiment. Neither late defences, however, nor late
of troop reinforcements by sea could turn the tide of
February 15, 1942, the British commanding officer,
Percival, surrendered his Allied forces to the Ja
commander, General Yamashita. The two fund
considerations were the shortage of water and the d
save the city of Singapore from becoming a battle
enduring other horrors of war. -,
For Britain, the fall of Singapore was a great humili
Malayans realised that Britain had failed to give ad
protection Lo their region at the hour of greatest nee
a very late stage in the war the idea that Singaporé
‘fortress' which could, if necessary, be defended for
months was still widely held, but this had turned od
a myth. The nearest that Singapore had ever comé to
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Outside View of Changi gaol - (1942) Miss Gladys Tomkins, watercolour
1Used for British-and Allied internees, later also for British P.O.W's. 1942-45)
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g a fortress was in the mid-nineteenth century when the
glish East India Company built gun positions on a low
‘overlooking the port. This area, subsequently known as
rt Canning, had long since ceased to have defensive sig-
ance except as the army headquarters of Malaya Com-
ind.
In a mere ten weeks, Japanese forces had won
trol of Malaya and Singapore in a well-organised
ppaign. Britain and the Dominions (the early Common-
h) had lost 8,700 dead and there were some 80,000
litary prisoners, mostly in Singapore, where they were
first of all to a barracks area at Changi. Japanese
es in dead and wounded were smaller. British and
jed civilians still living in Malaya and Singapore were
ly rounded up (except for a few who took to the
igle, to survive or die there) and interned in the
mer civil gaol at Changi. They were followed, in due
urse by many Eurasians and others whom the
anese authorities identified as ‘enemy aliens’. The
finese volunteer force was disbanded shortly before the
ender in an attempt to reduce likely reprisals on the
linese community, while members of the Malay Regi-
mnt fought with astonishing bravery in Singapore and
number of them paid with their lives subsequently for
usal either to join the Japanese army or to put on
ihan clothes and accept release.
Generally, however, the Malayan Campaign had been
t over the heads of the Malayan population as a whole
the early Japanese message to Malayans was to
claim ‘liberation’ from their long-standing submission
Western colonial rule. It was a message which the
shness, and, often, sheer inefficiency, of the Japanese
ary administration in the region did nothing to sup-
fit. In every way military considerations dictated the
ure of Japanese government during the wartime Oc-
Pation years in Malaya and Singapore. In the Straits
tlements Japanese authorities were in direct control.
the Malay States the Malay rulers remained in office
* their powers were subject to the requirements of
Anese military commanders and the advice of Japanese
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political agents. Everywhere the police came ultimatgly
under the control of the Japanese secret police, ]
Kempeitai, a dreaded force which regularly used methg
of terture and appeared to be accountable to no one outsi
of their own organisation.
In a broad political plan Singapore was eventually
tended to become a Japanese colony while the Malay Staf
other than the four northernmost, would form a Japa
protectorate. Kedah, Perlis, Kelantan and Trengganu we
‘returned’ to Thailand in recognition of old Thai claims i
these States and a Thai official was appointed to each, |
practice, this made little difference, as the whole penins
was firmly under Japanese military rule and discipline, A
a late stage in the war, when the tide of events was turni
against the Japanese, there was a plan to link Sumatra a
Malaya into a two-state ‘Indonesia’ but, by this time, thi
Japanese regime had lost any support which might hay
made this effective. Traces lived on, however, in one form of
Malay nationalism which aimed at closer association wil
Indonesia, as it was to emerge later.
It was Japanese policy to humiliate Europeans, Eurasil
and ‘British sympathisers’ and many were persecuted fo
information or other purposes. Anti-Western propagand
undoubtedly caused a sharp lowering of prestige in Malaya
but the nature of Japanese rule did much to create hostility
and resentment. The Malayan Chinese received especiallf
ruthless treatment. In an early process of vengeful reprisal§
for the sympathy and support which overseas Chinese hi
shown for wartime China, large numbers of mainly you'"
male Chinese were executed in Singapore and in Malayal
Oppression of the Chinese community helped to increas
recruitment to jungle-based camps in Malaya in which
resistance movement became centred. A combination of the
Japanese attitude with increasingly harsh economic cond
tions also led many Chinese to move on to land on the junglé
fringes where they might attempt to grow a little food
themselves and, at the same time, avoid the close attentiof
of the Japanese authorities. In some situations the authori
themselves sought to reduce food shortages in the towns
collecting urban dwellers and forcing them out to fend
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nselves in remote areas where tapioca replaced rice as
staple food and outbreaks of malaria became common in
rritory which had not previously been brought into culti-
tion. All of this marked the beginning of what was to
gcome known later as a ‘squatter’ problem. 3
Indian estate workers suffered badly. There was wide-
ad unemployment on many of the former European-
inaged rubber estates. Young Indian men were put under
sure to join the Japanese-sponsored Indian National
my (for the liberation of India), a move also tried with
pdian prisoners of war held in Changi. Worst of all was the
pscription of some 60,000 Indian labourers to work on the
ai-Burma railway, built by prisoners and slave Asian la-
ur to link Bangkok by rail to Moulmein. Two out of every
iree of the Malayan Indian labourers perished in the
fimitive, disease-ridden railway camps in Thailand,
The Malays, mainly rural dwellers, suffered in the general
irdships of the time and Malay Rulers lost influence as
ell as authority; they remained heads of religion in their
tates, but were otherwise stripped of many rights and
rivileges. In 1943, an attempt was made to appease Malay
elings through the introduction of local Advisory Councils,
ith Malay and Japanese membership, the Malay members
ly elected by village headmen. It was not a partnership
fequals and it gave little stimulus to any feelings of Malay
ionalism, which did not emerge strongly, as in Indonesi.
the signs grew that defeat in the war was growing nearer
the Japanese, there was no group or party in Malaya or
gapore which could be sponsored or recognised as the
is for a new ‘independent’ government.
Wartime conditions in Malaya were marked by many
¢ial and economic problems. During the withdrawal down
e peninsula of British and Allied forces, tin dredges and
ther mining equipment had been destroyed to prevent its
ling into Japanese hands, Much of it remained out of use
% the duration of the war, Malaya’s rubber and tin industries
t their normal export markets, even for very reduced
thut, and, as the tide of war turned against Japan, shipping
take away such cargoes as could be produced was no longer
Vailable. Transport and other problems cut off what had
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been substantial supplies of imported rice from Burmq
Thailand. In matters of food supply and distribution,
Japanese army had priority and would requisition itg e
quirements from local villages. The Japanese, too, Trequij
tioned medical stores and supplies, with the result that p
health services built up over many years in Malaya
Singapore became very badly run down. Early loating g
hospitals for stores and equipment was followed by the
lect of public measures to control tropical diseases,
deficiencies caused by food shortages were another source g
health problems and there were serious epidemics on a s
such as had not been seen in Malaya for very many year
One special case was that of a leper colony at §
Buloh, not far from Kuala Lumpur. Prior to the Japan
invasion this was a well-run settlement, a model vill
with a British doctor and 200, mainly Asian, staff. Withj
weeks of the Japanese military victory, supplies of soap,
and antiseptics were running out and they could not be
placed. Soon, sheets and towels could neither be replag
nor properly washed. Conditions became miserable in
extreme and the death-rate rose. Then the doctor was ar
rested, taken away for interrogation and, subsequently,
terned in Singapore. In January, 1942, there had been 2,
leper patients and 245 leper children. When the doctor,
sick man himself, returned urgently from internment
at the end of the war, there were only 600 leper patients
21 leper children left. In other circumstances, the redut
numbers might have represented a success story of heali
and cure, but Sungef Buloh colony now had the appearancé
of death and desolation and the emaciated figures who w¢
comed their doctor back were survivors. Behind them lay
great toll of suffering, death and neglect. ;
This dramatic example was reflected more generally
mortality and birth-rates. Before the war, Malaya normal
had a net annual increase in population of about 100,000.
1945, this had changed to a net annual decline of over 10,000
Alongside health matters, social services and education
fered also. Rural schools remained open, with some kind
teaching, but many urban secondary schools were closed
the buildings put to other uses. Chinese education came
a halt and in schools which did remain open the Japanesé
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nguage replaced English. Many teachers were under sus-
sion and victimised by the Kempeitai.

" Japanese money, known as ‘banana dollars', poured
¢ of printing presses and created massive inflation,
pecially damaging as there was so little that money
ald buy. By the end of the Occupation period, there
e signs of wishful thinking among Malayans for a
turn to their pre-war situation, something which could
wer exactly happen. It was symptomatic that there
wre several recorded cases of Malayans of all races
ping prepared to risk their lives assisting British and
dlied soldiers and civilians who sought to escape ‘cap-
ity by living as refugees in the jungle.

The Malayan jungle provided cover for an armed resis
nce m t against the Jap: regime. Small num-
ers of mainly Chinese men had taken part in short training
ourses led by British officers in Singapore at a late stage
n the fighting period. They were recruited to become leaders
f an armed secret force, Chinese Com-munists for the most
part, setting up a network of jungle camps in the peninsula.
e Malayan Communist Party had been founded in or
about 1927: its membership was mostly drawn from the
inese community and its functioning and activities were
nised along the lines of a Secret Society, As it did not
ter publicly its constitution and its aims, it was an
illegal body and did not attract very widespread support,
but it was active out of all proportion to the mere number
its members. With the long-term aim of removing the
] sh from Malaya and Singapore, the Communists were
conspicuous in the 1930’s in strikes and other labour trou-
bles in mines, plantations and docks. They also promoted
anti-Jap: g drawing especially on the pa-
otism of the overseas Chinese. When, in 1939, the Saviet
Union signed a Non-Aggression Pact with Germany, the
C.P. showed loyalty to Moscow by leading an anti-British
campaign. By this Lime, it was estimated that the Party
d 37,000 members, half of them in Singapore.

The German attack on the Soviet Union, coming as
it did some six months before the Japanese invasion of
Malaya, altered the outlook of the M.C.P., which now
‘had a direction from Moscow to cooperate with Britain
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in the war effort ‘and, subsequently, the Party offereq j
members for training in guerilla warfare, to fight behj
the Japanese lines. Although mostly Chinese, they
joined by men from other races and put in contact
a small number of British army officers who were
based in the jungle on ‘Special Operations’. The
force became known as the ‘Malayan Peoples’ Anti-Japg,
nese Army' (M.P.AJA.) and it divided into State gro
ings, mostly under Communist leadership; a small;
number operated under Kuomintang organisation. Co;
munists were specially sought out by the Japanese
active opponents of their regime and its plans, and m;
took to the jungle, both in order to survive and
preserve their own organisation. The numbers of
Jjungle fighters were also increased through the sufferi
and resentment widely felt in Malaya under Japanese
military rule. Camps were set up in jungle clearing
approached only by paths guarded in stages by armed
sentries. The jungle fighters were often tough and dedi-
cated men and their ranks included men capable of
leadership. They were not at first very well equipped
with weapons and ammunition, but substantial British
supplies were later dropped by parachute from aircraft,
many being reported as ‘lost’ because they were being
retained for purposes beyond the immediate struggle
against the Japanese.

Representing as it did a general Malayan attitude to-
wards the Japanese administration, the M.P.A.J.A. received
new recruits and supplies of food and clothing from outside
the jungle. When necessary, camp leaders did not hesitate to
levy food from their ‘territory’, as only a few of the larger
camps attempted a food-growing programme of their own. In
a typical camp, life was harsh and the discipline very strict.
Severe penalties were inflicted on anyone found negligent, or
guilty of an act of ‘betrayal’. ‘Traitor-killing' units became
common in the camps and one such unit in Perak claimed a
wide jurisdiction to operate elsewhere. Intimidation and re-
prisal methods were used to sustain the support of the popu-
ldtion outside the camp.

e and morale of the guerillas was boosted
by grand-sounding titles and the term ‘regiment’ was
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to denote different regional groupings. The Com-
ist camps were linked to a central organisation and
Jeadership which veceived reports and issued direc-
ns. Outside the camps the local population risked the
meance of the guerillas if they did not cooperdte
ptly and fully to demands and the fierce reprisals
the dJapanese if they did. It was recognised, on the
r hand, that the guerillas were usually ready to
into their protection anyone seeking help, and es-
ally the victims or potential victims of Japanese
tary or police enquiries. Small numbers of British
vilian and military refugees seeking the cover of the
usually ended up in one or the other of the
p groups. Communist or Kuomintang. Here they had
conform to the camp regulations and could not at-
gmpt to move on elsewhere without special arrange-
ments and permissions,
The actions undertaken by the guerillas were mostly

‘collaborators’. From time to time the Japanese military
ught out one or other of the camps, and when this hap-
ened, the guerillas, relying much on their channels of infor-
ion and their in-depth sentry systems, normally with-
ew further into the fastnesses of the jungle to regroup and
velop new camp sites when conditions allowed. As time
ent on, the volume of direct anti-Japanese activity dimin-
ed and more effort, was directed towards the building-up
weaponry and other resources for the future; this trend
accompanied by increasing signs of hostility between
e two separate groups who ran the camps. The Communist
oups always maintained a political programme in their
ly routine, with much chanting of slogans and singing of
political songs. They sent representatives at times to
Kuomintang camps, trying to win support for their ideology.
It was the Communists who were generally the more aggres-
ve, seizing the greater share of the arms drops and making
their post-war objectives very clear to any British officers
with whom they were in contact, Yet, personal friendships
d comradely help on both sides were perfectly possible and
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by their care and attention the Chinese guerillas did, on
occasion, save British lives. q

In August, 1945, the Japanese War ended suddenly, with
the dropping of atomic bombs on Hiroshima and Nagasaki;
followed by a deecree to end the war from the Japanesg
Emperor to his nation. British and Indian troops were pre
paring for a large-scale invasion of Malaya but the Imperi
order was obeyed and Malaya and Singapore were spareg
the horror of becoming a battleground again. There was g
short, unsettled period of time before a British Milit
Administration (BMA) could take over control in Malaya a
the M.P.A.J.A. emerged from their jungle camps, now aby
7,000 strong, seeking to set up, in effect, small local Commu:
nist republics before the British arrived. Already, in the |
stages of the war, open fighting had broken out between
Communist and the Kuomintang elements in the junj
camps and it was the Communists who were now clearly
dominant.

The guerillas were regarded at first as heroes in m;
places, but they lost much support through harsh and
lent tactics, which were only too reminiscent of some of the
Japanese operations. Searching for, and punishing peoplé
they regarded as having been collaborators, the gueri
could be arrogant and ruthless. More widespread violencd
and Jawlessness marked the end of Japanese rule, whil
itself had created a certain amount of friction, particular!
between Malays and Chinese. In some places, once race Wi
the aggressor, elsewhere, it was the other one. Many Ii
were lost and, to add to the racial tensions, armed robl
and murder became common occurences. Gradually,
British Military Administration was able to check the wol
of these disorders, but the atmosphere was tense and, for th
time being, much of the pre-war harmony among Malayans
remained badly shaken. X

Despite their failure to protect Malaya and Singapo!
almost four years earlier, the British were generally Wi
comed back. There were enormous tasks to be tackled,
which the disarming of the undefeated Japanese troops 8¢
the establishment of a measure of law and order were 004
the first objectives. In the peninsula the largely Malay pol
force was widely regarded as having been associated W
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the Japanese administration and its morale was low. Many
members left the force or held back from responsibility dur-
ng @ wave of crime such as Malaya had not seen previously
n the twentieth century. For the transitional post-war pe-
jod the military presence of the BMA was essential, though
it was also to provoke some serious criticisms.
Most of the BMA officials lacked both experience in gov-
ment and in knowledge of Malaya. In 1945, British pre-
war civilian officers from the Straits Settlements and Malay
tates were, at best, survivors from harsh internment camps.
ome had died from disease, malnutrition, or even the ef-
of torture by the Kempeitai, Nearly all who were left
were in need of a period of rest and recuperation before they
uld take up government duties again. The officials of the
A could be seen as largely ‘new men’, lacking often in
xpertise and in sensitivity to their situation. At worst, they
same to be blamed for high-handedness, injustice, and even
orruption. In a very early edict the BMA declared the Japa-
se ‘banana’ money, then widely in circulation, to be worth-
3ss. With the massive inflation which had taken place and
the scarcity of goods, the money was worth very little, but its
brupt cancellation caused some dismay and difficulties,
The M.P.A.J.A. leadership judged that the time was not
6t right for a trial of strength with the returning British
es. Following negotiations, the men from the guerilla
amps handed over weapons to the British and each man
eceived 350 dollars on demobilisation. All of this was
iccompanied by ceremonial parades and a select group of
terilla leaders took part in a ‘Victory' parade in London to
tark the end of the Second World War. Secretly, their
ganisation continued through an Ex-Services Comrades’
ociation to which each member paid a substantial sum of
oney. The Association had branches in many towns and
s and retained control of hidden supplies of arms which
d been held back from the war years. Following Britain's
e alliance with the Soviet Union and the anti-Japanese
tivities of the Malayan Communists in Malaya, the Malayan
Ommunist Party now enjoyed legal recognition as a political
Zanisation.
! It was fortunate that Malaya and Singapore did not suffer
& effects of a British and Allied invasion in 1945. The
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sanese authorities had done a certain amount, with the
o of prisoner-of-war and other conscript labour, to repair
< and bridges damaged in the 1941-42 period, but they
also removed the ‘east-coast’ railway which had run from
mas through Pahang and Kelantan to joint the Thai sys
ym; the rails had been conveniently used as part of the
hai-Burma line, There was much else to be done. The need
anti-malarial work was especially argent. There was a
serious food shortage and widespread evidence of mal-
ition. The tin and rubber industries awaited a vast pro-

me of reconstruction and re-investment, as well as per-
jonnel with technical and managerial skills, who would not
e found quickly. Labour, skilled or semi-skilled, was an-
er kind of problem as many men of all the races were
t and even, as yet, too pre-occupied with personal and
xmily matters to settle to any regular work routine.
Many of these immediate problems evident in the Malay
peninsula were mirrored on the island of Singapore. During
he military campaign the island had been heavily bhombed
nd shelled as Japanese forces had moved down the penin-
sula and into southern Johore. Civilian casualties among the
‘Chinese population had been especially heavy and many
homes destroyed. As the major port and administrative cen-
tre for its region Singapore remained very firmly in Japa-
nese control during the war years and its environment was
not suited to guerilla warfare, as in parts of the Malay States.
e pre-war trade of Singapore largely disappeared and
shipping in and out of the port mainly served Japan’s war-
‘time needs. At times there had been relatively busy periods
It the docks, but some of these centred on the transportation
of British and Allied prisoners of war from Indonesia and by
'sea to Burma, Taiwan and Japan; Singapore, and especially
‘the Changi area, served as a major transit centre for very
large numbers of prisoners. For long periods, too, the rail
way between Singapore and Thailand, following the western
side of Malaya carried thousands of prisoners in sealed rice
trucks to work on the infamous railway and, in course of
time, to bring back the smaller numbers of survivors from
that ordeal.

The British surrender to the Japanese had taken
place with no great ceremony at a frontier post at Bukit
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Timah, to the west of the city of Singapore. The fo
Japanese surrender, held back until September 12, 1
followed a ceremony in Tokyo Bay and was very
mally and publicly staged in the Council Chamber
the Municipal Buildings, Singapore, with large crow
outside, a military parade and a fleet of British
Allied warships in the harbour. In the absence
military victory, Lord M k British C.
in-Chief, South East Asia, ensured full publicity for ¢
significance of the event.

In the late months of 1945, the loss of confidence
British protection was beginning to manifest itself amg
Malayans through signs of a greater political consciousne
No group was more politically alert than the Malayan Co
munist Party which had by this time made great gains.
strength and recognition. In November, 1945, a Malay N|
tionalist Party (MNP), with Indonesian backing, was for e
with the intention of providing a political voice for the Malays
In the following month, the Malayan Democratic Ui
(M.D.U.) appeared, drawing its membership mainly f
Chinese of the professional class and aspiring to be the pa
for non-Malays. In both these new parties there appea:
have been Communist influence at first. In any case,
appearance so soon after the war was a clear and early
dication that politics had come to matter in Malaya
much greater extent than in pre-war days.

DATES OF EVENTS

1937 Major Japanese invasion of China.

1940 Japanese Pact with Germany and Ttaly.

1941 (July) Japanese occupation of all French Indo-China
tory. 3

1941 (December) Japanese altack on Pearl Harbor and invasion of}
laya.

1942 (February) Japanese conquest of Malaya and Singapore @
pleted.

1945 (August) Atomic bombs on Hiroshima and Nagasaki.

Japanese Emperor orders cessation of the ware
1945 (September)  Formal Japanese Surrender, Singapore

British Military Administration
1945 (November/  New Malayan political parties.
December)
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Chapter 15

THE ACHIEVEMENT OF NATIONHOOD
A.D. 1946-1959

$ ritish policy aimed at restoring civil government as
soon as possible, and a new plan for Malaya was
. drawn up in London before the end of the war. The
al policy behind the plan was made known in October
5, and the details were published in a Government White
per in January 1946. One major aim was to avoid the pre-
pattern of several governments, with its lack of liaison
scommon defence. It was therefore proposed to unite the
mmer Federated and Unfederated States, together with
ang and Malacca, under a centralised government known
the Malayan Union. Singapore, on the grounds of its
omy, racial structure, and strategic importance, was
idered to be a separate case, and was to remain a British
lony, at least for the time being.
The chief official of the Malayan Union was to be a
ish-appointed Governor, and his central administration
uld leave little or nothing of political importance to the
s and the State Councils. State Councils were Lo be
ained, but the main burden of government would rest on
Executive Council and a Legislative Council, the details
which were to be worked out after further consultations in
alaya. The Sultans were to be members of two advisery
uncils, one at State level aver which they would preside,
id the other at Union level over which the Governor would
leside, but these were only concerned with Muslim mat-
In fact, the Sultans were Lo retain their titles and their
ome, but would lose their political influence.
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The Malayan Union thus seemed to give to the prof
States of Malaya (as well as to Penang and Malaces
government similar to that which obtained in British co}
territories. It was, however, an important intention of
Union scheme that British government would eventually |
replaced by democratic self-government in Malaya. With
aim in mind, the Union proposals offered Union citizengh
on a wide basis. Put perhaps in general terms, the intentj
of the citizenship clauses was clear enough. All who we
citizens would have equal rights, including admission -
government service and, in due course, a vote in governme
elections. The Malays would retain their Land Reservatig
All who were born in the territory of the Union or in Singap
were entitled to citizenship, as well as those who had
there for ten of the fifteen years preceding 1942, Futur
immigrants could apply for citizenship after five y
residence. Citizenship rights were open to people of any
or creed. L

Before these proposals were published, Sir Harol
MacMichael was sent from Britain as special envoy to
Malay Sultans, to obtain their agreement for the B:
Crown to legislate for a new constitution.

The Sultans were in a very unsure frame of mind
lowing the long period of Japanese authority, and, as they
were pressed for an urgent reply, they had little time fo
consultations. In fact, they all signed their agreement.

It has been said of the Malayan Union plan that it
proposals were ‘well-intentioned, but ill-timed and badly
presented'.1 The scheme was drawn up under stress 0
wartime, and the consent of the Malay Rulers to a trans
of sovereignty was hastily obtained. It may have seemed
some of the Sultans that their agreement was a neces:
condition of the continued recognition of their titles by Brita :

The publication of the Malayan Union proposals arous
widespread political conseiousness among the Malays,
this took a positive form in the support given to the United
Malays National Organisation (UM.N.0Q.), founded by Datd’
Onn bin Ja'afar of Johore in March, 1946. This movement

'B. Harrison, A Short History of South East Asia, p. 255
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| the immediate purpose of resisting the introduction of
layan Union and the longer-term purpose of preparing
‘Malays for their part in eventual self-government. Dato
toured the country with great success; demonstrations
tional mourning were organised by UM.N.O. for the
of status by the Malay Sultans and the loss of rights by
‘Malays as a whole. The Malay Sultans openly regretted
excused their signatures given to MacMichael, and de-
red their intention of avoiding any public meeting with
newly-appointed Governor, Sir Edward Gent. In Britain,
y Malayan Union plan was attacked by speakers in the
of Lords, by lobbying in the House of Commons, and
letters to national newspapers from former high-ranking
gials of the Malayan civil service, including Sir Frank
gttenham, who considered that the proposals imposed too
ich British control and undermined the special position of
‘Malays which had been protected in pre-war years. No
support was given to the Union by any group in Ma-
ja, although for many Chinese, at least, the scheme would
e been acceptable.!
' In the face of opposition in Malaya and informed
ism at home, the British government decided to have
d thoughts. The Malayan Union was never fully
lished. In its place a kind of provisional caretaker
ernment carried on while reports were sought first from
Working Committee, consisting of Malays, and later from
‘Consultative Committee on which other races were
presented. The Malayan Union plan had, in the mean-
hile, given a tremendous impetus to Malay political
msciousness, and created a measure of distrust between
ay leaders and Britain; it had also raised the issues of
tical unity for the Malay States, and the claims and
thts of Malayan citizenship.

As a result of British consideration of the two reports
e Federation of Malaya Agreement was arrived at, and i
ms were put into practice in February, 1948, The territories
ich it covered were identical with those of the abandoned

teording to V. Purcell, there was general apathy among the Chinese
garding the Union (The Chinese 1n South-East Asia, p. 390),
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Union; S ined a separate Crown colong,
A federal government was esmhhshLd under a British Hj,
Commissioner, whose appointment required the approval of
the Malay Sultans. The main organs of federal governmep
were an Executive Council which included both official
unofficial members, the latter chosen from the various ra
and a Legislative Council which had a large majority
unofficial members, including a predominant Malay element,
Provision was also made for State governments, headed
the Sultan (or Resident-Commissioner in the cases of Pena
and Malacea) and consisting of both an Executive Cous
and a legislative Council of State. Such matters as Li
Government, Health, Education, Agriculture, and Lands, wi
entrusted to the State governments, but the Federation cos
also make enactments on these subjects so far as it wy
necessary to ensure policies common to all the States, British
Advisers remained, but the Rulers' chief official was
Mentri Besar.

The Sultans were to be members of a Conference of Rule
which would meet at least three times a year. The approt
of this Conference was required for any amendments in
Constitution or in the immigration laws, and for the appoi
ments of senior government officials.

Citizenship of the Federation was much more restrictes
than that which had been proposed under the Malayan Union
The clauses were rather complicated, but the main provisiol
were as follows. There were two types of citizenship,
automatie, the other by application. Those who beca
citizens automatically ircluded the subjects of the Sultans
all the States, British subjects horn in either of the Se
ments who were permanently resident in the territories
the Federation, and British subject born anywhere wit
the territories of the Federation whose fathers had either b
born there or had resided there permanently. Other ‘aull
matic’ citizens were persons born within the territories.
the Federation who habitually spoke Malay an conforme
Malay customs, persons permanently resident in the te
tories of the Federation whose parents had both been
there, and any person whose father was a Federal citizen
the time of the person's birth, Those eligible for citizenshiP
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application included persons born within the territories
ind resident there for not less than eight years out of the
jwelve years preceding the application, and others who were
resident in the territories for not less than fifteen years out
if the twenty years preceding the application. In both cas
jhe minimum age was eighteen, and a good character was
uired as well as a knowledge of the Malay or English
language, together with a declaration of permanent settlement,
and a willingness to take the citizenship oath.!
The Federation was something of a compromise, but
eighted on the Malay side. Malay influence was preserved
hrough the Sultans and predominant Malay representation
in the State and Federation governments as well as by the
itizenship clauses. At the same time, citizenship rights would
become ‘increasingly available to non-Malays, and this, to-
ether with the application of an election system to a majority
of seats in the Legislative Council, would eventually make
for a more representative government.
Most Malays were probably satisfied with this constitu-
tion; non-Malays had more complaints. Not all Chinese saw
ood reasons for the separate treatment of Singapore, with
s predominantly Chinese population; there was also the
tontroversial question of citizenship. There were outward
gns of Chinese resentment of the proposed Federation when
inese organisations called for a token stoppage of work in
Dctober 1947, and when only a small fraction of eligible electors
fegistered in Singapore during 1947 to vote for the new
Legislative Council therein 1948, Amongthe Indian community

of the Malayan Indian,
tion among non-Malays, it seems
robable that the majority of Malayans were prepared to
five the Federation a fair trial, Yet, within a few months
f its birth the new Federation was faced with very serious
roblems of law and ordér. Armed violence became an
veryday occurrence, There were attacks on police-stations,

Brtose who Became citizens by regisiration were nol ound. o rsear
‘allegiance Lo any other country. This proviso for ‘dual citizenship was with-
drawn by the terms of the Fuderal citizenship law of 19
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rubber plantations, tin-mines, and ications, Th
were killings in which the main victims were Europes
and Chinese. )

Outbreaks of violence had not been uncommon
Malaya since 1945, and it seemed possible, at firs,
the attacks and murders in 1948 were the work of roh
gangs. Increasingly, however, the evidence pointed
nothing less than an armed revolt against the Federa
government organised under Communist leadersh;
mounting number of murders led to the proclamatios
the government of a State of Emergency on June
and six days later the Singapore government ma
similar declaration.

The question arises, why did an armed Communi
volt break out at this time? The M.C.P. had, of course, n Y
lost sight of its fundamental aims, and its members ]
used their influence in other organisations as well as in {
sphere of labour relations. Even as early as January-Febi
1946 the General Labour Union under Communist infl
attempted trials of strength with the British Military &
ministration. One incident was the calling of a widespra
strike in support of the unconditional release of thirty forn
members of the M.P.AJ.A., who had been arrested for va
crimes. Another was a plan by the same Union to decls
February 15th a public holiday to celebrate the defeat.
British by the Japanese at Singapore in 1942, The B.
dealt firmly and effectively with both of these challen;

During 1947 strike action had been frequently associt
with Communist activities, and the establishment of a B
Malayan Federation of Labour reflected largely a Comm
move to amalgamate all trade unionism into one organi
and then control it, The use of armed attacks by Comm
from March 1948 onwards did not, of course, imply any
of objectives; it did, however, represent a very fundami
change of strategy and tactics for which some explan:
must be sought

There has been a strong argument that the inspirdl
for armed attack came from a Russian-sponsored m
of Asian and Australian Communists held at Calcuf
February 1948, with South-East Asian countries
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esented and discussed. In this connection, it is note-
y that Communist-led armed outbreaks also took
ge in India, Burma, and Indonesia, during the first
If of 1948.

Communist tacties in the trade-union movement in Ma-
ja were checked by new laws which were passed early in
8 to counter a wave of strikes, many of which were based
trivial pretexts. By these laws, trade-union officials were
red to have had at least three years' experience in the
anch of labour which they represented. Men previously
icted of certain erimes, such as extortion and intimidation,
re barred from holding office in the unions. Any federation
fween the trade unions was permissible only between
ons concerned with similar industries or occupations.
e measures may have given the Communist leadership
added motive to resort to open warfare.

Many other circumstances could be taken into account.
nditry and violence were not in themselves uncommon at
g time, and labour disputes had sometimes been accom-
d by violence and deaths. Quite frequently, and for
us reasons, crimes of violence went unpunished, and
i may have encouraged the Communist leaders to think
it a quick campaign of terrorism might suceceed. The current
cesses of Mao Tse-Tung's forces in China may have
lied an added inspiration.

e Federation was a new government, faced by plenty
rroblems, and its strength was unknown. It might have
ved to be much weaker in a trial of armed strength than
B.M.A. had been two years earlier. There was also the
stion of Chinese sympathies and loyalties. Most of the
Nmunists were Chinese and, in making a bid for power,
¥ may well have hoped to gain a large measure of support
M the Chinese community, which had, for the time being,
le participation in the new government, whose st rongly
';'i character gave the Chinese added cause for discontent,

'he armed revolt was led by men who had been leaders
he M.P.A.J.A, and once again they used the jungle as
it base and resorted to supplies of arms which had been
den there three years previously. These men had enjoyed
Mort taste of power in 1945, and had maintained contact
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through an Old Comrades’ Association. By terrorist taetig
they aimed at breaking down the existing machinery,
government as well as creating economic chaos, An imme
objective was to create limited areas of Communist cont
from which further conquests could be made until the
country had been gained. The attacks on Europeans
part of the policy of bringing the tin and rubber indus
a standstill, and at the same time driving out British n
sonnel altogether. The attacks on Chinese were directed p
against those associated with the Kuomintang party,
partly towards gaining the support, passive or active, of)
Chinese community as a whole, through the use of intim
dation methods.

After declaring the Emergency, the Federal governm
took several firm measures, The M.C.P., M.P.A.J.A., toj
with its Old Comrades’ Association, and other Comm
infiltrated associations, were banned. Police and milita
forces were increased,! and measures taken to protect
and plantations. At a critical period in 1948-9 the dete
mination of mine-managers and rubber-planters to s
fast and defend their lives and property was of great
portance; equally significant was the recruitment of vol
teers as kampong-guards and their work in protecting
villages.

On the other side, the Communis
of all M.P.AJ.A. men, and called on workers everywh
withdraw their labour. They used fresh titles and appro:
becoming, for instance, early in 1949, ‘The Malayan
Liberation Army" and attempting in this way, and by
British slogans, to give their movement a nationalis
pearance. They also developed a vast supply organisat
known as the ‘Min Yuen' (literally ‘Masses' Movement)
the collection of money and supplies of all kinds. The meml
of the Min Yuen were not necessarily willing suppo
the armed revolt; fear and intimidation played a larged
in determining their actions. A particularly importan
of contact and supply to the men in the jungle was the C|

"Large numbers of Malayan, British, Australian and other Common!
troops were engaged against guerilla forcen perhips about 10,000 S8
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itter’ population, about half a million in number and, for
most part, living on the jungle-fringe.

the Communist fighting forces were not very large,
eir hit-and-hide tactics gave them the advantageous
ent of surprise, and the jungle provided almost per-
icover. Although they failed to establish areas of control,
remained a dangerous and destructive body whose
gence and activities cast deep shadows over the general
Malaya for several years. Emergency Regulations
itably imposed hardships on everybody, and as time
ed with no appreciable improvement in the situation,
¢ measures became more stringent. The fighting war
difficult enough, but even more complex was the
of the Min Yuen. An Emergency Regulation issued
9 empowered the government to arrest and detain
le in any area where there was evidence of aid being
| to the Communists. This led to detention camps
ing mainly Chinese, and with innocent and guilty side
de. Among the Chinese, they were a source of much
rness. Food supplies were also checked and controlled
at times, collective punishments instituted. Repressive
ures like these were apt to lose sympathy for the
rment, especially when, as was almost inevitable,
akes were made. On the other hand, the authorities
fighting a grim war to retain control of Malaya
st an armed minority which did not scruple about
means it used.

8 a community, the Chinese were in a particularly un-
iNate position. They were the main victims of Communist
lers and intimidation, and they were also the main vic-
government searches, reprisals, and detentions. They
only a very limited political stake in the Federation
Mment. The recognition of Cammunist China by Britain
Muary 1950 added to their dilemma. It was good news
8 Chinese Communists, who saw in it a weakening of
9pponents’ position; to the majority of Chinese in Ma

raised the questions of how strong the British anti-
Munist outlook was in relation to Malaya, and of how
€ir relatives in China might eventually be affected by
ion which they took on behalf of the government in
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Fortunately, the authorities developed constryg
measures as well as repressive ones. One of these
formulated by a Director of Operations, General Byig
who was appointed in April 1950 to relieve the
Commissioner of responsibility for the military operagj
The boldest part of the ‘Briggs Plan’ was the propoga]
move the large Chinese squatter population — estj
at half a million — to resettlement areas, later known
‘New Villages’, where guards could be maintained. By{
measure it was hoped to cut off the Communist
from their major supply-bases. This resettlement y
most difficult and delicate task, for many reasons, Fj
the co-operation of the State governments was requis
because the use of land was involved. Here, the polig
Malay Land Reservations had to be modified in a
which meant giving good land for Chinese settlem
Secondly, there was the physical task of planning 4
building following the difficult work of surveying:
mapping. Thirdly, materials had to be requisitioned
transported to the sites. Lastly, and most complex
was the problem of moving the squatters to the new
at the same time ensuring that they had the mean
earning a living in their new environment. When all
had been done, there remained the problem of staffing
new areas with administrators and police, and of provil
them with welfare amenities.

Resettlement was a serious set-back to the Comm
How far the New Villages succeeded in establishing
their inhabitants confidence in, and support for, the g
ment in the early years of their existence was more
batable. Much depended on local circumstances, inclug
the character and ability of both the resettlement off
and the police guard, as well as the suitability of the I
for vegetable-growing, and the nearness to work in P
tation or mine. Conditions varied from place to place §
with them so did the measure of satisfaction or resentn
felt by the ex-squatters themselves.

Resettlement took a considerable time, and difficult
materials and transport were often encountered. In J
alone, the work was only roughly completed  ‘he end
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In the meantime, the Communists devised ways and
& of keeping in touch with the Min Yuen, even in the
sment areas themselves. General Briggs introduced

s for a stricter control of food supplies and distribu-
prevent food reaching the jungle; the details were’
earefully worked out but, in practice, they needed a
endous amount of supervision — more than could often

October 1951 the British High Commissioner, Sir
Gurney, was assassinated in an ambush on the
between Kuala Lumpur and Fraser's Hill. He had
brave and sincere man who had toured the country,
jing in close contact with all aspects of the Emergency,
| winning wide respect. His death was generally
ed, but public morale was lowered. Early in 1952
Gerald Templer was appointed High C issi .
full and direct responsibility for the Emergency; a
High Commissioner, Mr. Donald MacGillivray, was
ssist in the administrative work. These appointments
ated strong leadership on the military side, and a
ision of duties which would free the High Commissioner
0 much of the normal administration so that he could
te almost all his energies to the Emergency.
e new Hizgh Commissioner brought great energy and
g leadership to his work, imposing heavy collective
ments on townships and villages which were known
centres of assistance to the C ists. General
ipler was associated with a tough military policy which
d its critics, though others have considered it justified
y circumstances and by results. He also encouraged
lew Villages, introduced the idea of ‘White Areas’, where
Tictions were lifted, and presided over some reforms in
eonstitution and the administration. When he left Ma-
R in June 1954 there was a very considerable improve-
it in the military situation, and constructive political de-
ents were taking place. The reduction of the scope of
Bmunist fighting was perhaps largely due to a change of
Y on the part of the movement’s leadership, dating from
1951, This required a restriction of violence and an
s on regrouping, political activity and penetration




288 A History of Malaya

into other organisations, including the Home Guard
Malay Regiment, and the Civil Service. Thus, altho
was not known to the government at the time, the fig]
war was dying down even before General Templer’s a
The Federation of 1948 was intended to pave the way
eventual democratic self-government in Malaya.' The g
sions and restrictions of the Emergency at first delay
litical progress along these lines, yet some developments y
noteworthy. Some political parties continued to function, a
new ones appeared. In February 1949 the Malayan Chip
Association (M.C.A.) was formed under the leadership of}
Tan Cheng-lock, a member of a family which had bes
Malaya for several generations. This gave the Chinese a le
political mouthpiece, and helped to answer any charge #
there was general Chinese sympathy with the armed r
One major activity of the M.C.A. was its contribution
welfare work and amenities in the New Villages; by A
1953 the M.C.A. had given more than two and a half mill
dollars to this work by running lotteries among its memb
Not surprisingly, the membership of the M.C.A., and i
leaders in particular, merited the bitter hostility of #
Communists, Some M.C.A. officials were murdered, and M
Tan Cheng-lock himself was wounded when a grenade Wi
thrown during a meeting of the Association at Ipoh.
Dato Onn left UM.N.O. in 1951% to start a new pa
which he hoped to win members from all the racial comm
nities. He considered at this time that the purely Mal
character of UM.N.0O. was not helping the progress of
laya to independence, and he named his new party the.
dependence of Malaya Party (LM.P.). His programme inel
a united Malaya, reduction of the Sultans’ powers, a com
citizenship, and admission of Chinese and Indians into;
administration. Onn received comparatively little
membership from Malays and Chinese, but he had supl
from the Malayan Indian Congress (M.L.C.). The M. 1L.O.W
a political party formed in 1946 to speak for the intere

! Newly independent countries were arising in Asiaaboul thistime 1944
Philippines, India, Pakistan, Burma, and Indonesia "
“Hig place as leader was taken by Tunku Abdul Rahman, a member of the 10
house of Kedah and, by training, a lawyer
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layan Indians; for a year or so after the beginning of the

ergency it suspended activities, bt by 1951 it was a
gived and active organisation. Onn was disappointed at
response to the LM.P., and stated later that he thought
it its founding was premature. Early in 1954 he established
other non-communal party, Party Negara, in a second
tempt to cut across the existing parties,

In 1951 the ‘Member’ system was introduced into the
gislative Council. Nine of the nominated members were
de responsible for various departments of government and,
Members, they had a semi-ministerial status. This move
ovided a valuable preparation for the practice of ministerial
sponsibility under self-government.

In the following year, amendments were made to the
fizenship laws. The conditions relating to birth and resi-
gnce, and to the definition of ‘subjects of the Ruler’, were
de a little easier. The general effect was to improve the
mediate position of non-Malays and to open the citizenship
or to perhaps another 250,000,

In 1952 also, the beginning of local government through
Beted councils was authorized. This was thought to be, as
Britain, a training for parliamentary democracy, but the
gree of independent action allowed to the councils in towns
d New Villages was at first a very limited one, The local
ernment elections in Malaya were, however, important
another reason, They provided the occasion for co-operation
een the Malay and Chinese parties, UM.N.O. and M.C.A.
b against candidates from other parties. In the Kuala
dmpur municipal elections in February 1952 U.M.N.O. and
A. candidates won nine of the twelve seats contested
in the space of a year UM.N.O. and M.C.A. gained
nilar successes at Johore Bahru, Muar, and Malacca,
aring this period co-operation had been extended into a
e permanent arrangement of alliance between the two
ties, and by early 1953 the term ‘UMNO-MCA Alliance’,

— more briefly — the ‘Alliance party’, had come into
Bular use.

- Between UMN.O. and M.C.A. there were wide dif-
rences of outlook, notably, for instance, on the subject of
ation and citizenship. They proceeded to work together,
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however, as an effective political partnership for the gaj
of electoral seats in elections to be held for the Fede
Legislative Council. A joint council provided a med
through which their own differences could be discus
and possible compromises reached. The partnership w;
joined in 1953 by a third member, the Malayan Indig
Congress (M.L.C.), which was promised proportional n
presentation in future Alliance successes.

In August 1953 the Alliance included in its aims th
establishment of a sovereign and independent state wi
the Commonwealth, and urged the holding of election:
the Legislative Council, asking for three-fifths of the sea
be open for election. A government-appointed Federal
tions Committee did not go so far as to meet this req
but proposed 52 electoral seats out of 98. This gave
Council an elected majority, although, of course, not nee
sarily represented by one political group.

In June 1954 General Templer left Malaya, to be s
ceeded in office by Sir Donald MacGillivray. The Emes
was much less a military affair by this time. The
Federal elections were held in July 1955, and the Alli
party won 51 out of the 52 elected seats in the Legisl
Council. This striking success gave the Alliance a
majority in the Council, and the Alliance now beg
plan for self-government. Tunku Abdul Rahman, leader
the Alliance, became Chief Minister of the new governmeél
and both he and the Rulers had talks with the B
Secretary of State for the Colonies who visited Mala
August 1955. It was agreed that a conference shoul
held in London early in 1956 to discuss future re
between Malaya and Britain. For the Alliance, ‘Me
had become the slogan.

The Alliance now took the initiative in an attemi
settle the Communist war. A meeting was arranged ift
cember 1955 in northern Kedah, between Tunku
Rahman, Sir Cheng Lock Tan, and Mr. David Marshal;
Minister of Singapore, for the government, and the See
General of the Communist party, Chin Peng. An amp
was offered for a limited period to all Communists who ¥
surrender, and the surrender conditions were defined.




The Achievenent of Nationhood 291

dlling to abandon Communism would be allowed to return
| normal life. Those whao remained Communists would be
ld in detention. Those who wished to go to China would be
llowed to do so. Chin Peng was only willing to consider an
nd to the fighting on terms which would have been very
v urable from the Communists' point of view. He wanted
e Ci ist party to be legalised and allowed complete
dom of activity. He made it clear that, while he would co-
erate with the government for the time being, especially
br the purpose of gaining independence, his ultimate aim
as a Communist republic. On this note, the talks ended in
deadlock.
The Alliance was now all the more anxious to secure
pendence at an early date in order to counter the Com-
ists’ claim to represent Malayan nationalism. The Com-
ists carried out some reorganisation to give the ap-
garance of a united front with a Malay and an Indian as
gcond and third in command of the party. They also started
mours to damage the prospects of the London Conference,
nd they formally requested Communist China to mediate
Ir peace in Malaya.
The London Conference was attended by representatives
‘the Sultans, the Chief Minister of the Federation, and
ree other A]lmnce leaders, as well as the High Commis-
oner, Sir Donald MacGillivray, members of his staff, and
sers of the Colonial Office. Talks lasting three weeks
d over a long list of topies, including Defence and In-
rnal Security, Financial and Economic Matters, the Civil
ice, and the Constitution.! Tt was agreed that Inde-
dence within the Commonwealth should be proclaimed
August 31st, 1957, and principles were established to
icate how this would be achieved. An increase of ministe-
responsibility in the existing Executive and Legislative
uncils was one type of decision to prepare the way for
deka’. Subject to the approval of the Crown, and of the
nference of Rulers in Malaya, a commission was to be
inted to draft the details of a constitution for an inde-
ndent Malaya.
Ebort by the Federation of Malaya Constitutional Conference held in London
fanuary and February, 1956 (H. M. S. O, February 1956)
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The Constitutional Commission was duly approve
chairman, Lord Reid, and one other member were appoi
by the United Kingdom, and Canada, Australia, India,
Pakistan, nominated one member each. The Reid Commj
sion held its meetings in Malaya between May and Octohe
1956, and completed a long and detailed Report in Feb;
1957.1 This Report, although modified in some ways by
Working Party representing the Alliance and the Rulg
provided the basis for Malaya’s new government on Aug
31st, 1957, -

Briefly, there was to be a constitutional Head of 8
(Yang di-Pertuan Agong, or Paramount Ruler) elected
among their number by the Sultans for a five-year
The Conference of Rulers was to remain. A Cabi
Ministers, presided over by a Prime Minister, would
executive body in the government. The Prime Minister
be appointed by the Yang di-Pertuan Agong, and
normally be the leader of the party with a majority in.
House of Representatives or Lower House. The other
ters would be nominated from the Lower House by the
Minister.

There were to be two Houses of Government, a St
and a House of Representatives. Legislation, other #
Money Bills, could originate in either House and wo
quire the assent of both Houses. The Senate, however,
only delay for a period of one year Bills which had
passed by the House of Representatives, and could vi
not delay Money Bills at all. The Senate was a small
originally of 33 members, of whom each State (incl
Penang and Malacca) elected 2, and the Yang di-P4
Agong nominated 11. The House of Representatives
have 104 members clected in single member constitd
by citizens who had reached the age of twenty-oneé.
House could sit for a maximum of five years, after
new mandate from the electors must he sought.

In the State governments, the Ruler became 8 €8
tutional Head with a Mentri Besar as Chief Minister:
sion was made for an Executive Council of Ministé
sponsible to a mainly-elected Legislative Council which ¥

I Report of the Federation of Malaya Constitutional Commission (He
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jt for a maximum of four years. The States held powers in
im law and custom, land, agriculture, forestry, and local
ernment, and shared responsibility with the Federal
wernment for social welfare and public health.
It was recommended that no new quotas or preferences
granted to Malays, but that existing special rights should
tinued with some modifications for a period of fifteen
s, after which the whole position might be reviewed.
d remained a State matter, and was therefore not directly
ject for the Federal government. Emphasis was placed
the aim of a common nationality and a democratic form
jovernment.
. Elections were postponed for a penod of about two years
order to allow the new citi s
the Report to take effect. These proposals went further
In existing ones to extend citizenship rights to non-Malays.
At a ceremony held in Kuala Lumpur on August 31st,
Malaya’s Independence was proclaimed. The Ruler of
Sembilan, Tuanku Abdul Rahman, was installed as
Paramount Ruler; Tunku Abdul Rahman, who had
the greatest part in the ‘Merdeka’ movement, con-
ued as Prime Minister.
The Communist war was not ended, but increasingly it
ecoming less of an armed conflict and more a danger
filtration and subversion. The new Malaya had defence
with Britain. ‘Merdeka’ had been achieved at an
date than had seemed likely two or three years be-
nd much remained to be done. Most important among
uture tasks of government was the formation of a truly
an nation. In this sense, Tunku Abdul Rahman’s words
time of ‘Merdeka' had a special importance. Inde-
e, the Tunku said, was not the end; it was the be-

dence in Malaya was not followed by sensational
 or radical changes. In the post-Merdeka elections, held
the Alliance party gained a convincing victory, tan-
int to a vote of confidence. Malayanisation of the public
8 proceeded smoothly and without harshness. In in-
nal affairs, the new Malaya gained respect. Inter-
conferences were held very successfully in Malaya,
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and Malayan representatives made statesmanlike contrj
tions to the debates of the United Nations. The traditio;
inter-racial tolerance and harmony amongst Malayans wa
still evident.

The campaign against the Communists continued ung,
bated, and July 31st, 1960, was fixed as the target date fy
ending an Emergency which would by then have lasted fg
twelve years. This would practically symbolise the end of;
shooting war, and would enable irksome regulations to be
withdrawn. At the same time, since it would still be neces;
to guard against Communist attempts to use methods
subversion, the government retained powers of preventatiy
detention.

Meanwhile, in the post-war period, political development
had been taking place in Singapore. Pre-war Singapore ha
been the headquarters of the British colony of the Straif
Settlements! which included Penang with Province Welles]
Malacea, the Cocos Islands, Christmas Island, and Lab
The last three had been placed under the administration ¢
Singapore in 1883, 1903, and 1906, respectively. Governme
of the colony was vested in a Governor appointed by
Colonial Office, who was assisted by an Executive and
Legislative Council. The Executive Council had a majorits
official members; in the Legislative Council, from 1924 @
wards, the numbers of official and unofficial members wé
equal. All unofficial members were nominated by the Govern
or by groups such as the Chambers of Commerce at Pel
and Singapore. The Governor held, in theory, conside
authority, and he could rely on the support of the off
meémbers of the councils. In practice, he took note of ¢
opinions of the unofficials, and sought, when necessaryy
reach a compromise.

The colonial government was swept away by the J
nese, and they, in turn, were followed by a short pe
Bn’tish Military Administration. as in mainland Malaya.
government was resumed on April 1st, 1946.

Under the Malayan Union plan, Penang and Mal&
were separated from Singapore, and, at the same "',
! Singapore also had an important British naval base built on the 0o

of the island in the 19205 and 1930s, (See Chapter 14)
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buan became part of North Borneo. Singapore, together
th Christmas Island and the Cocos Islands, was consti-
sted a Crown colony. The separation of Singapore both from
old partners, Penang and Malacca, and from mainland
falaya, did not pass without criticist in the former Straits
ttlements. When the Malayan Union was replaced by the
ederation plan, Singapore's position remained unchanged.
e Federation Agreement did not exclude the possibility of
her territories being included later, but this hardly met
wishes of critics in Singapore.

Two main reasons accounted for the division between
e Federation and Singapore. One lay in their contrasting
pnomies. The territory of the Federation paid its way largely
the revenues from import and export duties; Singapore
itionally maintained a free-trade policy as an essential
ulus for its entrepit trade. The other reason concerned
balance between the main races. By 1947 the inclusion
ingapore in a Malayan Union or Federation would have
t a slight overall Chinese majority in the population,
Malays in second place. Leading Malay opinion would
t have been prepared to accept this situation. In the pre-
r Malay States, political offices held by Malayans had
en largely filled by Malays. Until the 1930s a great number
he Chinese in Malaya were only temporary residents.
in 1947, about 40 per cent of Malayan Chinese had
in born outside Malaya.! Moreover, in the immediate post-
period, apart from the activities of the M.C.P., it was
political consciousness which first found its voice
h political parties. Thus, in 1946 or in 1948, Malay
s were not ready to accept a union on equal terms
bween Peninsular Malaya and Singapore, and this cautious

th occurred in Singapore.

British post-war policy for Singapore, as for the rest of
aya, was aimed at the eventual achievement of self-
érnment. New Executive and Legislative Councils were

T, E. Smith, Population-Growth in Malaya, p. 64
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— three by the Chinese, European and Indian Cham|
Commerce, and six by direct election through the votes
British subjects over the age of twenty-one. These first
tions in Singapore were not a great success. From a va
of motives, including apathy, unfamiliarity, and positi
position to a separate constitution for Singapore or
citizenship clauses of the Federation, the great majorif
eligible voters failed to register and claim their vote. .

In June 1948 the Singapore government follows
example of the Federation and declared a state of
gency. Communist tactics on the island took a different
from those in the Federation. There were some poli
murders and occasional riots, but the main moves
rected towards trade-union leadership and the re
and organisation of youth cadres from Chinese
Singapore also served as a source of supplies for the
Communists in Johore.

In 1950-1 more unofficial members weve added
two councils, and the number of seats open to general elé
was increased from six to nine. Two of the unoffici
bers of the Executive Council were elected from:
themselves by the unofficials in the Legislative Co
helping to link the two councils together. Out of a
electorate of 250,000 in 1951, less than 50,000
and only half this number voted. The main political]
which had arisen at this stage were the Progressivi
Labour party. Thg Progressives stood for the grad
velopment of self-government, the Labour party took:
its programme, notably for social welfare, from its
in Britain, but also urged self-rule and union
Federation. ¢

The municipal government was also placed on #
footing. Singapore's local government dated ba
and was in the hands, originally, of five commi
were authorised to raise local taxation for pub
and amenities in the town. The number of
increased with the scope of the work, but the |
appointment by the Governor’s nomination con
1948. In that year the number of commissioners
from twenty-five to twenty-seven, and eighteen
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be elected. In 1951 Singapore received by Royal Charter
» status of a city, and its local government became a City
mcil.
over inted ission under the chairman-

5 of Sir George Rendel met in 1953 to consider the failure of
gtors to use or even claim their vote, and to recommend
ther changes in the Singapore constitution. Its report,
lished in February 1954, recommended that those who were
ified to vote should be automatically registered as electors.
siected any suggestion of a separate Singapore citizenship
might create the possibility of a dual citizenship. A new
ure, to be known as the Legislative Assembly, was
d with a membership of thirty-two, of whom twenty-
yould be elected. This Assembly would sit for a four-year
of office. Instead of the Executive Council, anew Council
inisters was recommended, to include the Governor and
e officials together with six members of the majority party
Legislative Assembly. These six members would include
der of the majority party, who would have the title of
if Minister, together with five other members nominated
for the ministerial posts,
e new constitution became effective in February 1955,
e election was held in April. The constitution was
edly and intentionally transitional in character. Its
gse was to pave the way for complete self-government
oviding the opportunity for a political party to hold a
fity in the elected Assembly and strong representation
sterial level. To some extent, the Council of Ministers
Sented a Cabinet in which major policy-planning could
At the same time the three officials in this council
lled finance, foreign affairs, defence, and internal se-
and they were directly responsible to the Governor.
indel commission expressed the hope that this consti-
ould last for some years and provide valuable ex-
in parliamentary democracy.
8 election of 1955 brought a result which was hardly
d. The main political groupings in the election cam-
the Progressives, who held a majority of the small
elected seats in the old Legislative Council; the
8, a new Chinese party, representing business in-
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smaller group in Singapore than it was in the Federatie
Labour Front, with trade-union support, which was a ¢
of small socialist groups, following a split in the earlier
party, and the People’s Action Party (P,A.P.), newly fo
and comprising various shades of left-wing opinion, ang
a fair measure of support in the trade unions whi
independent of the Trade Union Congress. q

With the exception of the Democrats, all these py
were non-communal, The Progressives the Democrats;
the Alliance stood, politically speaking, to the right,
the Labour Front and the P.A.P. stood to the lef
Progressives almost certainly lost ground to the Dey
and perhaps also to the Alliance, and this worked §
advantage of the Labour Front, who gained a clear vi
with ten of the twenty-five seats. As this was not
sufficient to give an overall majority, the Labour Front,
its leader Mr. David Marshall, a Singapore lawyer, ch
form a coalition in a right rather than a left direction
made a government party with the Alliance, The Progre
and the Democrats united to form a Liberal Sociali
in February, 1956, representing opposition to the govern
but the more militant opposition came from the P.A.Pu
had three members in the Assembly as a result of this
tion. The fact that the Progressives were in a conti
position in the municipal government gave an addit
piquancy to Singapore politics at this time.

The P.AP. and Chief Minister Marshall were, h
the most prominent features in the political scene. The'P
led a vigorous campaign in Singapore labour circles @
the Chinese Middle Schools, and this was accompani 8
tentionally or otherwise, by a series of strikes and dé
strations, Mr. Marshall pressed for the appointment &
sistant Ministers, to which the Governor, Sir Robe.
would only partially agree, and this led to a constit
dispute as to whether the Governor was entitled
any or part. of the advice given to him by the Chief M
In the Assembly, Mr. Marshall successfully put a res



The Achievement of Nationhood 299

for the immediate grant of a new constitution pro-
for self-government,
The dispute between Mr. Marshall and the Governor was
ed to the Secretary of State for the Colonies (Mr.
-Boyd), who was due to visit Singapore about this
The Secretary of State’s decision, in August, 1955, to
end the constitution so that the Governor was clearly
d to take the Chief Minister’s advice, healed the breach,
[r. Marshall was invited to come to London with a
on in the following Spring to discuss self-government.
. Marshall visited London in December 1955 for pre-
ry talks about the forthcoming conference, and he led
party delegation to the conference in April, 1956. From
ritish point of view, the Labour Front’s position was
eaker, because two of its members in the Legislative
smbly had joined the opposition, and recent strikes and
in Singapore had cast serious doubts upon the party's
to keep law and order, or even to remain in office,
e Colonial Office agreed to many of the Chief Minis-
| proposals, including an enlarged and totally elected
islative Assembly, and the principle of citizenship by
stration, The controversial questions concerned foreign
ice and internal security, which both sides recognised as
elated topics. In view of the danger of Communist
ion, and doubts about Singapore’s ability to defend
inst either internal or external attack, the Colonial
'wished to retain, for use in an emergency, a controlling
fest in the proposed defence and security council on which
‘Britain and Singapore would be represented. Mr.
Il would not accept this and, despite further proposals
nter-proposals, the talks broke down on this issue.
the delegation returned to Singapore, Mr. Marshall
d from the office of Chief Minister and was succeeded
Lim Yew-Hock.
ternal security had been the main point at issue in the
tonference, and Mr. Lim Yew-Hock proceeded to take
es aimed both at reducing the threat of public disorder
E winning confidence by his government’s ability to
_ﬁrm attitude towards unlawful opposition. He dissolved
1| organisations in which Communist influence was
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prominent, including the Middle School Students’ Union, ang
he ordered a number of arrests and detentions on charges g
subversive activities. This government campaign was met,
strikes and riots from students and some of the trade unig
and in September 1956 police and troops had to be called ig
from the Federation to suppress the disturbances.

So far as constitutional advance was concerned, the
result of Mr. Lim’s policy was the arrangement of a secon
conference in London, which was held in March-April 195
The Singapore delegation was led by Mr, Lim Yew-Hock ang
included leaders of the other parties. At this conferes
agreement was reached on a new constitution. There was i
be a Malayan Head of State (Yang di-Pertuan Negara),
elected Legislative Assembly of fifty-one members, and ai
internal security council including three members
Britain, three from Singapore, and one representative,
ministerial rank, from the Federation of Malaya, by agreg
ment with the Federation’s Chief Minister. In the even
deadlock between the Singapore and British points of il
the Federation member would have a deciding vote. Bri
in consultation with the Singapore government, was to
responsible for defence and foreign policy, and Britigh i
terests would be represented by a Commissioner, who wo
be also the chairman of the internal security council.
and cultural relations would be matters for the Sing
government, but consultations with Britain would take pl

This agreement was accepted by all parties in the Sii
pore government, but Britain attached to it one con
which caused much controversy. British agreement was
on the proviso that persons who were known to have enj
in subversive activity should not be eligible for elections
the first elections to be held for the ‘Legislative Assem!
the new State! of Singapore’. The Colonial Office repl
Singapore protests on this point by stressing the n
some temporary check on subversion in the interests of tr!
democratic government. Despite this controversial pro
the Singapore government proceeded to prepare and
the citizenship legislation for the new constitution, while’

IThe new title used for Singapore in this agreement.
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ief Minister organised further campaigns against political

tators in schools and trade unions. More significant still
yas the government’s round-up (in August 1957) of the
ders of the extreme left faction of the P.A.P., which was
glleged to be taking control of the party’s central executive
gmmittee from the more moderate Mr. Lee Kuan-Yew and
supporters. In all, thirty-nine arrests were made on
es of subversive activities, and these included five
mbers of the executive of the P.A.P. and eleven other
P. branch officials. Shortly after this a number of Chi-
e students were arrested on similar charges and a Chi-
se school headmaster was deported.

In May 1958 the same all-party delegation from Singa-
took part in further detailed talks in London on the new
titution. Again, the only point of disagreement concerned
Colonial Office’s insistence on disqualifying those who
d been arrested for subversive activities from candidature
the forthcoming elections. The British government pro-
ded to give assent to the Bill for the new constitution and
was done by 1st August. Orders for the elections were
Wblished in November,

Meanwhile the City Council of Singapore had been reor-
inised in 1957 to consist of thirty-two elected councillors,
ho elected the Mayor from among their own number. At
1@ first elections in December 1957 the P.A.P. was returned
‘the largest single party with thirteen of the thirty-two
, and Mr. Ong Eng-Guan, treasurer of the party, became
rst Mayor of Singapore.

The Rendel constitution wvas due to expire in April 1959,
it was planned to hold elections as soon as possible after
& pro-roguing of the existing Legislative Assembly. The
AP. became particularly active in preparations for the

'ons, declared itself to be non-Communist and to be
irking for a merger with the Federation. In this latter
t, it urged the adoption of Malay as the national
ge. In particular, the P.A.P. concentrated on efficient
organisation and close contact with the electorate. It
0 msde good use of any opportunities to discredit the
g coalition government.

At the elections held on May 30th, 1959, the P.A.P. won
SWeeping victory with forty-three out of the fifty-one seats.
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The new citizenship laws had extended the electorate to ovep
half a million voters, which made the P.A.P. success appear
very convincing. During the election campaign the PAP,
leaders had stated that, if elected, they would not take oﬁig.
until eight former party leaders were released from detention.
under the terms of the Preservation of Public Security Ordj.
nance. Six of the eight had been detained after riots in October.
1956, and the other two after the attempt b_y the extreme
left-wing of the party to gain the leadership in August 1957,
When Mr, Lee Kuan-Yew, as leader of the majority pa
was asked by the Governor to form a government, he formally
requested the release of the eight members, The request wag
granted on the following day, June 2nd, and the date o
release was to be June 4th. On June 3rd the new constituti
was brought into force with the former Governor, Sir Willig
Goode, as Yang di-Pertuan Negara for a transitional pe
of about five months, after which he would hand over offi
to a Malayan-born Head of State. Mr. Lee Kuan-Yew became
the first Prime Minister in a Cabinet which totalled n
Ministers.

Thus, in less than two years after Independence in

governing City-State. The policy of its first government e
tained promises of social and cultural measures as well as
broad pattern of trade and industrial expansion. The idea of
a merger with the Federation was kept very much to
fore. It was the government's stated intention to ‘create @
bring about conditions favourable to an early re-unificati
with the Federation'. The Federation government was
cautious. Apart from the older issues of economics and r:
groups, the Federation was understandably anxious to &

trade-union and student troubles of the kind which h
disturbed Singapore in 1955 and 1956. For Singapore,
more than for the Federation, the essential nation-build
task was to create a general Malayan outlook and loya

DATES OF EVENTS: FEDERATION OF MALAYA 3

1946 (Jan.) Malayan Union proposals.
1946 UMN.O. founded.
1946-7 Discussions for new constitution
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8 (Feh.) Federation of Malaya
(June! Stale of Emergency proclaimed
M.CA. founded
Resettlement and New Villages
Municipal clections
UMNO. - MCA - MLC. Alliance
Federal elections for Legislative Council
Jan.-Feb.) London conforence (‘Merdeka Mission’).
(Aug. 31st) Independence Day

High Commissioners

Bir Edward Gent 1946-8 (Killed in air-crash, July, 1948.)
Henry Gurney 194851 (Assassinated, Oct., 1951)

al Sir Gerald Templer  1952-4

 Donald MacGillivray 1954-7

Turiku Abdul Rahman, 1855-7  Prime Minister 1957,

DATES OF EVENTS: SINGAPORE

6 (Apr.) Civil government resumed.
New Exceutive and Legislative Council.
(June) State of Emorgency proclaimed.

Further elections. for Legislative Council

City status for Singapore

Rendel Commission.

Elections for Rendel constitution

56 (Apr. London conference (Mr. Marshall)

457 (Mar.-Apr.) London conference (Mr. Lim Yew-Hock).

City Council made entirely elective,

London conference (Mr. Lim Yew-Hock).

(May) Elcctions for new government.

(June 3rd)  Internal Self-government under new constitution.

Governors of Singapore

Sir Franklyn Gimson 194652
Mr. J.F, Nicoll 19525
Sir Robert. Black 19557
Sir William' Goode 1967-9
Chief Ministers Mr. D. Marshall, 1955-6
Mr. Lim Yew-Hock, 1956-9
Prine Minister Mr. Lee Kuan-Yew, 1959

{Originally, Governor under the Malayan Union plan.



Chapter 16

MALAYSIA
THE POLITICAL BACKGROUND

fter the achievement of self-government by 8
pore in 1959 the political leaders of the island
continued to press for some form of association
the Federation of Malaya. Mr. Lee Kuan-Yew and his Py
party were particularly anxious to keep this aim very
in the public mind and used every reasonable opportun
do so. So far as the Federation was concerned, the ri
from government circles remained, at the best, cautiou
non-committal and, at the worst, negative or positively]
tile. In the course of time, however, a sequence of events
gradually to a change of attitude towards the idea of ‘m\ 61
with Singapore on the part of the Federation Prime M
ter, Tunku Abdul Rahman. In the early years of Malaysj
still appeared a little early for these events to be seen in/
perspective but an outline review of them is essential to
understanding of the political motives which underla
Malaysia plan.
In the Federation the Emergency was declared to
ficially ended on July 31st, 1960. This proclamati
everyone was aware, did not mean that the communist t!
had disappeared overnight, but it did mark a contin
laxation of tension and could be seen as a further
booster for the Alliance government. One important
effect was to bring into sharper focus the condition of
pore politics as seen from Kuala Lumpur. In Singapore the
had been no ‘shooting war’ but instead a long record
communist activities. With the communist challenge
cessfully met in Malaya, it was not surprising that Ma
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al leaders of the Alliance party should become extremely
Sitive to any signs of communist advance in Singapore,
nd whatever political ‘front’ this might seem to be

ing.
ewed from the Federation, the Singapore political fu-
o was not only fluid and unpredictable within the
mework of the ary 1959 constitution but it was
realised that this ‘self-government’ constitution was itself
or further review in 1963. There could be no doubt that
sressure would by then be towards greater independence.
ng the political possibilities of the future there could be
ged an independent Singapore conducting its affairs
ays hostile to the government of the Peninsula to which
was so closely joined.
is type of present and future political thinking in Kuala
mpur may well have been generally influenced by ap-
Is of the wider political situation in South-East Asia.
e included an appraisal of the activities of communist
d pro-communist elements in a number of countries and
jncreasing scale and intensity of the war in Vietnam.
r home, Alliance government policy was certainly guided
he month-by-month pattern of events in Singapore itself.
preparing for merger, Mr. Lee deliberately tried to create
Malayan, rather than a Chinese, atmosphere in Singapore
d he set out to show that he could curb and control ex-
pro-Chinese or pro-communist groupings. During much
e period 19601 Lee Kuan-Yew fought a very skilful,
at times rather ruthless, political battle to retain his
ership of the P.AP. He was avowedly non-communist
his policies were moderately socialist, giving due regard
gapore’s need for stability in the eyes of the foreign
and the potential foreign investor of capital. He at-
tked the more radical and subversive of the trade unions
d sought to cool political fervour at the Chinese ‘Nanyang’
liversity in Singapore.
By January 1961, when he made a formal visit to Singa-
re, Tunku Abdul Rahman was becoming favourably im-
ed by the ‘Malayan' character of the P.A.P. policies and
I8 ready to acknowledge with approval the qualities of the
Singaporeans’. At the same time, he expressed concern
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about the ‘China-minded’ outlook which was still to be fo
in some sectors of Singapore's Chinese community.

Like many a government elected on a strong socialig
programme, Mr. Lee’s administration had difficulty
trying to fulfil all the hopes it had engendered. Althoygl
the government could point, for instance, to real succesge
in the field of urban housing and labour relations, toge
with some marked progress in both educational oppo;
nities and social welfare generally, the needs of Sjj
pore’s population allowed little time or place for reflecti
on what had been creditably achieved, Educational po!
with its links for most Chinese with linguistic and cultug
traditions was one major problem area; the constant thre
of a substantial measure of unemployment was anoth
real challenge to Singapore’s political leadership. T§
leadership itself and its practical policies soon became |
centre of an evident power struggle within the ranks
the P.AP. and in the Legislative Assembly. In a m
publicised by-election held at the end of April 1961,
official P.A.P. did was heavily defe d by a form
member of the party, Mr. Ong Eng-Guan, who had
viously been in serious personal rivalry with the
Minister.

By May 1961, political speculation about the future
the P.AP. government in Singapore was growing
possible changes were seen to be in a more radical, T
pro-communist direction. (Mr. Lee publicly claimed
that the communists had used the P.AP. as a f
through which they could in time come to gain full poll
control.) Any crumbling of the P.A.P. government ¢
only be a matter of alarm for the much more conserv
and clearly anti-communist administration in the F
tion. It was at this juncture, on May 27th, 1961,
Tunku Abdul Rahman, speaking in Singapore as &
of the Foreign Correspondents’ Association of Sou
Asia, put forward a public ‘feeler’ for a plan for
political and economic co-operation between the Fede
of Malaya, Singapore, the Borneo protectorate of
and the Borneo colonies of Sarawak and North B
Retrospectively, this speech is seen as marking ab
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public beginning of the Malaysia project; clearly it
been preceded by informal soundings especially be-
n the Tunku and Lee Kuan-Yew. ‘The idea of Malay-
', the Tunku later said, ‘did not come to me by chance’.
Tunku was, in fact, trying to achieve a merger with
ingapore on grounds which would be more acceptable to
e Malays by ‘balancing’ the large addition of Singapore
hinese with a contemporary influx of Borneo peoples,
nong whom the Chinese were a minority, though a
mificant one.

. The general reaction to the speech was favourable in
th the Federation and in Singapore, but more cautious in
e Borneo territories. This is not to say that the idea of
sociation between the named territories was universally
glcomed either in the Federation or in Singapore. In Ma-
ya, the Pan-Malayan Islamic Party (P.M.L.P.) argued that
union between the Federation and Singapore would greatly
engthen Chinese influence in the new polity and, in the
t or long run, undermine the special position of the
s. The P.M.LP. sought rather to bring about a wider
iation of South-East Asian peoples, mainly of Malay-
pe, to include Malaya, Indonesia, the Philippines and the
rneo territories. In the meantime, and from a very different,
dpoint, those with more extreme left-wing views —
ly Chinese and both in the Federation and in Singapore
fopposed the initiative of the Tunku from the start. The
fb-wing opposition in Singapore recognised in the Tunku’s
osals a challenge to their attempts to bring down the
P government and subsequently to shape the character
Bn independent Singapore. Both north and south of the
ore causeway the extremists of the political left saw any
ger between Malaya and Singapore which might be ne-
ed by their existing governments as a strengthening of
& forces opposed to communism. Political groupings and
ogy apart, there were Malays in the Federation of Malaya
d Chmow in Singapore who had misgivings about merger

ounds of racial halance

In the second half of 1961 discussions on the prospects
What was to become known as Malaysia proceeded in
main ways. There was direct negotiation between the
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Federation and Singapore on the details of a possilg
merger between the two territories. Meanwhile, leaders g
all the territories which might form Malaysia had g
opportunity to confer on the subject in a regional me
of the Commonwealth Parliamentary Association which y
held in Singapore in July 1961, From this meeting,
Malaysian Solidarity Consultative Committee was set
with representatives from each of the five territo
(Malaya, Singapore, North Borneo, Brunei and Sara
The aims of this committee included the collection of vi
and opinions, the encouragement of discussion and
publicising of information on Malaysia. Activities to promg
and hasten the realisation on Malaysia were also to
started and assisted. Meetings of the committee
subsequently held in North Borneo (at Jesselton), Saras
(at Kuching), Kuala Lumpur and Singapore; Brunei
not represented at the first of these meetings but
observers to the rest.

The Consultative Committee played an important pai
in the founding of Malaysia, especially in so far as the
neo territories were concerned. In general, it recommend
a federal constitution with a strong central government b
with safeguards written-in at many points to protect |
interests of particular states, especially those in Borneo.
committee’s memorandum on Malaysia (February 196
touched on many topics, including religion, language,
zenship and migration.

Meanwhile, by August 1961, Tunku Abdul Rahman &
Lee Kuan-Yew had reached agreement in principle oB
‘merger’ between the Federation and Singapore. A cel
government would be responsible for external affairs, defen
and security but Singapore would retain autonomy in
ters of education and labour pol joi
was established to frame more detailed proposals and 1o
the financial side of the merger arrangements. Concurrel
hoth Prime Ministers had the task of carrying their el
governments with them and of popularising the idea
merger among their peoples generally. .

In Kuala Lumpur, the Tunku, speaking frankly in & thi g
day debate, secured the support he needed from the fede
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ouse of Representatives. For Mr. Lee in Singapore, the
tion was more difficult. Within weeks of the notable
ancheon speech (May 1961) which started the open debate
Malaysia, thirteen left-wing members of Mr. Lee's P.A.P,
ernment came out in open opposition to him and formed
‘new party, the Barisan Socialis, or Socialist Front. This
ft the P.A.P. in the insecure position of having a majority
i only one in the Legislative Assembly. With characteristic
nergy and determination, the Singapore Prime Minister
de use of all media, and especially the radio, to put the
se for merger and to discredit the pro-communist tactics of
e left-wing opponents. In November 1961 the two Prime
finisters signed a ‘Heads of Agreement’ document for a
lerger between the Federation of Malaya and Singapore.
Briefly, this agreement looked forward to ending the
artificial separation’ of the two territories. Smgapnre was
o become a State within, the Federation but ‘on special
nditions and with a larger measure of local autonomy
the other States’. Education and Labour were subjects
rved to the Singapore government and the special
osition of Singapore in relation to the entrepot trade was
0 be safeguarded. The special position of Malays who were
ingapore citizens was also to be safeguarded in the
wonstitution of the larger Federation and the Federal Head
‘State was to be head of the Muslim religion in Singapore
fith a Council of Muslim Religion to advise him.
Singapore citizens were to become automatically nationals
f the larger Federation and this was to hold also for those
tho were entitled to Federation citizenship prior to the
ger. Within Singapore itself, citizens were to continue to
oy their State rights and privileges and would vote for
iNgapore representatives in the Federation Parliament;
izens of the Federation of Malaya would vote as at present
It their representatives. In return for the special status
eorded to Singapore in relation to Labour and Education
also in connection with the spending of revenue and the
ising of loans, the number of Singapore seats in the Federal
frliament was limited to fifteen, or rather more than half
Fthe entitlement had it been fixed on a proportional basis.
the same time, it was recognised that an application of
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Federal citizenship qualifications to Singapore would hayg
cut down the voting numbers by perhaps 40 per cent.
This first agreement was frank enough both in statemeng
and in tone. It was admitted that it could not satisfy ‘)|
parties on both sides of the Causeway’. Singapore desired
safeguard ‘her local legitimate interests', while the. Fede;
tion of Malaya wanted ‘to secure her paramount interests
security and in the stability of the new Federation',

Rahman visited London and reached agreement in princip
with the British government on the idea of Malaysia and op
the proposed merger between the Federation and Singapore
as a first move within the wider framework. The British
Malayan governments expressed themselves convinced
a Federation of Malaysia, to include Malaya, Singapore
the Borneo territories, was a ‘desirable aim'. The
‘merger’ agreement was noted with satisfaction and add
note was taken of defence arrangements. The existing De
fence Agreement between Britain and Malaya was to B
extended to include the other territories and British milif
and naval bases were to continue in Singapore ‘for the pus 0
of assisting in the defence of Malaysia for Commonwealti
defence and for the preservation of peace in South-East A
Any final decision related to North Borneo and Sara
was to await the outcome of consultations with the people
of these territories. For this purpose a Commission of Eng
was to be set up consisting of a Chairman and four mem!
two nominated by the British government and two by
Malayan government. The Commission was empowered &
ascertain the views of the people in the territaries concern
and, in due course, to submit its recommendations. Dt
the same period, the views of the Sultan of Brunei, Wl
position was that of a protected Ruler, were to be so
separately. Lord Cobbold, a former Gavernor of the B:
England, was appointed as Chairman of the Commi
which visited North Borneo and Sarawak in February-A#
1962 and which also included in its itinerary an info!
courtesy call on the Sultan of Brunei. The Commil
Report was published in June 1962, but, before exa:
its main conclusions, it would seem pertinent first to s
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iefly the political situation in Sarawak and North Borneo.
The British connection with Sarawak dated from 1839
ith the arrival in that part of Borneo of James Brooke, a
er military officer of the East India Company. Brooke’
ssion was of a private-adventurer kind and, at that time,
Sarawak was only about a twentieth of its present size and
nominally subject to the Sultan of Brunei. Brooke succeeded
helping to put down a revolt among the Dayak peoples
nst the rule of Brunei and, in return, was recognised
841) as ruler of Sarawak with the title of Raja. The ‘White
Raja’s’ position was fundamentally insecure because it de-
pended on the vagaries of Brunei politics and it was not at
this stage recognised by Britain. For several years Brooke
ught political protection in vain from Britain and other
estern powers; by the late 1850s he was urging, unsuccess-
fully, a union between Sarawak and the Straits Settlements
to form one Crown colony. Meanwhile he had been engaged,
vith the help of the British navy, in the suppression of pi-
y and in the defence of his own position against attack
m Brunei. Under the pressure of events the Brunei Sul-
lan ceded Sarawak to Brooke in full sovereignty (1846) and,
it the same time, granted the island of Labuan to Britain.
drooke was made Labuan’s first Governor and also Consul-
eneral for Britain in relation to Brunei and the independent
thiefdoms of Borneo.

The Brooke ‘dynasty’ continued to rule in Sarawak until
he Second World War, James Brooke was succeeded in 1868
ly a nephew who took the name Charles Brooke and ruled
Intil 1917. In turn this ‘second Raja’s’ son, Charles Vyner,
tinued this remarkable saga of family rule until
endered Sarawak to the British Crown in 1946. There
ifferences in personality and temperament between the three
rooke rulers but, in general, they played the part of be-
levolent autocrats, guided by their own sense of purpose
nd intent on keeping Sarawak relatively sheltered from
Miajor social and economic changes. As elsewhere in South-
Asia, in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries,
ificant numbers of Chinese settled in Sarawak but, of-
Lially, government policy aimed at retaining a mainly
mallholder type of agriculture, diversified by the traditional
cupations of fishing and the collection of jungle produce.
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British officers and local Malays served in the ad-
ministration. In 1888, Britain took responsibility for the
protection of Brunei, Sarawak and North Borneo in cir
cumstances which included the evident weakness ang
decline of the old Brunei Sultanate, a history of strai
relationships between the Brooke territory and the Britis
Chartered Company in North Borneo and the pos:
danger of intervention in Brunei by another Europe:
power, This protectorate relationship provided the fi
clear link within the British connection that was to ha
a bearing on the plans for Malaysia in 1961-3,

When the Brooke dynasty celebrated its centenary in/
Sarawak in 1941, the Raja set up a Supreme Council throy
which he would work as a constitutional ruler. An existir
advisory Council (‘Council Negri’) was made more effecti
and the new policy included an hasis on developing
cial services and on improving living standards. The goal
self-government was to be ‘kept in mind’ and the attainme
of this goal was to be hastened by educating the people ‘i
the obligati the responsibilities and the privileges of cit
zenship’. Whatever new horizons these ideals opened up
quickly clouded by the arrival, a few months later, of the
conquering Japanese, and by the subsequent period f
Japanese occupation. 8

At the end of the Second World War, Charles Vyner Brooks
agreed with the British government on the transfer of Sara
to the British Crewn, whereupon the territory acquired C
Colony status for the first time. Only a small majority in
Council Negri supported this transfer, but the years
followed were marked by a gradual extension of the ele
principle in government and of the use of franchise its
Among these measures were White Paper proposals, in
which envisaged advances towards a political system
included ministerial responsibility.

The modern political development of North Born
not lack complexities. Like Sarawak (and allowing f"_" ‘;
extensions of boundaries), North Borneo had traditio®
been regarded as part of the territory of the Sultan of B
though subject also to later claims on the part of the i8k
Sultanate of Sulu. In 1865, an American adventurer 092




Malaysia. The Political Background 313

from Brunei leasehold rights in North Borneo and this led to
an ‘American Trading Company of Borneo’ with headquar-
 ters near the mouth of the Kimamis River. This venture was
unsuccessful and it sold out to a strange partnership be-
‘tween the Austrian Consul in Hong Kong, Baron von
Overbeck, and the British firm of Dent Brothers of Shang-
" hai. The new partnership obtained further land concessions
in 1877 from the Sultan of Brunei and reinsured itself in
11878 by a separate agreement with the Sultan of Sulu, who
‘claimed sovereignty over the north-eastern area of these
‘North Borneo territories.

Shertly after this, Overbeck withdrew from the partner-
ship and the Dents were left in possession of some 30,000
‘square miles of territory and 850 miles of coastline. Despite
the initial opposition of the British Foreign Office and Colonial
Office, the new merchant company was able to secure, after
much diplomatic activity, a royal charter in 1881. and the
m.le ‘British North Borneo Company’. Seven years later, as

e have seen, Britain officially took responsibility for the
 protection of Brunei and Sarawak as well as North Borneo,
e British government’s connections with the area did in

Lof Labuan off the North Borneo coast by the Sultan of Brunei

in return for assistance against piracy. James Brooke was
abuan’s first colonial Governor, a post he held concurrently
ith his kingship in Sarawak, but, later, Labuan was
ansferred to the North Borneo Company, and then (1906)
to the control of Singapore, finally reverting to North Borneo
again in 1946.
For sixty-five years, North Barneo remained under
artered Company rule. It was more open to economic
change than Sarawak under the Brookes but its history was
marked by problems of capital development and labour
Bupply. For many years there was a crying need also for
icient administrators and this was remedied partly by a
ice of secondment of officers from the Malayan civil
ice and by a supply of cadets, from 1925 onwards, from
he ranks of recent graduates of Oxford and Cambridge
ber and jungle produce held their place as commercial
modities but rubber became the staple product. As in
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Sarawak, the Chinese were the largest immigrant commy
nity. A long period of financial struggle by the Company ygg
followed by the Japanese occupation (1942-5) and the trg
fer, in 1946, of the Company’s sovereign rights to the Brij
Crown in return for agreed compensation. North Borpes
suffered even more than Sarawak during the years of
Second World War and the post-war tasks of rehabilitati
and reconstruction were heavy ones.

The government of this new colony followed the traditiong
patterns of British colonial administration and included g
Governor with Executive and Legislative Councils. ‘Unofficia]
members were admitted to these Councils on appointm
by the Governor who considered the views of local authe
ties and other bodies. Political advance towards a broad
based government was clearly at an early stage in Noj
Borneo and political consciousness was less developed
in Sarawak. As possible partners in the early 1960s in a
Federation of Malaysia, these two Borneo territories exe
plified a disparity in political sophistication vis-a-vis Mala
and Singapore which was plain for all informed observers i
see.

The Sultanate of Brunei calls for a brief mention
this stage. Historically, it was important as an Islami
cultural and trading centre and a seat of empire. Fron
about the end of the seventeenth century its political po
had declined, partly due to the expansion of Dutch conte
in the Malay Archipelago and partly to the usual proble
which challenge the maintenance of empire over lo
periods. Lawlessness and trade-disruption throuj
largescale piracy were among these problems and
weakened and impoverished State was ready, in
nineteenth century, to bargain and make concessions!
territory, as we have seen, to the British government!
to American and British commercial interests. The OB
constant element in Brunei's history was the existencé
the monarchy; the area of the State shrank gradually.
a little more than 2,000 square miles having a popul
of upwards of 80,000.

Brunei accepted a British Consul-General in the ne
teenth century and a British Resident under the jurisdic
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the Governor of Singapore in 1906. From this time on-
rds the British relationship was not unlike that with the
infederated’ States of the Peninsula but, in 1959, the post
British Resident was abolished and Brunei became fully
f:governing under a new constitution. Perhaps the most
ificant factor in Brunei’s modern history was the discovery
rich oil-field there in 1929. In the course of time this has
e Brunei a rich State, a fact inevitably influencing her
ical outlook.

It needs to be said that the British connection with the
ay States, Straits Settlements and the Borneo territories
id, at times, provoked ideas of a wider political association
tween them such as was envisaged in the Malaysia plan.
e evident trend in this direction had been the practice of
in and recruitment of administrators between one area and
jother; an early precedent of this kind was Hugh Low's
pointment to Perak after service in Sarawak and Labuan.
1931 Sir Cecil Clementi, while advocating a loosening of
ish control in the Federated Malay States, envisaged the
sibility of a new political framework in which all the Malay
es would participate, together with the Borneo territories.
fain, in the years immediately after the Second World War,
dere were clear hints in British policy of a long-term objective
ociating the Malayan and Borneo territories. In Borneo
elfefforts to promote more contact and consultation between
€ three territories were noticeable, particularly from about
b8 onwards, often in the public speeches of the two colonial
ernors. Yet behind all such tentative moves lay real dif-
blties. Brunei was naturally anxious to guard the newly-
M right of self-government and was somewhat suspicious
Bt other territories might have plans for helping to spend
0il revenue. There were fears and differences, too, bath
in and between North Borneo and Sarawak and the
fitemporary emergence of political parties, especially in
fawak, was a new sign of the times.

Now to return to the Cobhold Commission of Enquiry
Iking in North Borneo and Sarawak in 1962. The Com-
8sion held fifty what were called ‘hearings’ in thirty-five
Brent centres (twenty in Sarawak and fifteen in North
o). Oral evidence was given both by individuals and by
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groups and an impressive number of letters and memorands
papers was received. The view was finally reached that ahg
one-third of the population in each of the two Borneo te;
tories was in favour of an early realisation of Malaysia wif
out undue concern about terms and conditions. Another thj
many of them favourable to Malaysia, wanted a variety of
conditions and safeguards. The remaining third was divig
among those who wanted independence before Malaysia way
considered and those who strongly preferred British rule tq
continue for some years to come. It was thought that ma
in the last group might come to accept Malaysia once a firg
decision was taken but that a ‘hard core, vocally and politjs
cally active’ would remain in opposition unless independen
came first. This hard core might amount to about 20 per
of the population of Sarawak but would be somewhat small
in North Borneo,
In both territories the Commission met representative
of political parties which had been created in the previous
year or so, though one or two of them had earlier anf
cedents. In the multi-racial environment of Borneo it
to be expected that such parties might be strong
prompted by communal or regional interests; in some c
however, it was not easy to a s the strength of party
membership or to analyse with accuracy its compositio

ociation.

population. The indigenous peoples included Sea Dayaks (33
per cent and an inland farming people), Malays (17.5 D
cent), Land Dayaks (7.8 per ¢ent), Melanau (5.9 per cel
and other indigenous peoples (5.1 per cent). There was atl
scatter of others, including Eurapeans. 3
North Borneo had a predominance of indigenous peops
including the Dusun (32 per cent), Bajau (13,1 per cent) @B
Murut (4.9 per cent). The Chinese, as in Sarawak, were:
main immigrant community, with 23 per cent, but there We
very few Malays of Peninsular stock. Instead, Indonest
fype Malays accounted for about 5 or 6 ner cent o
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opulation, while a variety of other peoples, indigenous and
-indigenous, included those born in the Philippines, Cocos
anders, Indians (in the wide sense), Europeans and
jurasians,

When the background of the merger between Malaya
ind Singapore is recalled, it is curious to note the nu-
merical importance of the Chinese in the two Borneo
itories and the relatively small number of Peninsular
alays there. From the Malayan side, however, it had

5 not lIk‘CE\sHTﬂV I.ho
anced by fears expre,\ed in Borneo that Malaysia n||ghl
ring a measure of control and exploitation by the Penin-
ays. Meanwhile, among the Borneo Chinese, and
Sarawak, were communist-sympathisers who
g ing to stop the implementation
their counterparts in Singapore. Other, non-
" . Chinese had genuine fears about possible Malay
omination in the new Federation or possible economic
ervention by Malayan Chinese.
Whatever the difficulties of detail, the message of the
bold Report was clear in the essential matter of recom-
ding a Federation of Malaysia as ‘an attractive .md
orkable project in the best interests of the Borneo territorie
a matter of timing, the Malayan members wished to see
i recommiendations on the creation of Ma
dysia taking effect immediately whereas the British mem
s wanted a transitional period of five years which eould
8 adjusted to a minimum of three years or a maxunum of
en.
On August 1st, 1962, following meetings in London, the
itish government and the government of the Pederation of
falaya jointly announced their decision in principle that the
oposed Federation of Malaysia should be brought into being
¥ Augrust 3=t 1963; in the meanwhile, an inter-govern-

lental committee representing Britain, Malunya, Sarawak
d North Barneo would be established 1o work out the
stitutional detanls and the form of the necessary safe-
ards’ for North Borneo and Sarawak. The London talks
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had evidently been based on a general acceptance of
Cobbold Report, but there was apparently hard bargaining
over the more controversial details, including the question g
timing for the Borneo territories.

‘While the pew inter-governmental committee got doy
to work, Lee Kuan-Yew in Singapore was fighting the lag
campaigns in what he was to call ‘the battle for merger’,
People’s Action Party had lost its overall majority in
Assembly and Mr. Lee used the mass media in support gf
Malaysia and in defence against the charges of his political
opponents. The P.A.P. view was that the party had
voted to power in 1959 with a mandate for merger and
what was at issue now was the actual terms of merger, whi
should be as favourable as possible to Singapore. A refer
dum was accordingly held, in September 1962, in which th
Singapore electors were asked to vote for one of three
ternatives. These comprised the government’s proposa
claiming Malaysian citizenship for all Singapore citizens
reserving autonomy on matters of education and labour, 8
the price of reduced representation in the new Federatiol
parliament. The second alternative was for merger on i
same terms as any other State in the existing Federatio
and the third proposal was for merger on terms no less fi
vourable than those offered to the Borneo territories.

The Barisan Socialis and other groups and individus
in Singapore who opposed Lee Kuan-Yew's policies pr
tested bitterly that the referendum, as phrased, gave B
opportunity to register a negative opinion. Following #
the Barisan Socialis mounted a ‘blank vote’ campaign
in the end, Mr. Lee secured a large endorsement for
government’s plans, Given the rather insecure position:
Mr. Lee's government, the referendum had been a b@
measure but a determined and eloquent campaign Ted
Mr. Lee himself had carried the day. 5

By the late months of 1967 it looked as though
Malaysia plan was progressing well. True, there was !
to be some further bargaining over details both in relati
the Malaya-Singapore merger and to the accession
Borneo lerritories, There was, moreover, still the
undecided position of Brunei. Tunku Abdul ¥
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obtain from the Sultan and his advisers an apparent
greement in principle to entry into Malaysia but it became
Jear later that there had been reservations on the Brunei
. These centred on such matters as the status of the
Jultan, descended as he was from a long and proud dynasty,
y the new Federation and on Brunei's existing measure of
glitical autonomy and economic wealth,

At all stages so far, the planning for Malaysia had been
ysome degree delicate and controversial within the territo-
s concerned and within the British connection. The physi-
links alone were difficult enongh with a crescent-shaped
ttern of territories, 1,600 miles long, and with several
indred miles of sea between Federal territories. In a multi-
ieial society, the creation of a ‘Malaysian’ outlook was called
before the separate areas had themselves acquired a
olly common outlook. From 1962 onwards, the new factor
‘external opposition to Malaysia began to make itself felt
id to prepare further complications for what some com-
ntators were to describe as Malaysia’s ‘troubled birth'.
e first external challenge to Malaysia came, quite unex-
edly, from the government of the Philippines led by
esident Macapagal. The official attitude from Manila was
ident shortly after the Malaysia plan was first publicly
inched. President Macapagal expressed concern at pro-
sed political changes in territories bordering the Philip-
nes, and especially in North Borneo. Any weakening of
ability in this area might, as the President saw it, encourage
ese communist infiltrations, with subsequent political
ingers for his own Republic. A press and. parliamentary
npaign in the Philippines proceeded to take up on histori-
ounds a claim to North Borneo by questioning the le
of earlier treaties. This line of argument, suggested
in 1878, the Sultan of Sulu had either only leased the
itory then negotiated with the British firm of Dent
ers, or, if he had really ‘ceded’ it, this had been done
out the consent of Spain, the paramount power in the
8, and was, therefore, an illegal transaction. The govern-
It of the Philippines claimed Lo be the true political heir
the Sultans of Sulu and, by one remove, to Spain and
im to North Borneo along these lines was formally
ented to Britain in June 1962,
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Spain had, in fact, acknowledged the British position in
North Borneo by a treaty of 1885 and there had been furthep
affirmations during the period of American rule in the
Philippines. Britain was hardly anxious to discuss the mattep,
but had to take into account her friendly relations with th
Philippines, their common partnership in SEATO' and thejp;
common interest in security in South-East Asia generally,
was therefore agreed that talks should be held in London op

1963. Meanwhile (July 1962), President Macapagal publicly
aired the idea of a Confederation of Greater Malaysia
include the Philippines, Malaya, Singapore and the Borne
territories,
Attention was diverted from all this rather speculativ
diplomacy by an outhreak of revolution in Brunei in Decem
1962. Although Brunei, on account of i )
the terms of reference of the Cobbold Commission, the
laysia project had stirred up political feeling there as in th
other Borneo territories. One significant, feature of the time
was the rapid growth of a People’s Party led by Sheikh
Azahari, a Brunei Malay who had long-
with Indonesia and the Indonesian nation I
August. 1962, Azahari's party succeeded in wining all 8l
indirectly-elected seats in the new Legislative Council, whi
still had, however, an official majority of one. Azahari Wi
opposed to Malaysia but in favour of the unification of 8
Borneo territories under the leadership of Brunei, He!
parently sought support for his plans both in Jakarta angd:
Manila and he was, in fact, in the Philippines capital
an armed revolt hroke out (December 1962) in Brunei
the neighhouring areas of North Borneo and Sarawak, FF
the Philippines, Azahari proclaimed himself *Prime Min
of the ‘new revolutionary state’ of northein Borneo (NS
Kalimantan), while the immediate position and attitudg
the Brunei Sultan remained uncertain and Gurkhal
British troops were rushed to Brunei from Singapore:s

L s colloetive
id, Pakiston, the

Salth Bast Asia Treaty Organtsation, formed
system UK TI8A, Awsralin, Franes, Now Z
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The rebellion itself was quickly quelled but guerilla-type
pposition was to continue for a long time aided by, among
ers, pro-communist elements in the Borneo territories and
lunteers’ from Indonesia. President Sukarno of Indonesia

enly sympathised with the rebels and chose to mount ‘a
Confrontation’ campaign along lines which Indonesia had
successfully pursued in relation to West Irian (former Dutch
ew Guinea). Sukarno’s interpretation of the events was
hat the rebels were fighting for true independence against
‘neo-colonialist’ concept of Malaysia and that the Ma-
layan government was a puppet of British imperial policy in
he region. The Indonesian President went on to appeal to
he revolutionary spirit in Indonesia and to accuse Malaya of
ursuing policies hostile to his own country. The Malayan
overnment detected the influence of the Indonesian com-
nist party in Sukarno's ‘confrontation’ policy but other
actors which may have influenced this included political
alousies and ambition, Indonesian irredentism towards the
ern Borneo area generally, the President’'s own aspi-
itions to lead a ‘Greater Malaysia’ (perhaps a modern version
e Majapahit claims) and the need for a unifying theme
Indonesians living under both political and economic
esses.

Thus, in the early months of 1963, the planners of
lalaysia faced objections from the Philippines, ‘confrontation’
Indonesia and a whole series of internal problems,
tluding the agreement on financial arrangements between
e Federation of Malaya and Singapore and the checks and
ards to be written into a complex constitution, espe:
in relation to the Borneo territories. One encouraging
i however, was noted in the greater activity of pro-
aysia parties in both Sarawak and North Borneo. These
es were alarmed by the Brunei revolt and the external
ts and looked to the Malaysia plan as offering the
est hope of stability for the Borneo territories.

he inter-governmental committee working out the
Btitutional proposals for North Borneo and Sarawak within
8ysia published its report in February 1963. This provided
basis of agreement for the Borneo territories” entry into
aysia. In the federal House of Representatives North

3
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Borneo was to have sixteen members and Sarawak twengy
four (out of a total membership of 159), a generous repre
tation in each case. Each State was to have two Senate
increased by six, of whom at least two would be appoi
from North Borneo and at least two from Sarawak on gk
oceasion of the first appointments after Malaysia Day.
official religion of Malaysia would be Islam but the Headg
State in North Borneo and Sarawak would not be the hy
of the Muslim religion in their States; nor was special fi
cial aid to be given to Muslim institutions or to the teachit
of the Muslim religion except with the concurrence of §
State concerned.

A compromise on immigration stated the principle
federal control, but made provision for the approval of imp
grants by the Borneo States. Malay was to be the naf :
language but English could remain an official language
an indefinite period. The same liberal attitude was extend
to the educational field. Although Education remained hy
(unlike the case of Singapore) a federal subject, the exis
system was largely to continue, the policy relating to the
of English was unchanged and the prospect. of lacating st
future institutions of higher education in Borneo was h
out. The terms in connection with citizenship, land and It
government were all reasonably liberal, once allowance
been made for the special status accorded indigenous peop
The financial provisions went some way to safeguard
Borneo position, especially in relation to a gradual ri
taxation to reach Federal levels and in the provision of d
velopment funds, though it was realised that much of th
might have to come from elsewhere, including aid fi
Britain.

All'in all, the safeguards for North Borneo and SaraW
were wise ones and, if they did not dispel all doubts
fears, they at least laid a good foundation on which s
men could build. Elections in Sarawak (August 1963) prej ;
the way for a ministerial system under Chief Minister
Stephen Ningkan and about the same time North Bort
also moved to a ministerial system under Chief Minister
Donald Stephens. North Borneo was now officially rena
‘Sabah’
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Throughout the summer of 1963 there was no slackening of
tempoof events. Both in Tokyo (May 1963, a'summit’ meeting
ween Tunku Abdul Rahman and President Sukarno) and in

: eting) the issues of Indonesian confrontation and Filipind
aims and objections were discussed and publicised. At the

ider Malay-type confederation (given the name ‘Maphilinda’)
include Malaysia, the Philippines and Indonesia, but this
s as yet far from the realm of practical politics. More im-
diate was the agreement reached on a third occasion to allow
United Nations mission to conduct an enquiry in North Borneo
d Sarawak on the wishes of the peoples there in regard to
lalaysia.
While all this was happening, the separate negotiations
Brunei’s entry into Malaysia broke down (June 1963).
he detailed discussions lay mainly between Brunei and
gala Lumpur but the Brunei Sultan also attended in person
r talks with the British authorities in London, In the end
e collection and use of oil revenues from the small but
rosperous State appears to have been the main dividing
gsue. Brunei's withdrawal at this late stage was a bitter
appointment to the Malaysia planners and was to some
igree a weakening influence on the other Borneo territories.
The working out of financial provisions between the
deration of Malaya and Singapore provided another field
ontroversy. These talks, which went on until a late stage
id were finally completed in London, became quite acri-
dnious at times and were characterised by arguments over
deral taxation, the apportionment of Singapore’s revenue
een State and Federation, the contribution of Singapore
) development funds for the Borneo territories and the nature
a Malaysian Common Market. Britain was also involved
the bargaining with Lee Kuan-Yew over titles to and
dyments for land used for defence purposes in Singapore;
While the Singapore government contested the financial
Sues with Kuala Lumpur, it was, on different grounds, not
lined to support the Tunku in his concessions to Indonesian
Rd Philippines pressures of allowing United Nations inves-
Bators into North Borneo and Sarawak. Nor was this step
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popularly received in the two Borneo territories or by
British authorities, whose agreement was still involved,
sending of observers to the Borneo enquiry by the Phj
pines and Indonesia was yet a further attempt to asg
confrontation policies and was accompanied by much hagg
over numbers and timing. The time element became a eap
tral one as the date for inaugurating Malaysia was postpone
from August 31st to September 16th. The lusi
United Nations’ enquiry were expected — and in fact
nounced — on September 14th.

It was a measure of the tensions of the time that Sin
pore, Sarawak and also Sabah, all in their different way,
still recognised August 31st as their date for change of sf
In the case of Singapore this meant a premature declaratig
of independence by Mr. Lee Kuan-Yew pending the ina
guration of Malaysia. Meanwhile, U Thant, Secretary-Genery
of the United Nations, felt that the postponement from ¢
original date had not been long enough: in fact that §
outcome of the United Nations enquiry was entirely p
judged.

In the event, the United Nations team announced
satisfaction that Malaysia had been widely debated in
Borneo territories, that the elections had been fair and
there was a sizeable majority for Malaysia. Indonesia did n
accept this verdict nor the manner in which it had
reached and the Philippines took the same line.
countries announced that they would not recognise Malays
and both broke off diplomatic relations with Kuala Lump#
It was in these troubled circumstances and after many mon
of external and internal tension that Malaysia was born
September 16th, 1963. q

Even at the time of the inauguration of Malaysia a $i
but troublesome measure of discord was evident within
new Federation. The new Chief Ministers of Sabah and Sa
did not necessarily accept the Kuala Lumpur point of view.
from the Malay-nationalist Pan-Malayan Islamic P&
stronghold in Kelantan came a legal challenge to the establish
ment of Malaysia. Singapore, it will also be recalled, was b¥E
means universally loyal to Lee Kuan-Yew. But much moFf
serious than all this at the time was the stepping-up of
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onesian confrontation, Diplomatic relations with Kuala
pur (Malaysia was not, in any case, recognised by Indone-
ia) were broken and violent demonstrators were allowed to
gtack Malayan and British embassies. Military preparations
ent on against a backeloth of the ominous slogan, ‘crush Ma-
ia’. Most British firms in Indonesia were placed under
vernment control, together with Malaysian rubber-milling
terests (in Sumatra), and air and telegraphic communica-
jons between Indonesia and Malaysia were cut. The Philippines
overnment followed Jakarta's lead in diplomatic action but
o, at this stage, in the sphere of violence or threats
Malaysia responded to all these challenges by taking ur-
gent and active measures for her own security. Malaysia's
military strength, though increasing, remained small,
ut the original Malayan defence agreement with Britain
jad been extended, in July 1963, to cover the new Federa-
on. It provided for full military co-operation by Britain to
eet any threat to Malaysia, at Malaysia's request. Although
e Malaysian effort was notable, British and Commonwealth
jilitary help was vital to the safeguarding of Malaysian
fontiers in the first two or three years of Malaysia's existence.
Not surprisingly, from Dr. Sukarno’s standpoint, this was
lled as only a further proof of the neo-colonialist nature
f the new Federation.

The main theatre of armed confrontation was the island
Borneo and especially the common land frontier between
e northern Borneo territories and Indornesian Borneo
alimantan). Guerrilla-type raids and infiltrations took place,
host of all along the boundaries of Sarawak. By June 1964
bout 10,000 British, Gurkha and Malaysian troops had been
bmmitted to the defence of the Borneo territories with British
val and air force units in support as required. Substantial
inforcements followed from the British side in January
965 and Australia sent its first troops to Borneo about the
me time. In mountainous, jungle-covered territory, with
Yops deployed over large distances, a sirange war was fought
Friend and foe were by no means always recognisable
d, from the Malaysian angle, political motives strongly
d military leaders to a security and defensive role on their
n side of the border. The measure of co-operation and
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support which infiltrators might receive in Sarawak or Sabg h
from pro-communist or other anti-Malaysian elements wag
another cause for concern to local commanders. A Clandeg.
tine Communist Organisation (CCO) operated in Sarawal
and as in the earlier ‘Emergency’ in Malaya, there was
‘hearts and minds’ side to the defensive action in Bos
Good relations with local villagers went hand in hand wij
the fighting movement.

From August 1964 small-scale sea-landings and air-dropg
of Ind ian ‘volunt " were at
itself. These raiders were quickly rounded-up and the exercige
had nomilitary significance beyond serving as a warning on th
need for alertness, good defensive communications and
already growing ‘Vigilante’ type of home-guard organisation,

On the political front, Mr. Lee's People's Action Parh
returned to power convincingly in the elections of
tember 1963 when it gained 37 out of the 51 seats in
Legislative Assembly. In the following April the Al
government in Kuala Lumpur won its third gen
election, winning 89 seats out of the total of 104. On th
face of it, these election results showed a solidarity
Malaysia and a sense of unity against Indonesian
frontation. Yet a close look at the voting details sho
that the P.AP. had made a small bid for votes in Mal
by putting up nine candidates, of whom one was succe
This tactic was one of a number of signs of the differer
between the M.C.A. (Malayan Chinese Association) in
Alliance partnership and the Singapore P.A.P. leaders
more dramatic sign of internal tensions about this 8
was seen in the outbreaks of communal rioting betws
Chinese and Malays in Singapore in July and Septemk
1964. While it was the view of the Kuala Lumpur govel
ment that these riots were originally ‘Indonesian-inspire
it could be held also that they were a warning of
dangers latent in a transition period when com
relationships were still adjusting, or reacting, to the
of the wider Federation.

Meanwhile (September 1964), Malaysia put the
against Indonesian aggression to the Security Council 0
United Nations. After a debate in which the Mala
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delegate instanced specific cases and the Indonesian reply
ged over the wider field of relationships in the whole area
of conflict, a rather watered-down resolution was moved
ing on both sides to avoid incidents and to resume talks.
fine votes were in support and two, including that of the
8oviet Union (and, therefore, a veto), were cast against the
olution. Since one clause of the resolution did specifically
plore’ one of the Indonesian landings in Johore, Malaysia
vas widely seen to have gained at least a form of moral
sictory. When Malaysia was elected to serve on the UN.
ecurity Council from the beginning of 1965, President
ukarno announced his country’s withdrawal from the
nited Nations, a step which received the congratulations of
fhe Peking government.
So far as talks between Malaysia and Indonesia were
oncerned, a number of other countries offered their services
mediators. Early in 1964 Mr. Robert Kennedy, U.S. At-
orney-General, visited the Presidents of Indonesia and the
Philippines and the Prime Ministers of Malaysia and Britain
n an attempt, on his own President's behalf, to bring the
out of the jungle and ‘put it around the conference
ible’. Then, first Cambodia, and, secondly, Thailand offered
r good offices, with Pnom Penh and Bangkok as venues
or meetings. Lastly, within this time-grouping, Japan offered
0 play the role of honest broker (June 1964). Tunku Abdul
hman did in fact meet with President Sukarno and
esident Macapagal in Tokyo, while the Thais, on U.N.
uthority, were attempting to supervise cease-fire arrange-
nts in Borneo. The net result of all this activity, however,
that confrontation went on much as before. It was part
' Malaysia’s case that Ind 1 guerrilla-fighters should
& withdrawn or, at least, that hostilities should clearly cease
b a prerequisite condition of political talks; the Indonesian
resident was not ready to give any such assurances
The costly and wearisome struggle in Borneo thus con-
into and through another year. There were lulls in
le military actions but the task of border vigilance was an
present one. Confrontation was, in faet, seldom out of
news but, in the summer of 1965, a new political crisis
up in Malaysia itself; capturing the headlines and
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appearing to suggest that what Sukarno was unable to
achieve by threats and a show of force might still be realiseq
by internal division.
Increasingly, the Singapore P.AP., under Mr. Leg
leadership, had been planning to cut across the still mainly.
communal character of party politics in Malaysia. In May
1965 Mr. Lee launched a ‘Malaysian Solidarity Conven
whose main aims included a statement that the nation
was ‘not identified with the supremacy, well-being
interests of any one community or race’. The Conventi
was an attempt to build up a multi-racial front of Q
position parties for a ‘Malaysian Malaysia' and, quite soo
bitter words were being exchanged between Kuala Lumpuy
and Singapore. In both federal States there were vario 5
kinds of political extremists; it must be said, howeve
that the idea of a mare truly ‘Malaysian Malaysia’ wai
acceptable to many on both sides of the Johore causews Ly
One important issue was that of timing. The Alliance
government preferred to see a growing sulidarity in
existing communal parties of which it was composed a
a gradual progression towards a more fully integrate
political community. By comparison, Mr, Lee was in a greal
hurry and opposed to the continuation of communal politie
he thus ended in provoking a strong Malay reaction.
was part of Mr. Lee’s case that his movement had
momentum of its own, but it also came to be part
Tunku Abdul Rahman’s case that ‘the acrimony an
consistent attacks on the central government by Mr.
Ruan-Yew and others in Singapore’ had created a
dangerous situation, threatening the whole political fab
Although all the main signs of a rift between Singap
and Malaya were open enough, the final negotiations
handled dentially and the was. sudden
dramatic. On August 9th, 1965, it was announced
Singapore had seceded from Malaysia and had becom?
independent sovereign nation. The Malaysian Prime Mi
ter’s attitude, as it subsequently transpired, had been thi
Singapore must withdraw from Malaysia before either !
communal situation got out of hand or his own supports
pressed him to suspend the Singapore constitution. Agreem
on withdrawal was signed secretly on August 7th and
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necessary legislation passed on August 9th. Indicative of the
aste and secrecy of the negotiations was the fact that nei-
ther Sabah nor Sarawak nor Britain was informed or con-
sulted.

In Lhe secession agreement Lhe two States were to col-

clude a treaty or agreé-ment which mlght be detrimental to
the independence or defence of the other. But, though much

\who had planned Malaysia four years earlier, and not least
or Lee Kuan-Yew himself. Singapore became a member of

title of the Head of State to that of President.

In both Sabah and Sarawak strong concern was expressed
‘about the expulsion (the words have varied according to in-
pretation — ‘withdrawal', ‘secession’, ‘expulsion’, ‘eviction”)
Singapore from Malaysia and especially about the lack of any
jor consultation with them. The fact that Singapore had
entered Malaysia on ‘special terms’ did not escape the attention
of political leaders in Jesselton.! and Kuching who were very
scious of their own special status in the federal framework.,
There were now real fears in the Borneo territories that they
might expect increased pressures from the central government
ind that non-Muslims might find themselves subjected to
policies of a marked pro-Malay character. About this time the
usage ‘East Malaysia’ came into being to denote the Borneo
ritories, West Malaysia' now signifying peninsular Malaya,
ith its off-shore islands, but not, as now, Singapore,

Within weeks of the separation of Singapore Tunku Abdul
Rahman visited the Borneo states to restore loyalty and mo-
rale. In a quick tour the Tunku sought partly to reassure
ind partly to reprimand Borneo leaders, who now saw Ma-
laysia as a markedly different federation from that which
they had joined. In Sabah, Donald Stephens, an early pro-
gonist for Malaysia and a former Chief Minister of Sabah

'Re-named later Kota Kinabalu
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(1963-4), resigned his post as Minister for Sabah Affairs g
at that time, announced his intention to quit politics. The
enforced withdrawal of Singapore from Malaysia had y
doubtedly weakened the Federation in the Borneo view
once the Indonesian confrontation was over, a deliberate ‘g
relations’ policy was clearly needed from Kuala Lumpuy,

Dr. Sukarno’s Indonesia naturally welcomed the breg
between Malaysia and Singapore; ‘not even a thousa
gods’, said the Indonesian President, ‘could save Malas
now'. The Indonesian Foreign Minister, Dr, Suband
immediately offered to recognise and open diplomatic
lations with Singapore as an independent State. It
obviously open to Indonesia to exploit the new poli
situation for all it was worth, but as it happened, Ing
nesia was involved, within a matter of weeks in a |
scale domestic crisis of its own. For many years Sul
had ruled by a technique of ‘guided democracy’ which m:
him the mouthpiece of the State and the arbitrator ai
the chief political factions. Of these groups, the Indone
communist party (P.K.IL) had been increasing in strei
for some time and was the most ardent supporter of i
confrontation policy. But the balance between the P.
and other nationalist and pro-Muslim groupings, inch
the Army, had always been a precarious one and
tensions of Indonesia’s foreign policy and economic ban
ruptey at home helped to create a politically vol
situation. Aware of the latent opposition which faced ¢
communist groupings, with some Army support, s
coup d'état in Jakarta on the night of September
1965. After apparent initial success, the plot misc
and Army leaders and the more pro-Muslim nstio

came to dominate the Ind ian scene. Dr.

other events of great significance followed. Throi
Indonesia, but especially in Java, there was &
persecution of communists and alleged pro-communists
massive killings, especially among the Chinese.

The many twists and turns of the internal strugé!
Indonesia cannot be followed here but the main trend of#
situation was that, despite all his political skill and.
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purcefulness, President Sukarno was losing control and, with
his gradual fall from power, came a dwindling interest in the
onfrontation policy which he had made so much his own.
Yot until March 1967 was Sukarno formally stripped of all
is powers and titles, but already, a year earlier, negotia-
jons for a peace settlement between Indonesia and Malaya
yere started and, in May 1966, talks were held both in
laya and in Bangkok. There was still to be much business
bout the wording of an agreement (August 1966) by which
ostile acts would cease and normal diplomatic relations be
tored, but, by the end of the year, British and Australian
gops had been substantially withdrawn from Borneo and
slationships between Jakarta, Kuala Lumpur and Singapore
e openly friendly. Meanwhile, diplomatic relations be-
ween the Philippines and Malaysia were restored, in June
6, though the Philippines reserved the right to bring
brward again their claim to Sabah for ‘clarification’ and
utual agreement, With the gradual ending of the con-
tation period with Indonesia, Malaysia could turn more
ully to the solution of internal problems and stresses, some
which might well be sharpened by the removal of the
ernal danger.

One echo from the recent past was, however, to be heard
in when the Philippines claim to Sabah made news once
lore in 1968. Secret training of Filipino guerrillas on
orregidor for terrorist operations against Sabah was brought
D light, in March of that year, by a lone escapee. Other
idents, which included the arrest of a Philippines launch
it Sabah by a Malaysian patrol boat and the rounding-up of
‘number of Filipinos illegally ashore on Sabah, accurred
bout the same time.

President Marcos of the Philippines, who had restored
lomatic relations with Malaysia on taking office in 1966,
0w pressed for his country’s claim to Sabah to he heard at
International Court of Justice, It was eventually agreed
it diplomatic missions from Malaysia and the Philippines
tould meet in Bangkok (June 1968) to discuss the claim.
fce it was still the intention of the Philippines to put the
8Im to the International Court and since Malaysia had no
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intention of parting with Sabah, it was not surprising
nothing came of the Bangkok talks. For some months afy
wards there were suggestions of a ‘summit’ meeting betyweg
Tunku Abdul Rahman and President Marcos but, with,
constructive preparation, it was hard to see what these
achieve. There were some sharp exchanges, too, between {
Philippines and Britain over the passage of military air
and of naval units in the vicinity of the Philippines.
paradoxical situation in view of the partnership of the gy
countries in SEATO. What was even more evident to g
servers of the South-East Asian scene was the need for gre
regional co-operation on the lines of the still rather sha
economic associations between South-East Asian countri
of which both Malaysia and the Philippines were membej
Instead, the Philippines government proceeded to pass a
declaring Sabah to be a part of the Philippines and, of
again, diplomatic relations between Kuala Lumpur
Manila were severed.

If further argument for regional co-operation were.
quired, it was supplied by Britain's decision, announce
July 1967, to conduct a phased withdrawal of British fo
from South-East Asia and a major dismantling of the Sing
pore bases. It was still Britain's stated intention to hon
her agreements under the defence arrangements with
laysia and Singapore, but it became a matter of controve
and speculation as to how, in time, this might best
complished. For Britain, many saw this as the end of an,
For Malaysia and for Singapore, the fundamental ne
security, political integration and co-operation with
young nations in the region would still call for wise sl
manship, patience and, perhaps, a better turn of goo
tune. Politics in Malaysia still rested mainly on a com:
basis and racial tension could, unfortunately at times, T
dangerous levels.

DATES OF EVENTS: MALAYSIA

(1961-7)
1961 (May) Tunku Abdul Rahman's specch on wider horidon8
1961 (Nov.) British government's agreement to Malaysia can

1962 (Feb-Apr.)  Cabbaold Commission in Borneo.
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British and Malayan announcement of Malaysia by Au-
gust 31st, 1963,

Brunei Revolt

President Sukarno announces 'Confrontation’. (Philip-
pines claim to Sabah presented to London, June 1962.)
Meeting between Tunku Abdul Rahman and President
Sukarno in Tokya

Brunci withdraws from Malaysia

8 3 Further ‘summit’ meeting in Manila

63 (Aug.-Sept.) United Nations investigation in Borneo.

Inauguration of Malaysia.

Elections in Singapore

Elections in Malaya

Indonesia withdraws from United Nations,

Lee Kuan-Yew launches Malaysia Solidarity Convention'
Singapare leaves Malaysia, becomes sovercign state.
Tunku Abdul Rahman visits Borneo territories.

5 (Scpl -Oct) Coup and counter-action in Indonesia.

Resumption of diplomatic relations, Malaysia and
Philippines.

British plans for military withdrawals from South-East
Asia announced

Resumption of diplomatic relations, Malaysia and Indo-

nesia
8 (Mar. onwards) Renewal of Sabah controversy between Philippines
and Malaysia

Population of ‘Malaysia® (in thousands)
Approximate figures for the period of negohations, 1961-2

Indians
and Borneans
Malays  Chinese  Pakistanis  (non-Malay) Others  Total

ration of
3620 2670 820 — 130 7240
240 1280 140 — 40 1700
Borneo) 25° 110 3 320 20 478
ak 140 240 2 400 8 790

4025 4300 720 198 10,208

*Indonesians



Chapter 17

MALAYSIA
THE ECONOMIC BACKGROUND

alaysia and all its component States had to tag

all the usual economic tasks and problems

mon to new nations in the modern world,
paramount need was to ensure a livelihood for all Malays
peoples, which, in an era of rapid population increase,
cessitated in itself an expansion of the existing economy,
danger of unemployment was particularly felt in the big
urban areas and especially in Singapore where the Sta
government had been very anxious to retain control of labo
policy.

In the Federation of Malaya economic growth was han
pered in the 1950s by the Emergency but already in i
years i diately before Ind a shift of gove
ment policy towards development targets was detect
Fiscal policy in modern Malaya had worked towards the
of a well-balanced budget and financial deficits in the mid
of the decade 1950-60 were seen to be the necessary,
unfortunate, result of the war against the communists.
about 1956 onwards, however, it was officially acknowl
that the Federation was no longer working in terms 0
year-by-year balance but was pledged much more to a pu
investment programme which would raise the national
at a future date. !

As part of this development outlook, and especially fi
1957 onwards, expenditure on the social services was
a very high priority and the cost, for instance, of an expan
education programme was regarded as a form of natio
investment. For most years the cost of education was @
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Jargest single item of government expenditure, sometimes
‘approaching or indeed exceeding, one-fifth of the total
ending. This was justified in part by the need to give greater
pportunities to all, and especially to the Malays, who had
een relatively left behind in the pace of modernisation of
their country. In part also, the government could assert the
pational need for more skilled administrators, teachers,
hnicians and other groups for the further development of
Malaya.

A Malayan Development Fund Bill, passed in 1958, es-
tablished a common bank for development finance, whether
or not this came from current revenue or from loans or any
other source. Any development project approved by the
overnment could be financed from this fund subject, of
ourse, to what was practicable at any given time, and this
gave both greater flexibility and greater urgency to centralised
planning, There had been some earlier ‘Plans’, but a sig-
nificant change of emphasis could be noted in the emergence
of Malaya's First Five-Year Plan (1956-60) produced by the

than any of its predecessors but it also stood in its own right
and outside direct Treasury control. It was to be followed by
Second Five-Year Plan (1960) and, later, by a First Malaysia
lan (1965), to cover the period 1966-70. These later schemes
‘ﬂected something of the growing enterprise shown by

It needs to be emphasised, however, that Malaya still kept
the door well open for what is usually called the ‘private sector’

alaya after Independence and prepared to meet both an in-
easing level of taxation and a greater ‘Malayanisation’ pro-
amme within their personnel. For new commercial ventures,
and especially for new industrial plants, the Federal government
as ready to grant such inducements as convenient sites, tax-
emption on profits forinitial periods of up tofive years, freedom
0 recruit management and labour, and, in certain cases, a
Neasure of tariff-protection against imports. In these ways the
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newMalaya wasready toallow old ‘colonial’ forms of comme
enterprise to continue, to encourage new foreign investme
and plant and, at the same time, to institute new formg g
government economic planning reminiscent in title of g
socialist-inclined State.

Only as a last resort did the Federal government envig
direct State participation in new industrial enterprise
this was true also for the Singapore government. Althg
the P.A.P. government in Singapore was, by its nature,
clined strongly to socialist economic policies, in practice ]

the part of Mr. Lee Kuan-Yew. Singapore, with its relati
dense population for its small area, had no strong prim
industries comparable to Malayan tin-mining and
growing and its population was growing at an even fa
rate than that of the Federation. The entrepdt trade was
course, a vital element in Singapore’s economy and, in
(to take a sample year), this still produced 31 per cent of
national income and directly employed 15 per cent of
State's labour force. In the same year the British bases
Singapore brought in 14 per cent of the national income &
industry a further 18 per cent. Singapore’s pressing nee
was for large-scale capital investment, particularly diree
to a mainly urban population and the planning of indu:
estates. As in Malaya, there was increasing govern
expenditure on the social services, of which education
housing were particular features,

An ic Devel Board was
Singapore in 1961 in the hope of transforming the island:
from a mainly entrepét role to that of an industrial cos
a Four-Year Devel t Plan (1961-4) followed. Durir
period of planming for Malaysia, Singapore had to f
particularly difficult problem of economic planning in
toher own future. The need for new capital and new indu
brought with it the pressures to protect these enterpri
appropriate forms of import tariffs and thus depart from
was still generally a free-trade policy. The level of pro
might well be such as to divert from Singapore a pro
of the entrepét trade into more direct supplier and cons
channels, The Federation was already protectingits own

hlish
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adustries and this was also a growing feature of the economic
plicies of other countries in the region. The merger between
gingapore and Malaya, as a first step in the Malaysia plan,
ough primarily a political move, could thus be seen to have
grong economic undertones. For Singapore’s industries thére
ias the possible advantage of a Malaysian ‘Common Market
shich would greatly increase the ‘domestic’ consumption area
nd make the setting-up of certain types of industrial plant
uch more attractive proposition. Against this was to be
jeasured the uncertain effects of a Malaysian Customs Union
o look at the ‘Common Market’ in another way) on the
‘crepot trade of Singapore. Experts from a mission of the
ernational Bank for Reconstruction and Development (the
World Bank’) were invited to Singapore to advise on this kind
if problem, as they were also invited to Malaya to advise on
gneral development problems.
| So far as Singapore’s economic dilemma was concerned,
e World Bank recommended a single external customs tariff
or Malaysia but also suggested special machinery for the
ntrepot trade of Penang and Singapore. The details of all
lis di ion were highly technical and the two years of
ingapore’s participation in Malaysia were, in the event, to
gitness little substantial progress towards closer economic
Issociation. Customs duties continued to be levied between
ingapore and Malaysia as before though an agreement to
move quota restrictions on manufactured goods made in
h of the two areas was reached in September 1965.
The Borneo territories were also considering problems of

ocial and ic devel and g to assess
& economic implications of Malaysia. The government of
irawak established a general devel, fund, similar in

nd to the Malayan one, as early as 1951. A series of Plans
I revised Plans ran through the 1950s, followed by two
dur-year ones (1959-63 and 1964-8), the second of which
Bcame absorbed into the First Malaysia Plan. A National
elopment Planning Committee was the Sarawak coun-
part to what became known in the Federation of Malaysia
 the government Economic Planning Unit.
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The targets of the planners in Sarawak did not differ sub
stantially from those in other parts of Malaysia, but there wae
atouch of individuality in some of the wording. One aim wﬂ, e
‘improve the farmers' livelihood and make the countrysi
pleasant place to live in'. Others stressed the need to pro
employment for all people of working age and to raise lij;
standards. The danger of over-reliance on rubber-produci
was fully recognised and with this went a call for greater
ricultural variety and some industrial expansion. As elsew]
in developing countries, much greater priority was to be
to the social services and especially to education and pul
health. Already by 1960, what might be broadly called
development in Sarawak was accounting for 45 per cent of
government expenditure, while education took another 14
cent. Sarawak’s most recent Plan still envisaged about
fifths of the population gaining a living from agriculture whij
though commercialised, was not mainly of a plantation.

Rubber, overwhelmingly a smallholder crop in Sarawak
was still the main commercial staple and the great ni
here was for a speeding-up of the replanting scheme with
view to higher yields. Rice, pepper and coconuts i
well-established crops needing further government supp
and direction. In the case of rice, for instance, the great n
was for more well-irrigated wet padi areas and a drop in
of the more unrewarding areas of hill-padi production. Az
the new crops proposed, oil-palm, already successful in
and in Sabah, was the main hope. If the oil were f
produced competitively, however, it was argued that it
need to be introduced on an estate basis, ‘possibly wil
v for a sub t llholders’ participation

On the industrial side there seemed to be a possibleb
future for the mining of coal and also of ceramic clay b
known oil resources were gradually running out; test
and exploration were still continuing, however, both !
and for gold. Recent manufacturing interests with
protection were likely to be adversely affected by Ma
but it was hoped that, in return, some new industries
the Malaysia area as a whole would be located in Sara¥€
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The pattern of development for Sabah followed along
ilar lines though government planning remained more
ly based on traditions related to Colonial Welfare and
elopment schemes. Put in simple form, this meant a
alculation of finance available at a given date and a con-
eration of proposals from government departments, fol-
wed by allocations of money for approved projects. The
ace of planning in Sabah seemed somewhat slower than in
arawak, though there was the same kind of emphasis on
oth agricultural and general rural development and on
xpanding the social services, especially education. Timber
nd rubber were the main exports, with copra also important
oil-palm estates developing; cocoa was being tried ex-
imentally. As in Sarawak, there was still a considerable
esidue of rather primitive and wasteful agricultural practice
nd one attempt to reduce this centred on the idea of co-
perative farming under government sponsorship.
Both Sarawak and Sabah benefited from financial grants
T development purposes, partly through Malaysia and partly
D a continued basis from Britain. The raising of capital
ternally and, so far as possible, internally, was clearly to
e:a major task throughout the Federation, and, after 1965,
independent Singapore, for very many years to come. The
orneo territories, and Sarawak in particular, ood greatly
-need of improved physical communications, When the
obbold Commission visited Sarawak in 1962, it reported
‘large muddy rivers and a maze of tributary streams
d channels flow north-westwards into the South China
and form the principal means of communication’. There
e, in fact, few roads and even fewer bridges. The Plan for
04-8 envisaged new or further work on some twenty roads,
lling four hundred miles. We have here a small illumina-
B0 of the tasks undertaken and the efforts involved in the
ess of economic development. Two of these tasks are now
ked at in a little more detail.

L. RURAL DEVELOPMENT IN MALAYA

Ministry of Rural Development was established in Malaya
1959 under the direction of Tun Abdul Razak, the Deputy
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Prime Minister. In living standards and in the provision of
public amenities the rural (including coastal) communities of
Malaya lagged well behind the townspeople and the aim of
Rural Development was to redress this imbalance so far ag
possible. All the development Plans in Malaya have g-ivﬂi
the rural setting a high priority rating and the measure
taken were designed to bring about as much social as ecos
nomic betterment. All rural communities were to be the
beneficiaries of these programmes, but, in the very nature g
things, the great majority would be Malay villagers, for th
most part peasant producers and fishermen.
It was not the first time that something had been dong
to improve life in the kampongs. Between the two World Was
some government efforts had been made to create rural co-
operative societies with credit and marketing facilities,
these had very lightly touched the surface of the problem
giving the peasant producer reasonable financial help and
economic incentive as well as protection from the control af!
the middleman who bought whatever he had to sell.
in 1950 there occurred, in addition to the ‘New Villages'
renewed general purpose effort to improve rural conditio
under the auspices of the Rural and Industrial Developm
Authority (RIDA). The tasks undertaken by this body wert
too widespread for all to succeed, but some useful help wal
given towards the financing of producer marketing schemi
and of rural industries and vocational training. In 1956
further government venture, the Federal Land Develop en
Authority (FLDA) concentrated on the clearing of large blo
of virgin land and the settlement on these of pioneer-colonit
with ten-acre family holdings. Government money an
sources helped to clear the sites and install the families
the new settlers co-operated in the work and undertook
grow commercial crops as well as cultivating a portion
land for their own food supply. In time the settlers Wi
expected to repay the government, by instalments, mo
which they had received in the process of settling on the
land. Only people from small-income groups were eligible &
apply for the scheme. B
The whole story of new land settlements has been onesy
wide-ranging and demanding programmes against 8 ba
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ound of land hunger and ever-rising population. While, at
\the same time, the government has been trying to introduce
better social and economic conditions into the older villages,
‘the new settlements have required all the paraphenalia of
public works such as roads, drainage and water-supply, to-
gether with provision for welfare services especially in the
orm of schools and public health amenities. In addition to
e main Federal scheme, State governments have also made
smaller, but substantial, blocks of ‘fringe’ land available for
ew settlers on similar terms. The Malays have been pre-
ponderant among the new settlers but these have also in-
ded a proportion of Chinese and Indians. In political terms
it was, and is, clearly desirable to advance the sacial and
conomic status of the rural Malay in what most Malays
adionally regard as their own country. as a pre-condition
the eventual success of a truly integrated and multi-racial
Malaya or Malaysia.

The programmes of land development have heen so am-
bitious and so challenging that it is not surprising that there
ave been set-backs due to miscaleulations, shortage of funds,
ong priorities or just sheer loss of energy on the part of
those involved. The measure of early success owed much,
however. Lo the personal ‘drive’ of Tun Razak and to the wiy
which he madelled the approach to work in hand along
nilitary lines. Tun Razak was influenced in his thinking by
the experience of the ‘Briggs Plan' for new villages during
the Emergency and by the hard routine of rapid, incisive
ersonal visits employed (for different reasons) by General
empler during the Emergency period. A Special Operations
boomn was organised by Tun Razak to record, in lighted dia

m fashion, the progress of the various plans, and the
deputy Prime Minister toured the country. with seemingly
Ireless energy. sometimes to praise and encourage. some

Imes to upraid and condemn. It is interesting to note, in
nection with Tun Razak’s activitics. that he also attended
e first session of the National Development Planning
Ommitiee in Sarawak, whose Plan far 1964-8 contained ideas
Linew land-use and new villages virtually identical with
Bose already tried in Malaya

Complementary to the FLDA settlement schemes has
en the introduction of new buanks to encourage theift
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and offer credit facilities, and a revitalising of the rura]
co-operative idea. In what was really a quiet social
revolution, it was not to be expected that the old ways
would die out quickly or that the new economics would be
invariably successful. The more traditional forms of fi.
nancial indebtedness among Malay villagers often had ag
much to do with over ding for social i as with
the economic season or the state of the market. By similar
customary tradition, the Chinese middleman or money-
lender could render a variety of financial services to meet
particular circumstances and might still be preferred by
many to the new institutions. On the new lands, rubber
was often, initially, the main cash crop and this took time
to mature and was subject to price fluctuations in the
meanwhile. From 1963 onwards priority was given to the
cultivation of oil-palm where the soil was suitable though
this involved production problems of a much more complex
character than was the case with rubber.

The scale of new land colonisation rose very signifi-
cantly with the extremely ambitious scheme of developing
an area adjacent to the Jengka River in Pahang. This
‘Jengka Triangle’, lying between Maram, Temerloh and
Jerantut, comprised no less than 310 square miles and
the work of surveying, probing and testing brought together
specialists from many countries. The project was seen to
have great importance not only for Malaya but alse in-
ternationally as a prototype for other possible large-scale
new settlement areas in developing countries. It was part
of this long-term plan to settle 150,000 or more people in
the region and to build towns as well as villages, each
town having a population of 5,000 or 10,000. It was ex-
pected that the townspeople would include people in
government service and in commerce as well as workers:
in processing factories. A 5,000-acre oil-palm plantation on
the southern edge of the ‘Triangle’ was, together with its:
adjacent processing factory, symbolic of the scale of de-
velopment. By 1967 it was not unrealistic for one observer -
to judge that the central story of Malayan progress for
years to come would be one of ‘jungles into farms’. 1

Other aspects of the rural econamy in Malaya in recent
years may just be given a brief mention. There has been 8
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‘modest increase in rice-production but the physical conditions
‘are against any vast extension of the rice-growing areas. Nor
‘have there been very strong arguments for abandoning the
traditional methods of planting and harvesting in the main
jrrigated padi regions. More attention has been given, how-
ever, to increasing the yield per acre and this has improved
wvery significantly through such measures as the use of bet-
‘ter strains of seed, the greater use of fertilisers and stricter
‘control of pests and diseases. The modern experiments with
cocoa did not, after all, bear out their earlier promise but
‘coconut and pineapple continued to hold their economic
Jimportance while oil-palm, as indicated earlier, was becoming
‘the main alternative to rubber.

The Malay fisherman has traditionally gained only a
rather poor living and has often been very dependent on
the middleman for his small capital, his marketing and
‘his borrowing for one reason or another. The starting of
‘co-operatives and the increasing use of powered fishing-
boats have helped to set the targets in the effort to reduce
indebtedness and to improve the efficiency of the fishing
industry.

2. INDUSTRIALISATION IN MALAYA AND
SINGAPORE

In Malaya, tin-mining continued to be the industrial coun-
terpart Lo rubber-growing but iron-ore production rose sharply
in the eastern States of the Peninsula from whence it was
shipped from open roadsteads to Japan, By 1967 more than
6 million tons of iron-ore were being extracted annually and
urveys had indicated further large deposits in Pahang; new
deposits had also been found on the west coast and there
ere plans for forwarding the ore by rail to Singapore's new
industrial port at Jurong, nine miles from Singapore city.
The iron-ore industry had been serving only the Japanese
arket but the planning of iron and steel plants for Singa-
re and the west coast of Malaya, linked with Japanese
pital, appeared to offer a possible, if relatively small, alter-
ative outlet. So far as the tin industry was concerned, there
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remained the usual worries about price fluctuations and of
increasing production-costs in some of the tin-fields, both
large and small. Meanwhile, in the years following the ending
of the Emergency, renewed efforts were made to locate new.
sizeable deposits of tin ore.

The encouragement of new industry in Malaya under g,
‘pioneer industries’ scheme was assisted by a Malayan In-
dustrial Development Finance company (MIDFL), formed in
1960 with funds from such institutions as the government,
banking and insurance companies and the Colonial De.
velopment, Corporation. The main functions of the MIDFL
included the loan of money for industrial enterprises which:
were good security risks and, Lo a less extent, the financi
of hire-purchase arrangements. Sawmills and the making of
rubber tyres, aluminium goods and matches were among the
industries which obtained loans.

A key element in the industrialisation programme was
the provision of sites for industrial development. These in-
dustrial estates offered the industrialist an immediate title
to land and the great advantage of having all essenti
services laid on in advance. The most striking example
the Federation has been the siting of more than a hund
new factories on an industrial ite at Potaling Jaya on thi
outskirts of Kuala Lumpur; other plans were also in hand
for the Butterworth area on the o t and for the vicinif
of Johore Bahru. The Singapore project for o new town and
large industrial estate at Jurong was even more ambitio
A new industrial town planned with areas reserved fi
heavy industry, light industry and residence, together with
schools, shops, community centres and open spaces. 1
first ph of the Jurong project alone, 1,500 acres of |
were set aside for industrial development. Extensive wharf
for ocean-going ships w wother feature of Jurong, wi
also had new approach roads and new railway developm
It was the Economie Development Board in Singapore wi
played a part not unlike that of the MIDFL in the Fed
tion. By mid-1966 more than forty industr
Jurong and elsewhere in Singapore, most of them quali
for government aid under the title of pioneer enterpri

Tndustries which related to Malayan agriculural prod
such as rubber and palm-oil milling, latex production
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ea factories, received government priority, together with
those which used a high proportion of local raw materials.
Industrial plants for saw-milling, furniture, textiles, leather-
goods, foods and beverages and the like were often on a very
modest scale. It was hoped that the industrialisation pro-
gramme would encourage the growth of domestic capital and
investment and, among other things, create perhaps a more
commercially-minded Malay middle class. Yet it seemed much
more likely that the role of the small and medium-scale
lentrepreneur and manufacturer might continue to be played
‘mainly by the Chinese.
Local refineries for petroleum products were a feature of
e modern economic scene in Malaya, with planning em-
phasis on the Port Dickson and Singapore areas. Electricity,
owever, promised to be the main single source of power,
d hydroelectric schemes in the Cameron Highlands were

Industrialisation, both in the Federation of Malaya and
in Singapore, still rested mainly on private investment, much
of the capital coming from foreign sources. Political stability
in the two countries and within the region generally was
eclearly a factor in attracting or stopping the flow of capital
mvestment. Even in the Federation the pressures of ur-
anisation and population-growth called for a stepping-up of
industrial programmes which went some way beyond the

stablished mining and processing industries and the newer,
ssentially light-industry complex centred largely round Kuala

mpur. In Singapore the need for new capital and new
Industry was desperately more urgent. The phased with-

awal of British forces from Singapore, announced in 1967,
Would throw at least 30,000 people directly on to the labour
market, while another 15,000 would lose their livelihood
Ndirectly, Meanwhile, 20,000 young people were looking for

eir first full-time jobs each year. Mr. Lee's message to his
People conveyed the idea of discipline, hard work and a touch
fausterity. A tightening-up on labour regulations abolished
our public holidays, introduced a shift system and cut out
Ome fringe benefits.
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Compensatory help offered by Britain to temper the eft
fects of British military withdrawal from Singapore could
at best a temporary palliative on the economic side and My,
Lee was clearly out to attract capital from wherever he could,
On the practical argument that the British had a traditiong]
habit of defending their investments he was open to offerg
from British organisations and, presumably, to a more
vourable review of the British military commitment. By
end of 1967, 22 per cent of the foreign investment in ‘pione
industries in Singapore was Japanese; Canada came n
with 14 per cent, then the U.S.A. with 13 per cent.
Malaysian share (10 per cent) was slightly larger than
British (9.7 per cent).

Capital and resources apart, a great need in both Malay
and Singapore, as elsewhere in developing countries, la;
the training and employing of peaple with managerial skills
In the Federation a National Productivity Centre (sponsors
by the government in co-operation with the United Nati
Special Fund and the International Labour Organisaf
was set up in Kuala Lumpur to act as a clearing-house
information on productivity work and problems and to
for management people already engaged in industry. At
same time larger industrial firms were encouraged to de
their own training facilities and to provide opportunities |
Malayan nationals to be promoted to higher executive pos
in management. In Singapore a Promotion Division
Economic Development Board was planning to introduct
industrial research unit which would undertake as p
its work training programmes in industrial managen
While there remained a shortage of Malayan ‘man
foreigners could still be usefully hired to fill this role
later stage the challenge of conveying some element
management expertise to the smaller industrial units mi
be attempted.

The economic effects of the Indonesian confron!
provided an unwelcome set-back to the economic Bro’
Malaya and Singapore. The main financial burdens |
defensive struggle against Indonesia were carried by B
Australia and New Zealand, but Indonesia’s ban ol &
with Malaysia during ‘Confrontation’ damaged the @
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mport-export trade between the two areas and stopped the
elting of Indonesian tin-ore in Malaysia, Malaya survived
hese losses better than might have been expected and ad-
usted with good balance to the economic losses of the
eparation of Singapore in 1965. Singapore was harder hit
v both situations, As an entrepat, Singapore felt very keenly
he enforced diversion of Ind: ian trade and the subs
jiscovery of cther outlets by Indonesians inevitably l:-d to
pme permanent loss in certain directions. The separation
fom Malaysia meant the loss of access to the customs union
nd common market which Singapore had so much hoped for
s part of the Malaysian scheme. There was also the pos-
ibility of further economic loss if Federation policy con-
entrated on the further development of its own port capaci-
es and sought ways and means of increasing the volume of
direct exports.

" There was still a vital need for a very great measure of
g-operation and understanding between the governments in
fuala Lumpur and in Singapore, and hardly less in the
gonomic than in the political field. For that matter, too, the
of greater economic co-operation within the wider region,
hich would include Indonesia and the Philippines, though
scured by recent events and hampered by difficulties, was
te still worth pursuing for the future of the States of
lalaysia and the future of Singapore. An Association of
uth-East Asian Nations (ASEAN), formed in August 1967,
nd consisting of Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines, Singa-
e and Thailand, represented a new attempt towards closer
sgional links; it was hardly helped by the renewed pri
Manila over Sabah in the following year. The
étic outside observer, at that time, could only hope that,
oner rather than later, enlightened self-interest would
evail in the region




Chapter 18

MALAYSIA AT HOME AND ABROAD
c. A.D. 1970-1990

1. Internal Politics

y the late 1960's there were serious questions of

ternal security and stability within Malaysia,

period of ‘confrontation’ with Indonesia (1963-66)

helped to bind together the new and, in some respects,
perienced Federation, but events were to show that poli
and social harmony were not to be taken for granted.
Penang, in November, 1967, there were serious riots
several days, following a 15 per cent devaluation of the
Straits dollar against the new Malaysian dollar. The St
dollar had been backed by reserves in sterling currency, whi
was itself being devalued at that time; there was, theref
some justification for the government's action. But ma
people were still holding Straits dollars, and especial
Penang, a former Straits Settlement. The nature of the ¥
lence in Penang came as a shock to the authorities there,
more so as it seemed to them that subversive elements
using what was already an emotive situation in an atte
to weaken the authority of both State and Federal govel
ment.
Less than (wo years later, in May, 1969, there we
serious racial riots in the Federal capital. This develops
followed the publication of the federal election results
that month. The Alliance Party, which had held office
tinually in Malaya and Mala
hut the voters had \hown some ~|;,m('|mnl and for 8
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e Alliance had won less than 50 per cent of the overall
seats in the federal parliament. The MCA (Malayan Chinese
Association), one of the three founder communal parties in
the Alliance, had won only 13 seats, as against the 24 which
had previously held. It seemed that the Chinese voters
ad substantially abandoned the MCA and one Opposition
party which made substantial gains was the Démocratic
Action Party (DAP), whose views were much in line with a
more integrated ‘Malaysian Malaysia' drive, an approach
thich had been publicly advocated earlier by Lee Kuan-Yew
f Singapore. The Pan-Malay Islamic Party also made gains
n the election, increasing its overall share of the vote to 24
per cent. Malays and Chinese seemed to be drifting away
om the Alliance and the MCA leadership announced that
its elected members would not accept Cabinet office in the
ew government. The DAP party was mainly Chinese in
nembership, and a smaller Chinese party, Gerakan, which
also enjoyed some electoral success was clearly going to join
in an Opposition role,

Victory celebrations, directed mainly against UMNO, took
place in the streets of Kuala Lumpur and these events were
joon countered by rallies on behalf of UMNO and the Alliance,
Provocations followed from both sides and serious violence
ollowed, with the situation quickly getting out of control, What
bllowed were four days of racial riots in the federal capital,
leaving hundreds dead and injured and much property des-
yyed. To restore order, the constitution was suspended and a
bate of emergency declared, a situation which continued for
he greater part of the next two years, until February, 1971.
the Kuala Lumpur riots were a terrible warning against the
gers inherent in any forms of interracial hostility and they
rovided a lesson to be remembered for a long time. Legislation
lating to sensitive political matters, such as the special rights
alays and the statusoftraditional Malay Rulers, was passed
this time, together with a ban on certain types of public
eetings and public discussions, which might, from now, be
garded as seditious, As the immediate situation came under
Ontrol, Tunku Abdul Rahman retired (1970) from the office of
Fime Minister, making way for the younger Tun Abdul Razak,
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who had been his Deputy in UMNO and in government and
had played a leading part in combating the Communist ingy,
rection several years earlier.

1t was a difficult time for a new Prime Minister to
office. The case for stable government in Malaysia had b
made even clearer by a policy of British military withdra
from the Malaysian region, which had been announced
1967. A British military presence had been agreed at th
time of Malayan independence and extended later to appl
to Malaysia. In the treaty, a clause had acknowledged
concept of a Commonwealth Strategic Reserve which woulg
enable Australian and New Zealand forces to be m:
available for Malaysian defence, but Britain's own comn
ment under the Anglo-Malayan Defence and Mutual A 4
sistance Treaty (1957, extended to Malaysia, 1963)
certainly coming under question. At a London Confere
(April, 1971) attended by representatives from Malaysi
Singapore, Australia, New Zealand and the United Ki
dom, it was, however, decided to continue to station foi
after 1971 for the defence of Malaysia and Singapore, 8
acknowledgement of Malaysia’s immediate concern.

To fill the gap caused by the absence of constituf
government, Tun Razak set up a National Operations Cour
and a National Council, both to tighten internal security
to help plan policy changes. From these deliberations
the announcement (19711 of a New Economic Policy;
implemented over a 20-year period. Its stated obje
included the eradication of poverty in Malaysia and the
equable sharing of the country's wealth by special measit
to protect and improve the position of the Malays and 0
indigenous peoples. (bumiputras, or ‘sons of the soil')

Among other changes this meant government policié
achieve a substantial participation by Malays i
industry and eommerce and, partly, this was to be a
through public enterprises or corporations acting on
behalf. The Malay language, Bahasa Malaysia, was:
maore widely installed as the language of instruction:
levels of education. Other measures, soon to be imple
emphasised support for the Malay community and !
to protect some aspects of their traditionz' Ay of li
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sitive issues relating to the powers and status of the Sultans
ere removed from public debate, together with citizenship
rights, Malay special rights and the status of Islam as the
fficial religion of Malaysia. Yet a balance had to be struck
to accommodate non-Malay interests and to ensure a strong
place for Chinese business acumen in the nation’s economic
growth. In the early 1970's Chinese capital owned 36 per
gent. of the share capital in the limited companies of com-
mercial and industrial firms based in the Malay Peninsula,
or West Malaysia as the region was now known. Less than
2 per cent of such shares was held by Malay capital and it
as part of the government’s plans to increase this proportion
to 30 per cent within a period of twenty years.

Another balance which needed to be struck was that
etween foreign investment, necessary for the development
d strengthening of the Malaysian economy, and a fair
return for the use of the natural, and other, resources of the
ountry engaged in any particular project; this is discussed
Jater in the Chapter. In terms of Malaysia’s political parties,
the greatest change in the early 1970's was the creation of
g broad-based national government known as the National
ont (Barisan National, or BN). This brought together a
arge number of parties (12 and, later, 13, but the number
yaried from time to time) as new partners in government
ith the original Alliance group and it represented a move
pwards consensus politics, leaving only a small, variable
mmber of parties recognised as ‘Opposition’. On the Chinese
side, Abdul Razak included two MCA members in his Cabi-
et w1Lhm a yoﬂr of the cndmg of Lhe mnsmullunal cri

nder I}w umhrellﬂ of the National I"runt., The muin]_\' ('hines(-
lemocratic Action Party, (DAP), was the most significant
Shinese political group preferring to stay outside of the
ational Front, which all but three of the existing political
ties had joined by 1973.

In the Federal elections of 1974, the National Front gained
ore than three-quarters of the seats in the Federal Parlia-
ent and 284 seats out of 314 in the State Assemblies. These
Esults were seen as a vindication of Tun Razak's ‘broad
ont' policy, as a result of which differences between the
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‘member parties could be debated within a loose partnerghy,
rather than seen as attacks on the goverfiment of the
In Sabah and Sarawak support for the ruling coalition ;
Western Malaysia, first the Alliance and then the Natig
Front, was less in evidence. In elections held in these
States in 1970 on 23 out of a total of 40 Federal seats
won for the UMNO-led federal government. Six years
the Berjaya (Sabah Peoples’ Union) party held nearly t;
thirds of the State seats in Sabah, but the Sarawak Natior
Party which had regularly taken an Opposition stand
nounced that it was joining the National Front at both St
and Federal level. This brought Sarawak much more i
line with the ruling coalition in Kuala Lumpur, but
Borneo-located States were liable to show sharp fluctuatior
in political loyalties and both time and patience would
needed for their further assimilation into Malaysia as a who

One aspect of the politics of the early 1970’s was ¢
creation, in April 1973, of a Federal city and Federal territi
in the Kuala Lumpur area. This was put forward on
model of much larger federations, such as the United S
of America and Australia, where Washington D.C.
Canberra, respectively, provided historical case-studies
the seat of federal government identified separately from |
territory of any of the main States in the Federation.
change in Malaysia followed discussions with the Sull
Selangor, in whose State Kuala Lumpur had been sited
its 19th century origins. To complete the new formula, it
agreed that the State capital of Selangor should move
Shah Alam.

Through the 1970's and into the early 1980's, the
trade of Malaysia’ was buoyant and the National Econt
Poliey had some suceesses to show in the promotion of M
i , the Malays were becoming
urbanised and the Malay shdre in the capital of limited €
panies operating in Malaysia had risen very creditably.
and plantations had increasingly passed to Mal
ownership, yet this was not all promising for the futuré
tin and rubber were soon to be in difficulties in the
markets, and other commodities, such as oil palm W
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face sharply falling prices. Before discussing the economy in
nore detail, it would be convenient, first of all, to outline the
ttern of Malaysian politics in the later years of 1970s, and
hrough the following decade.
Tun Abdul Razak, who had fought bravely against serious
fliness for some years, died in London in January, 1976,
aged 53. He was succeeded as Prime Minister of Malaysia by
tuk Hussein Onn, a son of Dato Onn bin Ja’afar, who had
punded UMNO thirty years earlier. Datuk Hussein had heen
Minister, and then Deputy Prime Minister, in Tun Razak’s
Babinet and he was closely identified with Razak's policies
f sustaining a broad-front coalition at home and supporting
he current ASEAN! concept of a non-aligned Peace Zone in
outh East Asia. Although Hussein's term of office as Prime
Minister and President of UMNO (the two roles went together
o long as UMNO was the dominant partner in a coalition
sovernment) was relatively short, (1976-1981), it was far from
meventful, as he faced a number of challeng He also
appeared as the first Malaysian Prime Minister to attend an
\SEAN Heads of Governments’ meeting, at Bali, early in
976.
Early on, there were some security problems for Hussein’s
dministration. Even before he took office, Communisi
sses in Vietnam had spurred Communist-led guerilla
fivities in the Malay Peninsula and there were a number of
jous incidents, including ambushes and the use of bombs,
jith a subsequent death-toll. The government of North Viet-
am declared itself willing to give active support to all in-
Burgency movements in non-communist countries, an an-
buncement which Datuk Hussein found ‘very regrettable’,
ointing out that ASEAN had extended the hand of friend-
hip to all States within the former Indo-China area. During
976 Malaysia signed agreements with the Thai government.
action against Communist guerillas in the border areas
Btween the two countries, where guerilla camps under
mmunist control had existed since 1961. By November,
6, joint military operations with Thai forces were in
ess in south Thailand and 3,000 Malaysian troops were

1 Association of South Eaxt Asian Nations
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said to be involved. Off and on, these actions continued
the following July, when the situation became calmer. This
was partly due to military success and partly, perhaps, to g
change of policy from the new united Vietnamese govepn
ment in Hanoi, which began to take a more diplomatic lipg
with its South East Asian neighbours. 1
Shortly after this, there was a small-scale, but sensi
constitutional crisis in the State of Kelantan. The PMIP (Pg
Malayan Islamic Party) had held the majority of the Kelantan
Assembly seats since 1959, but it had ruled the State
partnership with the Alliance Party since 1973, when it joi
the National Front. This partnership was challenged
Kelantan in 1977 when PMIP members secured a vote of’
confidence’ in the Chief Minister of the State, having rec
expelled him from party membership. There followed violen
in the interests of security. The State constitution was sus
pended and a state of emergency declared in Kelantan, n
placed under direct federal rule, with a ‘Director of
Kelantan Government' appointed by the Malaysian P
Minister. Extra police were drafted into the State but,
about three months, the federal authorities considered
situation sufficiently settled to allow Kelantan to retus
normal, State elections being held in March, 1978.
Before Datuk Hussein handed over the Malaysian
miership to his Deputy and successor, Dr Mahathir
Mohamed, in July, 1981, two quite different types of
munal activism had revealed themselves. In 1978, Muslil
extremist groups were attracting support from young Mal
and there was evidence of an anti-materialist groi
seeking the destruction of features of modern life; amok
other slogans the traditional role of Muslim women, inclu
the taking of purdah, was being advocated. Another fé
of the period was a serious outburst of attacks on
temples, with extremist Muslim youths allegedly taking|
In the following year a Chinese education issue was
on the grounds that the New Economic Policy, alw
tended to improve opportunities for the Malay comm
was now providing a very large proportion of higher educ
places for Malays. As a counter-measure, a Chinese P!
sought government support for an independent (‘Merdek
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Fhinese university, an idea which did not appeal to the
ederal government!, cautious enough not to take a position
it until the 1978 federal elections:

Whatever the various sectional feelings on one issue or
nother, the results of the 1978 Federal elections showed
at was to become an increasingly familiar pattern, though
vith differences of detail. In a House of Representatives
nlarged to 154 seats, the National Front Coalition won 131
ats and only the largely Chinese DAP, with 16 seats, showed
uch strength in Opposition. The PMIP (Parti Islam se
laysia) secured only five federal seats. Under Prime
nister Hussein it seemed that the National Front and, in
ticular, UMNO, had been left in a strong position and ten
sars were to pass, marked by some internal divisions, be-
support for the ruling coalition would be in any way
gnificantly reduced.

Dr Mahathir, born in Kedah and trained for the medical
ofession in Singapore, became Prime Minister in July, 1981,
succession to Datuk Hussein, who, for health reasons, did
jot seek to continue. Mahathir had long been a member of
IMNO and had held ministerial posts under both Razak
d Hussein, becoming Deputy Prime Minister from 1976.
came to high office, therefore, with much political ex-
erience, enthusiasm for the National Economic Policy and
economic development generally, especially through the
ncouragement of industrialisation. Like his immediate
redecessors he was inclined towards the further ‘centrali-
tion of government in Malaysia and to the building-up of
gonomic relationships in the South East Asian region and
istwards beyond. He was unfortunate in that, within a very
years, the Malaysian economy suffered some severe
backs though trade recession, falling prices of export
bmmodities and, by 1985, the virtual collapse of Malaya's
d staple export, tin. He was, therefore, obliged at times to
lodify economic plans to match the realities of a changing
tion. One symptom of these changes was the recognition,
1983, that Malaysia had a balance of payments problem

this time there were five institutions with upiversity status i Malaysia,
o more added 1n the 1980's
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instead of a healthy income surplus which could be applj
to development projects. There was to be no quick rem,
for some of these concerns but, by mid-1987, there were s
signs of recovery as commodity prices improved and for
investment in Malaysian enterprises began to respond migy
favourably to investment and ownership regulations whig
had been relaxed.

Meanwhile, the National Front, and especially the
party, continued to be dominant. In April 1982, the F
won 132 out of the 154 seats in the federal elections and
out of the 312 seats in the elections for the State assembl
The main Opposition party, DAP, had only 9 seats in th
federal parliament, 4 less than in 1978; the Islamic PMIP
PAS) party, also currently in opposition, won only 5 s
and the remaining 8 went to Independents, some of whon
had formerly been members of the Berjaya party in Sab
The elections had been run in a fairly restrictive atmosphere
Outdoor public rallies had been banned and attendance
indoor meetings was by invitation only. It was alleged
the State-owned public broadcasting media and the larg
pro-government press had weighted publicity in favour
the government and Mr Lim Kit Siang, leader of the Oppi
sition, said afterwards that, while he was shocked at th
losses made by his (DAP) party, he thought the elections!
been ‘undemocratic’. Dr Mahathir countered this charge
the view that the National Front’s election victories W
due to ‘a new understanding among the electorate of
the National Front stands for' and to the cooperation of’
11 parties in the Front. Overall, UMNO had 70 seats,
24, Gerakan (ethnic Chinese and centred in Penang) &
MIC 4. The East Malaysian parties which won seats, all
them within the National Front, were Berjaya, Sabah,
10 seats and three parties in Sarawak with 19 seats bet
them. The Islamic Party (having been expelled from
National Front in 1977) won 4 seats in Kelantan and o
Kedah.

The election victories of UMNO and the National
in 1982 created a strong position for the federal govern
and its new Prime Minister, who was soon taking uP
energetic leadership role, In 1983, he raised a serious €0
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ational question through a Constitutional Amendments Bill,
thich was to be never far away from the political limelight
for five months, August 1983 to January, 1984. The proposals
snvisaged transferring to the Prime Minister the power to
declare a national state of emergency (a power held by the

ang-di-Pertuan Agong, or Chief Ruler of Malaysia). They
50 provided for federal legislation to become law 15 days
fter it had been passed in Parliament, removing the existing
equirement for the Chief Ruler’s consent. This latter pro-
dision was also intended to apply to legislation passed in
State Assemblies. Datuk Mahathir asserted that these
imendments were put forward simply in order to ‘stream-
ine’ Malaysian democracy and that they simply codified
xisting constitutional practice.
" This was not the view of the Chief Ruler, or of any of the
ultans. They claimed that the proposals were unconstitu-
onal and that legislation passed after the 1969 racial riots
de it both seditious and unconstitutional to reduce the
er of the Chief Ruler (sometimes referred to as the ‘king’)
thout his consent. Moreover, their position and dignity as
tulers were considered to be insulted by proposals under
ch they would become more figurehead monarchs. This
whole issue was brought increasingly to public attention by
Media coverage. Tunku Abdul Rahman, Malaya’s (and Ma-
a’s) first Prime Minister made known his opposition to
his Amendments Bill, declaring that it was opening the way
o republicanism and placing too much power in the hands
of the Prime Minister. Public rallies on both sides took place.
ile it was evident that Mahathir did not lack support, it
was also evident that there still existed strong sentiments of
alty to the Sultans.

For a period of several months the whole of the parlia-
ntary procedures for passing legislation were held up while
his controversy remained unresolved. Eventually, a compro-

was reached. The issues relating to the declaration of
ational emergency were dropped and the focus sharpened,
88 it was always going to, on legislation and the royal assent.
the new amendment, a delaying process was introduced,
ereby the Chief Ruler had 30 days in which to approve
sislation or to return it to Parliament with his objections.
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If bills were approved on a second reading, they would be-.
come law within one month, even without royal assent. Money
bills were exempl,ed from the new provision. The ‘constity.
tional erisis’ had appeared tense enough at times, but, by the
time of the next federal elections in 1986, it seemed to haye
lost any major political impact. Certainly, there were othep
considerations and distractions to take its place.

The National Front won another impressive victory in
the Federal elections of 1986, winning 148 out of the (no
177 seats. Among the parties which last seats was the Islam
Party, thought to have moved too much in a ‘fundamentali;
direction, and the MCA which had been going through
period of serious internal divisions, On the other hand,
DAP party, mainly Chinese, but multiracial, received i
proved and also made gains in the State Assemblies,
growing economic recession, strains in Sabah and Sarawa
and rifts within the National Front itself, and even with
UMNO, soon took attention away from the results of &l
elections. The DAP party had been calling for the abolit
of the National Economic Policy (NEP) and, separately, fallin
export prices and sluggish investment caused the governm
to make adjustments. Emphasis was to be given to the grow
rather than the communal restructuring aspect of the
and the conditions were eased for foreign participation in
Malaysian economy, in an effort to attract further capi
Dr Mahathir, meanwhile, faced a challenge to his Presi
of UMNO, when Datuk Musa Hitam, the UMNO Deput
President, resigned and supported another candidate for #
Presidency, Tunku Razaleigh Hamzah. Mahathir was
elected President, but with a smaller majority, and he pI
ceeded to strengthen his position in the Cabinet, but &
had now occurred in UMNO, one which would form a cent
political issue for the next few years. d

This was an uneasy period, marked by charges @
counter-charges and rumours of financial scandal and gové
ment corruption. Many of the troubles of the time lay !
UMNO rather than outside of the party, but there was
also in an issue (in 1987) concerning Chinese education,
up by the DAP party. It was alleged that a prﬂM
developing of appointing non-Mandarin speaking Pri
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to Chinese-medium primary schools and that this arose from
a shortage of qualified Mandarin speakers for the posts;
\without remedy, this was seen as an attack on Chinese-
‘medium education.

The UMNO quarrels reached crisis point, in February,
1988, when, in response to allegations, the Malaysian High
Court ruled that UMNO was an illegal party because a
number of branches which had taken part in elections had
ot been legally registered. Undeterred by this ruling, Dr
ahathir created and registered a ‘new' UMNO party, UMNO
ru, leaving those party members who were unwilling to
make the move and follow him to be regarded as the rem-
nants of the ‘old’, and ‘illegal’ party. The outcome was the
creation (May, 1989) of an UMNO ‘splinter’ party, titled
iSemangat '46’, or ‘spirit of ‘46', indicating a sense of conti-
nuity with the year in which UMNO had first been formed,
1946. At what was now a very late stage in his life (his death
occurred in December, 1990) Tunku Abdul Rahman made
known his support for the Semangat group.

In the 1990 Federal elections the National Front (BN)
coalition faced a coalition of Opposition parties, led by
Razaleigh Hamzah, leader of Semangat 46, and including
both the DAP and the Malay Islamic PAS parties. The ruling
government group held its position, but the overall number
of Opposition seats increased from 37 to 53 in a House of
Representatives now increasing to 180 members, Once again,
Mahathir was re-elected as President of UMNO. BN
sovernments were formed in all Peninsular States, except
Kelantan.

Malaysia, now more than 25 years old, had, in recent
Years especially, become a much more centralised country,
even allowing for the geographical and other factors which
nade the integration of the peninsula with Sabah and
Barawak a slow process. The greater integration of its main
facial communities remained still a task for wise states-
Manship and good judgement. Much the same could be said
b relation to Malaysia's international economy, facing, as
llways, the fluctuations of a changing world of supply and
nand. In international politics, Malaysia had achieved a
osition of dignity and respect, taking an early and continu-
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ing role in policies for security and cooperation in South East
Asia and beyond. It was a matter for congratulation that in
October 1988, Malaysia was elected to one of the places for
non-permanent membership of the Security Council at, the
United Nations.

2. The Malaysian Economy

A whole continuous series of government five-year pla
had been issued since the first and second Malayan plang
(1956-60 and 1961-65) and the first Malaysian plan (19 -
70). In the 1970's and 1980%, five more Malaysian pla
followed at five-yearly intervals, the sixth plan in 19
On a broader front, the New Economic Policy, annous
with the restoration of the constitution in 1971, pro
the guidelines for the Federal government. for twenty years
to be followed (1991) by a New Development Policy.
emphasis in all this planning varied from time to ti
but a number of overall aims can be readily identified,
greater Malaysian share was sought, both in the o
sation and runner of the economy and in the profits
other material benefits to be gained from it. Specifical
government legislation has been aimed at an incre:
participation in economic affairs, including investment a
share-holding in commerce and industry, on the part
the Malay community and other peoples considered to
indigenous to the territories of Malaysia, and referred #
collectively as bumiputras. In the further economic
velopment of Malaysia foreign investment was to be @
couraged, but also controlled and regulated. Trade
countries within the South East Asian region was to b
stimulated (see below on ASEAN) through tariff and of
agreements. As a major strategy for the achievement
economic growth, virtually all the planning, from the secon

more industrial development,

Throughout most of the 1970's the Malaysian econt
was sustained by good prices for most of the country’s
export commodities and also the rapid growth of the
leum industry. There were still some concerns for the
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however, as the tin industry was already in decline and rural
development schemes, which called for a constant input of
energy and material resources, could not always be expected
to produce quick results. Peninsular Malaysia had long been
dependent, upon imported rice for an adequate supply of its
- staple food. Government aid schemes, stemming especially
from the initiatives taken by Tun Razak, and including ir-
rigation work, the supply of fertilisers and extended land-
~ use, still left the country well short of self-sufficiency. Among
the regional agreements made in Kuala Lumpur in 1977 was
one for the sharing of petroleum and rice among ASEAN
member countries in the event of annual shortages; it in-
dicated an on-going concern for rice imports on the part of
Malaysia and Singapore.

Generally, however, the 1970's were good years for the
Malaysian export economy and the Federal government had
tried (1977) to protect the tin industry by cuts in taxes and
export duties and by making direct contributions to the In-
ternational Tin Council on behalf of Malaysian companies.
But a combination of decreasing world demand, the selling
of stock-piles elsewhere in the world and problems with old
tin-workings brought tin production in Malaysia down to a
very low figure. The London tin market collapsed in 1985
and, five years later, exports of Malaysian tin scarcely
amounted to 2 per cent of the value of the country's total
export trade. When a government budget, in 1991, abolished
export duties on tin and rubber, it seemed that the end of an
era had arrived. Only thirty years earlier, tin export duty in
Malaya (as it then was) had varied between 10 and 15 per
~cent, and rubber export duty between 4 and 15 per cent,
‘both on a scale according to prices. There had also been a 30
per cent government levy on company profits in both com-
Mmodities. (see Chapter 11},

Markets and prices were creating real difficulties in the
‘early 1980's for rubber and oil-palm from the Malay Peninsula
and timber from the East Malaysian territories. By the years
1983-1985, the word ‘slump’ was being used to describe the
Malaysian economy and the adverse balance of payments, as
the value of imports quickly exceeded the value of exports.
An increasing budget deficit had to be financed by external
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borrowing and only rapid growth could offer any hope for
reaching targets set by the New Economic Policy. In the
event, much had to be scaled down, with some of the re.
structuring objectives of the Policy shelved or reduced in
favour of a greater emphasis on economic growth. This growth
called for more investment from foreign sources and the
relaxation of some of the conditions by which it was governed.
A delicate balance was required, by which terms for foreign
investment were attractive enough to foster large capital
enterprises, but which would still leave open a fair return
for the Malaysian government and, where possible, Malaysian
investors.

Already, in 1981, investment was being sought for heavy
industry and petro-chemicals and, five years later, manu-
facturing industry featured prominently in the government's
economic plans, together with a revitalisation of agriculture,
with the aim of improved productivity. Improvements in
public works, roads and railways, telecommunications,
electricity, airports and shipping were also in the plans, many
of these open for privatisation programmes. Meanwhile,
government efforts had been made to increase the Malay (or
Bumiputra) presence in the holding of share capital in firms
investing in Malaysia. A Bumiputra Investment Corporation,
set up in 1978 gave the Federal government the legal status
to purchase shares in public companies and establish unit
trusts which could be opened to small investors. By another
scheme Malays were encouraged to hold shares in banking,
mining and plantation companies, with bank loans made
available for the purpose. It was estimated, in 1981, that the
bumiputra share in Malaysia's corporate wealth had risen t0
more than 12 per cent.

A real boost to the Malaysian economy was provided by
developments in the production of crude mineral oil and as-
sociated natural gas. A Shell Company had been long es:
tablished in Sarawak, close to the border with Brunei, B_ndj
another Company, Exxon, d off-shore exploration.
for oil in Sabah waters and off the east coast of Peninsular
Malaya. To deal with external developers of this kind the
Malaysian government set up a national corporation, (Petras),
and prepared special legislation. Negotiations were often
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protracted. Because of the nature of the work, the large capital
sums ‘involved, together with the introduction of specialist
technology and technical stall, the oil companies sought long-
term agreements. For its part, the Malaysian corporation
looked for the best business deal it could achieve in view of
the exploitation of the country's natural resources. In April,
1975, the Federal government passed a Petroleum De-
velopment (Amendment) Bill to serve as a broad regulator,
but external developers thought that the Bill contained a
possible prospect of nationalisation of the oil industry without
the assurance of compensation for themselves. Quite shortly,
part of the Bill was repealed and the nature of new agree-
ments between the government corporation and the ail
companies could be seen in the public details of contracts
which followed.

In one contract, the specified period was 20 years for oil
and 34 years for natural gas. The participating companies
would be able to regard 20 per cent of the income from the
project as production costs, while a further 10 per cent would
be regarded as royalties and divided between the government
corporation and the government of the State where the de-
velopment took place. Remaining profits i oil and in gas
would be shared in proportions of 70 per cent to the govern-
ment and 30 per cent to a producing company. Beyond this,
the oil firm would make payments towards research and
discovery work and pay additional levies if production and
sales bonuses reached certain level. The Malaysian govern-
ment's Minister of Economic Affairs at the time, Tan Sri
Chong, expressed the hope that investors, both local and
foreign, would feel assured that the government ‘was intent
on engendering an investment climate that would bring about
mutual benefits to the investors as well as to the country, on
the basis of shared participation’.

In another transaction (1978) between the government
agency and two producing companies, one Western, the other
Japanese, a period of 25 years was covered for the setting-
up and use of a large liquified gas plant in Sarawak. Tankers
of the Malaysian International Shipping Corporation (another
development for the industry) were to transport the gas from
the plant. The Malaysian government, ready to maintain a
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free-enterprise, capitalist economy was also operating as a
national agency in major commercial and industrial develop.
‘ments. Meanwhile, as noted below, government Ministers in
five (six from 1984) South East Asian countries were exp]ﬂﬁngi
the possibilities of helping each other's economy, but there
was one set-back for Malaysia when the Malaysian dollar:
(ringgit) had to suffer a depreciation of 14.2 per cent, i
1986, as against Malaysia's main trading partners in the
region,
Changes which had been taking place in recent years
were evident in the figures for exports from Malaysia
1990. In terms of money values manufactured goods easily
topped the list, followed by crude petroleum and a number,
of much smaller values, as shown.

Chief Exports From Malaysia, 1990
(In terms of millions, Malaysian dollars)

Manufactured goods 26,352
Crude petroleum 10,190
Palm Oil 4,312
Rubber 3,128
Saw Logs 4,200
Liquified Natural Gas 2,427
Tin 800
Cocoa 451
Total 51,860

Source: Keesings, 1991

The exports were reportedly going out mainly thros
Singapore, with America and Japan the two most signifi
destinations.

Imports in the same year consisted of machini
transport and equipment, (60 per cent of the total), folloy
by manufactured goods, food, beverages and tobacco, toge!
with some crude petroleum and related products. Thes.e Vi
chiefly from Japan, U.S.A.,, and Singapore. Malaysia !
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f
I
|
|
!
| many other trading partners in each direction, including
Britain with a small share.
For the same year, 1990, manufacturing industry could
be seen as the largest single contributor to Malaysia's Gross
Domestic Product (GDP). In all, manufacturing made up 26.6
per cent of GDP and employed more than a million people.
Road improvements also contributed to economic growth. Pe-
ninsular Malaysia became able to provide 25,000 miles of
public roads, a small part of which was an 8-mile road bridge
between Penang Island and the mainland, opened in 1985,
Agriculture, forestry and fisheries still provided occupations
for nearly two million people and made up, in commercial
terms, 19.4 per cent of GDP, the products including fruit,
tobacco, cocoa, rubber and palm-oil. The output from mining
sincluded iron-ore, bauxite and copper, as well as tin, and
represented 9.8 per cent of GDP. By this time there had
been a modest recovery in Malaysia’s balance of payments
situation, with a significantly reduced current account deficit.
Tourism was an interesting and remarkable growth area
- and more than seven million tourists visited Malaysia in
11990, In the light of the changes which had taken place in
Malaysia's economy since the 1960's, the pace of future change
does not seem readily predictable. But Dr Mahathir's govern-
‘ment was at least showing optimism when the New De-
velopment Policy of 1991 was said to be intended as the first
stage towards making Malaysia a developed country by the
year AD 2020.

3. Association of South East Asian States (ASEAN)

By the late 1960s the pressure of immediate external
threats against Malaysia was much reduced, but relation-
ships with both Indonesia and the Philippines remained

rained. In August, 1967, the foreign ministers of Malaysia,
Singapare, Indonesia, the Philippines and Thailand met and
agreed, in a Bangkok Declaration, to establish an Association
of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN), It was a peace keeping
dnitiative, aimed, first of all, as part of the settlement ending
!bonfron(,ation' between Indonesia and Malaysia. The claim
'
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to Sabah made by the Philippines was, as yet, neither dropped
nor settled, but the new regional grouping provided the op.
portunity for calmer discussion and, very shortly, the Sabah
issue was at least being played down.

The initial aims of ASEAN were modest enough, reflecting.
as they did the uncertainties of the time. The participating
States were ready to consult together, both within their own
region and on matters of concern outside of their national
boundaries. Among other issues, there were signs that the
United States might soon disengage from the conflict in
Vietnam and seek a new understanding with China. There
was also some anxiety that militant Communism might seek
further expansion in South East Asia. Arrangements within
ASEAN began in very simple fashion and the style of meetings
was marked by caution. It was agreed that an annual meeting
of foreign ministers should be held in the member States on
a rotating basis, while a standing committee of ‘ambassadors’
would be chaired by the foreign minister of the host country..
Each member State was to provide an ASEAN secretari;
within its own Foreign Office to service the standing com-
mittee, and, in turn, prepare the business for the annual
meetings of the foreign ministers. An early indication of the
spirit of these meetings lay in a resolution of 1971 to seek,
in South East Asia, a ‘Regional Zone of Peace, Freedom and.
Neutrality’ and prevent the region from becoming a batﬂ' !
ground for the great Powers.

The Heads of Governments within ASEAN did not
until February, 1976, when the venue was Bali. In tim
much of the agenda of ASEAN meetings was related
economic matters, but the original motivation of the Associ
tion was political rather than economic and, at the B
meeting, a Treaty of Amity and Cooperation was signi
obliging each member State to strengthen its national secu
and promote ‘national resilience’, Within the grouping
appointment of a ‘High Council’ was recommended, to
with disputes and even act as a conciliator, with 1
agreement of the parties in confliet.

At the next Heads of Governments' meeting the
anniversary (1977) of ASEAN was noted and Kuala Lul
was the host city. Though there were not, as yet, méal



Malaysia at Home and Abroad 67

tangible results from the work of this loosely-united group,
it was, perhaps, an achievement in itself that its arrange-
ments were still in good working order. ASEAN was also
attracting more interest from outside the region and the Prime
Ministers of Japan, Australia and New Zealand were in
attendance at Kuala Lumpur, together with ‘observers' from
China and the Soviet Union. Mr. Lee Kuan-Yew, Prime
Minister of Singapore, warned the meeting that South East
Asia could no longer rely on the protection of the United
States, which was planning a ‘phased withdrawal’ of ground
troops from South Korea, President Marcos of the Philippines
stated his government’s intention to renounce its claim to
Sabah in the interests of good-will and cooperation within
ASEAN. To match this statement, agreement was reached
between Malaysia and the Philippines for joint border patrols
to prevent the smuggling of arms or drugs to and from Sabah
and the Philippines Republic.

Among the agreements on economic matters, the mem-
ber States negotiated tariff reductions on 71 products traded
between the five countries and pledged cooperation to attempt
both to extend trade interests outside the area and to en-
courage investment in their region, all in accordance with
their national plans. Japanese Prime Minister Fukuda made
his contribution by announcing that his government would
consider favourably a request for a loan of 1000 million U.S.
dollars for the implementation of five ASEAN industrial
projects; at the same time, he offered improved access to
Japanese markets. He followed this, whilst still in Kuala
Lumpur, by a separate undertaking to Malaysian P.M., Datuk
Hussein, for a loan of 80 million U.S. dollars to help promote
Malaysia’s third Five-year plan (1976-80). Australia and New
Zealand also offered aid packages to, and general cooperation
with, ASEAN. During a separate visit to Manila, P.M. Fukuda
defined his government’s proposed role in South East Asia.
dJapan, he said, was determined to remain a pacifist nation
and to contribute to the peace and prosperity of the world
and the creation of mutual trust as true friends in various
fields. Further, he promised positive cooperation with ASEAN
as equal partners and the establishment of relations between
dapan and the three Communist-ruled countries of Indo-
China
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A further ‘summit’ meeting of ASEAN did not take
place until December, 1987, but, meanwhile, the annual
meetings of Ministers were held and the group was pleased
to welcome Brunei as a new member in January 1984,
Mostly, discussion centred round economic development and
a regional irdustrialisation programme involving discussions
outside the region, notably with the EEC!. The Ministers
agreed in principle that China and India could be appointed
‘dialogue members' and considered that Vietnam and Laos
should accede to the Treaty of Amity and Cooperation as
a first step towards full ASEAN membership. Cambodia
should also be invited, following elections and the formation:
of a new government there. The 1987 Heads of Govern-
ment meeting was held in Manila, with the Sultan of
Brunei di ] ide Presidents and Prime ]
Opening speeches stressed the need for cooperation in the
region, the Association's call, made earlier, for a nuclea
free zone and a political solution to the Kampuchean
problem, The member states signed a Manila Declaration,
promising to maintain their solidarity and cooperation
under all cireumstances; Asian regionalism, it was agres
had become more vital than ever for South East Asia.
number of economic agreements were signed on tari
arrangements, ASEAN industrial joint ventures and
protection of intra-ASEAN investments.

Attending this meeting as a ‘dialogue partner’, the Prin
Minister of Japan, Mr. Noburu Takashita, expressed his
support for ASEAN and for the initiatives being taken:
seek a political solution for the Kampuchean conflict. Goil
further, he apologised for Japan's activities in South
Asia during the Second World War, asserting that Jaj
‘would not become a military power again'. By the late 1980
the nature and size of the attendance at these ‘summi
meetings of ASEAN — and even of the annual meeti
the Foreign Ministers — were drawing widespread attentic
to the organisation. The number of ‘dialogue partners’
included Australia, Canada, the EEC, Japan, New Zealan
and USA, and other countries were still being proposed:

Snrapean Economic Commninity
name, Cambodia, was restored Lo its territory
1984,

by a new constituti
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It was a matter of general concern, in 1991, that the
United States was withdrawing support for the seating of
the ‘rebel’ national government of Cambodia at the United
Nations and appeared ready to enter into dialogue with
Vietnam. The wider question of the retention of American
military bases in South East Asia caused some tension within
ASEAN and both Malaysia and Indonesia (to a lesser extent)
expressed concern to Singapore about an agreement (No-
vember, 1991) which provided for increased United States’
use of Singapore military facilities. From Singapore came a
proposal for an ‘economic triangle’ between Johore State
(Malaysia), Singapore and the Riau district of Indonesia. The
Philippines and the United States entered into negotiations
concerning Clark Naval Air Base in Subic Bay. The regular
emphasis on cooperation within ASEAN certainly did not
preclude the raising of matters of particular interest to me
or other of the individual member governments.

A fourth ‘summit’ meeting was held in Singapore in
January, 1992. An ‘Asian Free Trade Area' between the
“six member states was now being envisaged, starting with

a ‘Common Effective Preferential Tariff from 1993. Pre-
ferences would apply to manufactures and processed agri-
cultural products and capital goods, but not to agricul-
|tural raw materials. The Malaysian Prime Minister put
forward a plan for an ‘Bast Asian Economic Caucus’ and
| this was referred for committee investigation. Dr Mahathir's
plan reflected his thinking on further economic associations
with countries to the east of Malaysia. In what was
sometimes termed his ‘Look East Policy’, Mahathir regarded
Japan and South Korea as more relevant examples, or
models, for Malaysian economic development than the
historically-based Western orientation. He was quoted as
saying that, while not opposed to new British investments
in Malaysia, there must not be preferences for it. In the
early 1990's, investment prospects for developments in
South East Asia were not readily predictable and the same
could be said of further aid packages. A sharp drop in
foreign investments in Malaya (1991) affected some of the
projects approved by Japan and Taiwan. If there was a
Mmessage here, it was that it could only be prudent for the
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member states of ASEAN to try to promote as much self.
help as possible within themselves and their region,

1969-71

1970
1971

1974
1976
1981

1985
1988/89

1967

1977

1984
1986
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DATES OF EVENTS

MALAYSIA

Malaysian Constitution suspended following racial riots, Kuala

Lumpur.

Tun Abdul Razak Prime Minister, I

Ruling Alliance Party extends coalition to form National Fr”ii

(Barisan Nasional, or BN). g

National Front (12 Parties) wma Fodcml elections and t}m
ones until 1990,

Diplomatic relations, Malaysia - Chmu 7

Death of Tun Razak. Datuk Hussein Onn Prime Minister.

Datuk Seri Mahathir Prime Minister.

London Tin Market collapse.

UMNO 'split’, between UMNO Baru and Semangal ‘46,

ASEAN

Malaysia, Singapore, Tndanesia, Thailand and Philippines fors
SEAN

First Heads of Governments’ meeting, Bali. Treaty of Amity
Cooperation.

Heads of Govermments' meeting, (10th anniversary) Ki
Lumpur.

Brunei joins ASEAN.

ASEAN opposed to Vietnamese aceupation of Kampuchea (
bodia).



Malaysia at Home and Abroard 471

MALAYSIA. POPULATION-GROWTH, 1970-1990

Year Population

|
1970 10,439,430
1980 13,435 888
1984 14.900,000*
1990 17,4900,000%

*Estimated

Year Book Sources

Note. In general, modern governmen Malaysia have et the challenge
of at least matching cconomic growth (o the rate of population growth,
normally staving well ahead of it In the late 1880, the annual birth-rate
was about 8 per cent and the annual death-rate about 0.5 per cent

MALAYSIA. POPULATION, ETHNIC GROUPS, 1987

Peninsular Malay

and other indigenons 7,829,300
(Bumiputras)
4,377,600 14,655,100
Indians 1,362,300
Others 85,900

Sabeh
Malays and other indigenous peoples | 113 1.8{141]

Chinese 191,100

Sarawak
Malays and other indigenous peoples 1,:).«m,2un}

Chinese 450,800

Source. Burapa Warld Year Book, Vol II 1989 (The figures are
estimales).
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MALAYSIA. A DEVELOPING COUNTRY, c. 1960-1990

T

Year(s) 1960 | 1965 | 1970 1987

Life Expe
(years)

F39

Under 5 years 105
Mortality Rate
tper 1000)

Pereentage of 9% 416%
Labour Forer in
Agriculture

Percentage of 130 1911
Labour Force in
Industry

Urban Population

it

Public 2,49% .60
Expenditure in
Education as %

of GNP

Adult Literacy 600
ate

Public Health 145 L5%,
Expenditure
of GNP

Souree. Koosings, Record of World Events, 1992/93
Extracts from Sacial and Economic Data,

Nole The figures are best seen‘as a guide, since (for example)]
Jaysin was nol formed until 1963, and Singapore was
Malaydin, 106365
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